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THE

HISTORY OF LONDON.

* Come, sacred Peace! coinc, long-expected days!

‘That Thames's g‘)ory to the Siars shall raise !

Let Volga's banks with iron squadrons shine,

And groves of lances glitter on the Rhine -

Let barbarvus rancour arm a serviie train;

Be his the blrssings of a ful reign !

Bebold ! the aseending villas on his side

Project long sbadows o'er the crystal tide!

Bebold Avcusta's glittering spires increase!

And temples rise,the beau works of Peace!” P
s,

CHAPTER L

The site, extent, buildings, population, commerce, and a view
of the progressive increase of London.

Tax geographical situation of London, in respect to its position
on the globe, s in latitude 51 degrees, 31 minutes, north; and in
longitude, 18 degrees, 36 minutes ; or 5 minutes, 37 seconds west,
from Greenwich. Its distance from the principal cities of Europe
is as follows: from Edinburgh 367 miles south; from Dublin 338
miles south-east ; from Amsterdam, 190 miles west; from Paris,
225 miles north north-west ; from Copenhagen, 610 miles south-
west; from Vienna, 820 miles north-west; from Madrid, 860
miles north-east by east; from Rome, 950 miles north north-west ;
from-Constantinople 1,660 miles north-west; and from Moscow,
1,660 miles east south-east.

The immediate site of London is about sixty miles from the sea,
westward, in a pleasant and spacious valley, strelching along the
banks of the Thames; which river, as it flows through the town,
forms a bold curve or crescent. On the northern side, the ground
rises with a quick ascent, and then more gradually, but unequally,
heightens to the north-west and west, which are the most elevated
parts. On the south side, the ground is nearly level, and waa

YOL. 171, ]




2 HISTORY OF LONDON

anciently an entire morass of several miles extent, but was reclaimed
through the artificial embankment of the river.* The present
average breadth of the stream, in this part of its course, is from four
to five hundred yards; its general depth, at low water, is about
twelve feet, but at spring tides it rises from ten to twelve, and
sometimes to fourteen or fifteen feet ahove that level. The tides
commenly flow to the distance of fifteen miles above London
bridge, and would probably extend yet further, but from the siop-
page of the water by that ponderous fabric.

The general soil of the valley in which the metropolis is situated
is gravel and clay, with loam and sand intermixed. The clay pre-
dominates in most parts of the town; and to this circumstance,
combined with the facility with which the clay is converted into
brick, the vast augmentation of buildings in London is partly to be
attributed. From the neighbourhood of Tuthill Fields, on the
south, to that of the Tower on the east, the buildings, following the
natural bend of the river, rise in a sort of amphitheatric form, and
are defended from the bleak winds of the north, by the rising
grounds about.lslington and Highbury, and the hills of Highgate
and Hampstead. Below the Tower, and extending to the extremity
of the county along the river Lea, in the vicinity of Wapping, &c.
the ground is in general flat, and the houses are exposed to the
chilling blasts of the east. The western and higher parts of the
metropolis, stand pleasantly open to the genial breezes of that
quarter.  The southern, or Surrey side, lies low and level, and is
still marshy, particularly in the neighbourhood of Lambeth, and
St. George's Fields; of late years, however, as ‘the population of
these districts has advanced, greater attention has been given to
the drainage, and the whole is now in a state of great improvement.

The extent of what is commonly called the metropolis, from
west to east, or from Knightsbridge to Poplar, is full seven miles
and a half; its breadth, from north to south, is very irregular, but
may be described as varying from two to four miles. The outward
line, or circumference, of the contiguous buildings, allowing for
the numerous inequalities of breadth, may be computed at about
iweaty-five miles; and the area of the whole comprehends between
eight and nine square miles. The principal mercantile streets range
from west to east, and in that direction the metropolis is intersected
by two great thoroughfares ; the one, which is most adjacent to the
Thames, and may be called the southern line, commences on
the Bath road, at Hyde-Park Corner, and under the successive
pames of Piccadilly, Haymarket, Cockspur-street, Charing-cross,
Strand, Fleet-street, Ludgate-hill, St. Paul’s Church-yard Wat-

® 8ee volume i, p. 4. piers and -urlings of the old brid;e

¢ About one tuelfth part of ¢he and through this impediment, the tide

® See volame i, p. 4. tides, iscom-  rises nineteen inches higher on the
puted to bedcnhSapuugkbytln east side than on the west.
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ling-street, Cannon-street, Eastcheap, and Tower-street, connects
vith Tower-hill ; and thence extends to Limehouse, about two
miles further, through East Smithfield, Radclif Highway, Upper
and Lower Shadwelil, &. The northern line begins on the Ux-
bridge end Oxford road, and under the different appellations of
Oxford-street, High-street, St. Giles’s, Holborn, Skinner-street,
Newgate-street, Chenpside, Cornhill, Leadenhall-street, Aldgate,
and Whitechapel, leads by the Mile-End road into Essex : from this
latter line, at Church-lane, Whitechapel, the Commercial Road '
branches off south-eastward, and goes on to the West-India Docks,
a distance of about two miles. The principal thoroughfare which -
cresses London from north to south, enters from the Cambridge
road at Kingsland, and continues along Shoreditch, Norton-Falgate,
Bishopsgate-street, Gracechurch-street, Fish-street-hill, Londom-
bridge, the Borough High-street, Blackman-street, and Newington
Csuseway, to the Brighton and other roads. Besides this, there
are two other main avenues into Surrey and Kent, over the bridges
of Blackfriars and Westminster, by spacious roads, which meet at
the Obelisk in St. George’s Fields, and again diverge near the well-
known inn of the Elephant and Castle.

Independent of its various local and municipal divisions, London
may be considered as divided into six grand portions, of which the
eity, commonly so called, is to be considered as the nucleus,and the
remsining five as so many suburbs; forming al:ogether probably
the largest assemblage of human habitations ever known ; certainly
the most extensive now existing in the world. 1. The city com-
prises the central and most ancient portion of the metropolis. This
is the chief emporium of trade and commerce of every description,
and is mostly occupied by shops, public offices, and dwellings of
tradesmen and manufacturers. 2. The western suburb, including
Westminster, consists of the buildings extending westward from
Temple-bar and from the western limits of the city, and bounded on
the north by Oxford-street, and on the south by the Thames. In
this portion are contained the royal palaces, the residences of some
of the nobility, the houses of parliament, courts of justice, many
government offices, &c. 3. The north-west suburb includes the
sreets and squares to the north of Oxford-street and to the west
of Tottenham-court-road. This may be considered as the most
fashionable pert of London, in which numerous habitations of the
nobility and gentry are situated. These two divisions are termed
¢ the west end of the town.” 4. The northern suburb takes in all
that portion of the capital which extends to the north of Holborn
and the city, from Tottenham-court-road on the west, to Shoreditch

snd Kingsland-road on the east. It comprehends the once detached

villages of Hoxton, Islington, and St. Pancras, as well as the more

recently erected districts called Pentonville and Somers Town.

5. The eastern suburb, sometimes denominated * the east end of the

town,’ includes that part of the metropolis which is situated to the
’ B 2
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east of the city and of Shoreditch. The inhabitants of the southern
portion of this suburb, bordering on the Thames, are devoted to
" commerce, ship-building, and sall the necessary branches of trade
and manufacture, connected with the importation and exportation
of merchandize. Since the commencement of the present century,
the construction of commercial docks and warehouses has given a
novel character to this part of London. 6. The southern suburb
is formed by the vast and heterogeneous mass of buildings, which,
skirting the Thames from Vauxhall to Rotherhithe, also extends
towards the centre more than two miles from the river side. This
portion iucludes the ancient borough of Southwark, a distinguish-
ing feature of which is the number of its manufactories of various
kinds, as iron-foundries, glass-houses, dye-houses, shot and hat ma-
nufactories, breweries, distilleries, &c.

The metropolis is computed to contain about 70 squares, and
10,000 streets, lanes, courts, &c.; the whole formed by upwards of
200,000 buildings of various descriptions, as public structures,
churches, dwelling-houses, warehouses, shops, &c. The churches
and other principal edifices are mostly built of stone ; the dwellings,
with the exceplion of zome of the mansions belonging to the nobi-
lity, also of stone, are almost wholly built with brick ; but few wooden
housés'are now to be seen, and those are principally of a date ante-
rior to the great fire of 1668. Many of the squares are extremely
spacious, and the central area of most of them is inclosed by an iron
pallisade, and laid out in graveled walks and shrubberies, for the
recreation of the inhabitants of the surrounding houses. The prin-
cipal streets are also spacious and airy ; and in most of the new
parts of the town, the buildings are respectable and uniform; yet
the continuity of line which results from the regularity, renders them
by far less picturesque than the old houses, which were constructed
with projecting porticos, over-hanging windows, gable-ends, &c.
and of which some specimens may yet be found.*

Through the numerous improvements that have been made in the
course of the last 200 years, the inhabitants of London enjoy greater
eonveniences than those of any other city in Europe. All the streets
are regularly paved, and divided into a carriage-way and a foot-
path on each side. The carriage-way is either paved with small
square blocks of Scotch granite, or pebbles, so disposed as to rise
with a small convexity in the centre, and having a continued chan-
nel, or kennel, on each side, at a short distance from the foot-pave-
ment, or laid with small irregular pieces of Scutch granite upon
the plan of Mr. M‘Adam ; the latter, though it answers well on
country roads, is gunerally disliked in the metropolis from its accu-
mulating mud and filth. The foot-paths are in general laid with
large thick flags, or slabs, either of Yorkshire free-stone, moor-
#tone, or lime-st ue, and are finished with & regular kirb, raised a -

® Bra:ley’s London, ii, p. 6.
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few inches above the carriage-way ; their breadth varies from about
four to eight or twelve feet, 1n proportion to the width of the ave-
pve. The mud and seil which accumulate in the streets, are taken
away at siated intervals by scavengers employed by the different
parishes; and the waste water, &c. runs off through iron gratings,
fixed in the kennels at proper intervals, into arched sewers or
drains constructed beneath the streets (and communicating by
smaller drains with the houses), and having various outlets through
larger sewers into the Thames. Through these means, and from’
the ample supply of water which the inhabitants derive from diffe-
rent sources, the general cleanlinessis very considerable, and greatly
contributes to the present salubrity of the metropolis.

The charges of constructing and keeping in repair the sewers,
drains, &c. and of paving the streets, are defrayed by levies of a
small sum per pouncfNl on the rents of all inhabited houses; and the
expences of lighting and watching are likewise discharged in the
same manner. The sewer tax is collected every two or three years
under the direction of the commissioners of sewers ; the taxes for
paving, lighting and watching are, in general, assessed by the au-
thority of magistrates and other officers, acting in the different dis-
tricts and parishes; under the express regulations of various acts of’
parliament, obtained for local purposes.*

Among the recent improvements of the metropolis, none, perhaps,
merit greater celebration then the present brilliant mode of lighting
the churches, theatres, public streets, shops, printing-offices, &ec.
with gas. This beautiful substitute for the former imperfect plan of
securing & pubhlic light is rapidly extending its benefits, in conse-
quence of the incorporation of the ¢ Gas Light and Coke Company,’
on the 30th of April, 1812. One station of their operations is in
Peter-street, Westminster, and another at the corner of Worship-
street and the Curtain-road. Their charter was granted for twenty-
one vears ; but, having been retarded by many obstacles and diffi-
culties, they applied to parliament for an extension of their powers ,
which amended act received the roysl assent in June, 1814. The
capital of the company was originally 200,000{., and divided into
four thousand 501. shares; but permission was subsequently obtained
to raise an additional 400,000/, Another company is established in
Dorset Gardens, adjoining to the river Thawes, near Blackfriars,
The great advantage of this mode of lighting is now shown by its
every where extending itself; the whole of the metropolis, its bridges
and roads being nightly illuminated by means of gas.

The guardianship of the metropolis at night is chiefly entrusted
to aged men, who are mostly hired at small weekly salaries by the
different parishes, and provided with a great-coat, a lanthorn, staff,
nttle,and a watch-box. Each watchman has a regular beat, or
walk, which it is his duty to go twice round every hour during the

® Brayley’s London, ii, p. 7.
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night, aud to proclaim aloud the time and the state of the weather.
The whole number of these watchmen, including the patroles (who
are much fewer, but are armed with cutlasses, fire-arms, &c.) does
not exceed 8,000. :

The width of the streets, and the moderate height of the build-
ings, which are hardly ever run up intosix, or seven,and even more
stories, as in some other cities, highly contiibute to the healthfulness
of London. Few of the streets are so narrow as to preveat two
¢arriages from passing, and many others, especially in the new parts
of the town, are wide enough for four or five to pass without incon-
venience. The general width of the principal trading streets may
be atated at from thirty to fifty and sixty feet; others, particularly
westward, measure from sixty to a hundred feet and upwards: the
width of Parliament-street, at the Treasury, is about 120 feet ; and
that of Portland-place somewhat more than 350.

Of the relative extent of the principal streets and other avenues
inbll.ondon, some estimate may be formed from the following
table :—

Yards in len

Streets. Yards in lenyth. Slyeets gth.
Shoreditchis.......... 715 | St. James’'s-street ...... 3885
¢ Bishopsgate-street .... 1045 | Piccadilly............ 1694
‘Whitechapel High-street 1281 | Bond-street ......... . 980
Fenchurch-street ...... 654 | Oxford-street ....... . 2304
Lower Thames-street .. 460 | Regent-street ....... . 1730
Upper Thames-street .. 1331 | Baker-street .......... 743
Gracechurch-street .... 357 | Tottenham Court Road 1177
Lombard-street ...... 374 | NewRoad .......... 5115
Cornhill ...... veeeesr 286 | CityRoad............ 1690
Cheapside. . ... veeeees 368 —_—
Aldersgate-street . ..... 456 SOUTHWARK.
Fleet-street ,......... 610 | Tooley-street ........ 972
High Holborn . ......, 1045 | Bermondsey-street .... 879
Strand ...........00. 1369 | High-street .......... 781
Haymarket ....... +++ 857 | Blackman-street ...... 390
Pall Mall ........... . 610 | Great Surrey-street.... 1193

Notwithstanding the sudden and strongly contrasted changes of
the weather in London, compared with the state of the atmosphere
in other climes, and although multitudes of its pooter classes live in
squalid poverty and wretchedness, the general healthiness of this
capital may be deemed fully equal to that of any other in the
world. In this respect considerable improvements have taken place
since the times of the great plague and fire, and contagious disor-
ders are now but of rare occurrence, at least to any extent. The
annual mortality at the present period may be averaged at ahout
one in thirty-one; the number of deaths is greatest in infancy, and
about one-fourth of the whole are of children under two years of

age.
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The temperature of the air in London and its vicinity is sensibly
affected by the influence of the coal fires, which warm and dry the
stmosphere ; and it is a remarkeble fact that vegelation is earlier
by ten days or a fortnight on the west and south-west sides of the
metropolis, than on the northern and eastern sides. This is to be
aitributed to the severity of the north and north-east winds beinx
mitigated in their passage over London by the warmth of the air

arising from the fires. The more prevalent winds blow from the
north-east and south-west; and these, with little variation, occupy
sbout ten or eleven months in the year. The westerly winds are
generally pregnant with rain, the greatest falls coming from a few
points west of the south; the easterly winds are sharp and piercing,
but almost alwaysdry. The heat of the atmosphere is very vari-
able, it seldom remaining equal for many days; and every year dif-
fering from the preceding one, as well in respect to heat and cold,
23 to moisture and rains. ‘Sometimes the winter is severely cold,
with frosts from November till May, with little interruption: sume-
umes the water is not frozen for more than ten or twelve days.
Most commonly there is a little frost in November and December ;
but otherwise these months (and particularly November) are very
foggy [gloomy] and moist. The principal frost is generally in
January ; February is commonly a mild, open, moist month;
March is generslly cold [windy] and dry. The summer months
vary as much ; sometimes there are three months very warm ; some-
times not more than a week [in continuance]; the latter half of
July [and beginning of August] is commonly the hottest. In
August, heavy rains often fall, especially in the last half of the
month. The thermometer sometimes rises to above 80 of Fahren-
beit’s scale, very rarely to 84°; but the most common summer
heat is froms 65° to 75°; in winter it sometimes falls to 15°, but
the most common winter heat, when it freezes, is between 20
and 30°; it has been known to fall below the point marked 0,
but very rarely ; the most -frequent when it does not freeze is
between 40* and 50°.'* On the thirteenth of July, 1808, the
thermometer, in the open air, in the shade, and with a northern
aspect, near St. James’s Park, rose to 91°; and in various parts
of London, in the shade also, it varied from .that. degree, up-
wards, to 1032, On the same day, in particular local situations in
the sun, the quicksilver rose to the extraordinary height of from
120 to 140 degrees! The contrast between this day and that of
the 24th of January, 1795, is most striking ; on the latter, the ther-
mometer fell to six degrees below zero!
The sitoation of London is so favourable, that springs,+ which
might yield large quantitics of water, are found on digging almost

® Fo rdyce, p. 8. s0 as, in some places, to act as a pur

? < The waters of these springs con  gative. They also contain gas, some-
Wis & small portion of sea salt, and a  times inquantity sufficient to give them -
larger quantity of magnesia vitriolata, briskness, and render them agreeable
20 & to be sensible to the taste, and to the taste. The Thames water is
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every where, yet the main sources of thet plentiful supply which
the Inhabitants receive, are the Thames and the New River; this
arises from the comparative cheapness with which those waters are
conveyed into the very houses themselves, and which is effected
by means of iron or wooden pipes laid beneath all the streets, from
one to three feet below the surface, and having small bores con-
nected with leaden pipes, that lead to the kitchens and cisterns.
In these pipes also, at convenient distances in the streets, plugs are
fived to be opened in case of fires; and occasionally to give issue
to the water in times of frost, when the smaller pipes become fro-
zen. In various parts of the town, also, over the ancient wells
that have been preserved, pumps are fixed, for the convenience of
the populace.

The population of the metropolis has nearly doubled within the
last bundred years. The number of its settled inhabitants, includ-
inglethue of the contiguous parishes are given in the annexed
tab)

Abstract of the returns made by order of Parliament in 1821.

Iuhabited|
Houses Males. | Females Total.

City of London, within the walls . . 7.938 || 97,506 | 28,668 | 58,174
Ditto without the walls . . 9.232 || 34,441 | 834,819 | 69,260
City and livertics of Westminster . | 18,503 || 85,083 | 97,008 | 182,085
Borough of Southwark, including
Christ-church parish . . . . | 19,477 || 41,690 | 44,815 | 85,905

Bermondsey parish . . . . . . 4,278 || 18,125 | 18,110 | 25235
Artillery-Ground liberty . . . . 187 685 802 1,487
Charter-House liberty . . . . . 1 108 43 144
Clerkenwell parish . . . . . . 4,995 || 18,588 { 20,573 | 89,105
Glass-house yard liberty . . 168 641 717 1,358
St. Luke’s parish . . . . . 5,517 || 19,987 | 20,889 | 40,876
8¢, Sepulchres's parish . . . 555 || 2,881 | 2359 | 4,740

St. Andrew’s parish, above the bars. | 3,740 || 16,770 | 18724 | 35,484

Roll®liberty . . . . . . . . 318 1,415 | 1,398 2,787
Duchy of Lancaster liberty . . . 67 297 263 489
Savoy liberty . 81 101 121 228

8L Giles-in-the-felds,and St. George, :
Bloomsbury, parishes . . . . 4,458 || 24,289 | 27,504 | 51,798
Ely Place liberty . .. - . . . 45 97 171 %68

8t. Clement Danes parish . . . . 487 || 1905 | 2,105 4010

8t. Botolph parish, without Aldgate. 941 || 8,088 | 8307 | 6,490
8t. Catherine parish, by the Tower . 437 | 1,30 | 1324 | 2624
Norton Falgate liben; e e e e 287 869 | 1,027 1,896
Tower of London parish . .. 84 178 287 463
Old Towerliberty . . . . . . 31 99 108 235
Wapping, St. Jozn’l parish . . . 483 1,432 | 1,646 8,008

very pure some miles above the town; and contains a sufficient quantity of
pear the t»wa it is mixed with sand, mucilaginous matter to putrify. ‘When
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London is generally acknowledged to be the first commercial city
in the world; and its manufacturing importance is but little, if at
all, inferior to any. It is the centre, inszed, of European traffic,
and every article, whether of necessity, convenience, comfort, or
luxury, may be here obtained.

The “Port of London,’ as actually occupied by shipping, extends
from London-bridge to Deptford, being a distance of nearly four
miles, and is from four to five hundred yards in average breadth.
It may be described as consisting of four divisions, called the Upper,
Middle, and Lower Pools, and the space between Limehouse and
Deptford ; the upper pool extends from London bridge to Union
bole, about 1,600 yards; the middle pool from thence to
Wapping new-stairs, 700 yards; the lower pool from the latter
place to Horse-ferry tier, near Limehouse, 1,800 yards; and the
space below to Deptford about 2,700 yards. The number of vessels
belonging to this port in September, 1800, was ascertained, by the
official documents laid before parliament, to be 2,668, carrying
568,262 tons, and 41,402 men. Comparing this number with the
pamber returned in January 1701-2, the increase will be seen to be
astonishing. At that period, the vessels amounted only to £60,
carrying 84,882 tons, and 10,065 men, On the quantity of ton-
page, it is nearly in the proportion of six to one, and on the amount
of men and ships, as upwards of four to one. The East India com-
pany’s ships alone carry more burthen by 21,166 tons than all
the vessels of London did a century ago. The average number of
ships in the Thames and Docks is 1,100 ; together with 3,000 barges
employed in lading and unlading them; 2,288 small craft engaged
in the inland trade,and 3,000 wherries for the accommodation of pas-
sengers; 1,200 revenue officers are constantly on duty in different
parts of the river ; 4,000 labourers are employed in lading and un-
lading ; and 8,000 watermen navigate the wherries and craft. The
aggregate value of the goods shipped and unshipped in the course
of a year, in the river Thames, has been computed at seventy mil-
Bons sterling. The vast system of plunderage that was formerly
carried on with impunity, in consequence of the crowded state of the
river, led to the construction, in the early part of the present century,
of those grand deposits of commercial wealth, the West India,
East India, London, and Commercial docks. The present annual
value of the exports and imports may be stated at upwards of sixty
millions, and the annual amount of the custom und excise duties at
more than six millions sterling.

rved in casks, it purifies itself  the tile is at its height. Its specific
w* trefaction, and remains after- ravity is nearly the same with that of

more pure, but it never purifies istilled water ; and the New River
sensibly in the river, nor inthe cisterns  water is of similar quality. This is
in which it is' sometimes kepta few likewise pure, unless after heavy rains;
days for use. At the Jower part of the aund is bright and clear, and docs not
own it contains a little sea salt when  patrify on keeping.”— Fordyce.
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The vast consumption of provisions in this immense capital maust
excite surprise, whep duly considered, as to the means by which it
is so regularly supplied. There are, however, no perticular laws to
effect this purpose ; but all is left to the sirple mechanism put in
force by the expectation of profit, and the assured certainty with
which every dealer can dispose of his goods.

The consumption of animal food is very grest ; but, to forma
proper idea of its extent, the average weight, as well as the number
of the animals, must be ascertained. About the year 1700, the
average weight of the oxen sold in the London market was 370 Ibs. ;
of calves 50 lbs., of sheep 28 lbs., and of lambs 18 lbs. :. the present
average weight is, of oxen 800 lbs, of calves 140 lbs., of sheep 80 lbs.,
and of lambs 50 lbs. ‘The number of oxen annnally consumed in
London has been estimated at 110,000, calves 50,000, sheep
770,000, lambs 250,000, hogs and pigs 200,000; besides animals
of other kinds. Smithfield is the principal market for the above
articles ; and the total value of buichers’ meat sold there anuually
is stated at 8,000,0001. .

The quantity of fish consumed in the metropolis is comparatisely
small, on account of the high priee which it generally bears; but
this will probably be remedied, thvugh some kinds of fish at parti-
cular seasons, are cheap, and of good quality, There are, on an
average, annually brought to Billingsgate market 2,500 cargoes of
fish, of forty tons each, and about 20,000 tons by land carriage: in
the whole 120,000 tons. The supply of poultry being inadequate
to a general consumption, and the price consequently high, that
article is mostly confined to the tables of the wealthy. Game is not
publicly sold, yet a considerable quantity, by presents, and even
by clandestine sale, is consumed by the middling classes. Venison
is sold, chiefly by pastry-cooks, at @ moderate rate, but the chief
consumption, which is considerable, is amongst the gentry, and pro-
prietors of deer-parks.

The annual consumption of wheat, in London, may be averaged
at 900,000 quarters, each containing eight Winchester bushels; of
porter and ale 2,000,000 barrels, each containing thrity-six gallons :°
spirits and compounds 11,000,000 gallons, wines 65.000 pipes, but-
ter 21,000,000 Ibs., and cheese 26,000,000 Ibs. The quantity of
coals consumed is about 1,200,000 chaldrons of thirty-six bushels,
or a ton and a half to each chaldron. About 9,600 cows are kept
in the vicinity of London, for supplying the inhabitants with milk,
and they are supposed to yield nearly 7,900,000 gallons every
year ; even this great quantity, however, is considerably increased
by the dealers, who adulterate it, by at least one-fourth, with water,
before they serve their customers.

It is a remarkable fact, that the Domesday-book, which is
usually so minute in regard to our principal towns and cities, is
wholly silent in respect to London. It only mentions.a vineyard
in Holborn, belonging ¢ to the crown,’ and ten acres of land
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nigh Bishopsgate, belonging ¢ to the dean and éhapter of St.
Panl's’ The best way of accounting for this omission is, per-
haps, toimagine that there was a distinct account taken of the city,
which has been lost or destroyed. Holborn was then only a
few houses, near Middle-row, on the banks of the Old-bourne,
which flowed into Fleet-ditch. William of Malmsbury, who
conclodes his ¢ De Gestis Regum Anglorum’ with the reign of
king Stephen, calls London ¢ a noble city, renowned for the
opulence of its citizens,” and ¢ filled with merchandise brought
by the merchants of all countries, but chiefly by those of Ger-
many > he adds, that, ¢ in case of scarcity of corn in other parts
of England, it is a granary, where it may be bought cheaper
than any where else.’

William Fitz-Stephen, a monk of Canterbury, in a curious
Tract written about 1514, intituled, ¢ Descriptio nobilitisssime
Civitatis Londonie,” has given an interesting picture of the
metropolis and its customs, as they existed in Henry the Second’s
reign. According to this author, the city was then bounded on
the land-side by a high and spacious wall, furnished with turrets,
and seven double gates; and had, in the east part, ¢ s tower
pelatine,” and, in the west, two castles well fortifed. Further
westward, about two miles, on the banks of the river, was the
royal palace (at Westminster), ¢ an incomparable structure,
guarded by a wall and bulwarks.’” Between this and the city
was & continued suburb, mingled with large and beantiful gardens
snd orchards belonging to the citizens, who were themselves
every where known, and respected, above all others, for their
¢ civil demeanour, their goodly apparel, their table, and their
discourse.” The pumber of conventual churches in the city, and
its suburbe, was thirteen, besides one hundred and twenty-six
¢ lesser parochial ones.’ On the north side were open meadow
and pasture Jands ; and beyond, a great forest, in whose woody
coverts lurked ¢ the stag, the hind, the wild boar, and the bull.’
With the three principal churches were connected, ¢ by privie
mnd ancient dignity,” three ¢ famous schools;’ and other

is had been established in different parts: upon holidays

the scholars, ¢ flocking together about the church, where the
master hath his abode,” were accustomed to argue on different
jects, and to exercise their abilities in oratorical discourses.

The handicraftsmen, the venders of wares, and the labourers for
hire, were every morning to be found at their distinct and appro-
priated places, as is still common in the bazaars of the East; and
on the river's bank was a public cookery and eating-place be-
ing to the city, where, ¢ whatsoever multitude,’ and however
daintily inclined, might be supplied with proper fare. Withoat
one of the gates also, in a certain plain field (Smithfield), on
every Friday, unless it be a solemn festival, was ‘ a great ms.:rket
for horses, whither eatls, barons, knights, and citizens, repair, to
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see and to purchase.’ To this city* merchants bring their ware
from every nation under Heaven. The Arabian sends his gold :
the Sabeans, spice and frankincense; the Scythians, armour;
Babylon, its oil ; Egypt, precious stones; India, purple vest-
ments; Norway and Russia, furs, sables, and ambergrease ; and
Gaul, its wine.” ¢1 think there is no city,’ continues Fitz-
Stephen, ¢ that hath more approved customs, either in frequent-
ing the churches, honouring God’s ordinances, observing holy-
days, giving alms, entertaining strangers, fulfilling contracts,
solemnizing marriages, setting out feasts, and welcoming the
guests, celebrating funerals, or burying the dead. The only
plagues are, the intemperate drinking of foolish people, and the
frequent fires. Most of the bishops, abbots, and nobility of
England have fair dwellings in London, and often resort hither.’

Henry the Third, whose great exactions have already been
alluded to, has, in a few words, given a curious illustration of
the affluence of the citizens in his days. The parliament, dis-
contented at the lavish grants he had made to foreigners, refused
him aid, and he was obliged to sell his jewels and plate. Being
afterwards told that the Londoners had purchased them, he
exclaimed passionately, ¢ If Octavian’s treasure was to be sold,
the city of London would store it up!” So angry indeed was the
king with those ¢ rustical Londoners,’ (as he termed them) ¢ who
call themselves barons, on account of their wealth,” that he
granted a fifteen days fair to the abbot of Westminster, to be
held annually in Tothill-fields; and strictly commanded that,
during that time, ¢ all trade should cease within the city.” This
injustice, combined with the rebuilding of Westminster Abbey,
by the same sovereign, led to the great extension of that quarter
of the metropolis.

In the year 1463, on the petition of the ¢ male and female
artificers of London,’ &c. the Parliament ¢ prohibited, for a time
to be limited by the king’s pleasure, the importation or sale of
woollen caps, woollen cloths, laces, corses, ribbands, fringes of
silk or thread, laces of thread, silk twined, silk embroidered,
laces of gold, tires of silk or gold, saddles, stirrups, harness be-
longing to saddles, spurs, bosses of bridles, andirons, gridirons,
locks, hammers, pincers, fire-tongs, dripping-pans, dice, tennis-
balls, points, purses, gloves, girdles, harness for girdles of iron,
latten, steel, tin or alkmine, arlicles made of tanned leather,
tanned furs, buscans ( probably buskins),shoes, galoches or corks,
knives, daggers, wood-knives, bodkins, shears for taHors, scissars,
razors, sheaths, playing cards, pins, pattens, pack-needles, any
painted ware, forcers, caskets, rings of copper, or latten gilt,
chafing-dishes, hanging candlesticks, chafing bells, scaring bells,
rings for curtains, ladles, scummers, counterfeit basins, ewers,
hats, brushes, cards for wool, and blanch-iron wire, commonly
called white wire” The tenants of the precinct of the chapel of
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8. Martin's-le-Girand, in London, were exempted from the ope-
ntion of this act; as they were also' from all acts containing
restraints upon trade made about this period.* From this curious
document we not only learn the general nature of the manufac-
tures of England, in the fifteenth century, but likewise that
various articies were then made here, the introduction of which
into this country has been assigned to a date far subsequent.

The progressive increase of London was, in queen Elizabeth’s
time, somewhat checked by a proclamation, dated on the 7th of
Jduly, 1580, prohibiting all persons from building houses within
three miles from any of the city gates: and various other regula-
tions were ordained, to prevent any further resort of people to
the capital, from distant parts of the country. The new lord
mayor was strictly enjoined by lord Burleigh to enforce this
proclamation, when he took the official oaths at Westminster, in
the following autumn.

The dissolution of the monasteries which effected so great a
change in the metropolis occurred between the years 1536 and
1540. Previously to this era, the various religious edifices and
thejr respectlive appendages, within the walls of London, occu-
pied nearly two-thirds of the entire area; and about one-fifth of
the whole population is supposed to have been associated in the
numerous communities and brotherhoods which then separated
¢ the drones from the working-bees.’ It must be remembered
also, in respect to the ground covered by monastic foundations,
that the bishops of almost every see, and the superior of every
principal religious house in England, had a residence either
within the city, or in its vicinity

Independently of the more extensive and splendid establish-
meants of St. Paul’s cathedral and Westminster abbey, the metro-
polis and its suburbs, at the time immediately prior to the Re-
formation, contained all the variety of ecclesiastical institutions
and buildings enumerated in the following list.

Friaries and Abbeys.—Black Friars, between Ludgate and the
Thames; Grey Friars, near old Newgate, now Christ’s-hospital ;
Augustine Friars, now Austin Friars, near Broad-street; White
Friars, near Salisbury-square; Crouched, or Crossed Friars, St.
Olave’s, Hart-street, near Tower-hill; Carthusian Friars, now the
Charter-house, Charter-house-square ; Cistercian Friars, or New-
abbey, East Smithfield ; Brethren de Sacca, Old Jewry.

Prioriea.—St. John of Jerusalem, Clerkenwell ; Holy Trinity,
or Christ-church, within Aldgate; St. Bartholomew the Great,
pear Smithfleld ; St. Mary Overies, Southwark, near London-
bridge ; St. Saviour’s, Bermondsey.

Nunneries — Benedictine nunnery, Clerkenwell ; St. Helen’s,
Bishopsgate-street; St. Clare’s, Minories ; Holywell, between
Holywell-lane and Norton Falgate. .

® Vestiges, Europ. Mag. vol. li, p. 178.
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Colleges, &c.—8t. Martin’s-le-Grand; St. Thomas of Acres,
Westcheap ; Whittington’s college and hospital, Vintry Ward ;
St. Michael’s college and chapel, Crooked-lane; Jesus Commons,
Dowgate.

Chapels, &c.—St. Stephen’s, Westminster ; Our Lady of the
Pew, Strand ; St. Anne’s, Westminster; St. Esprit, or the Holy
Ghost, Strand ; Rolls chapel, or Domus Conversorum, Chancery-
lane; St. James in the Wall, chapel and hermitage, Monkwell-
street; Mount Calvary chapel, near Goswell-street-road ; St.
Mary’s chapel, and Pardon chapel, in St. Paul’s church-yard; and
two other chapels also; Guildhall chapel ; Chapel of our Lady,
Barking parish ; Corpus Christi, Poultry ; St. Anthony’s chapel,
hospital and school, Threadneedle-street ; chapel and almshouses
in Petty France ; Lady Margaret’s almshouses, Almonry, West-
minster ; Henry the Seventh’s almshouses, near the Gatehouse,
Westminster; St. Catherine’s chapel and hermitage, near Charing-
cross ; Pardon chapel, Wilderness-row, St. John's-street.

Hospitals, having resident brotherhoods or sisterhoods.—St.
Giles’s-in-the-Fields, near St. Giles's church; St. James’s, now
St. James’s-palace; Our Lady of Rounceval, Charing-cross;
Savoy, Strand ; Elsing Spital, now Sion college ; Corpus Christi,
in St. Lawrence Pountney; St. Papey, near Bevis Marks ; St.
Mary Axe; Trinity, withont Aldgate; St. Thomas, Mercer’s
chapel ; St. Bartholomew the Less, near Smithfleld ; St. Giles
and Corpus Christi, without Cripplegate; St. Mary of Bethlehem,
near London Wall; St. Mary Spital, without Bishopsgate; St.
Thomas, Southwark; the Lok Spital, or Lazar-house, Kent-
street, Southwark ; St. Katherine’s below the Tower.

Fraternities, &c.—St. Nicholas, Bishopsgate-street ; St. Fabian
and St. Sebastian, or the Holy Trinity, Aldersgate-street ; St.
Giles, Whitecross-street; the Holy Trinity, Leadenhall; St.
Ursula-le-Strand ; Hermitage, Nightingale-lane, East Smithfield ;
Corpus Christi, St. Mary Spittle ; Corpus Christi, St. Mary Beth-
lehem ; Corpus Christi and St. Mary, Poultry.

Archiepiscopal and Episcopal Restdences.—Lambeth palace ;
York-place, Whitehall; Durham-house, Strand. Inns of the
Bishops of Bath, Chester, Llandaff, Worcester, Exeter, Lichfield,
and Carlisle, all in and near the Strand ; Bishop of Hereford’s
Inn, Old Fish-street ; Ely-house, Holborn, now Ely-place; Bishop
of Salisbury’s Inn, Salisbury-square ; Bishop of St. David’s inn,
near Bridewell-palace ; Bishop of Winchester’s house, South-
wa;k, near St. Mary Overies ; Bishop of Rochester’s Inn, adjacent
to ditto.

Residences of Abbots and Priors, mostly called Inne —Abbot
of St. Alban’s, nesr Lothbury ; Abbut of St. Augustine’s, Canter-
bury, in St. Olaye's' Southwark ; Abbot of Battle, Southwark,
near London bridge ; Abbot of Bury, near Aldgate, toward Bevis
Marks; Abbot of Evesham, near Billiter-lane ; Abbot of Glaston-

- e -
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bury, near St, Sepuichre’s, Smithfield ; Abbot of Hyde, within the
Tabard inn, immortalised by Chaucer, in Southwark, and after-
wardy at St. Mary Hill ; Prior of Hornchurch, Fenchurch street ;
Abbot of Leicester, near St. Sepulchre’s, Smithfield; Prior of
Lewes, in Southwark ; . Abbot of St. Mary’s, York, St. Peter’se
place, near Paul’a Wharf; Prior of Necton Parke (suppressed by
Henry V.), Chancery-lane; Prior of Okeburne, Castle-lane,
Upper Thames-street ; Abbot of Peterborough, at Peterborough-
place, near St. Paul’s ; Abbot of Reading, near Baynaid’s-castle;
Abbot of Ramsay, Beech-lane, Whitecross-street ; Abbot of
Salop, in Smithfield; Prior of Sempringham, Cow-lane, Smith-
Geld; Prior of Tortington, in St. Swithin’s-lane; Abbot of Vale
Royal, Fleet street; Abbot of Waltham, at Billingsgate,

When a comparison is made between the extent of ground thus
occupied by religions and ecclesiastical foundations, and jhat
covered with merchan's’ warehouses, mansions, and cottages, or
assigned to the purposes of trade and commerce, as wharfs, quays,
shops, &c. the difference appears so striking, that a person unac-
quainted with itshistory, would at once infer that London had been
a city of priests and monks rather than a commercial city : and
that from the great number of holidays for legendary saints, fasts,
vigils, processions, &c. enjoined by the Rubric, the inhabitants
¢dedicated but one day in the week to labour, instead of six.’*
¢ There cannot be a question,’ says Mr. Brayley, ¢ indééd, but that
both the interests of commerce and the progress of population were
greatly retarded by the numerous monastic institutions which thas
¢ encumbered’ the capital ; and however we may lament or exe-
erate the ¢ worse than Gothic barbarity,” which demolished the
immense and besutiful piles connected with those establishments
(in many instances merely for the sake of the materials), and de-
stroyed the rich specimens of art which they contained, we cannot
bat rejoice in the destruction of those bonds which separated man
from his kind; and, in violating the strongest impul-e of his na-
ture, gave new strength to temptation, and led the way to the com-
mision of every sensual enormity.’+ :

The liberation of s0 many thousands from the seclusion of the
cloister, quickly led to an increased bustle and traffic, which called
for ew improvements in the avenues to the city.

From the very curious plan and view of London, intitnled ¢ Civi-
tas Londinum,’ by Ralph, or Radulphus Aggas, made soon after
the aceemsion of Queen Elizabeth, which is yet extant, though ex-
tremely scarce, ] a voriety of interesting particulars of the state of

® Vestiges, Eu. Mag. vol. 1, 4 was re-engraved, by Vertue, in six

+ Brayley’s London, ii, p. 43. sheets, who annexed to it the date 1560.

2 Aggas’s original planwas fistre-  The original plan is prioted on six
duced snd copled, with some additions,  sheets, and two half-sheets, and mea-
isto Braon Civitates, between the cures six feet three inches, by two feet
yoors 1753-3 and 1584. In 1748, it  foor inches.
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the capital at that period, may be derived. From this document it
appears, that-the most crowded part of the city, was then, as at
present, on the south side, extending from Newgate-street, Cheap-
side, and Cornhill, to the banks of the Thames; and that besides
the small bay at Billingsgate, there were two lesser ones above
bridge, at Ebgate and Queenhithe. Beyond Lothbury, from
Basinghall-lane to Bishopsgate, a great portion of the ground, with
the exception of Coleman-street, and the houses adjacent to St:
Augustine’s church, was uncovered, and apparently occupied for
gardens,

Similar void spaces, but separated by buildings, occurred
between Bishopsgate-street and the Minories, at the extremity of
which, next Tower-hill,stood a cross. Goodman’s Fields was
only an extensive inclosure, and East Smithfield, and St. Cathe~
rine’s seem to have extended but very little beyond St. Catherine’s
Tower. From the gardens and inclosures immediately attached
to the north side of Whitechapel and Houndsditch, the ground
was only shaded with trees; the Spital Fields lying entirely
open from the back of St. Mary Spital, which gave them name.
Houndsditch was only a single line of buildings, extending from
St. Botolph’s, Aldgate, to Bishopsgate Without : from thence a
pretty regular street, but interspersed with openings and detached
edifices, extended to Shoreditch church, which terminated the
avenue. Westward from Bishopsgate, a few buildings, the prin-
cipal of which was a long range named the Dogg-house, with
gardens and inclosures intermingled, reached to Moorfield and
Finsbury Field, both of which, from the Dogg-house to Finsbury-
court, were completely open ; and on Finsbary Field, where the
handsome square of that name, and the houses beyond, extending
to Old-street, now stand, were several windmills. In Old-street
itself, from the spot now occupied bySt. Luke’s church to Shore-
ditch, was not a single house, and only two or three detached
buildings stood in the fields beyond. The mansion called Fins-
bury-court, was near the upper end of Chiswell-street, between
which and Whitecross-street, the houses were very few. Gos-
well-street was merely indicated by a road described as ¢ leading
to St. Alban’s;’ and Islington was hardly to be seen in the dis-
tance. Clerkenwell, with the exception of the houses in St,
John-street and Cow-cross, was mostly occupied by the precincts
of the monastery and the church; and only a few detached
buildings stood on the Islington road beyond the latter edifice.
From the back of Cow-cross towards the Fleet river, and beyond
that towards Ely-house, and Gray’s-inn-lane, the ground was
either entirely vacant or occupied in gardens; and Gray’s-inn-
lane only extended to a short distance beyond the inn. From
Holborn-bridge to the vicinity of the present Red Lion-street,
the houses were continued on both sides, but further up to about:
Hart-street, the road was entirely open; a garden-wall there
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commenced, and continued to near Broad St. Giles’s, and the end
of Drury-lane, where a small cluster of houses, chiefly on the
right, formed the principal part of the village of St. Giles; only
afew other buildings appearing in the neighbourhood of the
church and hospital, the precincts of which were spacious, and
swurounded with trees. Beyond this, both to the north and west,
all was country, and the Oxford and other main roads were dis-
tinguished only by avenues of trees. From the Oxford-road,
wuthward, to Piccadilly, called the ¢ way from Reading,” and
thence along the highways, named the Haymarket and Hedge-
lane, to the vicinity of the Mews, not a house was standing; and
St. James’s hospital, and three or four small buildings near the
spot recently occupied by Carlton-house, were all that stood near
the line of the present Pall Mall. The limits of the Mews were
the same as now; but Leicester-square and all its neighbourhood
were completely open fields. St. Martin’s-lane had only a few
bouses beyond the church, abutting onthe Convent-garden (now
Covent-garden), which extended quite into Drury-lane, and had
bat three buildings within its ample bounds. Not a house was
standing either in Long Acre, orin the now populous vicinage of
Seven Dials; nor yet in Drury-lane, from near Broad St. Giles’s, to
Drewry-house, at the top of Wych-street. Nearly the whole of
the Strand was a continued street, formed, however, in a consi-
derable degree by spacious mansions, and their appropriate offices,
the residences of noblemen and prelates ; those on the south side
had all large gardens attached to them, extending down to the
Thames, and have mostly given names to the streets, &c. that
have been built on their respective sites. The Spring Gardens
were literally gardens, reaching as far as the presenl Admiralty ;
and farther on, towards the Treasury, were the Tilt-yard and
Cockpit ; opposite to which was the extensive palace of White-
ball. Along King-street to St. Margaret’s church and the abbey,
the buildings were nearly connected; and from Whitehall to
Palace-yard, they were also thickly clustered on the bank of the
Thames. Adjacent to Abingdon-street, the site of which was
then a part of the demesne attached to the palace at Westminster
were several buildings; and some others stood opposite to the:
archbishop of Canterbury’s palace in Surrey.
On the Surrey side, the plan exhibits only a single house that
stood anywise contiguous to Lambeth palace; but more north-
ward, near a road that took the same direction from Westminster
as the present bridge road, and almost opposite to which was a
kind of stage landing-place, were six or seven buildings. All
beyond these, to the banks of the Thames opposite to White-
friars, was entirely vacant: there, a line of houses, with gardens
and groves of trees behind them, commenced, and was continued
with_little intermission along Bankside to the vicinity of the
Stews, and Winchester-house. One of the most noted places in
voL. 111, ?
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this line was the theatre and gardens, callied Paris Gardens, the
site of which is now occupied by Christ church, and its annexed
parish. Further on, but behind the houses, and nearly opposite
to Broken Wharf and Queenhithe, were the circular buildings
and inclosures appropriated to bull and bear-baiting, amusements
to which queen Elizabeth seems to have been very partial.
Southwark, as far as appears in the plan, which only extends to
a short distance down the Borough High-street, was tolerably
clustered with houses, and London bridge was completely encum-
bered with them. Along Tooley-street to Battle-bridge, and
down to the river, the buildings were closely contiguous; but
along Horslydown they stood much thinner, and were inter-
mingled with gardens to where the plan terminates, nearly
opposite to St. Katherine’s.

Such then, and so constructed was London about the period of
Elizabeth’s accession ; yet the reign of that princess forms a
splendid epoch in its advancing growth, and notwithstanding the
¢ dilapidating® proclamations of the years 1580, 1593, and 1602,
both the population and the buildings continued to keep pace
with the extension of commerce, and the increase of the work-
ing classes, whose numbers had been greatly augmented by the
multitudes redeemed by the reformation from the idleness of the
cloister.® :

The great augmentation in the buildings of the metropolis,
‘which had taken place during the reign of queen Elizabeth, may
be seen from the following passages, selected, with a few verbal
alterations for the better connection, from ¢ honest Stow.’

St. Katherine’s, below the Tower, has ¢ of late years been
inclosed about, or pestered with small tenements and homely
cottages, having inhabitants, English and strangers, more in
number than some cittie in England.’t ¢ From this precinct gf
St. Katherine to Wapping in the Wose, and Wapping itself,
never a house was standing within these fortie years, but is now
a continuall streete, or rather a filthy straight passage, with lanes
and allyes, of small tenements, inhabited by saylors and vic-
tualiers, along by the river Thames, almost to Radcliffe, a good

"myle from the Tower.’ On the site of New Abbey, East
Smithfield, of ¢ late time is builded a large store-house,’” and ¢ the
grounds adjoining are employed in building of small tenements.
Tower-hill also is greatly diminished by tenements.’ In place
of ¢ the Nunnes of St. Clare, called the Minories, is now builded
divers faire and large store-houses for armour and habiliments of
war, with divers work-houses, serving to the same purpose.’{
The Ditch, without the walles of the citie, on the other side of
that streete, ¢ is now of latter time inclosed, and the bankes
thereof lct out for garden plottes, carpenters’ yards, bowling-
allies, and divers houses be thereon builded.’§

® rayley ii.p. 49. ¢ Sur. of Lond. p. 82 $ Ibid p. 80. § thid p. O1.
[ 4
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Eastward from St. Botolph’s church ¢ were eertain fayre
iones, for receipt of travellers, up towards Hogge lane end,
which stretcheth north to St. Mary Spittle, without Bishopsgate,
sd within these fortie-four yeares past, had on both sides fayre
hedge rowes of elm trees, with bridges and easy styles to passe
over into the pleasant fields, verycommodious for citizens therein to
walke, shoote, and otherwise to recreate and refresh their dulled
spirits in the sweet and wholesome ayre, which is now within
few yeares mede a continual building thronghout, of garden
houses and small cottages: and the flelds on either side be

turned into garden plottes, teynter yards, bowling alleyes, and
such like, from Houndsditch inthe west, so farre as Whitechap-
pel, and farther in the east. The south side of the bighway
from Ealdegate had some few temements thinly scattered here
and there, with much voyde space betweene them, up to the
barres, but now that streete is not onely pestered with divers
allies, on either side to the barres, bat also even to Whitechap-
pel,’ ¢ and almost half a mile beyond it, into the common field.’*
From Aldgate north-west to Bishopsgate, on the outer side of
Houndsditch, ¢ was a fayre fielde, some time belonging to the
priory of the Trinitie ;—this field (as all other about the eitie)
was inclosed, reserving open passages thereinto, for such as were
disposed ; towards the street were some small cottages of two
stories high, and little garden plottes backward, for poor bed-rid
people. This street was first paved in the year 1503; three
brethren, that were gun-founders, surnamed Owens, gat ground
there to build upon, and to inclese for casting of brasse ordinance.
These occupied a good part of y° street on the field side, and in
short time divers other also builded there, so that the poore bed-
rid people were worne out, and in place of their homely cot-
tges, such houses builded, as do rather want room than rent.
The residue of the field was, for the most part, made into a
garden, by a gardiner named Casway, one that served the markets
with hearbes and rootes: andin the last year of king Edward the
Rixth, the same was parcelled into gardems, wherein are now
many fayre liouses of pleasure builded.” The ¢ mud wall round
the ditch side of this street, is also by little and little all taken
downe ; the benk of the ditch being raysed, made level ground,
and turned into garden plottes, and carpenters’ yards ; and many
large houses are there builded, by which meanes the ditch is
filled up, and both the ditch and wall so hidden, that they cannot
be seene of the passers by.’t

¢ Withoat the ehurch-yard of St. Botolph, without Bishops-

gate, is.a canseway leading to a quadrent called Petie Fraunce,

. Lond. p- 93. The streets by act of parliament, in the thirteenth
M:r boéhinchrpd and its peigh-  year of Elizabeth, viz. 1571.
bourbaod were ordered to bepaved, ~ + Sur.of Lond p. 93, 93,
c 2
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of Frenchmen dwelling there, and to other dwelling-houses,
lately builded on the banke of the towne ditch by some citizens
of London, that more regarded their owne private gaine than
the common goode of the citie.”* ¢ Near these is the hospital
of St. Mary of Bethlehem, upon the streetes side northward from
which many houses have been builded with alleyes backward,
of late time, too much pestered with people (a great cause of
infection) up to the barres.’t In place of ¢ the late dissolved
priorie and hospital of Our Blessed Ladie, commonly called St.
Mary Spittle, and near adjoining; are now many faire houses,
builded for receipt and lodging of worshipfull and honorable
persons.’} About this time also ¢ Golding-lane was replenished
on both sides, with many tenements of poor people.§ Then
¢ from the further end of Aldersgate-streete, straight north to
the barre, is called Goswell street, also replenished with
small tenements, cottages, and allies, gardens, banquetting-houses,
and bowling Pl""“°’l|’ On the high street of ¢ Oldborne have
ye many faire houses builded, and lodgings for gentlemen, innes
for travellers, and such like, up almost, (for it lacketh but little) to
St. Giles’s-in-the-fields.’—Gray’s-inn-lane * is furnished with faire
buildings, and many tenements on both the sides, leading to the
fields towards Highgate and Hamsted."I ¢ South from Charing
Crosse on the right hand, are divers fayre houses lately builded
before the Parke. On the left hand from Charing Crosse be also
divers fayre tenements lately builded.’**

: In Southwark ¢ on the banke of the river Thames, there is now a
continuall building of tenements, about half a mile in length to the
bridge. Then from the bridge, straight towards the south, a con-
tinuall street called Long Southwarke, builded on both sides with
divers lanes and alleyes up to St. George’s church, and beyond it
through Blackman-street towards new towne, or Newington. Then
by the bridge, along by the Thames eastward, is St. Olave’s-street,
having continuall building on both the sides, with lanes and alleyes
up to Battle-bridge, to Horsedowne, and towardes Rotherhithe ;
also some good halfe mile in length from London-bridge. So that
I accompt the whole continual buildings on the banke of the said
river, from the west towards the east, to be more than a large
mile in length. Then have ye from the entring towards the said
Horse-downe, one other continual street, called Bermondes-eye-
street, which stretcheth south, likewise furnished with buildings on
both sides, almost halfe a mile in length, up to the late dissolved
monasterie of 8t. Saviour, called Bermondsey ; and from thence is
one Long-lane, so called of the length, turning west of St. George’s
church, afore named; out of the which Long-lane breaketh one

. Sur. of Lond. p. 197. g Sur. of Lond. p. 855.
+ Ibid, p. 128. 1bid, p. 861.
$ Ibid, p, 199, #& Ibid, p. 874.

§ Tbid, p 854.
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other street towards the south, and by east, and this is called
Kentish-street, for that it is the way leading into that countrey ; and
0 you have the boundes of the borough.” From this descriptive
outline of Southwark, it is evident that the buildings on this side
the Thames, had not kept pace with the increase on the northern
bank, although various additions had been made, as will be shown
hereafter.

The augmented population of the metropolis requiring fresh sup-
plies of water, several new conduits were erected during Elizabeth’s
reign ; one of the principal of these was on Snow-hill, where a
ruinous conduit was rebuilt, and had water conveyed to it through
leaden pipes, from a reservoir of the waters of several springs made
in the fields, near the extremity of the present Lamb’s conduit-street
(where slso a conduit was formed), so named from the patriotic
citizen, William Lamb, esq. (some time a gentleman of the chapel
to Henry the Eighth), at whose sole charge the work was executed.
Conduits for the conveyance of Thames water were built also at
Dowgate, Leadenhall, and Old Fish-street; and at Broken-wharf a
vast engine was constructed in the year 1594, for supplying the
western parts of the city.

Howe, speaking of the foreign commerce of the city in the year
1614, has this passage :— London, at this day, is one of the best-
governed, most rich, and flourishing cities in Europe; plenteously
abounding in free trade and commerce with all nations; richly
stored with gold, silver, pearl, spice, pepper, and many other strange
commodities from both Indies; oyles from Candy, Cyprus, and
other places under the Turk’s dominion ; strong wines, sweet fruits,
sagar, and spice, from Grecia, Venice, Spayne, Barbaria, the islands
and other places lately discovered and known ; drugs from Egypt,
Arabia, Indis, and divers other places; silks from Persia, Spayne,
China, Italy, &c.; fine linen from Germany, Flanders, Holland,
Artois, and Hainault ; wax, flax, pitch, tarre, mastes, cables, and
hooey from Denmark, Poland, Swethland, Russia, and other north-
ern countries; and the superfluity in abundance of French and
Rhbenish wines, the immeasurable and incomparable increase of all
which cometh into this city, and the increase of honses and inha-
bitants within the terme and compasse of fifty years, is such and so
great, as were there not now two-thirds of the people yet living,
having been eye-witnesses of the premises and bookes of the custom-
house, which remain extant, the truth and difference of all things
sfore-mentioned were not to be justified and believed.” Among the
strange commodities bere alluded to, was doubtless that of tobacco,

which had been first introduced in 1565, and was now become a con-
siderable article of import, notwithstanding that James himself had
written a pamphlet, entitled < The Counter-blast” against its use.
During the early years of Charles 1., the commerce of this me-
lis still continued to make a rapid progress; and l_hOllEh::s
civil wars, for s time, had a very contrary operation, yet in.the
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they certainly proved beneficial. The energies of thé mind were
more awakened ; the habits of thinkiug, and modes of action, which
then became general, taught men to feel his dignity as an indivi-
dual ; the different ranks of society were more closely drawn toge-
ther; the exertions of industry were better directed, and the means
of acquiring wealth greatly augmented. The injurious tendency of
the numerous monopolies which had been granted by the crown,
was eminently counteracted; for, though never abolished by any
direct statute, yet many persons, regardiess of the prerogative
whence they were derived, gradually invaded the privileges they
conferred, and commerce was increased by the incredse of liberty.
In the year 1635, the king commanded his ¢ postmaster of England
for foreign parts’ to open a regular communication by running posts
b;atween the metropolis and Edinburgh, Ireland, and various other
places.

Many extensive improvements were effected it the rebuilding of
the city; ‘it was determined to widen the more publio streets, and
to clear away, as much as possible, those nuisances termed middle~
rows, with which the old city abounded. Aldgate-street had a
middle-row ; Cornhill, Cheapside, N ewgate-street, Ludgate-street,
and many others had middle-rows.* Some of these were temporary,
consisting only of moveable stands, erected, or rather put together,
on market days; the others were permanent, but in either case,
they were considerable obstructions and impediments to the free
passage of the streets. At this time it was also determined that
much of the ground-plot of the ancient city should be given to the
public, and that many gateways that had formerly stood before
those buildings which bad courts, should be turned into the open
streets. Yet, it is a curious circumstance that, while the surveyors
of those times were widening the larger avenues, they were crowd-
ing the intervening buildings much closer than before ; as it is well
known that the houses of capital merchants, the city halls, and many
other edifices, stood in the centre of large gardens and courts, which
were afterwards covered with inferior buildings. Indeed, so much
ground was covered afier the conflagration, and so closely were the
boildings within the walls of the new city connected, that it has
been said to contain four thousand houses more than the old, and
consequently a far greatet number of inhabitants.’y

® The middie-rows in Holborn and
81. Giles’s are now the only specimens
remaining of this kind of avenue,

+ Vestiges, &c. Eur. Mag. vol lii. p.

841, 842. Aflter the fire, ¢ the streets
of the city may be said to have been
raised out of their own ruins: the
accumulation of rubbish wasimmense ;
this it was found much easier to spread
over in order to level, in some degree,
the ground-plot which devastation had

cleared, than to cart away the ashes it
had left. Upon this made ground
the houses that formed the new streets
were erected ; and, it is a curious cir-
camstance, that the workmen, in dig-
ging through it, in order to form their
foundations, found three different
streets above each other; and that at
more than twenty feet under the sur-
face, they discovered Romsan walls and
tesscliated pavements ”— Ibid.
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Nearly the whole of what is now called Spitalflelds was com-
pieted after the fire, together with all the streets between Brick-
ke and Bishopsgate-street. A similar increase also tuok place
towards Goodman’s-fields, Rosemary-lane, and Wellclose-square,
vhich, with nearly all the ground beyond to Limehouse, had
previcusly been open flelds. The western side of the Minories
ws built over the ditch, which had surrounded the ancient city
wall, and had been filled up. Soho-square was also commenced,
and the unfortunate duke of Monmouth began a splendid house on
the south side, where Bateman'’s-buildings now stand, and Monmouth-
sireet was so named from respect to his memory.

In the reigns of William the Third and queen Anne, the build-
mgs and populetion considerably increased, particularly in the
parishes of St. Andrew, St. James, Clerkenwell, and Shorediteh.

The increase in the first-mentioned parish was principally made
on fourteen acres and one rood of meadow-land, which had been

in the reign of queen Elizabeth, for one hundred and
eighty pounds, by sir William Harpur, knt., lord mayor of London
in 1581, and invested by him in the corporation of Bedford, for the
support of a school, &c. in that town, of which he was a native.
The annual rental of the devised land, till the year 1668, was about
forty pounds; but the corporation then let it on lease for the term
of forty-one years, at the yearly rent of ninety-nine pounds; and
six years afterwards a reversionary lease was granted, for the further
term of fifty-one years, at the improved rent of one hundred and
fifty pounds per annum. In conﬁuenee of these leases, a great
number of houses were erected, and the following streets, &c. were
all formed on the land above-mentioned :—Bedford-row, Bedford-
street, Bedford-court, Prince’s-street, Theobald’s-road, North-
street, Earl-street, Lamb’s Conduit-street, Queen-street, Eagle-
street, Harpur-street, Green-street, Boswell-court, Richbell-court,

Hand-court, Gray’s-inn-passage, Three-cups-yard, and some other

contiguous places. The present rental of this estate amounts to

upwards of seven thousand pounds annually. The neighbourhood

’ of Scho was also much augmented. .

) About 1708, the globular glass lamps, with oil burnars, were first
mtroduced, under a patent granted to a person named Michael Cole,
bat these were in 1818 laid aside fur gas-lights.

At the commencement of the last century the village of St.
Mary-le-bone was nearly a mile distant from any part of London,
the most contiguous street being Old Bond-street, which scarcely
extended to the present Clifford-street. Soon after the accession
of George the First, however, some extensive plans were formed
for increasing’ the buildings of this vicinity, and New Bond-street,

) reet, Conduit-street, &c., were erected on part of a

y/ tract of land, called Condunit Mead, belonging to the city
of London ; and upon which, near the present Stratford-place,
Oxford-street, the lord mayor's banqueting-bouse formerly stood.
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Hanover-square and Cavendish-square were open fields in the
year 1716, and almost the whole north side of Oxford, or Tyburn.
road was in a similar state ; yet both those squares, and various
adjacent streets, are named in maps of the date of 1720, though
they were not completely built till several years after that time.
As an inducement to proceed, the erection of Oxford-chapel and
Oxford-market was projected, and those buildings were com
pleted about 1724; but the latter was not opened till 1732, in
consequence of the opposition of Lord Craven, who feared that
it would affect the profits of Carnaby-market, which had been
built a few years previonsly, on the western part of the Pest-
house-fields, so called, from having been a burial-place during
the dreadful plague in 1665. The north side of Oxford-road, to
the vicinity of St. Mary-le-bone-lane, was pretty generally built
on about the years 1729 and 1730, and this avenue was then
named Oxford-street. About the same period most of the streets
connecting with Cavendish-square and Oxford-market were
erected, and the ground was also laid out for several others ; yet
there still remained a considerable void between the new build-
ings and the village of St. Mary-le-bone, which stood contiguous
to the church : this space was occupied as pasture-ficlds. The
buildings in Berkeley-square, and of several streets in its vicinity,
which had been commenced in the time of queen Anne, were
carried on progressively throughout the whole reign of her suc-
cessor. Several of the fifty new churches also, which had been
voted by parliament, in 1710, to be built in London and its
vicinity, were raised about the same period : among them were
those of St. George, Bloomsbury; St. Anne, Limehouse ; and
St. Paul, Deptford ; the population of which neighbourhoods
was so much increased, as to occasion them to be erected into
parishes. The reign of George the Second was equally produc-
tive of new buildings and improvements. Grosvenor-square, and
various streets in its vicinity, were built; Westminster-bridge
was erected, and its avenues enlarged; Bethnal-green was
created a parish, and the houses on London-bridge were pulled
down ; a new road was made from Islington to Paddington; and
numerous other alterations effected to increase the conveniency
of the inhabitants.

The erection of Blackfriars-bridge, between the years 1760
and 1767, led to the building of that noble avenue, Bridge-street,
and Chatham-place, and to numerous streets on the Surrey-side
of the Thames. In 1763, the new paving of the metropolis,
according to the present mode, was commenced in Westminster ;
and the enormous signs, which, hanging across the streets and
foot-paths, prevented the free circulation of the air, were re-
moved under the authority of Parliament. In 1764, another
important act was passed, for regulating the construction of new
buildings, and party-walls, so as to prevent ¢ mischiefs’ by fire,
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&c. The removal of projecting water-spouts, pent-houses, and

other obstructions, and the lessening of protruding cellar-win-

dows, were also enacted, as well as many other regulations for

the general comfort. About 1785, the buildings of St. Mary-le-

bone were much increased; Portman-square was commenced,

and Berners-street, Charlotte-street, and Percy-street, were in
, as well as other streets in those neighbourhoods.

About 1770, that noble pile of building, the Adelphi, was
begun by the brothers, John, Robert, James, and William Adams ;
and, within a year or two afterwards, the same ingenious archi-
tects commenced the building of that grand avenue called Port-
land-place. The streets adjoining, together with Bentinck-
chapel, were raised about the same time; and, between 1774
and 1780, Stratford-place, Titchfield-chapel, Portland-chapel,
Fitzroy-chapel, Portman-chapel, and parts of Manchester-square,
and Cumberland-place, were built. St. Mary-le-bone-gardens
were shut up about 1778, and the site was soon occupied by
Beaumont street, and parts of Devonshire-place and Mews ; the
stables of the latter stand on the site of the ancient manor-house
of 8t. Mary-le-bone parish.

From the year 1780, till the breaking out of the revolutionary
war, and, generally speaking, with the exception of a few years
at intervening periods, till the present time, the outskirts and
saburbs of London have continued to increase with astonishing
rapidity ; the extension, indeed, has far exceeded all prior exam-
ple. . Contiguous villages have been connected, and, as it were,
incorporated with the metropolis; masses of buildings, sufficiently
large to bear the name of towns, have sprung up in its vicinity,
and are now all but united with it ; elegant squares and stately
streets have added to its splendor; and new institutions, com-
bining science with utility, and commercial advantage with
architectural adornment, have, at the same time, angmented its
extent, and increased its riches and magnificence.

. The extensive chapelry of Pentonville was begun about the
year 1780, and is now united with Islington, which has also
been greatly extended in many parts. Somers-town was com-
menced about 1786, and Camden-town about 1791. Since that
period, almost the entire mass of buildings which constitutes the
upper part of Tottenham-court-road, has been built, together with
its wide-spreading neighbourhood on the west. Even the dis-
tant village of Paddington, by the increase of buildings in this
direction, has been completely united with the metropolis, and
s itself in a state of very rapid enlargement. The new build-
ings along Hampstead-road, and on the east and west sides of
the Regent’s-park, are also rapidly augmenting ; but the grandest
features 1n the northern quarter of the town are to be found on
the estates of the duke of Bedford and the Foundling Hospital.
Here several magnificent squares have been built, or are now
in progress; together with many respectable leading streets
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Nearly the whole space, indeed, between the Paddington-road
and the back of Ormond-street, Queen-square, and the British
Museum, on the north and south, and Gray’s-inn-lane and Tot-
tenham-court roads, on the east and west, has been covered with
buildings within the last twenty years. Bedford House, which
formed the northern side of Bloomsbury-square, was pulled down
in the year 1800, and Bedford-place, Montague-street, &c. were
erected on its site and gardens within three years afterwards.
About the same time the erection of Finsbury-sqaare was com-
pleted, and various new streets and avenues were built in its
vicinity ; many others also have been since raised along the line
of the City-road, and eastward from thence, to the Curtain-road
and Hoxton. The large plot of ground. that formed the only
remaining vestige of Moorfields (which, long within memory,
was a place for mountebanks, and assemblies of idle and dis-
orderly vagrants), called the Quarters, is now formed into an
elegant square, of which the London Institation forms the north
side. There, also, two spacious Scotch chapels have been
recently built, on a part of the site of Bethlehem Hospital ; and
a large and splendid chapel for Roman Catholics. The up
parts of the St. John-street and Goswell-street roads have liﬁz
wise been much increased ; and the whole of the Spa-fields are
now covered with buildings, which were first began in 1818, A
vast accession to the suburbs has also been made, and is now in
progress, in the vicinity of Hackney, Bethral-green, White.
chapel, Mile-end, Stepney, and St. George’s in the East. At
Shadwell, the New London Docks bave great}y added to the
security of commerce, since they were opened for public use in
January, 1805. Great improvements have also taken place in
the very heart of the metropolis ; a new and wide avenue has
been made from Snow-hill to Holborn-bridge ; the Strand, near
Temple-bar, has been much widened ; the Southwark and
Waterloo bridges have been erected; the neighbourhood of
Westminster-abbey has been cleared of several of its marrow
streets and lanes, and a new and spacious theroughfare, skirted
with handsome buildings, is now formed from Pall-mall to the
Regent’s-park.

On the Surrey side of the Thames the improvements and in-
crease of buildings have been equally rapid, though not on so
important a scale. A new road has been opened from the Sonth-
wark bridge to connect with the Newington Causeway, and St.
George’s-flelds are mostly covered with buildings. A new road
from Waterloo-bridge across Lambeth-marsh to the Obelisk, is
also completed ; and various collateral streets and avenues have
been planned, and.are now in progress, to fill up the extensive
intetmediate space between the Thames and the two roads from
g!m‘ikll':inrs and Westminster bridges, which also meet at the

belisk.
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CHAPTER II.

List of the parishes and churches in London, with their
sncumbents, &c.

It has been desirable to prefix to the topographical description of
the several wards of this city, the three lists which are subjoined,
giving at one view, and in a condensed form, the aggregate of 1n-
formation which the author has at different times spent many hours
to acquire, having becn hitherto only found, after considerable
research, scattered over various parts of the works wherein it has

necessarily sought.

Concerning the first two, no remarks seem requisite; their
respective titles sufficiently indicate their nature, and their utility
will be obvious; it will suffice to say, that they have been formed
with a strict attention to accurscy.

Respecting the third, it will be observed, wherever a living is
stated to be m privite iunds, it bas been deemed prudent merely
to sy * Lay Patron,” a8 mode considered preferable to stating the
last presentee ; for as this is a species of property frequently trane-
ferred, it has been judged better to give no direct information than
sach as would probably be incorrect before it was put to press.

The name of the present incumbent, in cases where united
parishes are held, has been invariably placed sgainst the parish by
the patron whereof he was presented ; so that it will thence appear
who possesses the next presentation, a circumstance which may
prove important to some inquirers.

List No. 1.

The Wards into which the city of London is divided, alphabeti
eally arranged; and also the names of the several churches now
situgtte therein, as also of such as were destroyed by the great
fire 1666, and not rebuilt, butsubsequently joined to adjacent
perishes, accurately stated; as well as the names of the parishes
to which they have been respectively united, and the wards
wherein they are situate.

ALDERBGATE.
CAxrches remaining, or CAurchey burrt, and not
rebuill. rebuilt. United o
Anne, St. within John Zachary, St.  Anne St.
Aldersgate Leonard, St., Foster- Christ-church, (Far-
W’ S¢. without lane ringdon within)
ersgate. Mary, St. Staining  Michael, St. Wood-

st. (Crip. within.)
Olave, St.. Silver- Alban, St. (Cripple-
street. gate within.)
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ALDGATE.
Churchc nm:‘ning or Churches burnt, and not United to
rebuill.
"Andrew, St. Under- —_— —
shaft.
*James, St. Duke’s —_— —
place.
*Katherme, St. Cole- —_— —_—
man
*Katherine, St. Cree —_— —_—
BASSISHAW,
Michael, St. Bassi-
shaw -
BILLINGSGATE.

George, St., Botolph-
lane

Margaret, St., Pattens

Mary, St., at Hill

*Botolph, St., with-

out Bishopsgate
*Ethelburga, St.
*Helen, St.

Allhallows, Bread-st.
Mildred, St Bread--
street

_Benet, St. Grace-
church

Magnus, St. the Mar-
tyr

*Allhallows, London-
wall -

Bartholomew, St., by
the Exchange

Andrew, St. Hubbard Mary, St. at Hill
Botolph, St.Billingsg. George, St.Botolph-1

BISHOPSGATBE.

BREAD STRERET.

John, St. Evangelist Allhallows, Bread-st.
-Margaret, St. Moses Mildred, St. Bread-st.

BRIDGE.

Leonard, St.Eastcp. Benet, St, Gracech.
Margaret, St. Fish- Magnus, St.
street-hill

BROAD STREET.

— —
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Chwmches vemaining, or Churches burnt, and not United to '
rebuilt. re .
Benet, St. Fink
+Christopher, St., le — —_—
Siock
*Martin, St., Out- —_—
wich )
*Peter, 8t., le Poor —_

CANDLEWICK.
Clement, St., East- Lawrence, St. Pount- Mary, St. Abchurch

chesp ney.
Mary, St., Abchurch Martin, St. Orgers  Clement, St. East--

Michael,St.,Crooked- cheap
lane .
CASTLE BAYNARD. .
Apdrew, St., by the Faith, St. Augustin, St. Far-
Wardrobe ringdon within
Benet, St., Paul’s Gregory, St. Mary Magdalene, St.
Wharf Old Fish-street
Mary Magdalene, St. — —_
Old Fish-street
CHEAP.
Lawrence, St., Jewry Allhallows, Honey- Mary, St. le Bow,
Mildred, St., the Vir- lane Cordwainer
gin Benet, St. Shorehog Stephen, St. Wallbk

Martin, St. Pomery Olave, St.Old Jewry,
Coleman-street

Mary, St. Colechurch Mildred, St. Poultry

Pancras, St. Sopars Mary, St. le Bow,
Cordwainer

COLEMAN STREET.
M‘I’g‘n'w s"" Loth-
bury _—
Olave, St. OldJewry
Stephen, St. Coleman N
stroet
CORDWAINER.
Antholin, St. :
Mary, St., Aldermary —_— —_—
Mary, St.le Bow :

+ The church of St.Cl:mtoplser Je- are paid, in the south-west corner of
Stock was pulled down in 1788, for the Bank-yard, within the principal
the of the Bank of Eng- entranco—the church-yard, a garden—
lend. site of the church is now and the parish united to St. Margaret,
the ofice wherein dividend warrants Lothbury.
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Churches wewmaining, or Churches bural, and not United to
rebuill. rebuilt.
CORNHILL.
Michael, St. Cornhill

Peter, St. Cornhill
ORIPPLEGATE WITHIN.

Alban, St. Wood-st. Mary Magdalen, St. Lawrence, St. Jewry,

*Alphage,St. London  Milk-street Cheap

wall
Mary, St. Alderman-

bury — —_—
Michael, St.Wood-st,

CRIPPLEGATE WITHOUT.

*Giles, St. without

Cripplegate

DOWGATE.

Allballows the Great Allhallows the Less Allhallows the Great
FARRINGDON WITHIN.

Avugustin, St. Anne, St. Blackfriars Andrew, St. by the
Christ church Wardrobe, Castle-
Martin, St. Ludgate baynard
Matthew, St. Friday~- Michael,St.leQuerne Vedast, St. Foster-l.
street Peter, St. Cheap Matthew, St. Friday-
Vedast,St.Foster-lane street
FARRINGDON WITHOUT.
*Andrew,St. Holborn
*Bartholomew, St. the —_— —_—
Great
*Bartholomew, St. the —_— —
Bride, aliasBridget, St _— —
*Dunstan, St. in the
West —_— —_
*Sepulchre, St.
LANGBOURNE.
Allhallows, Lombard- Gabriel,St.Fenchurch Margaret,St.Pattens,
street street Billingsgate
*Allballows, Steyning Nicholas, St. Acons Edward, St. the King
Dionis,St Back church
Edmund, 8t. the King —_— —_—

Mary, St. Woolnoth
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Churchas remaining, or Churches burnt, and not United to
rebuilt. reluilt.

LIMB-STREET.

PORTSOKEN.
*Botolph, St. without
Aldgate
QUEENHITHE.

Mary, St. Somerset Mary, St. Mounthaw Mary, St. Somerset
Michael, St. Queen- Nicholas, St. Olave  Nicholas, St. Cole-

hithe abbey
Nicholas, St. Cole-ab- Poter,St.Paul’s-wharf Benet, St. Paul’s-
bey wharf, Castlebaynard
Trinity, Holy Michael, St. Queen-
hithe
TOWER.
*Allhallows, Barking -
¥ Dunstan, St. in the
East
*Olave, St. Hart-st.
VINTRY.

James,St. Garlick-hill Martin, St. Vintry ~ Michael, St. Roya]
Mickael, St. Royal = Thomas, St. Apostle Mary,St. Aldermary,

Cordwainer
WALLBROOK.
Stephen, St. Wall- John, St. upon Wall- Antbolin, St. Cord-
brook brook wainer
Swithin, St. London- Mary, St. Bothaw Swithin, St. London-
stone Mary, St. Wool- stone
church-haw Mary, St. Woolnoth,

Langbourne
The churches in the above list, distinguished by an asterisk, are
such s were sof destroyed in 18668, amounting in number to
twenty-two ; of which ninehave been mnce re-built, as under :—

8t. Andrew, Holborn. ............... ....A.D. 1687
St. Botolph, Bishopsgate .................... 1727
8t. Katherine, Coleman ............cc.covv... 1734
St. Botolph, Aldgate ........ tetsennneans ves. 1744
Allhallows, London Wall .................... 1767
Bt, Alphage............ cretesenans PR R kkki
8t. Botolph, Aldersgate............... csesees 1791
St. Peter-le-Poor ............ccciienevennns 1792
8t. Martin Outwich................. csenannas 1798
¢ The church of 8. Dunetan in the  erected by sir Christopher Wren; it

Eamt has been recently re-built, with was opened for divine worship Jsa.
the exception of the tower and spire.  18%1.
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From the above list it will appear, that the number of churches
remaining and re-built amount to,

Within the Walls ........... P ) |
Without the Walls......cooecviinnrnienans 10
—_T71
The number of churches burnt, and not rebuilt,
all within the Walls.................... ceanen 35
St. Christopher’s, since destroyed .............. 1
Making a totalof .......... cevees ceetacanae 107

'The number of churches in the city and its suburbs at the period
cf the great fire in 1666.

LisT, No. 2.

Describing the site of those churches burnt in 1666, and not
rebuilt.

ALLuALLOWS, the Less ....Churchyard south side of Thames-
street,nearly opposite Little-bush-
lane.

ArLHALLOWS, Honey-lane . .Now part of Honey-lane market,
towards the south-eastof the alley
communicating with Cheapside,
formerly called Honey-lane.

Axprew, St. Holbard ....Cornerof Love-lane, Eastcheap,now
occupied by a meeting-house.

ANNE, ST, Blackfriars ...... Churchyard, east side Church-
entry, Shoemsker-row, Broad-
way, Blackfriars.

BeNEeT, ST. Sherehog ......Churchyard north side of Bucklers-
bury.

BoroLrH, ST. Billingsgate . . Now partly laid into Botolph wharf,
in Lower Thames-street, and the
remainder covered by warehouses
nearly opposite Botolph-lane.

Farrm, S1. ..... « ««+ s+« - s Under south-east corner of St. Paul’s
cathedral.

GABRIEL, ST. Fenchurch ..In the highway, Fenchurch-street,

- nearly opposite Cullum-street.

GREGORY, ST. by St. Paul’s. .South of west end of St. Paul’s
cathedral.

Joun, St. Zachary ........ Churchyard opposite "St. Anne’s-
lane, east side of Noble-street.

JouN, ST. Evangelist . . ....Churchyard, east side Friday-street,
corner of Watling-street.
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Jorn, ST. Baptist,upon Wal- Churchyard Dowgate-hill, north
brook. . east corner of Cloak-lane.
Lavrence, ST. Pountney ..Churchyard, east side Laurence
: Pountney-hill. .
Lzonarp, St. Eastcheap. .. .Ch;lnrchyard, east side Fish-street-
il . . .

Lsonarp, ST. Foster-lane . .Formerly church-yard west side of
Foster-lane, now covered by new
General Post-office.

MarGARET, ST. Mosks ....Churchyard, south-west corner of
Passing alley, now called Little

Friddy-street.

Mircargr, ST. Fish-st. hill Now pait of Monument-yard.

MarTIN, ST. ORGERS ...... Churchyard east side St. Martm 8-
lane, Cannon-street.

MarTin, S1. Pomery ......Churchyard Ironmonger-lane, west
end of Church of St. Olave, Old
Jewry.

MagTIN, ST. Vintry ..... . .Churcb-vard north side Upper-

Thames-street, between College-
hill and Queen-street

Mary, St. Bothaw ........Churchyard, east side of Turn-
wheel-lane.

Mary, Sr. Coldchurch ««..Between Poultry and Frederick-
place, west side of Old Jewry,
covered by houses.

Many MacopaLeN, St. Milk- West side, towards north corner of

street. Honey-lane-market.
Mary, St. Mounthaw...... Churchyard east side Labour-in-
vain hill, now Old Fish-street-
hill.

Mary, ST. Staining ......Churchyard between Wood-street
and Nob'esstreet, behind Coach-
makers’-hall.

M.;‘nr, St. Wool-church Covered by the Mansion-house.

aw.

MicBakL L& QUERNE, ST. ..In the highway, east end of Pater-

noster-row.

Nrcaoras Acon, St. ...... Churchyard, west side of Nncholas-
lane, ‘Lombard-street.

Nicuoras, Sy. OrLave ...... Churchyard, west side of Bread-
street hill.

Ouavg, St Silver-street ... .Churchyard south-west corner of
Silver-street, joining Noble-st.

Pancras, Sr. Sopars ...... Churchyard north side Pancras-
lane, Queen-street.

PeTeR, ST. Cheap ........Churchyard, south-west corner of

Wood-street, near Cheapside.
voL. 11, ’ D
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PETER, ST. Paul’s Wharf ..Churchyard, north-east corner of
St. Peter’s-hill, Upper Thames-
street,

TaoMAs ST, APOSTLE ......Churchyard north-west corner of
" Cloak-lane, in Queen-street.

TriNiTY, HoLY .

.......

..Churchyard adjoining Lutheran

charch, Great St, Thomas Apos-

tle, and said Lutheran church

erected on the site of the ancient
« edifice.

List No. 8

The Eeclesiastical Livings in the City of London, and ils
suburbs, the Pairons, and present Incumbents.

*,* V.stands for Vicar, R. for Rector, C. for Curale, and P. C. for Perpefual
Curafe. The figures immediately following, signify the time of Presentation.

Parishes. Patrons. Incumbents.
Alban, St. Wood-st, Dean&Ch.of St Paul’s E. 1. Beckwith, M.A. R. 1800
Allhallows, Barking  Archb. of Canterbury §. 1. Knight, D.D, V. 1788
Bread-street Archb. of Canterbury Incumbent of St. John, Evan-
gelist, R.
The Great  Archb. of Canterbary W. St. A. Vincent, M.A. R. 1801
Honey-lane Grocers Company Incumbent St. Mary le Bow
The Less Lay Patron Incumbent Allhallows the Great
Lombard-st. Dn. & Ch. Canterbury Waller Brown, R. 1816
Steyning Grocers Company Lancelot Sharpe, M.A. P.C.1810
London-wall The King Robert Nares, M.A. R. 1817
Alphage, St. London Bishop of l.ondon Robert Watts, M.A. R. 1799
Wall
Andrew St. Hobbard Lay Patron Incumb. St. Mary at Hill, R.
. Undershaft Bishop of London William Antrobuns, M.A. R. 1794
by the Wardrobe The l&ng . Incumbent St. Anne, Blackfriars,
R.
Anpe, St. within Al- Bishop of London Incumbent St. John,Zachary,R.
de .
Blackfriars  Parish Isaac Saunders, M.A. R. 1816
Antholin, St. Dean & Ch.of St Paul’s John Gordon, M.A. R. 1827
Augustine, St. Ditto J. W. Vivian, D.D. R. 1821
Barthol. St. Exchange The King G. Shepherd, D.D. R. 1807
Benet, 8t. Fink Dean &Ch of Windsor C. R. Ashfield, M.A. P.C. 1818

Gracechurch-st
Paul's Wharf

Dn. & Ch. Canterbury
Dean & Ch of StPaul’s

George Gaskin, ¢ D.D. R. 1791
Henry Ducane, M.A. R. 1824

Sherehog The King Incumb. St. Stephen Walbrook
BotolphS: Billingsgate Dean & Ch of §tPaul's Incumb. St. George Botolph-la.
Christ Church Goveroors of St. Sam. Crowther, M.A. V. 1800

Barthol. Hospital

Christop. 8t. Le Stock Bishop of London Incumbent St. Margaret, Loth-
bury, R.

Clement,St. Eastcheap Ditto W. Johunson, M.A. R. 1820

Dionis, St. Back Cb. Dean & Ch.ofWindsor H. L. Hobart, D.D. R. 181

* Presented by the then bishop of London, by lapse.



Parishes.
Dunstan, St.inthe
Edmund, St. the King

Etbelbu Se.

Faith, SC

Gabriel, 8t. Fench. st.

gms!, StBotolph-la.
ry, St.

H’:ls:, St

James, St. Dukes-pl.

. Garlick-hill
ohn,S¢. Baptist-upon-
Walbrook T

John, St. Evangelix,
Bread-st.

Jobn, St. Zacuury
Katherine, St Coleman
Cree
Lawrence, St. Jewry
Pountoey

Leonard St Eastcheap

Foster-lane
Magnus, St. Lond-br.
Marg. 8t. Lothbury

Moses

Pattens
Martin, St Ironmg-la.
within Ludgate
Orgars
Outwich

Martin, 8t. Vintry
Mary, 8t. Abchurch

Aldermanbury
Aldermary

w-Bow
Bothaw
Cole church

at-Hill
Magd. Milk-st.

Old Fish-st,
Mounthaw

Somerset
Staining

Woolcnu-Haw
Woolnoth
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Patrons.

Archb, of Canterbury
Ditio

Bishop of London

Dean &Ch.of St.Paul’s

The King

Ditto

Dean &Ch.of St.Paul’s

Lay Patron

Lord Mayor & Alder-
men of London

Bishop of London

The King

Dean & Ch. of Cantb.

Dean &Ch. of St.Paul’s
Bishop a: Londo(l:) b
. College, Cam
ml College,Oxford.
Corpus Christi Col-
lege, Oxford
Dean & Ch. of Cantb.

Cean& Ch. of Wesumr.
Bishop of London
The King

Ditto
Bishop of London
Court of Common

Council of London

The King
Bishop of London
Dean & Ch.of St.Paul’s

Merchant Taylors’
Company

Bp. of Worcester

Corpus Christi col-
lege, Oxford

Parish

Archbp. of Canterb.

Ditto

Ditio
Mercers’ company
Parish

Dean and Chapter of
St l"auls

Ditte
Bishop of Hereford

Lay Patron
The King

Lay Patron
The King

D2
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Incumbents.

Robt. Hesket:, M.A. R. 1817
Incumbent St. Nichiolas, Acons,

R.
Wm, Parker, M.A. R. 1807
Incumbent St. Augustine, R.
Chas. Pheleps, M.A. R. 1792
Chas. Champnes, M.A. R. 1825
R. H. Barham, M.A. R. 1824
Jas. Blepkarme, M.A. V. 1799
Rich. Povah, D.D. P.C. 1838

Archdn. Goddard, R. 1821
Incumbent of St. Antholin, R.

G.T. Andrews, M.A* R. 1819

Joho Hutchins, M.A.

Thos. Horne, B.D. R. 1818

George Hodson, M.A. P.C. 1814

Allatson Burgh, M D. 7. 1815

Incumbent St Mary, Abchurch
P.C.

Incumbent St. Benet, Grace-
church R. 1815

Incumbent of Christ Church, R.

Thomas Leigh, M.A. R. 1808

J. B. Hollingworth, D.D. R. 1814

G. T. Ackland, M.A. R. 1818

Incumbent of St. Magnus, R.

Incumbent of St. Gabriel, Fen-
church street, R.

R. Hamilton, D.D. R. 1796

J. B. Biogham, M.A. R 1819

Incumbent of St. Clement,East-

cheap, R.
J. 1. Ellis, M.A. L1821

G. F. L. Nicolay, M. A. R 1790
J. W. Bellamy, D. D. K. 1816

J. F. Salusbury, M. A. R. 1803

Incumbent of 8t. Thomas Apos-
ue, R, .

Anthony Hamilton, M.A. R. 1820

Incumbent of St. Swithin, R.

Incumbent of St. Mildred, Puul

try, R.
W. J. Rodber, M. A. R. 1825
Incumbent 8t. Laurence, Jewry,
R. 1825
Incumbent of 8t. Gregory, R.
Incumbent of St. Mary, Somer.
set, R
J. 8. Sergrove, M. A. R, 1828
Incumbent of §t. Michael, Wood
street, R.
Incumb. of St. Mary Woolnoth, R.
Samuel Birch, M. A. R. 1808
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Parishes.
Matthew, St.Friday-st

Michael, St. Bassishaw
Cornhill
(rooked-lane
Queenhithe

le-Querne
Royal

Wood-street
Mildred, St. Bread-st

Poultry
Nicholas, St. Acons

Cole Abbey

St. Olave

Olave, St. Hart-street
Old Jewry

Silver-street
Pancras, St. Sopar
Peter, St. Cheap

Cornhill

Paul’s-wharl

le-Poor
Stephen. St. Colem.-st

Walbrook
Swithin,St. Lond.-sto.
‘Thomas, St. Apostle
Trioity, Holy
Vedast, St. alias Foster

Ardrew, St. Holborn
Bartholomew, St. the

Great
the-Less
Botolph without Al

shopsgate
Bﬁdgg,nliuSt.Bride
Dunstan, St. ia-the-

West
Giles,8t.without Crip-

plegate
Sepulchre, St.

HISTORY OF

Palrons.
Bishop of London

Dean and Chapter of
St. Paul’s
Drapers’ Company
Archbp. of Canterb.
Dean and Chapter of
St. Paul’s
Ditto
Archbp. of Canierb.

Parish
Lay Patron

The King
Ditto
Ditto
Dean and Chapter of
t. Paul’s
Trustee for Parish
The King

Eton College
Archbp. of Canterb

Lay Patron
Court of C. C. of Lon.
Dean and Chapter of
St. Paul’s
Ditto
g&l’ilh
rocers’ Company
Lay Patron pan
Dean and Chapter of
St. Paul’s
Dean and Chapter of
Canterbury
Archbp. of Canterb.

Lay Patron
Ditto

Governors of St. Bar-
tholomew’s hospital

Dean and Chapter of
Westminster

Lay Patron

Bishop of London
Dean and Chapter of

Westminster
Lay Patron

LONDON.

. Incumbents.
Incumbent of St. Peter, Cheap,

R.
Christopher Packe, M. A. R. 1821

T. R. Wrench, M. A. R. 1798
W. W. Dakins, D. D. R. 1816
Thomas L. Strong, M.A. R. 1824

T. T. Walmsley, D.D. R. 1815
Incumbent of St. Martin, Vintry,

R.
J. A. Busfeild, D. D. R. 1821
Incumbent of St. Margaret Moses,
R

Richard Crawley, M. A. R. 1807

Richard l.ondon, M. A. R. 1811

J. Mitchell, M. A. R. 1817

Incumbent of St Nicholas Cole
Abbey, R.

Henry B. Owen, D.D. R. 1794

Incumbent of St. Martin Pomery,

V.

Incumbent of St. Alban, Wood
street, R.

Incumbent of St. Mary-le-Bow,
R

G. A. Hatch, M. A. R. 1791

J. P. Wood, M. A. R. 1884

Incumbent of St. Benet, Paul's
Wharf, R

J. 8. Simpkinson, M. A, R. 1798

Josiah Pratt, B. D. V. 1838

G. 8. Townley, M. A. R. 1784

H. G. Watkins, M. A. R. 1808

H. B. Wilson, D.D. R. 1818,

Incumbent of St. Michael, Queen-
hithe, R.

Incumbent of St. Michael-le-
Querne, R.

Gilbert Beresford, D.D. R. 1819

John Abbiss, M. A. R. 1819

Samuel Wix, M. A. V. 1808

Thomas H. Causton, Donative,
18%4

J B. Hollingworth, D.D. P. C.
1813

C. J. Blomfleld,* D. D. R. 1820

Thomas Clare, M. A. V. 1802

Richard Lloyd, M. A. V. 1805

Dean and Chapter of W. Holmes, M. A. V. 1802

St. Paul’s
St. John’s College,Ox-
ford

R. D. Shackleford, D. D. 7. 1784

4 Now bishop of Chester.
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CHAPTER HI.

History and Topography of Aldersgate Ward.

Tuis ward derives its appellation from one of the ancient gates
of the city ; it is divided into two districts, called Aldersgate
Within and Aldersgate Without, from their respective situations :
the former contains the four precincts of St. Leonard, Foster-lanc,
St. John Zachary, St. Mary Staining, and St, Anne. The latter
is also divided into four precincts, all within the parish of St.
Botolph. This ward is bounded on the east and north by Cripple-
gate ward, on the west by the wards of Farringdon Within and
Without, and on the south by that of Farringdon Within. It
contains eight precincts, four in each division, and is governed by
an alderman an eight common councilmen. Before the great fire
in 1666 there were six churches in this ward, viz. :—St. John
Zachary, situate at the corner of Maiden-lane, in Foster-lane; St.
Mary Staining, at the north end of Staining-lana; St. Olave,
Silver-street, at the north-east corner of Noble-street; St. Anne,
Aldersgate, in St. Anne's-lane; St. Botolph, at the south-east
corner of Little Britain, in Aldersgate-street ; and St. Leonard,
Foster-lane, situated on the west side of Foster-lane; which six,
at present, are reduced to two churches, viz. St. Anne’s and St.
Botolph’s.

St. Anne, otherwise St. Agnes.

On the north side of St. Anne’ s-lane, within Aldersgate, is the
church, which is so called from its dedication to St. Anne, the
mother of the Virgin Mary, and its situation.

‘The church was anciently denominated St. Anne’s in the Wil-
lows, from the number of trees of that species growing in its neigh-
bourhood. Its foundation cannot be traced, but it appears to be of
some antiquity, by John de Chimerby being collated thereto, on
the 5th of July, 1322. It isa rectory, the patronage of which was
in the dean and canons of St. Martin’s-le-Grand, until that church,
with its appurtenances, was annexed to the abbey of Westminster ;
by virtue of which, the abbot and convent, and, after them, the
bishop of Westminster, became the patrons; but on the suppression
of the bishopric of Westminater, queen Mary, in the year 1553,
granted the advowson to the bishop of London, and his successors,
in whom it still remains.

The old church shared the common fate in the great fire of 1666 ;
soon afler which, the present one was erected 1n its stead, and the
parish of St. John, Zachary, united to it.
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Thischurch stands in a hurying ground, on the north side of St.
Avne's-lane. The exterior is very plain. The plan of it is square,
with a tower of the same form, attached to the western front, to the
sides of which are appended vestries, erected in a dwelling-house
style. The upper story of the tower, which is the only portion
visible, has a sqnare window, bounded by an architrave, in each
face, and is fimshed by a cornice and parapet, above which is a
small mean turret, ending in a vane, which supports the letter
A. The south front of the church has three windows with
arched heads, enclosed in rustic frontispieces: the centre is
higher and larger than the others. Below the western windoy is
a rusticated arched doorway, flanked with pilasters. The angles
of the church are guarded by rustic work, and the elevation
finishes with a cornice, a pediment being added to that portion
of the wall which is above the central window, and which is,
in consequence, higher than the remainder. The east front is
similar, excepting that the pediment is emitted, and the lateral
windows bricked up. The north front is similar to the south,
the two smaller windows being walled up. The walls are con-
structed of red brick, with stone dressings, and the roofs covered
with tiles, which, not being concealed by the parapet, has an
unsightly appearance. The walls have recently been covered
with stucco, and painted to imitate stone. The interior is very
pleasing ; four corinthian columns, on lofty pedestals, form a
square in the centre of the church; they support rich entable-
tures, issning from the side walls of the church, where they rest
upon corbels of a composed character, very tastefal in their
ernaments ; they meet in a right angle above the columns; in
consequence, a cruciform shape results, very appropriate to the
nature of the building, and one of the best forms for distributing
light. into the church. The columns are painted in imitation of
yellow marble, and some eminently tasteful improver has painted
a long strip beneath the corbels, to create the appearance of
pilasters. The four compartments forming the arms of the cross
are each covered with an arched eeiling, enriched with three
square panels, in handsome borders, and bounded by four arches,
whose soffits are charged with coffers and roses, forming a
large square centre, which is simply groined, and adorned with
an expanded flower upon the point of junction of the groins. The
flat ceilings occupying the spaces at the angles of the charch
not comprehended on the cruciform plan, are enriched with cir-
cles, enclosing wreaths of foliage and fruit, with cherubim in the
angles. The pulpit and reading desk are affixed to the pedestals
of the two easternmost pillars. The altar screen is in three
compartments ; the central is flanked by corinthian pilasters, and
covered with scrolls, disposed pedimentally at the sides of an
urn ; the lateral divisions have carved festoons of fruit in the
upper panels ; the east wlindow has an irradiation surrounding
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the Hebrew name of the Deity in its arch in stained glass. A
western gallery extends across the church ; in it is an organ in
abandsome case. The font is situated in tbe vestibule under the
gallery ; it is & neat circular basin, on an octagonal pillar, and
covered with a canopy of carved wood-work.

The church was erected by Sir C. Wren, in the year 1680, at
the expence of no more than 2,448L. 0s. 10d.; the dimensions are
fifty-three feet every way, the plan being, as before remarked
square, and the tower and turret eighty-four feet high.

The organ, erected in 1782, by subscription, oceupies the only
gallery in the church. Before it are the royal arms emblazoned.
Amung the monuments in this church, before the repairs made
about sixty years ago, was the following :—

Peter Heiwood, younger son of Peter Heiwood, one of the coun-
sellors of Jamaica, by Grace, daughter of Sir John Muddeford, kot.
and bart., great grandson to Peter Heiwood, of Heiwood, in the
county palatine of Lancaster, who apprehended Guy Faux, with
bis dark lanthorn; and for his zealous prosecution of Papists, as
justice of peace, was stabbed in Westminster-hall by John James,
a Dominican friar, A.D. 1640 . obit November 2, 1701.

Reader, if vot a papist bred,
Upon such ashes gently tread

At present there are no monuments or epitaphs worthy notice in
the church.

St. Botolph withou! Aldersgate.

‘This church is situated on the west side of Aldersgate street, at
the south corner of Little Britain, It received its name from being
dedicated to St. Botolph, a Saxon monk, and its vicinity to the
gate. It was anciently a rectory, the patronage of which was in
the dean and canons of 8t. Martin’s-le-Grand ; but it continued un-
appropriated, until the year 1399, when Richard Il. by his letters
patent, dated May the 21st, at Pembroke, gave license to Thomas
Stanley, dean of St. Martin’s-le-Grand, to appropriate the income,
at that time not exceeding five marks per annum, to his collegiate
church, for the celebration of a perpetual anniversary for his de-
ceased consort Amne, upon the day of her death, during his life ;
but, after his demise, the apnniiersary to be solemnized upon his
vbit for ever. In consequonce of tius licence, the church of St.
Botolph was appropriated to that of St. Martin’s-le-Grand, by a
commission from the bishop of London, to his official, the dean and
canons being bound to provide a sufficient maintenance for a chap-
lain 1o serve the cure; since which time it has continued a dona
tive or curacy.

When Henry VIL,in the year 1508, annexed the collegiate
church of St. Martin’s-le-Grand to the convent of St. Peter, West-
minster, this church aiso became subject to that abbey ; but at the
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suppression of monasteries, was granted, by Henry VIIL. to his new
bishop of Westminster. That bishopric, however, being dissol ved
on the accession of queen Mary, and the abbot and monks restored
to their convent, this church reverted to its vld masters; and when
the monks were finally expelled, and the convent converted into a
collegiate church, by authority of parliament, in the reign of queen
Elizabeth, she granted the curacy to the dean and chapter, who still
retain it ; it is, however, subject to the bishop and archdeacon of
London, to whom it pays procuration,

The autiquity of this church may be collécted from the patish
records; from which it appears, that a house, anciently given to
the parishioners, was, in the year 1319, demised by them, upon
lease, to Richard Kothing.

It escaped the fire of London, in 1666, but became so ruinous,
that it has been since rebuilt.

The old church stood on the same site as the present, which is
on the west side of Aldersgate-street, at the eastern corner of Little
Britain. It was a plain erection of the pointed style, much defaced
by alteration. The east and north walls had been rebuilt in brick,
nearly as they now appear. In the south wall were four mullioned
windows, of three lights, with arched heads of a simple and common
form. The church was made into a nave and side aisles, by
pointed arches resting upon clustered columns composed of an
union of four small cylinders to a square pier, in the same style
ss those which may be seen in the few ancient parish churches still
remaining in the metrepolis. ‘The nave was lighted by a clere-
stury of dormer windows, the structure was low, and the wood-
work old. When the church was rebuilt in 1790-91, the east walls
were retsined, being merely heightened to accommodate the supe-
rior elevation of the new building.*

‘The present building abuts to the east and north on the street,
to the south on a burying ground, and to the west on houses; and
it has nothing in its external appearance 10 attract attention. The
eastern end has a palladian window in the centre (which, however,
gives no light to the body of the church), and two lateral entrances
crowned with pediments. The north side has no windows, the wall
being merely broken by recesses ; the south side has two ranges of
winduws of no architectural character, and the clerestory, which is
acarcely seen, is covered with lead. A square tower of small di-
mensions and mean appearance, tises above the west end. It is
doomed over with a leaden roof, on which is raised a square bell
turret of wood. The interior is very elegant, and displays a pro-
fusion of tasteful architectural ornament.  The plan of the church
s nearly squure, and it is made into a budy with side aisles by

* For this notice of, the <ld church, ble information relating to this and
the author is indebited to a gentleman,  other ancient huildings i1 the metro-
from whom he has received considera-  polis, which no longer exist.
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three square picrs, with moulded caps, and two half piers attached
to the extreme walls, which sustain an enriched fascia, on
which the fronts of the galleries are constructed. From the capitals of
the piers rise three Corinthian columns, and two half columns, sus-
tsining an entablature, the enrichments of which are.in the grandest
style of Roman architecture : the ceiling of the body is arched, and
rests upon the cornices of the entablature ; it is crossed by nbs the
intermediate space« being highly ornamenled with circles, follage,
and other enrichments : between each of the ribs the ceiling is
pierced laterally with semicircular windows, which range over the
intercolumniations, and form a clerestory. The cellmgs of the
aisles are horizontal, and panelled by fascia, uniting with the
main architrave above the capitals, and sustained upon trusses at the
side walls. At each end of the body of the church is a semicircular
niche, equal in height and breadth to the building ; that at the
west end is divided about the middle by a gullery sustained on four
columns, the capitals of a composed order; in this gallery are the
organ and seats for the charity children; the ceiling, which con-
sists of half a spherical dome, is highly enriched with panels of a
square and octangular form; the eastern niche contains the altar,
and three windows over it filled with stained glass, by Pearson.
The ceiling is similar to the western one, excepting that the centre
is occupied by a dove and glory. The window immediately above
the altar is arched, and has the representation of a painted curtain
attached to it; which appears tv be drawn up to display the subject
of the peinting, which is ¢ The Agony in the Garden.”” The persons
represented are our Saviour and two angels. The side windows
contain whole lengths of St. John and St. Peter, in niches. In the
execution of these windows there is no great display of merit. The
profusion of yellow and light-brown tints give the whole a bilious
and unnatural appearance. The pulpit, on the north side of the
church, 4ppears to hang on a single pillar, which ¢nds in a palm-
tree supporting the sounding-board. The reading-desk is a circular
pedestal ornamented with lonic pilasters. The expence of rebuild

ing the church was about 10,0007

The monuments from theold church, which in that building chiefly
occupied the walls of the chancel, have been carefully set up in
the present. They are not in the same situations as before, but
occupy the piers between the windows and other portions of the
bailding.

There are several handsome monuments in this church. In the
north aisle is a plain, but neat monument, to the memory of
D. Wray, esq. F. R. S. and S. A,, son of sir D. Wray, knt., who
died Dec. 29, 1783, aged 82.

A handsome monument of veined marble, with a relievo bust by
Roubiliac, to the memory of Elizabeth Smith, who died July 16, 1750.

A small monument to the memory of John Caston, registrar of
the archiepiscopal court of Canterbury, who died July 3, 1614.
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A handsome monument in the form of a sarcophagus, on the top
of which are two cupids, and a relievo bust of the deceased, to the
memory of Z. Foxall, esq. born December 7, 1664, died May 5,
1758.

Beneath the inscription are the following lines :—

Sg‘ite of the partial rules of vulgar fate,
The man who could be hosest, might be great;
Such is true genius, such was this man’s claim,
Each friend could praise him, and no foe could blame ;
Who sought no vice his reason bade bim fly,
Who lost no virtue reason taoght to try;
Who blest each gift, improved each talent given,
i and wrought—the rest belongs to Heaven,

At the east end of the same aisle is a monument to the memory of
Elizabeth, wife of sir T. Richardson, of Honington, Norfolk, who
died Jan. 24, 1639, aged 2. Within an oval is a half-length effigy
of this lady, dressed in the costume of the age.

In the south aisle is a similar monument to the memory of Eliza-
beth, widow of Ralph Ashton, of Midleton, in Lancashire, esq.,
who died 22nd of March, 1662, aged 54.

Also a neat monument to the memory of R. A. Cox, esq. late
alderman of the ward.

Collegiate Church of St. Martin’s-le-Grand.

It isa matter of no small difficulty to produce any conclusive evi-
dence of the period when the church of St. Martin was first found-
ed ; it must, however, have existed before the time of Ingelric and’
his brother Girard, who are designated by the conqueror’s charter
as its founders.

Tanner in his Notitia, mentions, that in the margin of the regis-
ter of the College deposited in the library of the abbey of West-
minster, and which was written as late as the reign of Henry VI,
Wythred, king of Kent, is named as its founder ; but every other
authority consulted being silent on this head, and Wythred
having founded the priory of St. Martin at Dover, which from its
pre-eminence in that place was also styled Le Grand, Mr. Kempe
conceives the truth of this assertion to be at least very doubtful.

That there was a building erected on the site of St. Martin’s-
le-Grand, and devoted to worship by the early Christians, is ren-
dered extremely probable by the bull of pope Clement, reciting the
church to be among those exempted from episcopal jurisdiction,
because they were founded before bishops were ordained in the
kingdom, and episcopal jurisdiction had been usurped over them,
during times of civil commotion, tnsurgente procelld turbationis
in regno.

The royal and free chapel, which, from an early period, there is
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w0 doubt had existed, dedicated to St. Martin (who appears to have
been a favourite with the early British Christians, many churches
considered of the highest antiquity being dedicated to him), found,
i the veign of the Confessor, two noble and munificent benefactors
in Ingelric, earl of Essex, and- hia brother Gjrard, who, in all pro-
bebility, erected a more extensive and important structure on the
spot, as a church, endowing it with landa for the maintenance of
secular canons.  This tcok place in 1056, the 15th of the reign of
Edward the Confessor.*

On the defeat of Haroll at Hastings, and the extinguishment of
the Saxon dynasty, Ingelric appears to have lost his possessions in
Eassex, which were conferred by the Conqueror on Eustace, earl of
Boulogne. The historian before quoted, who has so ably explored
the early history of this ancient precinct, says, he is ¢induced to sus-
pect, from circumstances which will appear in the sequel, that
Ingelric, and perhaps his brother Girard, devoted themselves to a
religious life within the walls of the foundation, and that Ingelric
himself was the first dean or custos of St. Martin’s.’+

After the conguest, the bishop of London exerted himmelf to
obtain for the canons of St. Martin’s the protection of William, in
which he was successful, as appears by the ample confirmation of
their privileges granted to them in the second year of his reign.

‘This charter, which confirmed to the canons of St. Martin’s their
Iands in Essex, including the church of Mealdon, with two hides of
land, and ¢ all the land and moor without the postern, which is called
Criplesgate.” They were also exempted, by the same instrument,
from every royal imposition of service. This charter was written
both in Latin and Saxon.

Eustace, earl of Boulogne, before mentioned, did not confiim
Ingelric’s endowment, but retained the lands in Essex to his own
use, citing the conqueror’s gift as his authority, and claiming, by
the same right, a jurisdiction over the church; the Norman earl,

however, pruviding for the health of his soul, resolved to restore
certain lands to the ¢ church and canons of the blessed Martin, to be
held altogether free and undisturbed ; to wit, the land of Maldon,
with the church of St. Mary, and all its appurtenances, and Estre,
and Tolleshunt, and Bemflete, and Hoddesden.” All these grants
were confirmed by his successor. During the period that Matilda,
the haughty queen of Stephen, held the rein of power, she issued
the following :—

‘ The empress, the daughter of Henry, the king, mistress of
England, to Osbert ;—the barons, the sheriffs and the citizens of
London, health :—I command that you seize Henry, bishop of
Winchester, and legate of the apostolic see, of those houses and
lnds in London where Peter formerly dwelt, and which belonged
to the deanery of St. Martin, London, of which he and his church
have been dis-seized, as Roger, bishop of Salisbury, dean of the

® Tanner’s Not. Monast. ¢ Kempe's St. Martin's, p. 10,
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same church, and Fulcher, afierwards were seized of them, the day
that they were living and dead, and their houses, and all things
which wero taken away after the death of Roger, cause ye to be
restored to him, and the lands and all the appurtenances of the
church of St. Martin, cause ye him to hold in peace. Witness, &¢.’

Subsequently Stephen granted to the canons of St. Martin all
the liberties conceded by the ueror, and immunity from com-
plaints of ¢ damage and murder ;’* also a charter of free warren,
or property over game in their lands in Essex. t

After the capture of Stephen, at the battle of Lincoln, Matilda,
to avenge herself on the citizens of London, for the attachmens
which they had shown to his cause, made Geoffrey de Mandeville
sole justiciary of the city of London, and the county of Middlesex.
The tower of London and sheriffwicks of London and Middlesex
were let to him at a stipulated rent: while he occupied the fortress
Jjust mentioned, he issued a charter, in reparation of injuries which
the church of St. Martin’s had sustained from him, as earl of
Essex.]

In 1158, Henry de Blois, bishop of Winchester and dean of St.
Martin’s, formed, with the sanction of the earl of Boulogne, a con-
stitution of their prebends.§

On the death of this eminent churchman and politician, Godfrey
de Lucy succeeded to the deanery, To him was probably addressed
a papal bull, in which the bishop of Rome confirmed, in the most
ample manner, all their present and future possessions || .
- In 1235 we find the dean and chapter complained to the king
that the mayor and sheriffs of London obstructed their privileges,
denied the jurisdiction of their courts over their tenants, inplesded
and compelled them tv answer vexatious pleas in the city courts.
Henry addressed his brief to the civic officers, commanding that the
collegiate church should be suffered freely to exercise all such pri-
vileges as she had heretofore enjoyed.

Little occurred for a considerable period worthy the notice of
the historian, if we except the bickerings between the dean and
chapter, and the corporation of London, respecting the disgraceful
right of sanctuary, and the great immunities possessed without
either paying scot or lot. On the 5th of May, 1360, the celebrated
William of Wykeham was appointed dean, which he held only
three years. During the rebellion of Wat Tyler, numbers that

. sought sanctuary within the precinct, were forced even from the
high altar, and decapitated in Cheapside. On the accession of
Henry 1V, in 1403, the citizens, who had long regarded the privi-
leges of St. Martin’s-le-Grand with jealousy, more especially the

® Implying an amercement for mur-  dart, as he was besieging the castle of

der committed on their lands. Burwell, in Cambridgeshire.

+ Printed in Kempe's History of St § Printed at length in Kempe's St
Martin’s, p. 54. Martin’s-le-Grand, p. 65.

3 De Mandeville soon after received | Idem, p. 71,

a mortal wound in the head from a
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swnctuary, petitioned against it as a receptacle of murderers, thieves,
and fraudulent debtors, praying that its privileges mizht be an-
nolled. The answer given was, that the king would grant a
remedy, if possible. But the veneration so long paid to the privi-
leges of the church, and the numerous royal grants and papal
bulls made in its favour, formed too strong a barrier, and the sanc-
tuary continued in the plenitude of its power. .

In 1428 we find Thomas Bourchier, afterwards archbishop of
Canterbury, dean of this church. - About this period the citizens
hegan to dispuse the privileges of sanctuary claimed by the canons
of St. Martin’s, for their precinct.” Soon after a grand attack was
made on this place, and various other privileged places, by the
sheriffs Philip Malpes and Robert Marchall, which is noticed in
snother part of this work.t During the agitation of this question,
the sheriffs brought forward some atrocious cases. Among them are
the two following :—

In the 2nd of the reign of Edward 1I., Robert Stody murdered
s woman, took sanctuary in St. Martin's, and afterwards made his
escape.

In the 6th of Edward 1iI. John Frowe, of Lincoln, on account
of an old grudge, dogged Robert Dodmerton, a mason, with a
drawn dagger in his hand, and when near the gate of St. Mar-
tin’s , stabbed him mortally in the neck, and immediately took
sanctuary in the precinct. Still the power of the royal grants
and custom was an overmatch for justice, and the sheriffs were
fined, and their prisoncrs remanded back to the sanctuary. On
the snppression of the insurrection headed by Jack Cade in 1450,
some of the factious ringleaders repaired hither, and took sanc-
tuary ; among them was William Cayme, one of the principal
trsitors; the advisers of the king persuaded him to demand the
delivery of Cayme to the royal officers; but the wary dean had
already secured bim in the prison of the sanctuary, and producing
his old answer, the royal grants, bulls, &e., declined complying
with the royal mandate. The matter was discussed in the council
chamber, and it was ultimately agreed that the king should not
break the immunities conferred by the royal prerogative, but
recommended that the traitor should be kept close from committing
further mischief.}

Some time after, an occurrence took place. in which the dean
again protected his rights and privileges, and afterwards took
care io have the whole of this matter circumstantially recorded.

¢ In perpetual memory of the matter, and greater corroboration
of our privileges, we, Richard Caudray, the dean, have caused to
be published and digested, in the form of the present instrument,

by a notary public, and to pass under our seal.’§
® Kempe’s St. Martin's-le-Grand, t Kempe’s St. Martin's, p. 137.

p-1is. . § Printed at length in the above
+ Vol. i. p. 15b. work, pp. 40, 41
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During the war between the rival houses of York and Lancas-
ter, the inhabitants of this precinct were more daring and obnox-
ious than ever to the city; at last, the conduct of the sanctuary-
men had arisen to such a height of audacity, that the lord mayor
and aldermen, putting themselves at the head of the citizens,
forced the gates, and bore off several of the ringleaders. The
dean preferred his complaint for breach of privilege, as on former
occasions, to the king, but this time the citizens were directed to
keep their prisoners until the matter could be more strictly inves-
tigated.* Soon after, these enormities produced the following
articles, enacted by the king’s council, for the better government
of the sanctuary of St. Martin’s,

Henricus, Dei Gratia, Rex Anglie & Francie, Domsnus
Hybernie : Omntbus ad quos presentes Litere pervensunt,
sagutem. Inspeximus Tenorem quendam Ordinationis,
Concessionis, & slabiliments certorum Articulorum infra
Banctua Libere Capelle nostre, St. Martins, infra civitatem
nostram London, observandum & custodiendum, coram
nobis, & concilio nostro, 5 die Februarii ultimo praterito,
apud Westmon. tn Camera Stellata, ordinatorum & stabili-
torum, nobis in Cancellar, nostram de mandato nostro missum
factum, in hec verba.

The fifth of Feverer, the yeere of the reigne of our Soveraigne
lord king Henry VL. thirty-fifth: at Westminster, in the sterre-
chamber, our said soveraigne lord, calling to high remembrance
the good and blessed entent that his full noble progenitors have
at all times had to the honour, worship, conservation, and wele of
the free chapel of St. Martin’s within the city of London, of the
which the king oar sovereign lord is founder and patron : desiring
to do all that may serve to the ease and restful roule of the same;
and conservation of the sanctuary, immunity, privileges, and
liberties, as appertain to the said chapel aud place; willing, that
hereafter none occasion be geven to the breach or hurting them:
remembring also the great complaints, grudging, and displeasure,
that his subjects have taken, and especially the citizens and com-
monalty of the said city of London, of the demeaning of the mis-
ruled persons coming and abiding in the said place, under umbre
and colour of the sanctuary there ; the which have, at divers
times, issued out of the sanctuary and committed many ryots, rob-
beries, manslanghters, and other mischiefes; were through the
said sanctuary hath been greatly dislaundered, and (over that)
great inconvenience like to ensue.

After great deliberation and communication had, as well with
doctors of divinity as of law, civil and canonicall; called also

® Kempe’s St. Martin’s, p. 146,
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lreto the judges of this our land, and their advices had in that
ichalfe ; other men also of great wisdome and experience, for the
vale and conservation of the said sanctuary, and to eschew the
aid misgovernance and mischief, called also before our said
wreraigne lord and his councell, the maior and the aldermen of
nid city, and Master Richard Cawdre, dean of the said place of
St Martin’s ; our soveraigne lord (by the advice of his councell
wbresaid) ordained, granted, and established certain articles
under-written, to bee kept and observed within the said sanctuary
from this time forth, without any interruption of them. Willing
ud ordaining, that the said deane that now is, promis by his
ath the observance of the same, for the time that. hee shall bee
deane there. And that every deane after him, in his admission
to the said deanary, be sworne to keepe the said articles in sem-
blable wise, -and make them to bee kept within the said sanctu-
ary ; the which articles beene such as follow :

1. First, that every person fugitive comeing into the said sanc-
tuary for tuition, and challenge to enjoy the immunities and privi-
leges thereof ; at his entrie, 8s soone as hee commodiously -and
ressonably may, shall now present himselfe unto the said deane,
his commissarie, ot depute in that behalfe; and before him de-
clare the cause of the feare moving him to come to the said sanc-
tuarie; be it for treason, felony surmised upon him, or for other
camses. And that the said declaration and cause bee registered
in the common register, ordained therefore in the said sanctuary,
and the name of the said fugitive.

2. Item, that hee, at bis first entree, present and deliver unto
the said deane, commissarie, or depute, all manner of weapon and
armour, that hee bringeth with him, as well invasive as defensive ;
and that he be net suffered to weare or use any such weapon or
armour, or it to bave in his keeping within the sanctuary in any
wise, except a reasonable kaife, to kerve withall his meate, and
that the said koife be pointlesse.

3. Item, that every erraunt and open theefe, robber, murderer,
and felon, notoriously noised by the common fame of the people ;
or if the said deane, commissary, or depute be credibly informed,
or due proofe be geven or made, that he is such one, repairing to
the said sanctoary, to the intent that he shall not (under colour
of the said sanctuary) intend to doe further mischiefe, find suffi-
cient seurte to bee made unto-the king, as well by his own obli-
gation, as by the obligation of other, of his good bearing for the
time of his abode within the said sanctuary, and for a quarter of
a veere after his departing out of the same: and that hee bee
kept in ward into the time he have found and made the said
searte., And if it s0 be, that it be complained or shewed uato the
king's highnesse, that the said. suerte bee not sufficient; that
then, at the commandment of the said councell (if it bee thonght
necessary), the said deane, commissary, or depute, shall take
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other and better securete, or clse commit them to ward unto the
time better securete bee found. Foreseene alway, that if the said
. fugitive will depart out of the said sanctuary, that hee may do so
when hee will.

4. Item, That all the out-gates, as well posternes, doores,
as all other issues outward, whatsoever they be, of the said sanc-
tuary, bee surely closed and shut nightly at nine of the clocke;
and so remaine shut from the same houre unto sixe of the clocke
in the morning, from the feast of Allhallows unto the feast of
Candlemasse ; and the remanent of the yeere, nightly, from the
said houre of nine unto foure of the clocke in the morning, or unto
the time the first masse beginneth within the said place: and
that all those that been fled to the said sanctuary for treason or
felony, be within the closure on night’s time.

5. Item, If any such theefe, murderer or felon, resort to the
said sanctuary for tuition of the same, with any manner robbery,
or stollen goods, if the party robbed make fresh sute therefore,
and prove by open evidence, that the same felon hath brought
into the said sanctoary the said goods so stolen thence, the said
deane, commissary, or depute, shall put in true devoir, withouten
any dissimulation, fraud, or malengyne, to make full restitution
unto the party so grieved of the said stolen goods, if they can bee
had. And semblably, if any fugitive come to the said sanctuary
with other mens’ goods, merchandize, or things, intending there
to live with the same, and the owner of the said goods, merchan-
dize, or things, make proofe that they be his, and verifie that
they be brought into the said sanctuary, the said deane, com-
missarie, or depute, shall put him in full devoire, to make restitu-
tion to the party so proving that the same goods, merchandizes,
or things were his. And no fugative, nor none dwelling within
the said sanctuary, shall receive, conceale, nor buy any such
goods ; but that they bee brought to the said deane, commissary,
or depute, to the intent that the owners may have the sooner
knowledge of them. And if the said goods so stolen and brought
to the said sanctuary be concealed from the said deane, commis-
sary, or depute, and brought by any dwelling in the said sanc-
toary, that then the buyer (abiding there) make restitution or
satisfaction to the party grieved, proving the said goods so stolen
to bee his, and so sold in the same sanctuary.

6. Item, If any person, having tuition of the said sanctuary,
from thence issue out by day or by night, and commit or do any
robbery, murder, treason, or felony, or battery,so done (withouten
forth) commit the same misdoer to ward, there to remaine as long
as he will abide in the sanctuary. And if so bee hee will depart
from thence, he shall depart at an hour to be assigned unto him
by day, betwixt sunne and sunne.

7. Item, That subtle pickers of locks, counterfeitours of keys,
contrivers of seals, forgers of false evidences, workers of counter-
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kit chasines, beades, brouches, ouches, rings, cups, spoons silvered,
ud plates of copper gilt, uttered for gold, unto the common haurt
of the people, be not suffered in the said sanctoary. And if any,
being within the said sanctuary, be holden suspect of the things
tbovesaid, let him be committed to ward till he find sufficient
mrety, as in the third article abovesaid.

8 Item, That common putuers, strumpets, and bawdes, be not
sspected in the sanctuary : and if they claime the tuition of the
nid sanctuary, that they be set in open ward on day times, till
shame cause them to depart, or to amend their vicious living.

9. Item, That deceitful games, as playes at hazard, the dice, the
guek, the kayelles, the cloysh, and other such unleefull and reprove-
sble games, bee not used, supported, nor cherished within the said
sanctuary.

10. ltem, That all artificers dwelling within the said sanctuary
(as well barbours as other) keepe holy the Sundayes, and other
great festival dayes, without breach, or exercising of their craft,
in sach wise as done the inhabitantsof the said city of London.
And if they doe the contrary, to bee committed to ward till they
finde sufficient surety, as in the third article above said, to use their

crafts in mannar and forme as doe the inhabitants of the said
city, and according to the ordinances of the same city.

11. Item, That every person coming to the said sanctuary for
imm:unity and tuition of the same, that hee, at his admission to the
said sanctuary, be sworne on a booke to obey, keepe, and observe
the articles above-said, and every each of them, with their pains
and rules appertsining to the same. And the king, by the advice
aforessid, would, granted, and ordained, that this act be exempli-
fied under his great seale, and be enrolled in his chancellary ; to
tho intent, that the ordinance above said remaine of record, and
that his subjects may have knowledge thereof.

Nos autem tenore precedentivm aa requisitionem dilecls et
Adelis nostri, Galfriudi Boleyne. majoris civitalis nostre London
et aldermanorum ejusdem civitatis, duximus exemplificandum
per presentes: In cujus rei testimonium has lileras nostras
Liers zeeimuc palentes, teste meipso apud Westmon. 24 die No-

E. » aNNO regnt nostrs 36.
xaminatur per Johannem % ;
_ Franckes, et Thomam lve. Clericos.

Maitland says, ¢ from these regulations and articles above-mention-
ed, the 8t. Martin'sappears to have been a sanctuary for great disor-
ders, and a shelter for the loosest sort of people, rogues and ruffians,
thieves, felons, and murderers -From hence used to rush vivlent
persons, committers of riots, robberies, and manslaughters: hither
they brought in their preys and stolen goods, and concealed them

bere, and shared or sold them to those that dwelt here. Here were

also barboured picklocks, counterfeiters of keys and seals, o rges
voL. iy, M
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of false evidences, such as made counterfeit chains, beads, ouches,
plate, copper gilt for gold, nay, common strumpets and bawds,
gamesters, and players at hazard and dice, and other unlawful
games; and, lastly, prophaners of sundays, and other festival days,
exercisiny their crafts thereon.'*

Durinz the reigo of Richard the Third many great though unfor-
tunate persons took sanctuary within the precincts of St. Martin’s;
Emong them were the countess of Oxford, and Morton, bishop of

ly.

In 1502, the 17th of Henry VII. a bull of Julius 1I. directed
that persons suspected of treason, and taking refuge in sanctuary,
might be seized and delivered to justice upon the mere suspicion.t

Heary VII. intended to erect a chapel behind the high altar of
the abbey church Westminster, and to endow it as a chantry,
wherein daily orisons should be sung for the souls of himself, his
queen, and all christian people.

In execation of the above purpose, the chapel that bears his name
was erected and dedicated to the holy Virzin. Estates of more
than a thousand marks in yearly value, were granted to the abbot
in support of the new institution. The advowson and possessions
of the deanery of St. Murtin's-le-Grand, with other royal free chapels,
and their appurtenances were given to him and his successors for
the same purpose for ever.

The abbots of Westminster now assumed the office of deans of
St. Martin’s, and the duties of the prebends were performed by
vicars of their appvintment. A new official seal was prepared,
which bore for its legend, SIGILLUM DECANI ET CAPELLE cOL-
LEGII SANCTI MARTINI WESTMONASTERIL}

The jurisdiction of St. Martin’s being merged in that of West-
minster, little worthy notice occurs, if we except the restrictions
passed. regulating the privilege of sanctuary. By a statute 22
Henry VI1I. it was enacted ¢ that none of the said places should
give immunity or defence to any person who should cowmit
wilful murder, rape, burglary, robbery on the highway, or in any
house, church, or chapel, or should burn willfuly any house or
barn with corn.’§

Henry VIII. also passed an act debarring persons accused of
high treason from the benefit of the sanctuary, and that sanctuary
men should wear badges, and not go abroad before sun-rising, or
after sun-setting.

The privilege of tuking sanctuary was repealed in the 21st of
James L. and the superstitious statute against witchcraft re-enacted |||

In 1542, the 2nd. of the reign of Edward VL. all charities. free

® Maidand, ii p. 771. the origival, in the possession of J*
+ Rymer, vol. xiii. Caley, Esq. F-R.S. and 8.4,
¢ Engraved in Kempes Historical § Stat. 22 Henry viii.

Naotices of St. Martin’s le-Grand, from )} Ib. 21 Jac. i.c %,
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chapels, and brotherhoods were granted to the king ; ana by this
sct the venerable fabric of St. Martin's church being at the disposal
of the crown was levelled with the ground, and a number of new
buildings erected on its side, which let at high rents to foreigners
who claimed the privileges attached to the precinct, and exercised
their callings without molestation from the ecity. In the reign of
Elizabeth, the inhabitants of St. Martin's liberty were chiefly French,
Germans, Dutch, and Scots; the trades carried on, those of shoe-
makers, tailors, makers of buttons and button moulds, goldsmiths,
manufacturers of pouches or purses, stationers, merchants, and two
throwsters or weavers of silk thread, who are recorded as being
the first who practised that art in this country.*
In 1593, a census being taken, those established in St. Martin’s
le-Grand appear to have been as follow -

Aldersgata—St. Martin’s-le-Grand.

§ Denysors ............ 45

Strangers ............. 57 LI Nun Denysors ........ 12
Their children .......... 112

Men and women servants .. 115 English borne servauntes kept

by strangers ........ 98

English borne servauntes set
on work by strangerst 0

The limits of the sanctuary of St. Martin’s, as set forth in the
court of chancery, by William Boston, abbot of Westminster, is
printed in the Historical Notices before quoted ulso in Maitland's
History of London.§

The following is an account of the Spiritualities and Tempo-
ralities of this Church in 1201.

Spiritualia Decane el Capi’li Sancti Martini, London.]

Pens' eor’d’m i’ eccl’ia de Colmanchurch, vis. viijd.
Pens’ eor'd’'m in eccl’ia #'ti Nich'i Colde abbaye, X8.
Pens’ eor’d’m in eccl’ia s'ti Alphegi, xxxiijs. iiijd.
Pens’ eor’de’ in ecc’ia s'ti Bothi ex'a Aldrysshgate, x maro’
8’m’ in sp’tualia’ ixls. iijs. iiijd.
Ind’ decinia, xviijls. os. iiijd.
Medietas ixl. os. iid.
® Bib. L2 .5d. No. 74, Biit. Mus, circa A. D. 1291, Bibl. Harl. No 60,
4 Strype’s Stow, i. 614, Jol. 10. ’
$ Taxatio Spiritualiom et Tempo- § Vol.i, p. 773

riliam cleri infra Diceoesim Loadon,
i E 2
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Temp'al’ Decani et Capit'ls Sancti Martins’ «* p’ockiss.

Omnin’ Sanctor’ de Colmauchurche.,............. XX8.
Sancti Bothi’ ex’a Aldrisshgate.............c..... XXX Viije.
Sancte Agnetis .............ciietnirnenancans cxvis.
Sancti Mic’lisad bladum. .........ccoviiinannn xiid.
Sancti Vedasti .....ccoiiiiiiiiiicnnniaannnes lixs. iiijd.
Sancti Andree Huberd ...................c0uus xiiijs. iiijd.
Sancti Pet’ de Cornehull ...................... vis. viijd.
Sancti Oliviide Muswell ...................... #ijs. iijd.
Sancti Leonardi, juzta 8’''m Martinum .......... viiji. xvs.
Nancte Brigide ..........c0iiiiiiiiiiieiinans iiijs.
Sancti Nich’iad macellas .......... ........... Ixis. 1iijd.

S'm’ p'eellar’ ............ xxvii.

Ind’ decima ............ ls

Medietas .. . ............, . XX V8

Monasteriv’ Sancts Petri Westm. fundacio Regis Henrici
Septims, Midd.*

Et in div’ ten't’ scit. et jacent’ in div’s paroch’ infra civitat.
London pertm lib’e capelle sive colleg’ Sancti Martini, Lon-
don, vocat’ Saint Martin’s le Graunte ...... clxixl. xs. jd.

Dignitates infra Collegium S'c’i M tini Magni Civitatis
London.

- Prebenda infra collegium S'c’i Martini Magni London quam Ric'us
Pate cl’cus nuper habuit per annum, clare valet in om’ibus

com’oditatil’ et profic’ eidem p’tin’.......... xxvl. os. vd.
Xainde ..........cc.nn is. ob.

Aha Prebenda ib’'m quam Thomas Payne nuper h’uit per ann.
clare valet............. .. ... xxxiiijl. vijs. jd.
Xainde.............. xlviijs. viijd. ob.

Cantaria i in dicto collegio ex fundac’one Johannis Wythem, per
annu’clare... ... oiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiians xl. xvjs. vii)d.
Xainde ....o0000e.nn. Xxxis. vqu

Alia Cantaria ib’m ex fundac’one Johannis Hempnall per annu’
clare valet .....covvtinieiiiriiiinanann xiil. ixs. vijd.
X'ainde .......... .... xxiiijs. xjd. ob.

Alia Cantaria ibidem ex fundac’one Stephani Northe, per
BODU . eeeenrerersansocsonaansesanenancn xil. iiis. itijd.
Xaimde ........c000u00n xxus ijd.

Alia Cantaria ib’'m ex fundac’'one Thome Mauger per annu’ clare
valet. . ovnii it i i xl. xvjs. viijd.
X'ainde.....ocovvennnnn xxiy. iiijd

* Valor Ecclesiast. temp. Hen. viii. vo i. p. 411.
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Alia Cantaria ib’m ex fundac’one pred’ca per annum clare

valet. . ... il iiciiieiiccarieanaas xl. xvjs. viiid.
X'ainde........cc...... xxis. viijd.

Alia Cantaria ib’m ex fundac'one Johannis Bounde, per annu’
e xil. ixs. vijd.
X’ainde .............. xxijs. xid. ob.

Alia Cantaria ibidem ex fundac'one Richardi Candey, per annu'
clare....... Cretaessriaraeaanaee ... xiil. ixs. vijd.
X'ainde .............. xxiiijs. xid. 0b.

Alia Cantsria ib’m ex fundac’one Johannis Wycombroke, per
annw’ ... ........ ferereesetiaaes cnaee xl. xvja. viijd.

X’ainde ............ xxis. viijd.

The Arxs of this church were per pale ¢r. and sa, a cross moline counter-
changed, in the dexter chief quarter a martlet gu.

The situation of the post-office, in Lombard-street, having been
found inconvenient from want of sufficient space, for the business
of that important branch of the public service, the precinct of St.
Martin's-le-Grand was selected, as well calculated for the erection
of a new post office on an enlarged plan.

An act of parliament was passed in 1815, making all necessary
provisions for clearing the area, formerly occupied by the church
and smoctuary of St. Mertin.

In making the necessary excavations, in the summer of 1818,
the workmen laid open twu ranges of vaults, which had served
as cellars to the houses above. The westernmost consisted cf
a buiiding of a very solid description; its form and extent,
from the nature of the excavation, could not be precisely de-
fined; but it bad the appearance of a square vaulted chamber.
Fhe piers were at least six feet square, and the masonry peculiarly

g. 4§ correct view of this vault is given in the annexed plate.
fo this vault was_foand a coin of Constantine, and a stone coffin
(6ig.2.) in which was a skeletonn. Whether the vestizes described
were those of a structure erected by the Romanized Britons, or by
their successors the Anglo-Saxons, it is difficult to determine. Mr.
Kempe is inclined to consider them as contemporanesus with the
dominations of the Ruman people in England. Adjoining the last
was the Gothic £rypt represented in the annexed plate.

Some frasgments of ornaments, ancient vessels, tokens, &c. were
discovered. One of the vesséls, represented in the annexed plate
(8g. 1.) is of an elegant form and workmanship, and may be con-
sidered as an old English drinking jug of the 16th century. An-
other (6. 3.) has a curious inscription in a mixed Roman and

biack letter character—‘ REMEMBER tH)p EAND.®

®  Kempe's St. Martin’s-le-Grand, p. 212.
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The New Fost Office.

The architect of this edifice is R. Smirke, esq. It occupies the
whole of the spacebetween St. Martin s-le-Grand and Foster-lane
in breadth, and extending from the backs of the houses in Cheap-
side to those in St. Anne’s-lane in length. The character of the
architecture is an excessive plainness. ‘Lhe principal front in St.
Martin’s-le-Grand has a portico of eight fluted lonic columns in
the centre, six in front, and two in flank, surmounted by a ped:-
ment ; and at the extremities of the front, two other porticues, each
of which is composed of four columns of the same order, standing
on a stylobate, and sustaining the entablature of the order, which
is continued as a finish round the whole building. The ingerco-
lumniations are pierced with windows, and the spaces between thes:
and the centre portico have each fourteen windows in two series;
these portions of the building are flanked with sunk areas. The
other fronis of the building are exceedingly plain ; they are almost
destitute of ornament, and are all pierced with nunmierous windows.
The interior is not in a sufficient state of forwardness to allow of
a description ; but the entrances, within the central portico, will
lead into a large hall, lanked on each side by lofty lonic colon-
nades, the columns corresponding with those of the exterior.

Aldersgate.

This ancient gate, which was situated one thousand two hundred
and sixty-five feet south-west of Cripplegate, was, according to the
opinion of Stow, one of the original cates of the city ; but Mait-
land could find no mention of it before the counguest ; whence he
concludes that it was not erected before that periud.

This gate being in so ruinous a condition as to be in danger of



HISTORY OF LONDON. 55

filing, the lord mayor, aldermen, and common-council, ordered it
tobe taken down, which was accordingly done in the year 16186,
when it was rebuilt in a substantial manner; Mr. William Parker,
merchant taylor, having bequeathed a thousand pounds towards
te expense of a new edifice.

In a large square over the arch of the gate was the figure of
kg Janes 1. on horseback. Above his head were quartered the
ams of England, Scotland, and Ireland.

lna niche, on the east side, was the prophet Jeremiah, with the
words of the 235ith verse of the 17th chapter of his book. Ina
niche, on the west side, stood the prophet Samuel, with the Ist
vense of the 12th chapter of the st book of that prophet. On the
south side was the effigy of king James 1. in lus royal robes, sitting
in a chair of state, done in relief.

This vate was very much damaged by the great fire in 1666 ;
but was repaired and beautified, at the expence of the city, in the
year 1670, durinz the mayoralty of sir Samuel Stirling, knt.

The apartments over the gate were appropriated to the use of
the common crier of the city ; and by the sides of the gate were
two posterns for the convenience of foot passengers.

John Day, one of our early topographers, resided in the apart-
ments over the gate; and, according to Stow, ¢ builded much
upon the wall of the city, towards the parish church of St.
Anne’

Aldersgate-street, which is long and very spacious, runs
northerly, from the ga‘'e to Barbican on the east side, and to Long-
lane on the west.

About the middle of Aldersgate-street, on the west side, stood a
noble edifi-e, that was the residence of the marquis of Dorchester,
and afterwards that of lord Petre, of whom it was purchased, afier
the restoration, for the city mansion of the bishop of London ; from
which time it was known by the name of London-house. It was a
large commodious bri<k building, and had a neat chapel annexed
to it ; but being nt length deserted by the prelates, 1t was let out
into several tenements and warehouses. This ancient edifice was
destroyed by fire, since which new buildings have been erected in
Msstead; the principal of which is that occupied by Mr. Seddon,
upholsterer, and still called London-house.

Nearly adjoining London-house, is the city of London Literary
and Scientific Institution, which was formed in 1825. The objects
of this institution are the formation of a library of reference and
ewculation. Reading and conversation rooms, the delivery of
lectares on literature, history and the sciences, and the-mutual ac
quisition of the ancient and mudern languages. A handsome
thestre, capable of containing from 500 to 6.0 persons, isin course
oferection, and will be opened in March, 1828, the form of which

is semi-elliptical, 64 feet long by 27 feet wide. The annual sub-
cription to this mstitution is 2/,
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A little to the south of London-house, formerly stood the £ne
mansion of the earls of Westmoreland ; but this being also de-
serted by its noble possessors, was let out in tenements, and to me-
chanic uses, and, at length, became so decayed, that, about sixty
yesrs ago, it was entirely taken down : the site is now occupied by
Westmoreland-buildings, and the adjacent houses.

The Hal/~Moon Tavern.

To the north of London-house is an old building, formerly the
Half-moon tavern, noted as the place of resort of the most cele-
brated wits of the sixteenth century. It has been let for the last
forty years in separate tenements: but the old front, ornamented
with small grotesque figures, has suffcred very little alteration.

The front in Aldersgate-street is narrow, and contains two win-
dows on each floor, projecting from the front in the style so com-
mon in the sixteenth century. The top i« divided into two gabels,
and the whole is painted of a stone colour.

On the east side of the street, nearly opposite to London-house,
is Shaftesbury, or, as it is sometimes called, Thanet-house. This
edifice, which is by the masterly hand of Inigo Jones, is built with
brick, and ornamented with stone, ina very elegant taste. The
front is adorned with Tonic pilasters. from the volutes of which
hang garlands of foliage. These pilasters are doubled on each side
of the centre window, over which is an arched pediment, opened
for the reception of a shield. The door was arched, and from each
side of it branched an elegant scroll, for the support of a balcony.
This portion has been modernized. This structure had been let out
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formechanical uses, and was going fast to decay, when, in the year
1750, the London Lying-in-hospital was instituted.  ‘The promo-
ters of that charity, having hired this house, repaired it thoroughly,
and preserved it, for a time, frum the fate of its opposite neigh-
bours.* The increase of that institution having rendered a larger
building necessary, they quitted Shaftesbury-house, in 1771, and
were succeeded by the General Dispensary, which still occupies a
wodern building at the back part of it.  The front is divided into
tenements, and let to respectahle shopkeepers. On the same side,
more northward, was another nobleman’s house, (Nos. 58, 59, 60),
the duke of Lauderdale’s, situate between Cherry I'ree-court and
Here—court, and st the time Maitland wrote, tenanted by an emi-
nent distiller. About fifteen years ago the distillery was given up,
and the building was divided into separate tenements. It is now
occupied as a rush and colton warehouse, and a new medical theatre.

Litle Britain was formerly called Britain, or Bretagne-street,
from the mansion of the duke of Bretagne, which stood near St.
Botolph’s church, but has been many years destroyed. This street
was also the residence of several of our own -nobility ; the earl of
Peterborough’s house stood at the corner, where the south psrt of
Bartholomew's hospital now stands; and the whole east side of the
street was occupied by a stately mansion, belonging to lord Mon-
tague ; the name of which is still preserved in Little Montague-
court. This place was formerly celebrated for the number of
dealers in old books who resided here.

The parish of St. John Zachary, is a rectory, the church of
which stood at the north-west corner of Maiden-lane. The patron-
age of this church appears to have continued in the dean and chap-
ter of St. Paul’s, from its foundation; for it was rated to pay an
annual sum to the canons of St. Paul’s,as early as the year 1181,
at which time it was denominated St. John Baptist’s.  The site of
itis now a cemetery for the use of the parishioners. A portion of the
eastern wall of this church remains in the burying ground at the
north-west corner of Maiden-lane, with the monument of sir James
Drax, consisting of two busts upon a sarcophagus; it is protected
from the weather by a penthouse, and is curious as one of the
remsins of ancient London. This monument is to the memory
of sir James Drax, and his lady, named Meliora, daughter to
J. Horton, of Wolverston, in the county of Somerset, esq., who
brought him six sons and four daughters; viz. sir James, Henry,
John, Samuvel, ........ , and Joseph; Meliora, Mary, Elizabeth,
Pelathia. His second wife was Margaret, daughter of Edward
Campfield, of Hardington, in the same county, esq.; by whom he

bad four sons. He died March 8th, 16861.
Here likewise was buried Henry Drax, esq., his second son, who
had two wives. The first, the lady Frances Tufton, daughter of

® Maitland, vol. ii, p. 764.
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the earl of Thanet, who died without issue. Hissecond, lady Dorothy
Lovelace, daughter 1o the lord Lovelace, of Hurley, in the county
of Berks, by whom he had four children. He died anno 1682

At the north-east corner of Foster-lane stands

Goldsmiths' Hall.

This spacious building supplies the place of a more ancient hall,
which had been founded for the use of the company in 1407, by sir
Drew Barentine, lord mayor in 1398. That edifice which Stow
calls ‘a proper bouse, but not large,” was destroyed in the great
fire, and the present fabric arose in its place within a few years
aflierwards. The buildings are of brick, and surround 8 square
court, paved; the front being ornamented with stone corners
wrought in rustic, and a large arched entrance, which exhibits a
high pediment, supported on Doric columns, and open at the top,
to give room for a shield of the company’s arms. The hall itself,
which is on the east side of the court, is a spacious and lofty apart-
ment, paved with black and white marble, and most elegantly titted
up. The wainscoting is very handsome, and the ceiling and its
appendages are richly stuccoed ; an enormous flower adorning the
centre, and the city and goldsmiths’ arms, with various decorations,
appearing in its other compartments. A richlycarved screen, with
composite pillars, pilasters, &c. and a balustrade with vases, ter-
minating in branches for lights (between which are displayed the
banners and flags used on public occasions), form part of the
embellishments of this splendid room. On the east side of the hall
is an elegant recess ornamented with crimson curtains, looped up
in a tasteful manner, within which the valuable plate of the com-
pany was formerly exhibited on state occasions, but at present it is
occupied by a beautiful bust of bis present majesty. in marble, on
a pedestal of the same material, executed by that eminent sculptor,
Mr. Chantrey.

The balustrade of the stair-case is elegantly carved, and the
walls exhibit numerous reliefs of scrolls, flowers. and instruments
of music. The court room is another richly wainscotted apartment,
and the ceiling is loaded with embellishments, which give it a grand,
though somewhat heavy effect. The chimney-piece is of statuary
marble, and very sumptuous : the sides being adorned with male
caryatides, and the whole enriched by scrolls, grapes, &c.* Above
it is a painting of St. Dunstan, the patron saint of the company, in
conversation with the Holy Virgin, having in the back ground a
representation of the saint burning the devil’s nose, as described in
the ancient legend, when assailed by the fiend with temptation.
Here, also, are the following portraits: sir Martin Bowes, gold-

* Supposed to be the work of Roubiliac; they were brought from Canons
these at of the duke of Chandos, near Edgware.
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mith, lord mayor, in 1545, said to be hy Holbein ; this gentleman
peented the company with an elegant cup, which be received by
nght of his office, at the coronation of queen Elizabeth; it is still
arefully preserved among their plate. Sir Hugh Myddleton, bart
the illustrious character, who expended his entire fortune in for
warding the noble design of supplying the metropolis with water,
by means of the New River. This is a fine picture, in the style
of Vandyke. Sir Hugh is pourtrayed in a black habit, with his
hand resting upon a shell: near him the words ¢ Fontes Fodine’
are inscribed. He bhequeathed a share in.the New River to this
company, for the beneiit of its decayed. members. Sir Thomas
Viner, goldsmith, lord mayarin 1653; and Charles Hosier, esq.
In the drawing-room, which is 8 large apartment, very handsomely
decorated, is a full length portrait of his late majesty, George the
Third ; and a porrtait of the late T. Lane, esq. clerk of the com+
peny for upwards of 36 years  This portrait is also a full length,
by sir W. Beechy, R.A. In another apartment is a large picture
by Hudson, containing likeresses of s.x lord mayors, all goldsmiths,
namely. sir Henry Marshall, lord mayor in 1745; William Benn,
esq. 1747; John Blachfosd, esq. 1750 ; Robert Alsop, esq. 1752;
Edmund Ironside, esq. end sir Thomas Rawlinson, both in 1754,
the former having died during his mayoralty ; these gentlemen are
represente:] seated at a table, at which Blachford presides. The
wssay office, belonging to the Goldsmiths’ company, adjoins to
the hall an the south side, the front entrance beiug in Cary-lane.

On the west side of Foster-lane siood the parish church of St.
Leonard, which was founded about the year 1238, by William
Kirkham, dean of St. Martin's-le-Grand, in the court-yard of the
collegiate church, for the use of the inhabitants of the sanctuary. It
derived its name from its dedication to a. Fremch saint, and its
situation was added to distinguish it from another church, dedicated
to the same saint in Eastcheap., *

It is a rectory, the patronage of which was anciently in the dean
and canons of St. Martin’s-le-Grand ; in whom it continued tilt
that deanery was annexed to the abhey of Westminster; the dean
and chapter of which still possesa it. The church not being rebuilt
after the great fire in 1666, the parish was annexed to that of
Christ church, Newgate-street. A partion of the east wall of this
church remains on the west-side of Foster-lane ; it will be destroyed
when the nmew post-office is completed. On a building in the
church-yard, before the ground was cleared, was a stone with the

following inseription :—

BEFORE THE DREADFVLL
¥IRE ANNO DON 1666
HERE 8TOOD THE PARISH
CHVKCH OF ST. LENARD

FOSTBR LANE
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Opposite the north end of Goldsmiths’ hall, in Maiden-lane, was a
spacious house, with a large court-yard, handsomely paved with
free-stone, formerly belonging to 8ir Thomas Bludworth, knt., lord
mayor in 1666, and since to Richard Levet, esq. son of sir Richard
Levet, knt., lord mayor in the year 1700; in which house he kept
his mayoralty. It was afierwards rebuilt, and converted into an
office for the Union Insurance agsainst losses by fire. It is now in
the occupation of Messrs. Neville, warehousemen.

The church of St. Mary Staining, or S:one church, before the fire
in 1666, stood on the north side of Oat-lane. The reason why it
received the additional epithet of Staining is very uncertain ; some
imagining it to be derived from the painter-stainers, who might pro-
bably live near it, while others suppose that it was originally called
Stany, or Stony, from its being built with stone, to distinguish it
from those in the city, built with wood, &c. This church not being
rebuilt after the fire. the parish was united to that of St. Michael,
Wood-street ; but, in consideration of the small endowment of this
parish, it was provided by the act which united them, that the pa-
trons of St. Michael’s should present twice in three times.

The advowson of this rectory was anciently in the prioress and
convent of Clerkenwell, in whom it continued till their suppression
by Henry VIII. when it came to the crown, in whom it stil
remains.

On the piers of the burying ground, in Oat-lane, opposite the
north end of Staining-lane, are the following inscriptions cut on
separate stones :—

WEST EAST.
Before the Dreadfull Fire This Church Yard Wall was
Avno Dom. 1666, Repair'd and new Iron Gates

Here stood the Parish Church Erected Anmno Dom. 1766.
of St. Mary Stayning. °  ALEX. SutTor ) Church-
ALEX. STRONG § wardens.

In Staining-lane, incorporated with the eastern wall of the build-
ings belonging to Leathersellers’ hall are the remains of a strong
wall built of flint and rough stones; and near to which is seen,
above a low wooden porch, the gable of an old meeting-house,
called Haberdashers’-hall chapel; the wall is built with red bricks;
it has a large circular-headed window, and the parapet is broken
in the atyle which preceded the improvements of sir Christopher
Wren, and would almost lead to the belief that it was erected in
the time of the commonwealth ; the architect, however, in all proba-
bility, was a stedfast nonconformist, and probably rejected the
architectural improvements brought about by the fire, as mere
vanities.

Near the north end of Noble-street, on the east side, stands an
extensive building, originally erected by the company of Scriveners.
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for their bail; but, being reduced to low circumstances, they sold it
to the company of Coachmakers, to whom it still belongs. They
have let it for various purpcses. It was once a debating society ;
and here lord George Gordon figuied previous to the riots in the
yesr 1780; afterwards it was opened by the Cecilian soc.ety, and
Mrs. Billington, and many other eminent singers, occasionally per-
formed bere; and lastly, it was converted into warehouses and
manufactories. ‘The present occupiers of these extensive premises
are Messrs. Holmes and Aubert, painter-stainers In one of the
rooms on the ground floor, probably that called the court-room, but
now used as a counting-house, are the arms of the company of
coach-makers within a gilt frame, and over the entrance a list of
the benefactors to the company.

At the upper end of Fitche’s court, near the last building, was,
according to Maitland, ¢ an old timber house, where formerly Titch-
born, some time alderman and lord mayor, dwelt. This house
strangely escaped burning in the dreadful fire of London, when all
the houses round it were quite consumed.” This house has been
pulled down for a cunsiderable time.

In this street, on the east side, was formerly the residence of ser-
gant Fleetwood.

The parish of Olave is a rectory, the small church of which stood
at the south-west corner of Silver-street. Respecting its antiquity,
Mr. Maitland says he could find no traces of it higher than 1593,
The patronage of this church has been all along in the dean and
chapterof St. Paul's, but subject to the archdeacon.

This church (which was situated on the southside of Silver- stseet,
at the eastern corner of Noble-street) being consumed in the preat
iire of 1666, was not rebuilt.

At the entrance to the burying ground is a stone, bearing the
lollowing inscription, beneath a skull and cross bones *

THIS WAS THE PARISH CHYRCRH

OF 8T. OLAVE, SILVER STREET,

DESTROY’D BY THE DREADPVLL
FIRB IN THE YEARE 1666.

Bull and Mouth-street, a small part of which is in this ward,
takes its name from an inn standing in it, and formerly known by
ihe sign of Boulogne Mouth, or Harbour, of which the present
appellation is a corruption.* At the corner of this street, in Alders-
gate-street, was the city mansion of the earls of Northumberland.
In the seventh year of his reign, king Henry VI. gave this house,
with the tenements thereunto belonging, to his queen Jane, and it
then acquired the appellation of her wardrobe.

Anciently the kings of England lodged here. A writ of king
Ydward I. was dated hence: Thomas de Clirowe de Blechweth
-aplus et detent in prisona north. pro lransgr. forrest, habet
auras Rogero de Cliford Justic. Forrest. citra Trentam, quod

* 30 called from the barbonr of that name to which Henry VIIL laid siege
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ponalur per ballium. Dat. apud 8. Martinum Magnum,
London, 20 die Octobris.

The Brethren of the Holy Trinity of St. Botolph without
Aldersgate.

In St. Botolph’s church in 1373, the 48th of Edward 1I1. a bro-
therhood of St. Fabian and St. Sebastian was founded, which was
subsequently confirmed by Henry IV. in the 6th of his reign.
The brothers and sisters of the fraternity were to find seven tapers
of 21lb. of wax, to be lighted all seven on feast days, at all hours
of the day, in the worship of God, his mother and Sts. Fabian and
Sebastian, aid of Allhallows, and on Sundays; on other common
feasts, two to be lighted at high mass.

It appears, from the chartulary of this religious guild, in the
possession of Mr. Hone,* that their landed property was consider-
able, and consisted of houses in Aldersgate-street, the Barbican,
Lamb-alley, Fanchurch-street, and Long-lane; one of these was
held on the annual payment of a rose, others in fee. They were
proprietors uf the Saracen’s Head-inn, and the Falcon-on-the-Hoop
brewery. In the 14th yearof king Richard 1L sir Rauff' Kesteven,
parson of St. Botolph, and the two churchwardens, grarted a
lease for twenty years to Juhn Hertyshorn, of the Saracen’s Head,
with the appurtenances, at the yearly rent of ten marks; the ap-
purtenances were two houses adjoining on the north side, and were
included in that rental as worth eight shillings each by ‘the year,
and one on the south side, was valued at ten shillings. ¢ In the
xxj yer of kyng Harry the vjte.,’ the brethren received, ¢ For the
rent of ij yere of Wyl'm Wylkyns, for the Sarresyn head
vli. vjs. viijd. paynge by the yer liiijs. iijjd.”—and ¢ of the Faucon-
on-the-hope, for the same ij yer vilt. that is to say, payng by the
yer iijls. ;’ but the same year they demised the Falcon brewhouse
to Robert Halle and John Walpole, brewers, for four years, at
eighty-four shillings per annum. Six years before, there is, in the
churchwardens’ account, an item for ¢ kerving and peinting of the
seigne of the Faucon, vis.’

‘The account of their pageantry is very curious. In the accounts
of the wardens for ¢ the x yer of king Harry the vtje.,” there is the
charge of an ¢ item to the wexchaundeler, for making of the sepuler’,
lyght iij tymes, and of other dyuers lyghts, that longyn te the Trinite,
in dyu’s places in the chirche, Itvijs. xd.” a large sum :n those times,
and must have produced a prodigious illumination. They also
possessed ¢ a blake palle of blake damaske, with a white crosse, a
staynede bordere with the fyve wondys of owre lorde, and a
border of blak, with the kyng's armys and estryge flethers con-
teyning’ in len’th iij ells, iij q'rt’rs.
® An account of this chartulary is printed by Mr. Hone in his ¢ Ancient Mys

teries Described, &c.” B8vo. 1838.
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‘It Rolle of velom’,cou’ed with a goldeskyn, contenyng diu'se
mgents paynted and lemenyd with gold, that is to say of the holy
Trmite, Seynt Fabyan, and Seynt Sebastyan, and Seynt Botulff; .
and the last pagent of the terement, and gen’all obyte, of the
brether’n & suster’n, that be passed to God; with clayne obser-
uinces & prayers, to stere the peple to the more devocion toward’
the seyde bretherhode.’

‘A myssall, new bounde, withderys leder, garnysshed wyth sylk ;
whereof the seconde lefe begynneth Asp’ git aqua dened’ta with
claspys & burdons, weying iiij vnc.’ iij ¢’r't and a half.

‘A chaleys of sylver and gilt, with a crucifyx’ in the fote, & a
pateyn’ to the same, with the Trinite enamelyd, weying xxv
onc’.

* A keybande of derys leder, wyth a keveryng of cheverell, wyth
purses thereuppon’, garnysshed, conteyning iij keyes, made and
ordeyned alwey to be in the kepyng of the maist’ for tyme beyng,
accordyng to the statut’s and ordenaunces thereof made, as it ap-
perith in this bluke boke, the xxxj lefe.

‘A Blake Registre boke,* with a kalender, in the which is
wsiten the dedes, testaments’, wylles, evidences, and other writ-
yng’s, conc’nying’ the lyvelode of the breth’hode ; & there regis-
tred for the well and more surete of the same.’

There does not appear in theirregisters any thing like a portion
of the Scriptures; except we consider their ¢ myssall,” which
was most likely overlaid by prayers to saints, notices of indul-
gences, &c.

In the list of this fraternity appear the following names: ¢ Thos’
de Berkyng, Abbas Je Seynt Osyes, Joh’es Roos, Armiger. Gal-
fra Paynell, Armizer. D'us Joh’es Watford, P’or s'ti’ Barthi
Ric’s Lancastre, Rex de Armis. Will's Yrby, Armiger. Plor s’ti
Barthi. Rogerus Audelby, Rector de White Chapell. D’us Joh’es
Newport, Rector de Grascherche.’

In the 2nd Henry V. ¢ Ric’us Deerh’m, Ep’us laudau’ was the
master of the brotherhood.

This fraternity was of some celebrity ; for John Heywood, in his
¢ Four P’s, a very merry enterlude of a Palmer, a Pardoner, a Po-
ticary, and & Pedler,’ brings in the Palmer relating that in his pil-
grimages he has been at different parts of the world, and in enu-
werating them, he says,

¢ At Saint Botulphe and Saint Anne of Buckstone
« e ¢ o

Praying to them to pray for me
Ubnto the blessed Trinitie.’®

® This is the book from which Mr. 4+ Dodsley’ Old Plays, edit 1744
Hose makes his extracta. vol. 1, p. §8.
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The hospital wherein the fraternity resided stood where Trini'y
court is at present situate ; it belonged to the priory of Cluny in
France, and was suppressed by Henry V. Henry VL in the 24th
of his reign,-1445, gave a licence to Dame Joaun Astley, sometime
his nurse, Robert Cawood, clerk of the pipe, and Thomas Smith, to
refound the same, wv the honour of the Holy Trinity, therein to be
a master and two custos, with brethren and sisters, &c. This bro-
therhood was e.uuwed with lands more than 30/ per annum, and
was finally suppressed by Edward VI

Trinity Hall

Was a verj ancient building, and was used as a chapel on Sun-
days. The, courts .f wardmote and inquest were usually held
there. In the window at the east end of the hall were various
paintings, viz. a whote length figure of St. Basil in his episcopalibus,
with an inscrigtion underneath : —

Sanctug BWagilius fMagnus.

Two figures, a man in a fur gown, with his wife praying, under-
neath.

®rate pro bono statuIRogeri FRillet et Anne uxoris
sueL........

and an emblematical representation of the Trinity,

The figure of 2 man in the habit of a citizen kneeling at an
altar. And a curious representation of 8 monkey in the habit of a
monk shaving a dog which is seated in a chair.,*

® All are engraved in Carter’s specimens of ancient Sculptare Painti
Goi. 1780, p. 94. peciment of aaciea Sculptare gad "
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CHAPTER Iv.

Hnlorg and Topography of Aldgate Ward

' This ward. like the preceding, derives its name from being
stuated contiguous to the'ancient eastern gate of the city. It is
bounded on the north and east by Portsoken ward; on the. south °
by Tower-street ward, and on the west by Lanabourn, lee-.
street, and Bishopsgate wards. It is divided into seven.precincts,

lving chiefly in the parishes of St. Andrew Undershaft ; St. James,
Duke’s-place ;- St. Catherine Coleman, and St. Catherme Cree,
;nd is governed by an alderman and six common councilmen.

In this ward are four parish churches, viz.—St. Andrew Under-
shaft; St. James, Duke’s-place; St. Catherine Coleman ; St.
Cltherme Cree, or Christ church ; and also the parish of St. Mary
Azxe, united and annexed to the namh of St. Andrew Undenhsft.

St. Andrew Underclwﬂ Church.

This church is situated on the eastern side of St Mary Axe, and
the building occupies a piece of ground at the back of the houses
on the rorth of Leadenhall-strect, in consequence of which’ the -
west end and north side of the church, with the tower, are the only
parts visible. The earliest account of this church is i 1362, when
William de Chi hester was rector. In ancient records it is-deno-
minated Ecclesia Sancli Andree super Cornhill, frum the street
wherein it standa; which, before the erection of Leadenhall, wenc
by that name as far as this piace.

It obtained the additional appellanon of Undenbaﬂ -from a
high Maypole or sheft, which was set up annuully on Monday, in
the middle of the highway, opposite the south door of the church,
and was higher than the church steeple. Afier the riot, in 1517,
the shaft was hung upon a range of hooks under the pent houses o,
a long row of neighbouring buildings, where it remained until ‘the
third of Edward VI. when a fanatic preacher, called sir Stephen,
curate of St. Catherine Cree church, preaching at St. Paul’s-
cross, declaimed sganst it, as being made an idol, by naming the
church ¢ under that shaft;’ which so inflamed his equally fanatic
luduory, that, in the afternoon of the same day, it was, with great
labour, lowered from the hooks, and sawed in pieces; each man
taking for his share, the portion which hiad 1ain over his dour.

Stow, who was present at the sermon, and saw the effect that
followed, says ¢ he oftentimes saw this man forsake the pulpit of*
his said pansh church, and preach out of an high elm tree in the

midst of the church-yard, and then he would sing high mass in
English, upon a tomb of the dead towards the north.’
YOL. III. F
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The church was origimally founded in 1362; but it had become
0 ruinous, that the present one was begun to be built about the
year 1502, and, for the most part, finished, at the charge of Wil-
liam Fitz-Williams, who was sheriff in 1507; the north side, how-
ever, was erected by Stephen Jenyns, lord mayor, in 1508 ; whose
arms are carved above all the pillars on that side. It was not
completed until 1532. This church escaped the flames, in 1866.

It is interesting as being one of the few remaining Rucient

churches, which once decorated the metropolis. It is s late, but at
the same time, an elegant specimen of the pointed style.
. The plan consists of a nave and aisles, with a tower at the west
end of the south aisle. The elevation of the latter is in four
stories : in the southern frontis a door-way formed by a low
pointed arch, enriched with mouldings and enclosed in a square,
architrave bounded by a weather cornice ; the spandrils contain
quarterfoils, the mouldings of the arch rest upon two small colymns
attached to each jamb, the bases of which were destroyed a few
Years ago by sume plasterers, who had been employed to repair
the doorway. The remaining stories have square mullioned win-
dows of two lights of modern construction ; the upper story, with
the embattled parapet and pinnacles, are also modern, and in a
style known by the appellation of ¢ Modern Gathic.” Op the
platform of the tower is a bell turret. ‘The remainder of the seuth
side is totally concealed from observation. The west frant is in
three divisions ; the southern occupied by the tower, and an.at-
tached staircase lighted by loopholes; tha central division has &
spacious windnw divided by mullioas into ten principal lights in
two stories.. The headway is a low pointed arch, which is Glled
with smales mullions and subarches. In the remainiog division,
which is the end of the north aisle, is 2 windaw, the head of which
is a low pointed arch ; it is made into three lights by mullions, with
arched heads inclosing five sweeps. The north side of the church
.bas five windows of the same design in the aisle, and also an at-
tached staircase turret, which occupies the place of another windaw.
Beneath the first window, from the west, is an entrance with a low
'pointedarch, bounded by a square architeave, the spandrils enriched
.with foliage ; the clerestory may be seen onthisside of the church; it
-contains six windows, having low pointed arches, all of which have
:been deprived of their mullions.

The interior is made into a nave and aisles by five clustered co-
Jumns, similar to those described under the head of St. Botolph,
Aldersgete, and two semi-clusters uttached t¢o the extreme walls
on each side, and which support six low pointed niches, enriched
-with numerous mouldings., The roofs of the rave and aisles are

“sustgined - on -beams, resting upon corbels attached to the walls ;
-the besms are formed into a low arch almost borizontal, the spaces
batween are made into numerous square pannels by ribs crossing
each other with bosses at the intersections.. On one of the corbels
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asthe date 1532. Tho east window is similar to the western one,
a small alteration of the tracery in modern times excepted: the
lower series of mullions were, until a° recent repair,. concealed by
the uppe= part of an incongruous altar screen; this having been
‘removed, the whole of the fine window is visible ; the lights thus
exposed have been filled with ornamental stained glass. The
upper series of lights contain whole lengths of the following sove-
reigns, viz. Edward V1., Elizabeth, James I. and Charles 11. in
stained glass in very goud preservation, the gift of sir Christopher
Clitherow. The tracery in the head of the arch, which had
formerly been removed 1o let in a modern painting un:glass of St.
Andrew, has been restored and flled with ornamental stained glass.
It is to be regretted that when the work of restoration was guing
on, the clerestory windows were forgotten, In the .east- end
of the aisles are windows similar to those which have been before
described ; all the windows that are not walled up, have coats of
arms on stained glass, which occupy the arched heads of the mul-
lions : a situation, in which such subjects were usually placed, as
may be -een in some other churches described in the course of this
work. ‘This church is richly decorated with paintings upon the
walls in a style which it has in general been most absurdly, and
in violation of every principle of good taste, proscribed from
churches as not being consistent with the fastidivus views of over-
zealous Protestants. The spandrils of the great arches have a
series of subjects from the New ‘'estament history, in imitation of
relief. The piers, between the windows of the clerestory, have
whole lengths of the apostles; these subjects are not executed in
colours, but.are painted in imitation of sculpture. The portion of
the church at the altar, contains cherubs and other enrichments in
colours. For the whole of these splendid decorations the parish is
indebted to a parishioner of the name of Tombes * The only thing
to be regretted is, that the paintings are not in the style of tha
builing. In additicn to these subjects, the first window, from tha
west, iu thesouth aisle is very weli painted, with a country view with

trees and shrubs in natural colours. There is but oune gallery, *

which is situated at the western end of the church, containing-a fine

by Harris, and seats for the charity children of the ward
schools. The pulpit, and other wood work, are executed in
carved oak, and the altar-screen is enriched with four Corinthian
columns, sustaining ap entablature in a rich but incongruous

style. The font, which is situated beneath the gallery, ia a

" ® Extract from the list of benefactions:  arches in oyle, with the figures of the
¢ Mr. Henry Tombes, 1725, a worthy  apostles, and Scripture pieces
inhabitant, did, at his sole cost and them; besides having ngiven formerly
charge, guild the organ, 1725; gave  the Book of Martyrs,and been a liberal
be ceiling piece ﬁdpainﬁng over the  subscriber to the building the organ
altar, 17¢6; painted: the pillars and  and the altar-piece.”

‘P2

L]
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polygonal basin of marble, not remarkable for ornament ; it has
an arched cover. -

The monuments are very numerous and handsome, but none
very ancient.. We cannot particularise the whole of them ; but
it would be unjust to pass over that which commemoratss our
honest and ill-treated historian, John Stow :* it is situated on the
north side of the church, near the vestry-door: it consists of an
ornamented niche, adorned with masks and cross-bones, in which is
the statue of the antiquary, seated at his studies, having a desk
before him, with an open book upon it, in which he appears to
be writing: the pen in his hand is annually renewed. He is
attired in his livery gown, and has a ruff round his neck: the
whole is coloured, and in excellent preservation.

On the monument is the following inscription :

STYT SCRIBRENDA
AGERRE

STVT LEGENDA
SCRIBBRE
MEMORI®N SACRVK .
RESYRRECTIONEN IN CHRISTO HIC EXPECTA
JOMANNES STOWE CIVIS LONDINENSIS QVI IN
ANTIQVIS MONVMENTIS ERVENDIS ACCVRA-
TISSAMA DILIGENTIA VAVS, ANGLIR ANNALKES
ET CIVITATIS LONDIN] SYNOPsIN BENE DB
SVA BENE DE POSTERA ETATE MERITVS LV
CULBNTER SCRIPSIT VITEQ STADIO PIE BT
PROBE DECVRSO, OBIT ETATIS ANNO 80
DIE 5 aPRILIs 1603,
ELIZABETH CONIVNX VT PERPETVR
SV1 AMORIS TESTINONIV DOLENS,

Near the above monument is a brass plate, to the memory of
Nicholas Leveson, representing a man, his wife, and eighteen
children, kneeling. There has been on the top of this tomba
figure, engraved on brass, of the Almighty, seated. ‘The follow-
ing has been added: ¢ This monument was repaired at the cost
of the parish, 1764.° )

In the same aisle is a large and handsome monument to the
‘memory of sitr Huigh Hammersley, knt. lord mayor, 1627, died
Oct. 19, 1638, aged 71; and another small one, to the memory

of Alyce Bynge, who died May 21, 1618; both contain effi-

gies in fine preservation.

In the north-west corner of the church by the stairs leading to

® This valuable historian’ and anti-
quary, was born in 1525, in the parish
-of 8t. Michael, Cornhill ; was brought
up to his father’s business, who was a
tailor; bot disliking it, he bent his
mind towards antiquarian pursuits, and
was patronized by archbishop Parker,
the earl of Leicester, and many other
eminent characters. His principal

works are, The Summarie of the Ea-
glyshe Chronicles, The Survaie of Lon-
don, and Flore’s Historiarum. This
excellent man, in his latier years, was
in such distress, as to be obliged to
get a brief to repair to the churches
and collect alms. He died in 1605, at
the age of eighty.
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‘the gallery is & mopument to the memory of Mr. Mathias Datche-
Jor, merchant, and Mary bis wife, who had three daughters, Mary,
Beatrix, and Sarah. On itare the following particulars: Thomas
. €ook, husband of Beatrix, 1726. Mary Datchelor, 1725. Sarah
Cook, 1727. And lastly, Mrs. Beatrix, 173l. Mrs. Datchelor
gave the premises, called the Antigallican coffee-house (in
trust) to the rector of St. Andrew, and six other persons of credit,
for the ground on which their vault is built, to keep it and the
monument in repair. She has also founded a sermon on em
new-year's day, when the purposes of the gift are mentioned.
The trustees then deliver the following sums: to the rector 10L.;
to the clerk 4l.; to the sexton 3l. ; to apprentice two children
20l ; for expences 2l.; and the remainder to poor inhabitants,
not exceeding 20. :

The clerk and sexton are compelled, under pain of farfeiture,
to make oath, that, to their knowledge, the vault has not been
disturbed the preceding year. .

In the old church was buried Philip Malpas, one of the sheriffs
in 1539,* and Sir Robert Dennie, knt.

The dimensions of this church are as follow :—length 96 feet ;
breadth 55 ; height 44 ; the tower 73 feet in height, and in-
cluding the turret, 91. '

' St. Jamc:‘ Church, Duke’s Place.

The inhabitants of this parish, previous to the dissolution of
the adjacent priory, resorted to a chapel, which stood in the
cemetery of that establishment. In the year 1622 the parish
obtained a licence to erect a church for themselves. . -The arch-
bishop of Canterbury, with the lord mayor and sheriffs, assisted
them in this new erection, which, in all probability was nothing
more than a reparation of the ancient chapel, and the conversion
of it inte a parish church, which, in honour of the reigning
monarch, was dedicated to St. James. The body was rebuilt, ar
nearly so, in the year 1727.

The building is nearly square, beiny 42 feet in breadth and
65 in length, the height 27 feet. The tower is situated on the
north side of the church, adjacent to the west front; but ooly
connected by its south wall with- the present building. The
whole is at present built or faced with brick ; the church is very
plain; the west front has two arched doorways, and above them

¢ This independent cltizen, gave

by bis will to poor prisoners, 1231,

to other r .every year, for five

Jears, 400 shirts and shifts, 150
Sowns, and 40 pairs of sheets. To
maid’s marriages, 100 marks.

To the repair of the highways 100

marks, to 500 poor people in London,
every one 6+. 8d., besides 20r. the year,
for twenty years, (o the preachers of

_the spital the three Easter holidays;

besides 20 mark a year to a graduate,
to preach abroad, in the countries.
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three wWindows, with semicircular heads ; a similar window is-in
the south wall, and three windows of the same form in the east epd.
The north side has an entrance, but no window ; the preseat ap-
pearance was given to the building in 1727. "The tower is evis
dently older than the first restoration of the church. It is in fous
stories, and square in its plan; its height is 70 feet. The base«
ment contains, in the west front, a doorway, with an obtusely
pointed arch, and a stone window-case of the same form, as well
as a small semicircular headéd window, the arch turned in
brick-work  The remaining stories bave semicircular arched
windows ; those of the upper story are repeated on every side of
the structure ; it is finished with a plain parapet, and on the plat-
form is a small turret, containing a bell ; the whole of the turret
is faced with a coating of red brick, of the date of 1622, which
has been repaired with the modern brick of the period of its repara-
tion in 1727; the tower itself is evidently older than the firs¢
period, as pointed windows of two lights with mullions, Laving
trefoil heads worked in stone, may still be seen within the mo-
dern brick openings in the casing. The original structure was, o
doubt, the tower of the cemetery chapel beforementioned ; and
the chuich itself, after the first repair, probably presented the
appearance of a stone building, repaired and faced with brick ;
this supposition alone accounts for its decay inthe course of a cen-~
tury, as the exterior of the present building is certainly not older
than the last repair. The interior has much the appearance of a
dissenting meeting ; it is divided in breadth into three aisles by
four doric columns, raised on plinths, and sustaining an entabla-
ture, all of wood. The shafis are now coloured in imitation of
yellow, and the rest of the order of veined marble. The ceiling,
which rests on these columns, is flat and unornamented. The
pulpit, and much of the wood-work, are of the date of 1622 ; the
altar-screen, which has the commandments, &c. on arched
panpels, and is ornamented with pilasters and painted cherubs
n, the spandrils, is an addition at the last repair; above it are
paintings of Moses and Aaron. The font'is a circular basin of
free-stone, on a single pillar of the same material. In the central
eastern window are six coals of arms in stained glass, with other
detached remains, evidently taken from a mullioned window.
Among the arms are those of sir Edward Barkham, the lord mayor
at the time of their first rebuilding ; the city arms, and those of the
company of Clothworkers; the two former have been removed
from another window. The remaining pieces of glass shew the
Hebrew name of the Deity, a sun, and also fragments of canopies.
The organ was set up in 1815. There are no ancient monuments,
butsome modern ones, which are merely mural slabs. The church
is almost surrounded by a burying-ground, the ancient cemetery
of the priory ; in contains, however, no mopument of interest. *
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8. Catherine Coleman Church.

On the south side of Fenc¢hurch-street, in Church-row; formerly.
called Magpye-alley, stands the parish charch of St. Catherine
Coleman, which is so denominated from its dedieatioh to St.
Catherine, an Fgyptian virgin. It receivd the addition of
Coleman, from a great yard or garden, called, at that time,
Coleman-haw, in the parish of the Trinity, afterwards Christ
church. It is a rectory of ancient foundation, as appears by John
de Hertford being rector in the year 1346. 'The old church was
substaotially repaired, and a south aisle added, in 1489, by sir
William White, lord mayor of Londen. It escaped the fire of
London, in 1666 ; but, being much buried by the raising of the
sttect, in 1734, it was pulled down, and the present church was
erected at the expense of the parish, under the sanction of an act
of parliament, 12 Geo. II. whereby; and by another act passed
for the same purpose, the parishioners were enabled to raise
money, by annuities, at the rate of eight per cent per annum,
and to rate the inhabitants, to pay the said annuities.

This church was originally in the patronage of the dean of
St. Martin’s-le-Grand,- London, and so continued till that reli-
gious house, with its appurtenances, was annexed to the abbey of:
\Westminster; after which it fell to the crown, and the advowson
was given, by queen Mary, on the 3rd of March, in the first year
of her reign, to the bishop of London, and his successors in that:
see, for ever. . -

This church is the plainest edifice of this deseription, perhaps
in London ; the exterior is entirely concealed from the -high
street, and has a very humble and unassuming character. At
the west end, which is seen from Church row, is a low tower
of brick, in three stories,’ and behind this the church finishes
pedimemtally. The west front of the tower has an entrance; with
a rusticated frontispiece of stone in the basement, and also a cir-
cualar window ; in the next story is another window, with an
arched head, enclosed in a rusticated architrave of stone. Two
similar windows : occupy the north and south sides of the same
story ; the whole is finished with a parapet. To the basement
story of the tower are attached tworooms, with rusticated en-
trances. The north side of the church has five windows with
arched heads, resembling the windows of the tower, and an en-
trance near the west end. The elevation finishes with a parapet,
which, in the centre, rises to a small pediment; the east end and
north side are concealed from view: the who'e, except the par-
ticulars before mentioned, is built of brick. The interior is equally
plain; it is built without pillars,and roofed in one span. ‘The
eeiling being coved at the sides, the central portion is enriched
with bands, forming a large circle, inscribed in a square. The
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south side is lighted by five circular widows. The eastern wall
has a large arch in the centre, surmgunting arecess, in which is
the altar-piece, formed in three compartments, by two Ioaic co.
lumns ‘supporting their entablature, and a pediment above the
centre division ; the head of the arch is occupied by a choir of che~
rubim. The whole of the architectural members are painted in imi-
tation of marble. The pulpit is a heavy piece of workmanship,
and with the reading and clerk’s desks, is situated on the south
side of the centee aisle ; a gallery, at the west end of the church,
_contains an organ. There are several monuments in the church,
and the vestibule ; but they are not remarkable either for their age
“or workmanship, .

St. Catherine Cree Church. -

At the south-east corner of Cree-church-lane, in Leadenhall-
street, stands the church of St. Catherine Cree. This church re-
ceived its name from being dedicated to St. Catherine, the virgin
before mentioned, and is distinguished from other churches of the
same name, by the addition of Cree, or Christ, from its situation m
the cemetery of the conventual church of the Holy Trinity,
which was originally called Christ-church.

King Henry VIIIL.inhis grant of the priory of the Holy Trinity to
sir Thomas (afterwards lord) Audley, which will be noticed more
particularly hereafter, gave this church also ; the prior and canons
of Christ-church having been originally, and always, patrons
thereof. When lord Audley died, he, by his will, bequeathed it to
the master and fellows of Magdalen college, in Cambridge, and
their successors, whomhe enjoined to serve the cure for ever; they .
leased out the impropriation to the parishioners for ninety-nine
years; but a dispute arising between the college and the parish,at
the expiration of the said lease in 1725, about a renewal, a lease
"was granted to Jerome Knnpp, haberdasher of London; and, in
order to settle the gifference, 1t was agreed that one - hundred and
fifty pounds per annum should be raised by the parishioners in lieu
of tithes, &c. out of which the officiating curate should he paid fifty
pounds per annum, for the first ten years, besides surplice fees, &c.
and, after the expiration of that term, seventy pounds per annum,
. besides surplice fees; and this agreement was confirmed by act of
parliament in the month of May, 1727. .

¢ On the back side of the north wall of the old church was a
cloister, the breadth of it seven foot and above, which cloister,
by the tuking down of that wall, being taken into the church,
gave it all its breadth to enlarge it.

¢ In digging under this wall, there was found the figure of
halfthe face of a man, cast in lead, the mould setting likewise
upon it this word, Comes.
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"¢ Digging under the south row of pillars, they found the
§kul:l :l‘ a man, the thickness of which was three quarters of an
inch.’ . ’

The architecture is interesting, as it exhibits an almost perfect
specimen of the style which prevailed in the time of the first
Stparts. It consists of .the most singular mixture of Italian and
pointed architecture that can be conceived. The exterior is prinei-
pally in the latter style. In plan, the church shews the ancient
mode of distribution into nave and aisles. The west front has, in
the nave or centre division, an arched entrance beneath a large
window now blocked up, but showing mullions similar in design to
the eastern, to be described hereafter. The north aisle has a narrow
window made into two lights by a single mullion, and the south
aisle is occupied by the tower, the principal part of which is more
ancient than the charch: in this front is a window with a pointed
arch, made into two lights by a mullion. The south {ront of the
tower has an entrance, fronted by a pediment, sustained on two
Ionic columns ; above whichare two narrow lvop-hole windows, and
the upper story has in each face a circular arched window; the
elevation is finished with a parapet ; a turret, formed of a peristyle
of columns, in a mean Tuscan order, sustaining a cupola, is erected
upon the platform. The south front of the church has in the aisle
four windows, nearly square in form ; they are made by mullions
in three lights, with aiched cinquefoil heads, the central higher than
the others. Below the windows are large pannels of the fantastic

‘form always met with in works of this age ; and between two of the

windows is a sun-dial.t Above this aisle is a clerestory ; the six
windows correspond in design with those in the aisle. The eleva-
tions are finished with parapets; they were formerly, however, set
off with a fan-shaped ornament, on the points of reversed arches,
which were destroyed by vne oi those tasteless improvers, who are
the bane of ancient buildings. To the east wall is attached a gate-
way, consisting of an arch, planked with pilasters of the Ionic order,
sustaining an entablature and pediment. In the tympanum of the
latter is a well executed recumbent skeleton, partly covered with
drapery ; on a pannel beneath is the following inscription:—

THIS GATE WAS BVILTER AT THE COST
AND CHARGES OF WILLIAM AVENON
CITEZRN AND GOVLDSMITH OF LOKDON
WHO DIED IN DECEMBER ANNO D~I 1631,

It was built for an entrance to the cemelery ; the space, how-
‘ever, immediately behind it has been wainscotted, and answers as
a porch to the church during divine service, and a watch-house at
otber times. ‘The east wall of the church has, in the nave, a large
window in the forni of an upright parallelogram, mwle into twa

® Sirype's Stow, ed. 1720, i, 65. - 4 Erccted in 1682, -
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principal divisions, the lower of which has five lights, with archéd
heads, divided by upright mullions. The upper division is occupied
by a large Catherine-wheel window, in alluston to the patron saint,.
consisting of a large circle inscribed in a square ; im the centre is a
smaller circle, from which diverge mullions, which ore united teo-
the outer circle by arched heads. The angles owtside .the large
eircle contain smaller ones, ornemented with quatrefoils. The win-
dow, upen the whole, is creditable to the time, and it shows that the -
art of construction, 50 beautifully and testefully exerted in old
English buildings, had not then quite fled the land. The aisles have
windows similar to the southern front. At the north-east angle is ar.
entrance; and the north side of the church, in its general features,
resembles the southern one. ‘The basement story of the tower serves
as a porch. At the interior angle, which is clear of the walls, is an-
immense pier, to which is attached several upright cylinders, which,.
with corresponding piers attached to the walls of the church, support
two pointed arches, sustaining the north and eastern walls
of the superstructure ; they are partlyconcealed by the belfry. The
style of these remains is that of the fourteenth century. The bases
of the columnsare hid beneath the pavement ; but the height of the.
part which is above, shows that the level of the atreet has not been-
raised so considerably as has been generally supposed. The Beve.
and aisles are divided by six arches resting upon five Corinthian
columns, and two semi-columns attached to the extreme walls at
each end of the church. The shafts of the columns are unfiuted,
and the soffits of the arches enriched with coffers and roses. Above
the crownsof the arches isa string-course, upon which rises, by way of
attic, the clerestory. To the piers, between the windows, are
attached composite pilasters resting on the string-course; below
which, and corresponding with the hases of the pilasters, are those
brackets, so commonly seen in works of this period. The
pilasters sustain a flat arched ceiling, groined in the pointed
style, the ribs diverging from the capitals of the pilasters, and
uniting at a priocipal horizontal one in the centre; the inter-
seotions loaded with hnge bosses, ornamented with the arms of
benefactors. ‘The aisles are similarly vavlted, the ceilings resting »
on the principal columns on one side, and brackets attached to the
walls ou the other. These specimens of groining are, however,
in a very poor style. At the western end is a gallery, containing
a fine-toned organ in a richly-carved case. The altar is adorned
with a screen, composed of four Corinthian pilasters, sustaining
aan entablature. The pulpit and desks stand in the centre of the
church : they once stood against a pillar on the north side; and
the pulpit is only remarkable for being, with the commanion
table, formed of cedar. These particulars, and all the wood-work
of the church, are of a more recent period than the main builds
ing. The half columns at the east end of the church are painted
in imitation of Siedna marble, with gilt capitals. The east win-
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dow is entirely filled with stained glass ;* the lower compart-
ment has the arms of Georgze I. between those of the city of
London, above which is the prince of Wales’ crest, three feathers,
and the motto Jeh Dien, and the arms of sir James Cambell,
lurd mayor in 1629 ; above which is a rose, surmounted by a crown.
In the middle compartment of the window, below the royal
arms, is the following inscription in an oval :— '

THE GIFrT OF THE RT. HON, SIR SAN. STAINER, KNT,, ALDERMAN AND:

XATIVE OF THIS WARD, LORD MAYOR OF THIS CITY IN THE FIRsT YEAR OF
THE REIGN OF KING GEORGE

The only monument worthy of particular notice, is one to the
memory of Sir Nicholas Throkmorton, knt. It is affixed to the
pier between two of the windowsin the south aisle, and represents
the knight in complete armour, with his head bare, and a ruff
round his neck ; the figure is recamnbent on a mat, which is rolled
up; under the head of the figure is a helmet, and at the feet is an
eagle. The whole is covered with a canopy, formed of an entabla-
ture sustained on two black marble columns, in a bad doric order.
The metopes are charged alternately with skalls, cross-bones, and
hour-zlasses ; on the cornice are three shields of arms. A pannef
at the back has the following inscription :— .

Heere lyeth the Bodie of Sir Nicholas Throkmorton, Kat. the fourth Sonne
of Sir George Throkmorton, Knight, which Sir Nicholas was chief Brtler of
Englande, one of the Chamberlaynes of the Excheqvier, Ambassador lygar to the
Qvenes Majestie Flizabeth, in Fravnce in the begynning of her Raigne, & after
his Retvene was sent ambassador into Fravnce the ons & into Scotlande twice:
Be marryed Anne Carewe, Davghter of 8ir Nicholas Carewe, Knt, and begat by
her tenne Sonnes, and three Davghters. He Died the XII. daye of Pebrvary, in
the year of oner Lord God, a Thowsand Fyve Hondred three score and Tenne.
Being of thage of Fyflie and Seaven years.

This monument was preserved from the o'd church ; the orna-
mental canopy, however, was no doubt added at the rebuilding
of the church.

At the west end of the north aisle is an elegant marble monu-
ment by J. Bacon, R. A. to the memory of S. Thorp, who dicd
at Madras, July 15, 1791, aged 19.

The dimensions of the building are as follows: internal length
80 feet, breadth 51 feet, heizht of tower £0 feet. The first stone
of this church was laid June 23, 1628, and it was conseciated
Jan. 16, 1630-1.

‘This church, it will be recollected, was erccted before the
civil war, the second ®ra of destruction which has fallen upon
the church. It was rendered obnoxious to the fanatics of thoxe

_ ®Risto be regretied that ahou that the beautiful effect of the stained
is bailt within a few yards of this win.  glass is almost totally lost.
dov, the consequence of which B

~
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evil times, in consequence of the ceremonies which the ill-
fated and pious Laud had used at the consecration, and was,
in common with many other churches in the metropolis profaned
by the puritans at that period, the restoration of the altar being
one of the crimes alleged against the martyred bishop, the fury
of the sacrilegious revolutionists no doubt destroyed the original
altar, and with it the remainder of the wood-work and the stained
glass in the windows. This will account for the altar-screen
and pulpit being more modera than the building, having been
restored after the royal government was reinstated,.

Priory of the Holy Trinity.

To the north of Aldgate formerly stood the magnificent priory
of the Holy Trinity, called Christ-church. It was founded by
queen Maud,* daughter to Malcolm, king of Scotland, wife to
Henry 1., by the persuasions of Anselm, archbishop of Canter-
bury, and Richard Beaumeis, bishop of London, A. D. 1108, in
the same place where Siredus had begun to erect a church in
honour of the Holy Cross and St. Mary Magdalene, out of which
the dean and chapter of Waltham were entitled to receive thirty
shillings ; but the queen gave them a mill in exchange, and had
this agreement confirmed by king Henry, her husband, giving the
care of the church to Norman, the first canon regular in all
England, for canons of his own rule. ) )
~ The same queen also endowed this church, and those that
served God therein, with the port of Aldgate, and the soke there«
unto belonging, with all customs, as mentioned in the following
deed:—

¢ Maud, by the grace of God, queen of England, to R. bishop
of London, and all the faithful of the holy church, greeting. Be
it known to you, that I, by the advice of archbishop Anselm, and
with the consent and confirmation of my lord king Henry, have
given and confirmed the church of Christ, seated near the walls of
London, free and discharged from all subjection, as well to the
charch of Waltham as all other churches, except the church of
St. Paul, London, and the bishops, with all things appertaining
to the same, for the honour of God, to the cannons regularly
serving God in the same, with Norman, the prior, for ever, for
the redemption of our souls, and of those of our parents. I'have in
like manner given them the gate of Alzate, with the soct belong-
ing to the same. which was my lordship, and two pirts of the
revenue of the cily of Exeter. And it is my will, and I command,
‘that the said canons holid their lands, and all things belonging to
their church, well and peaceably, and honourably and freely,
with all the libertics and customs which my lord king Henry, by

® Cotton makes prior Norman tobe  a cause, was the liberty of holding a
be founder, A D. 1107. courz,and exercising jurisdiction over
t From the 8.x0n JOCne, sigrifying  lenavts within the demesae or franchise.
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his charter, confirmed to them ; so that neither wrong nor injury
be done to them. Witness William, bishop of Winchester, Ro-
ger, bishop of Salisbury, Robert, bishop of Lincoln.’

Henry L. subsequoently strengthened this charter by considerable
privileges ; he confirmed the grant of Maud, and granted them
further ¢ to hold their possessions with sac* and soc, and tollt and

- them?, and infangentheof,§ and all their customs, as well within
the city as without.’ '

The same king also confirmed to them the ¢ soc of the English
knightengild,” which was also confirmed to them by the bull
of pope Innocent 111. .

There was another charter, whereby this priory was privileged
to inclose the way-along London-wall, and stop the passage,
and enlarge their priory to the very wall.

The rights and privileges of this noble foundation were repeat-
edly confirmed by charters of Henry 1I. and IlI. and Edward I.

Nornman became Prior of Christchurch in the year 1108, in the
parishes of St. Mary Magdalene, St. Michael, St. Catherine, and
the Blessed Trinity, which now were made but one Parish of the
Holy Trinity. ’

This priory eccupied a piece of ground upwards of three hun-
dred feet long,in the parish of St. Catherine, towards Aldzate,
near the parochial chapel of St. Michael. In process of time it
became a very large church, rich in lands and ornaments, and

all the priories in the city of London or shire of Mid-
diesex, the prior whereof was alderman of Portsoken ward.

In 1182, this priory, with its church, was consumed by fire,
but was immediately rebuilt. ) '

After this, priory had swallowed up those four parishes above-
named, and was appointed the parish church, the inhabitants of
the parish of St. Catherine’s prevailed with the prior to let them
build a chapel in the church-yard of the priory, for their more
convenient and quiet resort to perform their divine service in, and
to appoint them one uf his canons to say mass to them, on condi-
tion that they continuved to christen their children in the conven-
toal church, and to come thither at all solemn times ; their devo-
{ions at the altar of St. Mary Magdalene, where they had before
resorted, being greatly disturbed by the noise of several celebrat-
ing mess together. But in time, the parishioners neglecting to
come to the conventual church, the prior insisted upon their

® This wes the right of imposing
fines in cases of trespass, arising between
the tenants, determined in the court of
the franchise. . ¢

+ Ao exemption from payment of
toll of things bought and sold in ak
markets.

3 Jarisdiction over the villeins or
bondmen of the franchise, with their

suits and chattels wherever they migiht
be found in the realm, except any vil-
lein should have resided in any corpo-
rate town for the space of a year and a
day ; by which resideace he was eman-
cipated from his villeinage.

§ The right of apprehending robbers
taken within the franchise,and cf con-
victing and judging ther: iz its court
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agreement to resort to the great church for the christeniag of
their children, and upon all the holidays, especially the greater,
as in the night and day of our Lord’s nativity, Goed Friday, the
day of the benediction of the Faster wax-candle, the morning of
Easter-day, the vespers and vigils of the feasts of the Holy
‘Trinity, and the dedication of the conventual church of the Holy
Trinity ; on which days he would allow no service to be per-
formed in the parochial chapel. This occasioned great conten-
tions between the prior, Robert Exeter, the convent, and the
aforesaid parishioners; which continued to the time of William
Haradou, and Richard Clifford, bishop of London, who, in the
year L4l4, accommodated their differences by a composition be-
tween them on the following terms, viz.—That the said parish~
foners ol St. Catherine’s, Christ's, or Cree-church, should have a
baptismal font anew set up in their church, or chapel, for baptis-
ing of children, and to have other solemnities to be there per-
formed (about which such contentions had before arisen among
them), for all times hereafter. That they should resort to the
conventual church on the festivals and dedication of the said con-
ventual church in the eve of St. Bartholomew yearly ; and there,
in token of their submission and acknowledgment, each should,
in Lhose festivals, offer their pence, halfpence, and farthings ; and
that they might, if they pleased, keep the dedication of St. Ca-
therine in their own said chapel or church; which he, the
bishop, out of his paternal aflfection towards them, yielded unto

Further, that they might not ring the belis on Easter-day, till the
mass was finished at the conventual church. That one of the
canons, to be placed or removed at the pleasure of the prior,
should serve in the said chapel, as was usual before this present
ordinance, to administer to the said parishioners the sacraments,
as anciently was done. That the prior and convent hence-
forth be not obliged to fiod the ornaments, nor be at other charges
for the chapel. All which ordination and composition the prior
and convent, and the said parishioners received and promised in-
wviolably to observe perpetually.*

This priory was once laken into the king’s bands (40 Hen. 111.)
for receiving a thief within its precincts that had escaped from
Newgate.

Eustacius, the eighth prior, about the year 1264, because he
.would not deal with temporal matters, instituted Theobald Fitz-
Juonis, or Ivo, as deputy alderman of Portsoken ward under him ;
-and William Rising, prior of Christ-church, was sworn-alderman
-of the said Portsoken ward in the first of Richard I1. These priors
"sat and rode among the aldermen of Loundon, in the same livery,
enly the prior’s habit was in shape of a spiritual person, as Stow
saith he himself saw in his childhood ; -at which time the prior

* Maitland's History of Liondon, ii. 781.
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kept 2 most bountiful house, both for rich and poor, as well within
the house as at the gates, to all comers, acccording to their
conditions.

The following is an account of the spiritualities and temporalities
of this priory, circa 1291*

Spiritualia Priorie Sancte Trinitatis, London.

-Ecclesia Sancti Bothr ext’ Algate............ X mare.
Capella Sancte Kat’ine, et Sancti Mich'is in atrio ste
Trinitatis ....c.civvieimiransccanana xije. iijjd.
Sm spirituali’. . .............. vijls. vja. viyd.
Juddecima .................. .. Xhijs. viijd.
Bledietas .....veviveenicciannnnaa vus.nud

Temp’alia ejusd’m priorie in Pochije.

. Sancte Marie de Wolchurckehawe ....... . Ixxe. iii}d.

Sanote Mariedel Ax ......... ves-erose XXiijs. 13d.
. Sencti Lourencij in Judaismo ........... oae e dilje.
. Sancti X'poforj ....... esesseessassaneanee XVjR

OmmusnnctordeBerkynzcbumh . 2
. Sancti Avdeee de Cornhull .. ........cccae... XViRs.

Saocte Fdis Virgis ............ teeeaae creee XViA.
Sancti Olauiad Trini ,.,,..c0een.. eeees Cja. xd. 0b.
Sancti Pet’ de Cornehull ..... ceteraraneans xxa. iiij
. Sancte Marig de Aldermanbury ........ xxiitje. yd.
. Sancti Petri de Woodestrete ............... <o olilga,
. Samcti Alphegi ......cciiiiiiiiniann veees V8, wd.
Sancti Bothr ext® Bisshoppgate ........ xxiiijs. viid.
. Sancti Mich’is de Cornehull...... cesenann xxvg. iiijd.
. Sancti Mich’isadRpam ........ccciivannnn. re XNS
. 8ancti Marie Wolnoth .............. reeenas oo 138
. Omuiu Sanctorad ferm ......... weneons xlvijg. digd.
. Sancti Clement de Candelwykstrete ........... . xipd.
Omniu Sanctor de Stanyngchurch ..... .e. Viije de

Sancti Egidij ex’ Crepulgate .........,.... xxviljs.
Sancti Benedicti Fynk .. ........coo0 .. dijs

Omniu Sanctor de Fanchurche ........... . Vjg. viijd,
8ancti Martinide Ludgate ..........cco0eiuuaas vje.
. Adhuc temp’alia Priores Sancte Thmlam'
Sancte Margarete Patyns ....... ceeseas «eo. iijo vid.
. Sancte Margarete ad ponte ............ Xxxiijs. iijjd.
Sancti Georgij ......... trteceacecantsanans ‘ijs.
Sancti Swithini............... ceserecse xiijc, iyd.

* 'l‘cnuo Spiritualium et Temponlmm clesi intra Dicecesim London.—Bib-
Heyl. Ao 6). )
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Omniu Sanctor de Colmanchireh ........ Ive. iiijd. ob.
Sancti B'ndicti Shorhogge ........... e xxija.
Sancti Marie Magdal’ in Prs’tar ......... eee ija. vid.
Sancte Mariede Arcubr .......... ...l xxve, viijd.
Sancti Pancrasij in London .............. Ixvjs. viijd.
De Aldermanchiech ............. vesedeaa V)8 viljd.
Sancti Vedasti .......c00000n0000 ceretenanans vs.
Sancti Mich'is de Pat'nost’chirch ................ xvs.
Omniu Sanctor de Grassechirch ............ liijs. xd.
Sancti Edmu’di de Grassechirch.......... xxvs. viijd.
Sancti Marie de Som’sete ........i.c0i0i0anen. ija.
Sancti Johis de Walbrook ........ eveeoaaes. Xxiilye,
Sancti Trinitatis Pue ................ [ 111 A
Sancti Mariede la Hull ......... teseeecaenean iije.
Sancte Ethelburge ..........00ieneien, ceeaes vijs.
Sancti M'rtini i’ Candelwykstrete ...... . . .xxvu;a.
Sancti B'n’dicti de Grassechirch ......... ... xlija. i)d.
Sancti Bothr de Billyngesgate .......... XXXVS. -dinyd.
Omniu Sanctor ad muros.......... ceeaen ije. iiijd. 0b.
Sancti Albani in Woodstrete ................ .e X8,
Sancti Martini de Oteswych .................. xxje.
Sancti Nichi Olof ......... ceveensnesans ceeaee vs.
Sancti Thome Ap’li ......ccovvvvevnnnnnnann XXX8.
Sancti Sepulchri. ......... tesasanee teeesecss XXVE.
Sancti Augustini ad porta’ ...........c..... S ijs.
Sancti Jacobi de Garlykhithe ,............... xve.
Sancti Martintin Vintria .............. xve vijd.
Sancte Marie de Abchurch .............. Ixvijs. ijd.
Sancti Martini in Poun’ ................ vjs. viijd.
- Omniu Sanctor de Honylane ............ xlviija. iiijd.
Sancti Michi’s & Kat’ine infra’ Algate .... xv;&. xijd.
Sancti Johi’s Zacharye .............. ... ... lys. injd.
Sancti Stephaui in Judaismo ................ xs. vjd.
Sancti Beneda’ Woodewharf .. ....... reseeens xije.
Sancti Nichi’ Coldabbay ................ xxjs. viijd.
Sancti Steph’i in Walbrook ......... ceteenans xxijd.
Sancti Bot’hi ex’ Algate .............. xiijli. xs. id.
Sancti Andree Hubert ................. . xvje. iiijd.
Saucte Mildrede in Bred-strete ................ xvjs.
Sancte Marie de Bothawe .............. . xxiija. ijd.
Sancti Leonardi ...........o0cieiennen Ixxiijs. de
Sancti Sconisij ...oiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e iijs.
Sancti Dunstani Est ..............c....0.u. . Ixijs.
Sancti Marie de Colchyrche ....... . Xlljli vje. viijd.
Sancti Mich’is de Bassyngshawe .......... xxxijs. vjd.
Sm’ p’ticular .......... cxxili. xvjs. vjd. ob.

Jud’ Decima .......... xijls. iija. vijd. ob ¢.

Medietas .. .coeeveeennn, cever + oo Vilt. xxjd.
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Sp'ore Ste. Trinitatis London in Kentyssheton de 1’ns’

Reddi’ & bost’ q’ tax’ ad. ........ ... Ixxixe. iiijd
Jud Decima .........coc0nnnnae. vijs. xd.
Medietas............. ceeennenan. dije. xid.

Their common seal represented the blessed Saviour seated on a
rainbow, and having in his left hand a book resting on his knee;
lisright hand elevated. The legend was SIGILLY. ECL’IB. SCE.
TRINITATIS LOKDONIE.

The anus of this priory were az. the representation of the Trinity ar., being
expressed by four plates, two in chief, one in the middle point, and one in base,
copjoined to each other by an orle and a pall ar. On the centre plate is the
word DEUs, on the dexter-chief plate PATER, on the sinister FiLius, and on the
plate in base the words SANcCTUs SPIRITUS ; on the three parts of the pall the
vord BST, and on each part of the orle the words Nnon EsT.

This priory was surrendered February 4, 1531, by Nicholas
Hancock, prior, George Grevil, and seventeen more of the con-
vent, who said they did it because their house was much involved
n debt, and the revenues and profits sunk, and in effect come to
nothing. The valuation is not recorded.

Among the monuments in this church were the following :—

Sir Robert Turke, and dame Alice his wife ; sir John Hen-
ningham, and dame Isabel his wife.

Dame Agnes, wife to sir William Bardolph, and then to sir
Thomas Mortimer. She made her will 1403, bequeathing her
body to be buried in the conventual church of the Holy Trinity,
London. .

Sir John Dedham, knt.; sir Ambrose Charcam.

Dame Marguret, daughter to sir Ralph Cheny, wife to sir John
Barkley, to sir ThomasBarnes, and to sir W. Bursire.

Baldwine, son to king Stephen ; and Matilda, daughter 1o king
Stephen, wife to the earl of Millen.

Henry Fitz-Alwine, mayor of London, 1213.

Geffrey Mandevile, 1215. L.

Lady Margaret le Scroope, who, in 1431, bequeathed her body
to be buried in the church of St. Trinity, of Christ-church,
London. She was wife of Roger le Scroope, knight,and daugh-"
ter of sir Robert Tiptoft.

Humphrey de Bohun, earl of Hereford, and constable of
Englaud, was buried before the high altar. He died October 15,
1361.
hir Robert Sheflield, knight, ancestor of the dukes of Bucking-

These, and many more sepulchral monuments, were destroyed
at the dissolution of this priory, which ha?pened as above; ¢ for,
says Mr. Maitland, ¢ king Henry V1II. desirous to reward sir Thomas

Audley, speaker of the parliament against cardinal Wolsey, sent for
YOL. 1, G
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the prior, and, after commending him for his hospitality, with pro-
mises of preferment, persuaded him to surrender all the priory,
with the appurtenances, into his hands, in the twenty-third
year of his reign. The canons were sent to other houses of the
same order; and the priory, with the appurtenances, king Henry
gave to sir Thomas Audley, newly knighted, and afterwards made
Jord chancellor. .

Sir Thomas offered the great church of this priory with a pea
of nine well tuned bells (whereof the four largest are now at
Stepney church, and the other five at St. Stephen’s Coleman-
street), to the parishioners of St. Catherine Christ, or Cree-
church, in exchange for their small parish church, being willing
to have it pulled down, and to have it built there towards the
street; but the parishioners declined the offer. He thereupon
offered the church and steeple of the priory church to any per-
son who would take it down and carry it from the ground, but no
man would undertake the offer; whereupon sir Thomas was
obliged to be at more charges to take it down than could be made
of the stones, timber, lead, iron, &c.; for the workmen, with
great labour, beginning at the top, loosed stone from stone, and
threw them down, whereby the greater part of them were broken,
and few remained whole, and those were sold very cheap; for all
the buildings, then made about the city, were of brick and tim-
ber. Thomas, lord Audley, built a noble mansion of this priory,
and dwelt in it during his life, and died there in the year 1544 ;
whose only daughter being married to Thomas, duke of Norfolk,
this estate descended to his gracc, and was then called the Duke’s
Place.

In this mansion, which was called Cree-church, chapters of
the heralds were held in 1561 ; and Holbein, the celebrated
painter, is said to have died here in 1554, though some authors
say he died at Whitehall.

.Gate of the Priory of the Holy Trinity.
The gate of this priory, here delineate ', -tood in the passh of
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St. James, Duke’s-place, at the north end of Cree-church-lane ; the
apartments above the gate, which were of modern erection, were
formerly occupied as the ward school-rooms. These remains were
destroyed in October, 1816.

On the dissolution of the priory, the chapel before mentioned
became the only .place (after the conventual church was pulled
down) for the inhabitants within that district to repair to for divine
service. This, however, creating some dislike among the inhabit-
ants of Duke’s-place, they were desirous of raising a proper parish
church for themselves, on the ground within their own precinct ;
to effect which, they applied to the archbishop of Canterbury for
hisassistance ; who, having obtained the king’s warrant, under the
great seal, for proceeding in their pious intention, prevailed with the
lotd mayor, aldermen, and common-council, to build them a church,
with the stones of the conventual church, which then remained on
the premises. This was accordingly done, and the church was

. consecrated and dedicated to St. James, on the 2ud of January,

1622. The liberty of Duke’s-place formerly enjoyed great privi-
leges, in which they appear to have been more protected by the
power of the Norfolk family than by right ; since the lord mayor is
entitled to hold a court leet and baron, and the city officers can
arrest for debt, and execute warrants within it; yet artificers and
traders open shops, and exercise their arts here, although nat
freemen of the city. The Jews settled here, principally, in the
time of the Commonwealth. In the month of March or April,
sccording as Easter falls, there is a fair held in Duke’s-place, called
the Jews’ fair, which is probably of great antiquity. 1t is a kind
of carnival, and is denominated the feast ofunrim. Though the
Jews have held rejoicings at this period in Duke’s-place ever since
their establishment there, yet they were not publicly sanctioned tifl
the latter pait of the last century, when the city allowed the parish
of 8t. James the privilege of letting out the ground for three days,
tothe itinerant show-men, by which, says Mr. Smith, the parish
makes about 37/.* :

On the north side of Bevis Marks stood 2 religious house,
called .

The Papey.

This hospital belonged to the brotherhood of St. Charity and
St. John the Evangelist, founded in 1430, by William Oliver,
William Barnabie, and John Stafford, of London, priests, for a
master, two wardens, &c. chaplains, chauntry priests, conducts,
and other brethren and sisters that should be admitted into the
church of St. Augustine Papey in the wall. The brethren of this
house becoming lame, or otherwise in great poverty, were here
relieved ; as to have chambers, with certain allowance of bread,
drink, and coals, and one o!d man and his wife to see them served,
and to keep the house clean.

® Smith* Anc. Topog. of London, p 21.
G 2
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These poor priests of the Papey (as also the brotherhood of the
threescore priests, and the company of clerks that were skilled 1n
singing dirges and church offices) commonly attended at solemn
funerals, as may be collected from the will of dame Jane Milbourn,
widow of sir John Milbourn ; who, in the year 1543, bequeathed .
1o the brotherhood of the Papey to come to her burial, and to pray

. for her soul ten shillings ; and likewise to the brotherhood of three-
score- priests in London to come to her burial, and to pray for her
soul ten shillings.

This brotherhood (amongst others) was suppressed n the reign
_of Edward V1., since which time this house was occupied by Sir
Francis Walsingham,.principal secretary of state to queen Eliza-
beth, and many other-noble personages. The site of-the hospital
is the churchyard of St. Martin Outwich.

* Adjoining to thishospital was a great house, with handsome couats

and garden plats, ¢ some time pertaining to the Bassets, since that
to the abbote of Bury in Suffolk, and therefore called Buries
Mark, corruptly Bevis Marks ; and, since the dissolution of the
ahbey of Bury, to Thomas Heneage the father, and sir Thomas
Heneage the son.’*

The House of Crutched Friars.

At the south-east corner of Hart-street stood a house of Crouched
- (or Crossed) Friars, founded by Ralph Hosier and William
Sabernes, about the year 1298. Stephen, the tenth prior of the
Holy Trinity in London, granted three tenements for thirteen
shillings and eight-pence by the year, unto the said Ralph Hosier
and William Sabernes, who afterwards became friars of St. Crosse.
Adam was the first prior of that house. These friars founded their
house inthe place of certain tenements purchased of Richard Wim-
bush, the twelfth prior of the Holy Trinity, in the year 1319,
which wasconfirmed by Edward 111.1n the 17th of his reign, valued
at fifty-two pounds thirteen shillings and four pence, surrendered
12th of November, 30 Henry VILIL.

Andrew de Bures gave.to this house, 5 Edward III., one mes-
suage and twenty-eight acres.of land, and one acre of meadow, in
Aketon ; and one messuage and sixty acres of land in Walding-
field, in the county of Su%'oik.

There was alicence granted (23 Edward II1.) to the prior of the
Holy Cross, to get.lands in Oxon; and likewise the prior obtained
a grant for a tenement in Synedene-lane, now called Seething-
lane.

At a court of common-council, in the latter end of the reign of
Henry VIII., an act was passed for granting to the prior and con-
vent of the Crossed Friars, beside the Tower of London (to the
intent that they should pray for the good estate of the city) some

"~ Maitland, ii. 782.
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common ground of the said city, for the enlargement of their
church, viz. in breadth, from the east end of their church, from the
main wall thereof on the north part, into the high street there, five
feet of assize; and at the west end of their church, in breadth four
feet and a half, stretching in length from the east towards the west
part, seven score and eight feet and a half.

At another court holden on Tunesday, September 25 (12 Henry
VIL.), the said prior and convent petitioned for succonr towards
the edifying and maintenance of their new church, and to take
upon them and the whole city to be their second founders. Where-
upon it was agreed that several exhortaiions should be made in
writing to every fellowship or company in London, to see what they
would do for their devotions towards the same; and such sums to
be certified to the mayor and aldermen, to the intent it may be
known to wthat it will amount.

A prior of this house in Henry VIIL.’s time, not so observant as
he ought to have been of the rules of continence prescribed by the
order, was caught on a Friday (a day of more than ordinary mor-
tification and devotion), about eleven o’clock, in bed with a lewd
woman, by some of the visitors appointed by the vicar-general
Cromwell. The scandalized visitors pocketed a bribe of thirty
pounds given them by the detected prior, and reported the transac-
tion to their employer. This hastened the dissolution of the house,
which was granted by Henry VIII. to sir Thomas Wyatt, who built
& bandsome mansion on the site, which was afterwards the residence
of lord Lumley, who distinguished himself greatly at the battle of
Flodden field, in the reign of Henry VIII. The friars’ hall was
converted into a glass-house, the first manufactory of that article in
England. which, with forty thousand billets of wood, was destroyed
by fire on the 4th of Septamber 1575.

In the church of this house were several handsome monuments.
Among the principal persons huried there were

Sir Thomas de Mollinton, baron of Wemese, who bequeathed by
will, dated 1408, his body to be buried in the chapel of St. Mary,
within the college of the friars of St. Crucis, Londun; and deme
Elizabeth, his wife, daughter of William Botelar, baron of Wome, _
according to her last will, anno 1410.

Henry Lovell, son to William, lord Lovell.

Dame Isabel, wife to William Edwards, mayer of London in 1471.

Sir John Stratford, knt.

Sir Thomas Asseldey, knt., clerk of the crown, sub-marshal of
England, and justice to the shire of Middlesex.

Jubhn Kest, grocer, mayor of London, 15186.

Sir John Skevington, knt. merchant taylor, sheriff, 1520.

Sir Rhys ap Gryfflyd beheaded on Tower-hill, 1531.*

® For farther information ct- ferred to Pennant’s History of London,
iog this noble family, the reader 1s re-  4to. 288.
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Sir John Milbourn was a benefactor to this house of the’
Crutched-friars. He set up his tomb in their church in his
life-time, and appointed a solemn obit to be kept there, during
the life of himself, and his wife Dame Johan ; and, after his de-
cease, to be also kept in the said church by the said friars, for
their souls. He was buried here, but afterwards removed to St
Edmund’s the King. :

And his thirteen beadsmen, dwelling in his alms-house,
(which will be mentioned hereafter) hard by, were to come
daily unto this church, where they should in some convenient
place near unto the said tomb, abide and continue while the ser-
vice of God, or, at least, until such time the whole mass, which
daily should be begun in the said church by the hour of eight
o’clock in the morninz, or thereabouts, should be sung or
said, for evermore, at the altar called Our Lady’s Altar, in the
middle aisle of the said church, founded by the said sir John Mil-
bourn; to the intent that the said thirteen poor beadsmen, afore
the bezinning of the said mass, one of them standing right over
‘against the other, about, and encompassing the same tomb or bu-
rial-place of sir John Milbourn, shall severally, two and two ot
them together, say the De Profundis, and a Pater-noster, Ave, and
Creed, with a collect thereunto belonging; and such of them as
could not say the psalm of De Profundis, were to say a Pater-

- noster, Ave and Creed: which prayers, as the will directs, they
should especially say for the good and prosperous estate of the
said sir John, and Dame Johan their children and friends now
living ; and, after their decease, for the souls of the said sir John
and Dame Johan, and Margaret his first wife, their fathers and
mothers, children, and friends soyls, and all christian souls.

In the church of those friars was founded two fraternities of
Datchmen, which nation seem to have resided hereabouts. Their
foundations and ordinances are printed at length, in Maitland’s
history of London.*

¢The very ruins of this religious house,’ says Mr Maitland,
< are not now to be seen, (¢. e. in 1738) and nothing of it remains,
only it gives name to the street, being more commonly called
Crutched Friars than Hart-street.” On its site was erected the
Navy Office, the business of which being removed to Somerset-
house, it was purchased by the East India Company.

On the site of this religious house, now stands a most extensive
and magnificent warehouse for teas belongiog to the East India
Company. Itis a regular oblong square, of two hundred and
fifty feet, by an hundred and sixty, inclosing a court ofa hundred
and fifty feet, by sixty, entered by an arched gateway, above
which are the Company’s arms.

® Vol. ii. p. 783,



HISTORY OF LONDON. 87

Aldgate.

Aldgate, or Ealdgate, (which signifies Old Gate,) was situate
udjoining to Houndaditch,and was one of the four original gates of the
city, and that through which the Roman vicinal way led to the
Trajectus, or ferry at Old-ford. The earliest mention we can find
of it, is in a charter granted by king Edgar, about the year 967.

This gate being in a very ruinous condition, was pulled down in
the year 1606, and re-built; but it was not completed till 1609.

In digging the foundation, several Roman coins were discovered
resemblances of two of which Mr. Bond, one of the surveyors of
the work, caused to be cut in stone, and placed on each side of the
east frunt, where they remained till the demolition of the gate.

In a large square, on the same side of the gate, was placed the -
statve of king James I. in gilt armour, with a golden lion, and -
a chained unicorn, both couchant at his feet.

On the west side of the gate was a figure of Fortune, gilt, and -
sunding on a globe, with a prosperous sail spreading over her
bead; under which was carved the king’s arms, with the motto,
‘Diew et mon droit,’ and a little below it, ‘Pivatl Rex ;’ somewhat
lower, on the south side, stood Peace, witha dove perched on one
band, and a gilded wreath in the other

On the north side of the gate was the figure of Charity, wit" a
child at her breast, and another in her hand.

On the top of the gate was a vane, supported by a gilt sphere ,
a0 each side of which stood a soldier holding a bullet in his hand,
on the top of the upper battlements. .

Over the arch of the gate were carved the following words -—

Senatus Populusque Londinensis,
Fecit, 1609,
HuupHREY WELD, Masor. .

There were two posterns through this gate; that on the south side
{ which was made as late as the year 1734 There was likewise
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apartments oyer the gate, which were appropriated to the use of one
o.the lord mayor’s carvers, but had, of lat years, been used as a
charity-school.

In the neighbourhood of this gate, lived and died the able
historian of the city, John Stowe.

On the south side of Fenchurch street, opposite the pump, among
other large and handsome houses was one, somelime belonging to
the prior of Monte Jovis or Monastrie Cornute, (Horn-church)
in Essex. It was the prior’sinn when he came to London.

A little to the north of St. James’s church, in Duke’s Place, isa
jews’ synagogue, which has been so enlarged as almost to join
the church.

Besides this there are three other synagogues in this ward; a
Portuguese one near the north end of Bevis Marks, by London-
wall; one in Church-row, for Hamburgh Jews, and a third in a
building which was formerly Bricklayers'-hall, situate behind the
houses that are nearly opposit e to St. Catherine Cree-church, and
which was new built in 1820: over the entrance from Leadenhall-
street are the Brickiayers’-arms.

All those synagogues are of plain exterior, being built of brick,
- the interiors are handsomely fitted up with galleries, gilt and deco-
rated in a fanciful style.

The west wall of the synagogue in Duke’s Place, is railed, and
contains the Sanclum Sanctorum, where are deposited the sacred
volumes, which are taken out and re-placed with great ceremony.

Over this on the wall, are painted in Hebrew characters, without
points, the ten commandments.

In the front of this building, over the porch, is a large hall pur-
posely appointed for the celebration of the wedding of poor Jews.
A considerable degree of ceremony is always attached tothese con-
nubial contracts, and that the poorer classes may not be prejudiced
by the expence, the whole society assist them by a subscription.

Aneient Crypt.

The cellar beneath the house at the south-east corner of Leaden-
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hall-street, consists of a curious crypt, in exce.lent preservation,

which has been generally considered to be the ancient parochial

chapel, or church of St. Michael. The crowns of the arches are

rather below the level of the pavement, and there is every indication

of the structure having been the basement of a superior erection.
The above engraving shews the building in a restored state.

“J9ans-[{eyuepus]

Feocbureh-street.

Pln.

What is to be seen at the present time, is evidently the whoie of
the original structure ;its greatest length from north to south is forty.
six feet, and its breadth from east to west, seventeen. In length it
is made into two aisles by two clusters of columns, consisting of
an union of four cylinders, conjoined at the capitals, from which
spring the ribs that support the vaulting ; this is of the simplest kind,
consisting only of arches and cross springers, the latter making
an acutely pointed arch, the former being more obtuse. On the
points of intersection of the ribs are circular bosses, carved with
masks in a grotesque but bold style; one of the best is annexed.

The pillars are buried about ten feet below
the present level of the cellar floor ; in the vig-
nette they are represented as perfect; the vault-
ing receives a subsidiary support from half
columns attached to the walls, of a corresponding
character with the main clusters. The entrance
tothe crypt, is by a flap in the front of the
house. (in the view a pointed window is substi-
tuted,) nearly opposite to this is an acttely pointed opening, Salso
shewn in the cut,) which was originally intended for a window,
but has at some later period been converted into a door-way, and
was then the entrance to the crypt from above, as a winding flight
of stairs still existing on the outside of the opening evinces. The
windowsare square, the frames remaining appear more modern than
the main structure ; they are all walled up except one in the
northern extremity of the crypt, which is partially vacant; the sills
are formed close below the vault, a proofthat the erection was at all
limesa crypt; the termination northward of both- the aisles is
curious;; it is irregular in plan andelevation,and the vaulting displays
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a greater degree of masonic skill in consequence of the irregularity
of the walls. In the western wall an opening has been broken
through, which leads into an extensive range of cellaring, in
which there is no vestige of antiquity except a wall constructed
of old materials. ’

From the absence of any religious or sacerdotal emblem a
.a the carvings, as well as the circumstance of the structure standing
in its long.st proportons north and souih, it is not at all probable
that it ever was a church, or the crypt of one; that it might apper
tain to some one of the various ecclesiastical establishments, which
existed in this quarter is somewhat borne out by the high charac-
ter of its architecture ; from the style of which it is probable that
these remains are the workmanship of the latter part of the thir-
teenth century,

The bull of pope Innocent lll, noticed before, mentions the
chapel of St. Michael, in the church-yard of the monastery.

Itis singular that Stow does not notices the existence of this
relic of ancient London, although it is generally supposed the super-
structure was occupied by hisdwelling-house.

It appears the ground in the neighbourhood of Aldgate has been
much raised. Stow says, ¢ Betwixt this, Belzeter’s (Billeter) lane,
and Lime-street, was (of later time,) a frame of three fair houses,
set up inthe year 1590, in place where before was a large garden
plot, inclosed from the High-street with a brick wall; which wall
being taken down, and the ground digged deep for cellarage, there
was found right under the said brick wall, another wall of stone, with
a gatearched of stone, and gates of timber, to be closed in the midst,
towards the street ; the timber of the gates was consumed, but the
hinges of yron still remained on their staples, on both sides. More-
over, in that wall were square windows, with bars of yron, on either
side the gate; this wall was under ground about two fathoms deepe,
as I then esteemed it, and seemeth to bee the ruins of some house
burned in the raigne of king Stephen, when the fire began in the
house of one Aleward, near London-stone, and consumed east to
Aldgate; whereby it appeareth how greatly the ground of this citie
hath been in that place raysed.’

In Billiter-square is the: West India House, a large edifice, with
offices atuchz for conducting the business of the West India
docks. In the court-room is a fine painting of G. Hibbert,

The African-house stood in Leadenhall-street, east of Billiter-lane.
It had been the mansion of sir Nicholas Throkmorton.

The name of a church which stood formerly on the west side of
St. Mary Acxe, is still preserved in that of the name of the street ; it
was also called St. Mary Pellyper. Thischurch was in the gift of the
prioressand convent of St. Helens, but was united by letters patent
under the great seal, dated September 12th, 4 Eliz. to St. Andrew
Undershaft. It received its first appellation of ¢ at the Axe,” from a
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sigt which hung opposite the cast end of it, and that of 8t. Mary,
Pellyper, from a spot of ground on the north side, belonging to the
compeny of skinners. The church was on its desecration let asa
mirehouse, and for mechanical purposes, till, at length, it becams
» niinous that it was entirely taken down.

On the north side of Fenchurch-street is

Ironmonger’s Hall.

A noble edifice, erected in 1748, and is either the third or fourth
thathas been raised on the same site. The original hall was re-
built in the reigmn of queen Elizabeth.

The south front of this building is the only portion which
isvisible from the street; it is entirely faced with Portland stone
and consists of a centre and wings. The basement story is rusti-
cated, and has an arched entrance in the centre, the key stone
earved with the head of a warrior in an antique helmet; on each
side of the entrance are three square headed windows. Above
the basement the centre division is enriched with four Ionic pilas-
ters sustaining an entablature and pediment. The central space,
which is the widest, contains a Venetian window of large dimen-
sions, the pillars Ionic, and a circular one above ; the whole is in-
scribed in an arch; between the lateral pilasters are two series of
windows, the lower square headed covered with pediments, the
upper circular. The wings contain two series of windows,
the lower ol which have arched heads, and the upperare square ;
the elevations are finished with an entablature and attic ballus-
trade, on the cornice of which are placed atintervals large vases,
as well as oo the apex of the pediment. The tympanum of
the pediment has the arms of the Company between two cornu-
copia sculptured upon it. Beneath one of the windows in the
western wing is inscribed Thomas Holden, Architect, 1748.

The vestibule is spacious, and divided into avenues by six co~
Jumns of the Tuscan order: on the right, is the entrance to the
Court Room, which is a handsome apartment, baving a small
niche in the north wall, containing a well carved statue of Ed-
ward the fourth, in armour, with a regal mantle, and crowned ;
below it are two antique chairs, loaded with carvings of the Com~
pany’s arms: here also are portraits of Nicholas Leate, esq.
master in 1626-7, and Mr. John Child, senior warden 1782 ; the
Iatter is a clever picture : the pannel over the chimney-piece, ex-
hibits a tolerable- painting of ¢ Westminster Bridge.” In the
With-drawing Room, to which there is an approach by a
very handsome oval geometrical staircase, is a small statue of
sir Robert Geffrey, knt lord-mayor, in 1686, the benevolent
founder of the ¢ Ironmongers’ Almshouses,” or ¢ Hospital’ in
Kiogsland-road : the chimney-piece in this room is of marble and
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particularly elegant : to this room has been added a corridor from
the grand staircase across the court yard.

The hall, or state-room, is a’ spacious and magnificent apart-
ment, the grand stairs leading to it from the vestibule. At the
termindtion of the first flight is a statue of St. Lawrence, with the
emblem of his martyrology, the gridiron, and on the wall a large
painting of sir Robert Geffery, whose statue was before mentioued,
in his alderman’s robes, a laced band, large wig, and square-toed
shoes ; this gentleman, besides a gift to the company of 200..
and two silver flagons of thirty pounds each, bequeathed to
them in trust a very considerable property, for benevolent and
pious uses. The entrance opens by folding doors, and is
decorated with lonic ornaments, a divided pediment, and a
good bust. It contains two fire-places; one on the north side,
and the other at the east end, beneath the orchestra, which is
supported by two pillars: on the north side also, is a grand beau-
fet, adorned with lonic columns and pilasters. Behind the chairs
of the master and wardens, which stand against the west wall,
are some extremely rich carvings, in the midst of which, are the
royal arms of England. The whole room above the windows,
is encompassed by a cornice, from which rises ¢ a semi-oval ceil-
ing, richly stuccoed with the Company’s arms, satyrs’ heads, cor-
nucopias, palm-branches, flowers, scrolls, and three large pannels,”
enclosed by elaborate and elegant borders. The ceiling is coloured
of a French grey, but the ornaments are white, as are the walls,
and the carvings are gilt. Here .are several portraits, most of
which are inscribed with the words ¢ a good,’ or a ¢ worthy be-
nefactor.’ It is probable, as Mr. Malcolm has observed, ¢ the oldest’
were painted by Edward Cocke, as the wardens in the year 1640
“ agreed to pay him 3/. 5s. each, for five pictures more of bene-
factors.”*’

In a window on the north side is a curious small whole length, in
painted glass, of sir Christopher Draper, lord mayor in 1586, who
is depicted standing in a niche, with a roll of paper in one hand,
and his gloves in the other ; and wearing his chain of the office of
mayoralty ; the colours, with the exception of the face, are clear
and bright. This gentleman gave the ground, on which the hall
and two adjoining houses now stand, to the company. The other
portraits are as follow :—Mrs. Margaret Dane, kneeling before a
"book, in a scarlet robe, black cap, ruff, &c.; she bequeathed 2000¢.
to the company for charitable uses, in May 1579 —Mr. Thomas
Allwood, who gave 400/. for the maintenance of four poor scholars
at the university.—Mr. Thomas Lewin, whose bequest of ‘a great
messuage and garden,’ in 1545, had almost induced the company to

® [.ond. Red vol. ii, p. 36.
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convert his mansion into a new hall.—Mr. Ralph Handson, a former
clerk to the company, who, in January, 1653, bequeathed the reots
of ive messuages in the parish of St. Olave, Hart-street, of the
then annual value of 71/ 10s. for charitable purposes. The estate
thus bequeathed, was let to the East India Company, (in the
year 1808), at the yearly rent of 300/ for the term of 378
years, renewable every twenty-one years, on payment of a fine of
500{. at each renewal.—Sir William Denham, alderman, in a ruff
and civic robes.—Sir James Cambell, alderman, with a white beard
and hair : this gentleman bequeathed 1000L. to be lent in portions
of 100{. to ten young men, free of the company, for three years,
st 4 per cent per annum, the interest to be given to the sheriff, for
relieving honest poor freemen of London from confinement, not
exceeding five pounds to each.’—Thomas Michell, who, in April,
1527, gave to the company a * croft of land’ estimated at ten acres,
situated in Old-street (where St. Luke's church and Ironmonger-row
now stand) together with a messuage called the Ship, in the parish
of St. Mildred in the Poultry: he is represented in a small ruff,
black gown, and chesnut-coloured hair—Mr. Rowland Heylyn.—
Thomas Thorold, esq.—sir Samuel Thorold, knt.—Mr. Thomas
Betton, who devised a considerable property to the company for
various benevolent purposes, but particularly for the ransoming of
British subjects, captives in Barbary or Turkey: this is a fine and
wellcoloured picture.—A portrait of Thomas Hanbey, esq., pre-
sented by John Hillman, esq. master, in 1827.—Admiral lord
viscount Hood, by Gainsborough ; given by his lordship on his ad-
mission into this company, after having been presented with the
freedom of the city for his meritorious services. This picture is
much esteemed for the excellence of the likeness; his lordship is
represented in an admiral’s uniform, resting on the fluke of an an.
chor, with atelescope in his haud resting on his arm.

In the parish of St. Catherine Coleman was the manor of Blanch
Appleton, now called Blind-chapel-court, at the north-east corner
of Mark-lane In the third of Edward IV, all basket-makers,
wine drawers, and other foreigners, were permitted to have shops
in the manor of Blanch Appleton, and no where else within the
city or suburbs.

It also appears that the noblé family of the Bohuns, earls of
Hereford, had a house here called Blanchappulton, which, in 1421,
on the division of the estate of Humphrey de Bobhun, the last earl
of Hereford, between king Henry V.and Anne, countess of Straf-
ford, his grandchildren and coheirs, was allotted to the king.*

London-street, in this ward, is so called from being built on the
spot where the London tavern, the first house of that description in
the city formerly stood,

Northamberland-alley, on the north side of Fenchurch-street, is
20 called from the mansion-house of the two earls of Northumber-

® Parl. liolh, vol, iv. 18G.
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Jend, 1n the reign of Henry VI. The first lost his life in the battle -
of St. Albans, and the last, his son, at the battle of ‘Towton. Being
afterwards deserted by the Percys, the gardens were made into
bowling-alleys, and other parts into dicing houses ; but in Stowe’s
time they were forsaken, and converted into a number of small
cottages for strangers and others. .

At the end of Gunpowder-a'ley, Crutched Friars, are ten alms-
houses for poor men and their wives, being the gift of lord Banning,
who bequeathed, in 1625, 1220!. for buying land in the parish of
St. Olave, for an hospital or almshouse. They were afterwards
called the Oxford alms-houses, the earl marrying an heiress of the
Bannings. In Maitland’s time it appears they had but small
allowances. They were sold to sir William Rawlings, knt., in 1807,
but a decree in Chancery has been obtained to place them on a
regular footing.

At the north end of Cooper’s-row, on the west side, are

-Ma'lboum’a Alms Houses.

These alms-houses were founded in 1534 by sir John Milbourn,
draper and lord mayor in 1521. Over the gate is an ancient piece
of sculpture representing the assumption of the Virgin Mary, sup-
p-rted by six angels.

Assumption of the Virgin.
Atthe four corners are fuur shields of arms, two of which are the
Drapers’ and Haberdashers’ company. Beneath the sculpture was
the fol'owing inscription :—¢ Ad laudem Desi et gloriose Virginis
Marie, hoc opus erexit Domsinus Johannes Milbourn, miles
Alderman hujus civitatis, A. D 1535 In one part of the
building the annexed piece of sculpture is let into the
wall; it is a merchant's mark, and probably that of e |
sir John Milbourn, the founder; very few of those | i 3+ M
curivus monagrams exist at the present time in | { ‘a '
London, though there is littledouht, before the great =4
fire in 1666, they were very numerous.
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On the north side of Trinity-square stands

The Trinsty House.

The principal front of this edifice is faced with Portiand
stone, and consists of a centre and wings, made in elevation inte
8 basement and principal story; the former is rusticated, and con-
tains an arched door-way, between two windows of a correspon-
ding character. The principal story is of the lonic order, the centre
baving two attached columns, with windows in the intercolumni-
stions. ‘The centre, and two windows in the wings, are each divi-
ded into three lights, by two Ionic columns resting on a ballus-
trade. Above the central window are the arms of the corporation,
and over the lateral ones are medallions of king George 1II. and
queen Charlotte; the wings are ornamented with coupled pilasters,
between which are windows, having pannels over them, occupied
with alto-relievos of light-houses, and two naked boys supporting
an anchor, an entablature and cornice are applied as a finish to the
elevation, which is continued along the whole fagade, only broken by
the slight projection of the wings; the west end is in a plainer but
corresponding style of architecture ; the east end is of brick.

It was built under the direction of Mr. Samuel Wyatt; the first
stone was laid September 12th, 1793, and it was opened for busi-
mess two years afterwards.

The interior corresponds with the exterior in elegance and
chasteness of design.

Attached to the vestibule is an elegant staircase of a double flight,
ormamented with busts of admirals Vincent, Nelson, Howe, and
Duncan, and a long list of benefactors. The court-room, which
occupies the principal part of the first floor, is very elegant; the
ceiling is coved, and at the angles ornamented with allegoricat
designs representing the four principal rivers of England, viz.
Thames, Medway, Severn, and Humber. In the centre is a sphere
supported by cherubim. At the east end of the roomis a large
painting 20 feet long, by Gainsborough, representing the elder
brethren of the Trinity House. Above the fire-place is a large and
beautiful glass, and on each side full length portraits of George I11.
and his queen. On pedestals beneath the above paintings are busts
by Chantrey, of W Pitt, and captain J. Cotton, deputy master.
Over each door of entrance from the gallery are three quarter
length portraits of the duke of Bedford and lord Sandwich. Against
the west wall, on each side of the door leading to the master’s room,
are full length portraits of lord Howe and William Pitt ; and ahove

he door, a three-quarter length of Charles II. At the east end of
the room is & hust of his late majesty by Turnerelli.

In the ante-room are ortraits of sir W, James and captain
Fisher, and a bust by Chantrey of sir A. S. Hammond, treasurer of
the navy, also several plans and some models of life-boats, &c.

lo the board-room are several fine paintings of James I. and 1.’
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Elizabeth, Anne of Denmark, earl Craven, sir Francis Drake, ad-
miral sir J. Leake, and general Monk.

In the deputy-master’s room is a portrait of sir W. Digby, a
curious Chinese map, and several other drawings.

Adjoining is the model-room, containing various models of ligat
houses, floating-lights, life-boats, &c. all preserved within glass
cases.

In the waiting-room, on the ground-floor, is a noble moudel of the
Royal William, first rate man-of-war; it is in fine preservation,
though upwards of 150 years old. Here also is an elegant model
of a revolving-light.

The society of the Trinity House was first incorporated by a
royal charter of Henry VIII., dated the 20th of May, 1514, yet so
early as the reign of King Henry VII. an association existed,
consisting of shipmen and mariners, for the purpose of piloting
ships and vessels belonging to the crown, as well as all descriptions
of merchant ships; but what remuneration was received for that
service, and in what manner it wasdisposed of is not known. The
charter of Henry VIlI. granted to the shipmen and mariners of the
realm authority to erect and establish a guild or fraternity, as well
of men as of women, in the parish-church of Deptford Stroud, in
the county of Kent, under the name and title of ¢ the Master,
Wardens, and Assistants of the Guild or Fraternity of the most
glorious and undivided Trinity.” They were empowered to make
laws and statutes among themselves, for the relief, increase, and
augmentation of the shipping of England; tolevy fines or subsidies
on offenders—to acquire lands and tenements to a certain amount;
to maintain a chaplain, and to do and perform other acts of piety,
and to enjoy all the franchises and privileges shipmenand mariners
of this realm have used and enjoyed.

This charter was successively confirmed by Edward VI., queen
Mary, and queen Elizabeth. The act of Elizabeth, which was
passed in the eighth year of her reign, after confirming to the
sociely the general supervision of the buoys,beacons, and ballastage,
enacts, that the corporation of Trinity House may at their own
cost make, erect, and set up any beacons and signs for the sea, on
such places of the sea-shore, or uplands near the coast, or forelands
of the sea, only for sea marks, as to them shall seem meet. The
same act declares it penal to disturb those marks, and further
authorizes the master of the Trinity House to license mariners to
row on the Thames. By another act, in the 36th year of the same
reign, the queen granted to the corporation the lastage and ballast-
age of all vessels upon the river, which was then held by the Lord
Hizh Admiral, Lord Howard, who surrendered it for the purpose.

James I. also granted a new charter to the corporation of the
Trinity House, giving them more ample powers for their govern-
ment; and directing.the manner in which the society should in
future be constituted. The charter directed a master, four war-
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dens, and eight assistants, should be elected from the guild ; that
these thirteen persons should elect eighteen other persons out of the
whole company of seamen and mariners, making altogether thirty-one
persons, whence they have sometimes been called, “ the thirty-one
brethren.” The eighteen persons elected by the master, warden,
and assistants, were called Elder Brethren, and the rest of the
members are called Younger Brethren, and are unlimited in num-
ber, as every master or mate skilled in navigation is eligible. The
corporation still continues as it was constituted by James I.; and
slthough the society, in imitation of many other corporations,
surrendered their charter to Charles 11., yet his successor restored
itin1685; and it is under the charter of James |. thus restored,
g the corporation at present enjoys and exercises its several
ts,

Few chartered companies in the metropolis are of more impor-
tance to the commerce and naval power than the corporation of the
master and wardens of the Trinity House; to whom is intrusted,
in addition to the authority over the beacons and sea-marks, the
examination of the masters of the navy, the appointment of pilots
for the river ‘Thames, with power to fine, in the penalty of twenty
pounds, every person who shall act as pilot without their approba-
tion—the settling the rates of pilotage— the preventing of aliens
fromserving on board British ships without their license—the punish-
ment of seamen in the merchant-service for mutiny or desertion—
the hearing_and determining of all complaints of officers and seamen
in the merchant-service, subject to an appeal from the high court
of sdmiralty—the granting of licenses to poor seamen, who are
not freemen of the city, to row on the river Thames; and the
examination of the mathematical pupils in Christ’s Hospital ; and
they are charged with the clearing and deepening of the river
Thames, in which service upwards of sixty barges are employed ;
and the supplying all ships that require it with ballast. A

The revenues of the corporation, which received its first charter
through the benevolence of sir Thomas Spert, comptroller of the
navy to Henry VIIL., are dispensed in charity. Independent of
their alms-houses, upwards of three thousand decayed seamen, their
widows and orphans, are annually relieved by this society. ‘The
tlms-houses of the corporation, twenty-eight in number, were
founded in the year 1695, and are appropriated (o the residence of
decayed commanders of ships, mates, pilots, and their wives or widows,
whoare allowed a pension of 18l a year, and a chaldron of coals.
Among the benefactors to the corporation was captsin Saunders,
who bequeathed 100!. and the reversion of an estate worth 147/. a
year more, which fell in the year 1746.

There are also two hospitals at Deptford belonging to the corpo-
nation. The old hospital, originally built in the reign of Henry
Vill., and re-built in- 1788, adjoins the church-yard of St Nicholas,

voL. 1I. H
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and contains twenty-five apartments. The other hospital in Church-
street, was built about the time of the revolution, and consists of
fifty-six apartments, with a chapel and hall. Bouth hospitals are
occupied by decayed masters or pilots of ships, their wives or
widows; each single person being allowed 18/, per annum, and
the married couple 287.*

The ancient hounds of this ward may be taken from the extent
of the soke of the priory of Christ church; and what that was,
may be known from what was written by one of that convent, and
preserved in an old book, called Danthorne; where we read,
aciendum sgitur quanta st soka, cujus fines lales sunt. A
Porta de Aldgate, &c. s.e. < We must know therefore, how
great the soke is, which hath such bounds: from the gate of
Aldgute, as far as the gate of the bailey of the Tower, called
Cungate, and all Cheken-lane, towards Barking church, as far as
the church-yard, except one house nearer than the church-yard ;
and the journey is returned the same way, as far as the church
of St.Olave’s; and then we come back by the street which goes
by Coleman church ; and then it goes forth towards Fenchurch,
and so there on this side our houses is a lane, through which we
went unto the house of Theobald Fitz Ivo, Alderman; which
lasne now is stopped, because it had been suspected for thieves in
the night: therefore, because a way was not open there, wa
come back again by a lane towards the church of St. Michael,
and as far a8 Lime-street, to the house of Richard Cavel. This
therefore is our inward soke, and these are the bounds of it. This
the queen-mother gave to us, with the gate of Aldgate. From
Lime-street we go through the street by the church of St. An-
drew’s, as far as the chapel of St. Augustine upon the wall: then
as far as the gate of the church-yard. This is the circuit of our
inner soke.’ -

CHAPTER V.
History and Topography of Bassishaw Ward.

This is a very small ward ; its name is a corruption from Basings
Haugh, or hall, formerly the principal house in Basingshall-
street ; it is wholly comprised in the two precincts of Basinghall-
street, is gaverned by an alderman, and returns four members
to the court of common couacil. Its boundaries on the east and
south, are Coleman-street ward, on the west, Cripplegate and
Cheap wards, and on the north, Cripplegate ward.

arcy Histories, 1ii p. 98.
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8¢. Michael, Bassishaw Church.

There is only one church in this ward, which is situated on the
wesl side, and nearly in the centre of Basinghall-street.

This church received its name from being dedicated to St. Mi-
chael, the Archangel, and from its situation. It is a rectory and
was originally founded about the year 1140 ; at which time it
was in the gift of the prior and canons of St. Bartholomew
Smithfield. The register of London gives no name of a rector,
before Ralph de Waltham, who died in 1327, when the presen-
tation belonged to Henry Bodyke, citizen; but about a century
after, it fell to the dean and chapter of St. Paul’s, who from that
time, have continued patrons thereof.

The old church, which was very beautiful, was entirely de-
stroyed by the fire of London; and the present structure was
etected on its site. '

This church is completely insulated ; the planisan oblong square,
made into a body and aisles, with a tower and attached vestry at
the west end. A great portion of the west front is occupied by the
tower, which iain three square stories; the first contains an arched
window in the west front, the second has, ih the three faces which
are clear of the church, a circular as well as an arched window;
the third story which rises above the roof has an arched window in
every face; it is finished with a parapet, and at the angles ave
pine-apples; above the platform are twa other stories of an octan-
gular form, covered with lead; the lower is plin, and is pierced
with four circular apertures, the upper is adorned at the angles
with buttiesses, and is pierced wijth four arched apertures; the
whole is crowned with a low and ill-made spire, still keeping the
same form, and finished with a vane. The unoccupied part
of the west front of the church has twa circular windows. The
north and south fronts are uniform; near the west end of each s
an arched entrance inclosed in a rusticated frontispiece, and each
bhas three large windows ot an oblong square form, slightly
arched a the top; the elevation finished with a plain parapet.
The east front has a large arched window in the centre, between
two circular ones, and is finished with a parapet and a gable of
sn elliptical form, above the centre window. This church has no
western entrance. The walls, including the tower, are built of
brick, with rusticated angles. The whole of the briek-work, in the
last repair in 1821, was covered with a casing of stuceo, pointed, to
imitate stone. The architecture of the interior is very elegant. The
body and aisles are separated by three columns, and two attached
semicolumns of the Corinthian order, sustaining a splendid entabla
tore. The columns stand on pedestals of equal height with the
pews. The entablature is composed of an architrave of three faces,
a swelling frieze which represents a continued wreath of acanthus-
leaves in bold relief, and a modilion cornice, the soffit of which

H 2
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is carved with coffers and roses, and the cymatium 1s enriched with
acanthus-leaves, displaying, upon the whole, one of the finest
specimens of sir Christopher Wren's architecture. The cornice
serves as an impost for an elliptical coved ceiling, extending
the whole length of the body of the church. The surface is divided
by arched and parallel ribs, crossing each other at right angles
into pannels which are splendidly enriched. ‘That which is above
the altar has cherubim at its angles. The ceiling is pierced
with small windows above the intercolumniations: upon the
headway of each is a cherub. The ceiling of the aisles is hori-
zontal. The east window is filled up to the springing of the arch,
and the vacant part occupied by a framed pannel, painted in imi-
tation of marble. Against the west end of the church, and partly
concealed by the organ, is a fine relief in composition, having the
royal arms in the centre, between two shields of the city arms, and
two seated boys. The altar screen is more modern than the mamn
building, and is painted in imitation of marble, the walls and
frieze being veined, the shafts of the columns Sienna, with panne!s
of other marbles; it consists of four attached Ionic columns, sus-
taining an entablature and pedimental cornice over the central
division. ‘The frieze is enriched with cherubs, in reliefand festoons.
In the centre division are the commandments, and above, in an
irradiation, the words GLoriA DEro. The organ-gallery is more
modern than the church ; it is sustained on lonic columns, and
the front consists of an entablature and attic ; in it is a small organ
in a mahogany case, enriched with antee. Beneath this gallery are
three porches covering the door-ways, which are ornamented with
Corinthian pilasters - The pulpit and reading-desk are attached to
pillars on opposite sides of the body of the church ; they are formed
of mahogany, and are more modern than the building.

This church was began in 1876, and finished in 1679, from the
design of sir Christopher Wren, and the expence was no more than
2,8221l. 174. 1d. This however did not include the steeple, which
was added afterwards, the lower purt being a remnant of the old
church : the dimensions are, length 70, breadth 50, height 42 feet, and
the tower is 75 feet high. The building has settled very considera-
bly since its erection, which has occasioned the additional support
of three iron ties, which cross the whole nave of the church, and iz
consequence of the settlement the columns do not appear to be
well set upon their bases.

There are no monuments in this church worthy particular notice.
In the old church there were several, especially one to the memory
of sir Thomas Gresham, knt., alderman and lord mayor, who died
October 28, 1566 ; and another to the memory of sir James Yerford,
knt., mercer, and sometime mayor, who died June 28, 1527.*

® Maitland’s History of London, i. p. 1147.
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Guildhall Chapel.

This ancient chapel, which formerly adjoined the south front of
Guildhall, was dedicated to St. Mary Magdalen and All Saints.

Stow * and Speed 1 say, this chapel was founded as early as the
year 1299, by three piouscitizens, Peter Fanlore],Adam Frauncis,
and Henry Frowicke. But Newcourt§ considers both these au-
thorities are mistaken, and post-dates the foundation 69 years. The
charter of the founders bore the date on the morrow of the An-
nunciation of the Blessed Virgin, 1368, (42 Edw. I11.) It was under
the seals of Francis and de Frowicke, the other co-founder ha-
ving been dead some time, and was confirmed on the day of the
execution by Simon Sudbury, bishop of London. :

The chapel, which was collegiate, had been previously conse-
cerated by bishop Michael Northburgh, Sudbury’s predecessor, tothe
honour of God and the blessed Virgin, Mary Magdalen, and All
Saim's. It was founded for five chaplains, one of whom was to be
custos, who were to celebrate the divine offices for the health of
the founders and their kindred, the royal family, the bishop, and
the mayor and sheriffs, while living, and for their souls when
dead|. It was originally endowed with a house in the parish of St.
Vedast, and another in St. Giles’, Cripplegate. And in the 20th
Richard II. by Stephen Spilman, mercer, with one messuage, three
shops and a gnarden, in the parish of St. Andrew Hubbard1. The
mayor and chamberlain were appointed by the founders super-
visors of their college after their decease. The custos was to
receive thirteen, and the four priests each twelve marks out of

® Sarvrey. Strype’s edit. 1754,i, 560. § Repertorium, i, 361.
¢ Chron. 8. 12. || Newcourt, Repert.
3 Speed has Peter Stamberry 9 Stow.
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the revenues, and the overplus was to be expended in the repairs « (
the college The mayor was to retain forty pence, and the cham-
berlain half a mark for their trouble®.

King Henry VL in the eighth year of his reign (1430) gave
licence to John Barnard, custos, and the chaplains, to rebuild and
enlarge the chapel, by adding to it the side of the houseof the cus
tos, and in the twenty seventh-year of his reign, the parish clerks
of London founded a guild of it for two chaplains, and to keep se«
ven alms people. Henry Barton, skinner, mayor 1428, founded a
chaplain there; as also did Roger Depham, mercer, and air Wil-
liam Langford, knt.¥. The mayor and chamberlain were the
patrons, and the bishop of London, ordinary. In October, 1542,
bishop Bonner ordained statutes for the government of the
college.

At the dissolution, this college had & custos, seven chaplains,
three clerks, and four choristers. The revenues were valued
at 121. 18s. 9d. annum, and were at that period, in the gene-
ral plunder of the church, surrendered to the crown. In the sue-
ceeding reign the corporation purchased the chapel, and divers
messuages, lands, &c. valued at 40/. 6s. 8d. annually, for the sum
of 4561, 13s. 4d. The date of the patent was 10th April, 4th £d-
ward V1. 1560.

For many years service was regularly performed in it once a
week, and also at the election of the mayor, and before the mayor's
feast, ‘“ to deprecate.’”’ says Mr. Pennant, ¢ indigestion and all
plethoric evils.” The lord mayor and aldermen at that time had
seats appropriated to them, and the walls were covered with ta-
pestry§. 1o Mr. Pennant’s time the service was discontinued, and
the chapel used as a justice room. JIts‘last change was into
a court of requests, which continued until its destruction in 1820.
In the year 1815 an act of parliament was obtained to enable the
corporation to build courts of justice on the site of this chapel
and the adjacent buildings.

The monuments, in Stow’s time, were the following, but all de-
faced: John Wells, grocer, mayor, 1431, south side chancel. His
effigy was on the tomb, vestry-doer, and in other places, and in the
windows, * all which’ says Stow, ‘¢ do shew that the east end and
the south side of the choir and vestry were by him both built and
glazed.”

Thomas Knesworth, fishmonger, mayor, 1505, died 1515. Two
others, one of a draper, the other a haberdasher, names unknown.

John Clipstow, priest, custos of the library, 1457.

Edmund Allison, priest, custos of the library, 1510.

Sir John Langley, goldsmith, mayor, 1576,

And of later times,

® Newcourt, $63. + Stow. $ Ibid. § Maitland, ii 888
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*William Avery, comptroller, 1871.

*William Flaellin, aiderman, 1675.

*William Lightfoot, attorney of the Jord mayor’s court and re-
g'ster of the Charter-house, 1699.

*Catherine, his wife, 1673.

Of the above, those only remained when Mr. Maitland wrote his
History, (1772) which are marked with an asterisk. In addition,
be adils that of William Man, esq. swordbearer, 1659, died 1705,

The architecture was of the pointed style, of that period when
this chapel was rebuilt, temp. Henry Vith. The plan gave a nave,
and side aisles, and west entrance, but no tower. The west front
was in two stories. First story, a series of oblong upright pan-
pels, with arched heads, having five turns, separated by buttresses,
siding a doorway of one pointed arch; srchitrave enriched with
mouldings, springing from two columns on each side. Capitals
formed of oak leaves, interspersed with animals; square architrave,
upon a similar column, and sweeping cornice. In the spandrils, in-
sribed in quarterfoils, were angels holding shields of arms; a beau-
tifuland elegant design. A tplerablecopy of this door-way was placed
in the great hall in the last repair of that fabric. South aisle, mo-
derndoor-way : North, the like, a thoroughfare through theaisle,angle
built against by thereturnend of the front of thehall. Second story,
large west window of seven lights. Heads of the mullionscontain two
series of perpendicular divisions, with arched intersecting heads, pan-
nelling as in the lower story, continned to the springing of thearch of
the window. Parapet, modern brick work, finished with stone coping.
In the lower divisions of this story were statues of Edward VI,
Charles 1. and his queen, Henrietta, in niches of the Corinthian
order; one fixed on the mullions of the window, the pedestals to
the side niches enriched with various mouldings, and supported by
carved figures of angels, were evidently co-eval with the edifice.
They were each placed at the foot of a large pannel, and formerly
supported effigies of saints. North side, nearly in its original state.
Walls very perfect. Aisle, four divisions were visible, the first cut
away to make the aforesaid thoroughfare. Second, third, and fourth,
contained windows of thred lights, mullions with pointed heads ta-
king five turns; pointed arches with sweeping cornices. Buttresses
destroyed. Clerestory, four divisions, containing pointed windows
of three lights, copies of the side windows in the hall, all perfect.
The other divisions, hid by a dwelling house. East end chiefly re-
built with brick. Great window nearly a fac-simile of the western;
parapet and coping as before. South side aisle, built against
by Blackwell-hall; clerestory, rebuilt with brick-windows in design
and number as the opposite side. The eastern division had no
window.

The editor of Stow’s Survey, Mr. Strype, led his successors into
t strange mistake, in the appropriation of one of the statues on the
west front. He calls that of the beautiful Henrietta Maria,
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queen Elizabeth. It is singular so many authors should heve
copied after him without correcting this mistake, which a moment’s
glance at the effigy was sufficient to have done. One or more of
these effigies may now be seen in & mason’s shop, in Eastcheap.
It is much to be regretted, that the whule were not placed in the
vacant niches at the east end of St. Lawrence’s church,

The registers belonging to the chapel were removed, on its
destruction, to St Lawrence’s church.

On digging near the north-west anzle of the chapel, just without
the walls, during the time it was being pulled down, the men came
to a sepulchre, between 12 and 18 inches below the surface of the
floor in which was a

Stone Coffin.

It was covered with its lid, but contained no bones. The coffin
was of the usual form,* being hollowed out to accommodate the head
and shoulders of the deceased. In the bottom, near the foot, was u
hole. The lid was ornamented with a cross botone, in relief, between
two candlesticks or trumpets engraved on the stone, Round the
edge of the stone was this inscription

GODEFREY L8 TROUMPOVR GIST. Cl. DBV. DEL. BALME.
BIT MBRCL.

Godfrey le Troumpour lies here, God, on his soul have mercy.

Each of the sides of the sepulchre in which the coffin was found
were decorated with a red cross, inscribed within a circle.t

Adjoining to the chapel, on the southside, was ¢ sometime a fayre
and large librarie, (furnished with bookes pertaining to the Guild-
halland college), which was builded by the executurs of sir R.
Whittington, and by William Burie, but isnow lofted and made a
sture-house for clothes.—The bookes, as it is said, were in the

® Exactly like the one described and representedin this volume, p 53
4 Gent.’s Mag. vol. 98. part 8, p. 8.
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reigne of Edward the sixth sent for by Edward, duke of Sommer-
set, lord protector, with promise to be restored shortly : men laded
from n::enee three carriers with them, but [they were] never
returned.’*

Blackwell Hall.

On the south side of Guildhall chapel was an edifice of much note,
both from the antiquity of its foundation, and from the use to which
it bas been appropriated for centuries. Stow, who attributes its
erection to the age posterior to the conquest, says that it was
‘builded upon vaults of Caen stone,’” and that of ¢olde time’ it
belonged to the family of the Basings, ¢ which was in this realm a
name of great antiquity and renowne;’t+ and several of whom were
sheriffs of London from the time of king John to the reign of Edward
the Second. From this family it was called ¢ Basinges Haugh,’ or
‘Hall,’ and it gave name to the surrounding ward, now corruptly
called Bassishaw ward. The arms of the Basings, ‘a gerond of
twelve pointes, golde and azure,” were ¢ abundantlie placed insundry
partes of that house, even in the stone-worke, but more especially
1o the walles of the hall, which carried a continuall painting of them,
on every side so0 close together as one escutcheon could be placed
by another.”] In the 36th of Edward III. Basing’s hall was the
dwelling of Thomas Bakewell ; and in the 20th year of Richard 1I.
it was purchased by the city under the appellation of Bakewell-
ball, (together with two gardens, one messuage, two shops, and
other appurtenances in the adjoining parishes of St. Michael and
St. Lawrence), for the sum of 50l. Immediately afterwards, the
buildings were converted into a store-house and market-place for
the weekly sale of every kind of woollen cloth, broad and narrow,
that should be brought into London; and it was ordered that no
woollen cloth should be sold elsewhere, under pain of forfeiture,
unless it had been first lodged, harboured, and discharged, at the
common market in this hall. That ordinance was confirmed by an
act of common council made in the eighth year of Henry VIII.;
snd heavy penalties were at the same time ordered to be levied upon
every citizen who should suffer any person whatsoever ¢ to buy or
sell any manner of woollen cloths, harboured or lodged, contrary to
the said ord:aance, within his shop, chamber, or other place within
his house, unless the said cloths were first brought to Blackwell-hall,
sod there bought and sold.” The penalties were double for a second
offence, and the third offence was punished by disfranchise-
ment.

After the establishment of Christ’s hospital by Edward the
sixth, the monies derived from the pitching and housing of cloth

® Sur. of London, p. 219, edit. + lbid, p. 297
1504, t lbid.
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in this hall were applied towards the support of that charity, and
the sole management of the warehouses were vested in its gover-
nors. These warehouses obtained the names of the Devonshire,
the Gloucestershire, the Worcestershire, the Kentish, the Medley,
the Spanish, and the Blaanket-halls, from the different kinds of
cloth, to the reception of which they were respectively appropri-
ated ; but from the alterations which have taken placein the mode
of conducting the woollen trade during the two last centuries,
they were but little used.

The ancient mansion of the Basings having become ruinous,
was pulled down about the year 1587, and a new hall was erected
upon its site within a twelvemonth afterwards, at an expense of
2,500!. towards which 300l. was contributed by Richard May,
merchant-taylor. That edifice was mostly destroyed by the
great fire of 1666. After that calamity it was rebuilt about the
year 1672; it was an extensive pile, inclosing two quadrangular
courts, and having three spacions entrances by arched gateways,
from Guildhall-yard, Basinghall-street, and Cateaton-street.
The archways and lower parts of the wall next Basinghall-street
were of stone, and doubtless formed part of the more ancient
building. The principal entrance, in Guildhall-yard, was orna-
mented by two columas of the Doric order, sustaining an entabla-
ture and open pediment: in the latter were sculptures of the
royal arms, and under the arch below the arms of the city. Some
apartments on the south side were fitted up for the use of the
commissioners of the land tax; but the whole building in 1820
and 1821, along with the chapel, being in a state of considerable

“dilapidation, was taken down. The courts of King's Bench and
Common Pleas, and various buildings, were erected on the sites.
The flooring of the chapel was not disturbed, but was merely
built over by the court of King’s Bench, which is the cou.t nearest
to the part of the hall on the building now to be described.  This
court, . with the Common Pleas, is comprised in the large unsightly
structure, situate on the east side of Guildhall yard. The principal
front shews a centre and lateral division, made in height into two
stories. Upon the ground floor is a lintelled entrance Aanked by
ant®, between two ill proportioned niches in the centre division;
the second story has three windows, two of which are blank, the
centre alone being glazed. The elevation is finished with a cornice
and pediment ; the lateral divisions have arched entrances in the
" lower stories, and windows in the upper ; the elevation finishes with
a cornice, and blocking course; the south front has five arched win-
dows :n the lower story, and four others corresponding with the
western front; in the upper the elevation is finished with a cornice
and blocking course. The back front which abuts, on a small court,
between this building and the Court of Commissioners, is built of
brick, in the plainest dwelling-house style; the northern corner abuts
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sgainst houses. 'The principal entrance leads mto a hall or
vestibule, poasessing no great pretensions to architectaral character;
the ceiling is pannelled, and in its walls are constructed various
enirances for counsel, attorneys, and spectators, to the different
parts of the courts.
The northera court belungs to the King’sBench ; it is a large ob-
long square room, mueh too lofty for its area; the wallsare desti-
wte of ornament ; the ceiling is pannelled, the greater portion
occupied by a large lanthorn, which has also a pannelled roof. The
greater portion of the court is occupied by a gallery, calculated to
cntain several hundred spectators. ‘The judyge sits opposite the
gallery, under a heavy ocak canopy, surmounted by the royal arms,
and in front of him are the seats for the counsel; but the court is so
very high, and so ill constructed for the purposes of hearing, that
the gallery intended for the accommodation of the public is entirely
wseless; indeed the persons seated in the court hear with difficulty
what passes.

The Court of Common Pleas on the south side of the vestibnle,
is a copy of that just described ; in consequence of the serious in-
convenience occasioned by the privation of hearing, a temporary
waggon-headed canopy has been erected above the jundge and the
counsel’s seats, covered as well as the walls below it with red cloth,
by which means the different speakers may be heard more distinctly
than before. With a view of aiding the hearing several of the
portraits of the judges, which were formerly in the great hall, have
been affixed to the walls of the courts; viz:—In the King’s Bench,
the portraits of sir T. Fryden, knt.; sir J. Kelyng, knt , sir M.
Hale, knt., sir E. Thurtand, knt., sir W. Ellis, knt., sir R. Atkyn,
knt, sirJ. Vaughan, knt., sir F. North, knt., sir J. Archer, knt.,
sir T. Littleton, knt.; those in the Common Pleasare sirE. ‘L'urner,
kat., sir 8. Brown, knt., sir T. Tyrrel, knt., sir H. Wyndham, knt.,
sir W. Morton, kat., sir W. Windham, knt., sir E. Atkyns, knt.,
sir C. Turnor, knt. The evil is evidently in the great surface of
naked wall, and the undue height of the roof, and it is not likely to
be remedied until a new construction of the courts takes place. The
architect of this building was Mr. Montague, the city surveyor. On
the south side of this building a street is formed, leading from
Gaildhall unto Basinghall-street.

On the right of this street, opposite the courts, is a pile of brick
buildings, devoted to various purposes. The first from Basing-
ball-street is the Coutt of Requests; it has no pretensions to orna-
ment, and therefore may be passed over. The next is a larze
bouse, containing the offices attached to the management of the
Bridge-house Estate. The last, which has a frontin Guildhall-yard,
is styled the frish Chamber,* The whole groupe of buildings

which arose on the demolition of the ancient structures, are

* This building isin the ward of Cheap.



108 HISTORY OF LONDON.

perhaps the meanest assemblage of public buildings in the me-
tropolis: the courts of law, it is hoped, will before lung give way
to another structure better adapted to the purposes for which they
wereerected. When that periodarrives, it is to be hoped that a better
taste will give a more correct fagade to the principal front than the
deformity now occupying that situation, which so far from forming
an appropriate elevation for a building destined for the first courts
in England, is scarcely handsomer than a parish workhouse.

The Court of Commissioners of Bankrupts.

This building occupies the site of the principal part of the
eastern front of Blackwell hall ; it is a large substantial building
of brick, but without much pretensions to architectural effect. It is
built upon a granite plinth, in which are low windows lighting the
rooms on the basement. The superstructure is stuccoed in imitaticn
of rustic, to the height of the first story. The front in Basinghall-
street shows a centre and lateral divisions. In the former are four
arched windows and an entrance; and in the latter two other arched
windows of larger dimensions, partitioned by uprights into three
divisions in the first story. The second story has a series of
arches in relief; the intervals being formed into windows in the
centre, and Venetian windows in the lateral divisions. Above them
are a series of small windows lighting the domestic apartments.
The south front has three windows on the ground floor of the same
character as those in the lateral divisions of the front described.
The upper story has a series of three Venetian windows, alternating
with blank arches in relief, and smaller windows above, as in the
other front. The western elevation of the building, which is sepa-
rated by a small court from the law courts, is a counterpart of the
front in Basinghall-street just described. The north front is built
against by the houses in the street. In the centre of the building isan
oblong_square court ; the east and west sides consisting of a piazza

. of four semicircular arches, sustained upon square pillars of granite;
above which is a gallery to correspond. The north and south sides
have each three arches sustained on pilasters, to correspond with the
piazza and gallery; but the arches are filled in with windows. A
continued architrave and cornice surrounds the building above the
crown of the gallery story ; over which is an attic with windows as
before. The ground floor is occupied by various courts for the
accommodation of the commissioners, except the northern wing,
which is wholly occupied by a hall and staircase to the first story.
On the first landing of the latter is an arch in blank; in the head
is the royal arms,above which is inscribed ¢ cHAS. FOWLER, ARCHT.
and a long pannel below has the following inscription :—

COVRT OF CONNISSIONERS OF BANKRVPT ERECTED PVRSVANT

TO ACT OF PARLIAMENT, A.D. NDCCCXXI, Il. REGNI Q. IV, R.
J0S. GRIFFPITHS,

BUILDER
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The upper part of the walls is ornamented with a series of arches
m relief, corresponding with the portionsalready described, and
the roof is flat and pannelled. The first floor is portioned into other
coorts and rooms for private meetings; the second floor is occu-
pied for domestic purposes. The courts are neatly fitted up ; at
one end is an enclesure containing a platform, on which the com-
missioners are seated, with an elliptical table’before them, at which
the solicitors to the various commissions sit, to conduct matters in
which they are concerned. To those who recollect the crowded and
inconvenient places, in which the commissioners formerly sat, and
the indecorous intermixture of spectators, solicitors, and com-
missioners, the latter only distinguished from the surrounding crowd
by their heads being covered, the present arrangement will be ac-
knowledged to be one of the greatest improvements in the metropolis

The unly buildings in this ward, exclusive of those just men-
tioned, are the following :—

Coopers’ Hall,

This is a handsome brick edifice, standing on the west side of
Basinghall-street ; the hall was used for some years for the drawing
of the state lottery tickets; the last drawing in this place wasin
October, 1826. In the windows of the bhall were formerly several
coatsof arms in stained glass ; the only shields remaining are those of
the city and the company in the east windows. In the hall also
were ‘ two tolerable portraits; the one of sir John Fleet, who was
lord mayor in 1693, and the other of Henry Stroud, esq., who be-
queathed to them 6,000!. for the building and endowment of a free-
school and slms-houses, at Egham, in Surrey.’”* Neither of these
portraits are in the poasession of the company at the present time.
In the court-room, which is a handsome apartment, are several good
peintings ; among them is a three-quarter length of lady Alicia
Knyvett, wife of H. Gybson, grocer of Ratcliffe, and afterwards of
sir A. Knyvett, knt., and a half-length of the Rev. Smith,
chaplain to the company.

Weavers’ Hall.

This is a plain edifice on the east side of the same street. The
oall is small, with a music-gallery, and against the walls are full-
length paintings of Charles II., James I1., William 1I1., and Mary,
bis consort. In the court-room, over the fire-place, is a fine half-
length painting of queen Elizabeth, which has been recently

® Biayley’s Hist. of London.
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Girdlers’ Hall.

This 1s a handeome building of brick, erected in 1681. The bhall
18 wainscotted with a handsome screen of the composite order and
foliage, fret-work, &c. executed in a superior manner.

Masons’ Hall.

Is in Masans’ alley; it 1s a small building, at present uatenantea,
but has been for muny years let to warehousemen, and other me
chanical uses.

The dais in Guildhall and some of the courts behind are in the
ward of Bassishaw, but the front and principal part of the great
hall are in Cheap ward.

CHAPTER VI.

History and Topography of Billingsgate Ward.

This ward derives its appellation from the haven called Belings-
gate. It is bounded on the south by the river Thames, on the
east by Tower-street ward, on the north by Langbourn ward, and
on the west by the ward of Bridge within. It is divided into the
precincts of Billingsgate, St. Mary-at-hill, Smart’s Quay, Love-
lane, the three precincts of St. Botolph’s, Billingsgate ; the two
precincts of St. Andrew Hubbard, and those of St. George,
Botolph-lane ; Pudding-lane, and Rood-lane; in all, twelve. It
is under the government of an alderman and ten common-council-
men. Before the great fire there were five churches in this ward,
viz. 8t George, Botolph-lane ; St. Margaret Pattens, Rood-lane :
St. Mary-at-hill ; St. Andrew Hubbard, Little Eastcheap ; and
St. Botolph, Billingsgate; these are reduced to three—St.
George, St. Margaret, and St. Mary. -

St. George, Botolph Lanc.

On the westsidc of Botolph-lane stands the church of St. George.
It isan ancient rectory, Robert de Haliwell being rector in 1321 ;
and was originally i the gift of the abbot and convent of St.
Saviour’s, Bermondsey, at whose dissolution it came to the crown.

The old church was destroyed by the fire in 1666, soon after
which the present edifice was erected.

It is a small, but very neat church, built by sir Christopher
Wren ; it stands on the east side of Botolph-lane. The north and
east fronts are visible, the southk side abuts on a small burying-
ground, and the east end is built against.

The plan is an oblong square, witha tower at the north-west
angle, comprised within the body of the church. The whole of the
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ashlaring is of Portland stone, the various angles rusticated, upon
the wnole showing a substantial building, with little but judicious
ornament.

The north front of the tower is in three stories; the lower con-
tains a door-way, and over it isan arched window, the third story
basa lintelled window in each face, the whole is finished with a
parapet, and on each angle isa vase. ‘The remainder of the north
side of the church bas three windows, with low arched heads,
bounded with architraves.

The east front shews a centre and wings, the former has a largc
arched window, and is finished with a cornice and pediment; the
wings have also windows similar to those in the north side, and are’
Goished with portions of a pediment, which appears to be broken
by the centre. The interior is approached by a vestibule, through
the lower story of the tower; containing a neat poligonal font,
with arched cover, and an entrance to the burying-ground. On
each side of the body of the church are two columns, with com-
posed capitals ; the intercolumniations being unequal, they sustain
upon their cornice, the semicircular coved ceiling of the centre
divisiun, which is made into compartments by enriched ribs. The
ceilings of the aisles are hurizontal. The altar is tastefully orna-
mented. The screen has two Corinthian columns, sustaining a broken
pediment, enclosing the king’s arms. On the jambs of the great
vindow are painted whole lengths of Moses and Aaron. On the
key stone is carved a cherubim. At the western end is a gallery,
containing the organ. The church was finished in 1674, at the
cost of 4,509!. 4s.10d.

On the south side of the chancel, is a large pew, s a high piece of iron
scroll work, embellished with the Beckford arms, the city regalia.
and arms, and the arms of England, inscribed, Sacred to the me-
mory of that real patriot the right honourable William Beckford,
twice lord mayor of London, whose incessant spirited efforts to
serve his country hastened his dissolution, on the 21st of June 1770,
in the time of his mayoralty, and 62nd year of his age. There are
several tablets in thischurch, but their inscriptions are entirely des-
titute of interest. ’

8t Margaret Pattens.

At the south-east angle of Rood-lane, stands this church, it
received its name from its dedication to St. Margaret, virgin, and
martyr, and its situation, which at the time of its foundation was &
lane, occupied only by makers and dealers in pattens. .

This lane was, however, afterwards called Rood-lane, on account
of 8 rood, or cioss, set up in the church yard of St. Margaret.
When this church was pullerr down to be re-built, this cross ur rood
was blessed in a particular manner, and privil'egcd by the poye
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with many indulgences, for the pardon of the sins of those who came
to pray before it, and to make their offerings towards the re-building
of St. Margaret’s church. But the church being finished in 1538,
soon after the reformation, some people unknown assembled with-
out noise, in the night of the 22nd of May, in that year, who broke
the rgd to pieees, and demolished the tabernacle in which it was
erected. .

The original foundation of this church was in, or before the year
1824; for the. first rector upon record is Hamo de Chyrch, pre-
sented by lady Margaret de l‘?:vil, on the 14th of June, in that year.
And the patronage thereof remained in the family of the Nevils till
the year 1392, when it probably came to Robert Rikeden, of Essex,
and Margaret his wife; who, in 1402, conveyed it (with the advow-
son of St. Peter’s, Cornhill, and the manor of Leadenhall,) to Richard
‘Whittington, who, in 1411, confirmed the whole to’ the mayor
and commonalty of London; in whom the right of presentation
has ever since remained.

Thepresent building like the majority of churches in the metrupolis,
is partly concealed by houses, the west and southern fronts being the
only parts that are nothid ; the former ranges with the houses on the
east side of Rood-lane, the latter is separated from Tower-street by
a paved court.

The tower and spire, which rise to the height of 198 feet, are
situated at the north-west angle of the building; they are not re-
markable for ornaments, being almost plain, but the proportions are
excellent ; the design borrowed from the pointed style, closely re
sembles the steeples of our ancient churches. The tower is in four
stories, the lower contains an arched and a circular window, and
the succeeding two circular windows, in the western front, the
fourth story has a lintelled window filled with weather boardin -
in each face; the whole is finished with a ballustraded parapet

and at the angles are pinnacles. The spire is octangular and co- -

vered with lead ; it has openings at intervals, and finishes with a
vane.

In that portion of the western front, not yet described, is an en-
trance. Above it a large arched window, over which is a festoon:
and on each side is a smaller window of the same form, surmounted
by a circular one, the elevation finishes with a cornice and pedi-
ment, having a circular opening in the tympanum; the south front,
or at least that part which is visible, has an entrance, with & circular
window above it; and another window lofty and arched at the
head, also surmounted by a circular one; the elevation finishes
with a cornice and parapet. The whole is substantially and
Elainly built, the ashlaring of Portland stone. The interior is very

andsome, it consists of a body, with an aisle at the north side,
which some, what interferes with the uniformity of the design ; it
is entered through a vestibule in which is the font, a handsome
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poligonal basin of white marble, beautifully sculptured with che-
rub’s head and foliage, and supported by a pillar of the same ma-
terial.

The aisle is separated from the rest of the church by three
Corinthian columns, which sustain an architrave. The ceiling is
arched at the sides and horizontal in the centre; it springs from
the columns on one side, and pilasters attached to the walls at the
other parts of the building ; it is pierced laterally with circular
windows in the arches. The east end has three divisions; the
central is recessed and contains the altar-piece, adorned with
carvings by Gibbons, to whom is also to be attributed the exe-
cation of the elegant font. In the centre of the screen is a
small painting of the ‘Agony in the garden.’ The recess is arched
at the top and flanked by pilasters. In the other divisions are
windows of a corresponding character to those of the west front.
At the west end is a gallery containing the organ, and another

Hery is built above the north aisle. This design is from the
End of sir Christopher Wren, and gives no mean idea of his
talents. The church was completed in 1687 at au expence of
4,986l. 10s. 4d.

In this church are several handsome monuments, but there is nothing
particularly curious in the inscriptions; one of the handsomest is
wm the north aisle; itisby Rysback, of a square form, with a pediment,
on the apex of which is an urn, and on each side a naked boy ; one
bolding an inverted torch, the other a serpent in a circle, the emblem

of eternity. It is to the memory of sir P. Delme, lord mayor, 1723,
died September 4th, 1728, aged 61.

8t. Mary at Hill.

Unthe west aide of St. Mary at Hill, is the church from whence
it derives its name. The date of the foundation is equally
uncertain With that of most of the churches in this city : the first
circumsiances met with concerning it, are that here De Wrytel
founded a charity in the church of St. Mary at Hill, in the year
1330, and that Richard de Hackney, presented Nigullus Dalleye to
this living, in the year 1337. Stow, on the authority of Fabian,
who was living at the time, relates a singular occurrence, at the
rebuilding of this church in 1497. He says, ¢in the year 1497,
in the month of April, as labourers digged for the foundation of a -
wall, within the church of St. Marie-hill, neere unto Belingsgate,
they found a coffin of rotten timber, and therein the corps of a wo-
man, whole of skinne, and of bones, undisevered, and the joynts o1
her arms plyable, without breaking the skynne, upon whose sepul-
chre this was engraved : Here lieth the bodies of Richard Hackney,
fishmonger, and Alice his wife : the which Richard was sheriffe,
in the 15 of Edward 11. 1323. His bodie was kept above grounde
three or four dayes without noysances, but then it waxed unsavorie,
and 50 was againe buried !’

voL. 111. 1



114 HISTORY OF LONDON.

This church is a rectory, the advowson of which appears to have
been always in lay hands ; and in 1638 was purchased by the pa-
rishioners, in whom it has ever since remained : but since the parish
of St. Andrew Hubbard has been united to it, the duke of Northum-
berland, who is patron of that parish, presents alternately with the
parishioners of St. Mary at Hill.

This church anciently appears to have had a cross aisle, and two
aisles to the body: the north aisle was begun 1487; finished 1489;
the south aisle about 1501, on the site of the abbot of Waltham’s
kitchen. In this church were seven altars. The high altar of St.
Mary’s, or Our Lady’s, St Thomas’s on the south side of the church,
St. Edmund’s, St. Katherine’s, St. John the Baptist’s, St. Stephen’s,
in his chapel on the north side of the church, the south sltar be-
tween the images of St. Thomas the Martyr and St. Nicholas.
This, if not the same with St. Thomas’s above meutioned, might be
dedicated to Becket and St. Nicholas jointly. The chapels of St.
Chris'opher and St. Ann had their altars.*

The church of this parish was not destroyed by the fire of Lon-
don, though greatly damaged by that calamity ; it was repaired, and
the whole of the inside, together with the east end, rebuiit by sir
Christopher Wren ; since then the west-end with the tower has been
rebuilt with brick, and the residue of the exterior has been recent-
ly rebuilt, and completed. Until the last repairs the arches of
two large windows of the latest forms of the pointed style were
to be seen in the alley, at the south side of the church. These have
been replaced by a large palladian window, and a smaller one with
an arched head, and the old patched work concealed by stucco; the
west front is in three divisions, the center occupied by the tower, a
clumsy fabric of brick work closely resembling that of St. Catherine
Coleman, described at page 71, an unworthy appendage to any
work of our great national architect; the basement has a door-
way, above which are two stories, containing windows with arched
heads; the whole elevation finished with an embattled parapet ; there
are also windows in the aide divisions of the same form; the walls
of this portion are foimed of brick, and the angles rusticated with
stone work ; the return of this front is of a similar character. The
north front issimilar to the southern,already described. The castend,
which is the work of sir Christopher Wren, is faced with Portland
stone, and has a large Venetian window ; the pillars and ante ap-
pertaining to which are of a composed order, between two other
windows with arched heads; above the central window is a pedi-
ment, in the tympanum of which is a semi-circular window made
in the last repair, which is rendered necessary in consequence of the
Venetian window having been walled up. The interior is very elegant.
It has been however so much altered at the late repair, that the
work of sir Christopher Wren is almost lost. The general outline
+lill displays the master-hand of that great architect,

* Malcoim’s Lond. Rediv. vol. iv. p. 419,
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The principal feature is a circular dome in the centre of
an oblong squarc. Four erchitraves issuing from the respective
walls of the church, where they rest upon pilasters, and cross-
ing each other at an anzle oi forty-five degrees, are sustained
at their juncture upon the same number of columns, the architraves
wrethen broken between the columns, giving the church a cruci-
form shape ; above the centre thus formed, are four arches sustaining
a hemispherical dome, the periphery being enriched with mould-
ings, and the soffit with sunk paunels; the centre is picrced with
an eye, covered with an expanded flower ; the capitals of the columns
and pilasters are of a composed order, being an union of the Doric
and Corinthian ; the shafts are fluted, the pillars occupied to a por-
tion of their height with reeds. The ceilings are partly arched,
and partly horizontal ; the former have a plain surface, the latter
pannelled ; the modern ornaments are in the Grecian style, the lotus
and echinus are prevalent, the architect would have done better
lad he adhered to the ornaments of Roman examples. Upon the
whole, the church has a striking resemblanze to St. Stephen’s, Wal-
%r?ok, a sufficient proof that the outline is still the work of sir C.

ren. :

Atthe west end are two arched openings communicating with
the lobbies, and u gallery containing an organ; at the west end of
the south aisle is a large and handsome font of marble, of an
octapgular form, more modern than the period of the fire, The
altar is composed of carved oak of the Corinthian order, and is
decorated with fuur fluted pillars, sustaining an entablature and
atlic, on the cornice of which are seen golden candlesticks and the
royal arms, besides a great variety of carving; this screen is
evidently of the period of the repairs succeeding the fire, the pulpit
and other wood work is more modern. In the east, south, and north
vindows is some ornamental stained glass, added st the last repair,
when this church was rendered one of the neatest places of worship
in the metropolis.

expence of the reparation after the fire, and which was
occupied in 1672, was 8,980/ 12s. 3d.

The length of the church is 96 feet, breadth 60 feet, height to
the ceiling of the roof 26 feet, and to the centre of the cupola
38 feet.

Among several monuments in this church are the following :—
At the east end a small marble tablet to the memory of the Rev. J.
Brand, Sec. and F. 8. A. 22 years rector of this parish, died
Sept. 11th, 1806, aged 63. In the south aisle a large monument,
ornamented with drapery and cherubim, the whole surmounted
by an urn, to the memory of J. Davall and his family, 1700.

re is a curions custom attached to this church ; annually,on -
the Sunday after Midsummer-day, according to ancient custom, the
fraternity of fellowship portets of the city of London, repair to
this church in the morning, where, during the reading of the
2
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Psalms, they reverently approach the altar two and two, on the
rails of which are placed two basins, and into these they put their
respective offerings. They are generally followed by the congre-
gation, and the money offered is distributed among the aged, poor,
and infirm members of that fraternity.

In Mr. Nichols’ Illustrations of the Manners and Expences of
Ancient Times, published in 1797, are considerable extracts from the
registers of this church; they relate to the plate, vesiments, pro-
perty, &c. of the parish for a number of years.

In the inventory of Church Goods, 1485-68, when Trenne and
Halhed were churchwardens, appears the following account of

The appareyle for the hyghe aulter :—

Item, two awlter clothes of russet cloth of golde, of the g5fte of
Mr. William Marowe, and William and Thomas his two sonnes, Uy
the helpe of Mr. John Smarte, grocer.

Item, 8 corporas caase of the same.

Item, the curtens of russet sarsynett, frenged with sylke.

1tem, a sewte of rede satyn, frynged with golde, of the gyfte of
the saide Mr. Will'm Marowe, and of John Smarte, grocer; con-
teyning 8 coopes, 2 chassubles, 2 aulbes, 2 amytts,* 2 stoles, 3
fanons,t and 2 gyrdils.

Item, a chaasyble ] of clothe of golde, that Mr. Cambrugge made
with an albe, and amytts and albe, stole and fanon, and a gyrdyll
of sylke made like a call, with a corpas caase of the same.

Item, an ault of wyte damaske, with the frontel paled with pple
clothe of golde and white; and a awlt cloth dyapre sewed to the
same.

Item, two curteynes of white sylke to the same.

Item, an awlt clothe, blewe velvent, powdred with flewrs of golde,
and the frontell of the same sewte.

Item, a frontell for the schelffe standyng on the altar, of blue
sarsenet, with brydds of golde, and two blew curteyns of sylke,
frenghed.

Item, a peyeralter cloths of grene bawdkyn || above and be-
nethe, with 2 curteynes of grene sarsenet, frenget with sylke, blue,
grene, yelow, and rede.

ITtem, a sewte of whyte clothys of golde, of the gyfte of John
Yongeham, fishmonger, conteyning 3 copes, cheasible, 2 tonykles, 3
albes, 3 amyts, 8 stoles, 3 fannones, and 8 girdells.

Item, two awter clothes of red cloth of golde and whyght panyd,
and 2 curtens of red sarsynet and whyght panyd, and fringed with
silke. :

® The amice (amicfus) is the un-  priest holds in his hands during the
dermost garment worn by the priest; celebration of mass.
above this, is worn the albe, or sur- I A small cope.
plice. || Gold brocade, the richest cluth.

« A towel, or linen cloth which the
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Item, a corporas case, with the one side of cloth of gold of tysew
a gold, and the other side grene saten barrid with taps of gold,
of the gyft of Eliz. Gooswell.

Item, a sewte of reede clothe of lukis golde, containing a ceope,
with a cheasible, 2 tonykles, 3 aulbes, 3 amyts, 8 stoles, 3 fanons,
and 3 gyrdills, of the gyfte of William Baker, peauterer.

Item, a rede vestment broudred with lyons of golde of reede
saten ; that is to saye, a chesible and a tonykle to the same, with 2
albis, 2 amyts, 2 stoles, 2 fannones, and 2 girdles, late amended,
and a coope thereto of rede saten, poudrid with lyons.

Item, a blacke vestment of velvet, poudyrd with lambes, mones,
and sterrs; the cheassible, the albe, the amys, the stole, the fanon,
and girdill.

Item, a canopye of blue clothe of boudkyn, with berds of flour
in golde.

Item, a canapye of rede sylke, with grene braunchys, and white
flours poudryd with swanny of golde betweene the branches.

Item, a vestyment of the gyfte of Maist. WylI’'m Wylde, late
p'son of this chirch.

Item, a chessyble of blue saten, fringed with silk, with an albe
and amys, and a gyrdill.

Item, two corporas cases of white and golde, and three nedyl
wyrke, and six other cases of dyvers wyrke.

Item, six copes for children of dyvers sorts, and eight small stre-
mers of the gyfte of Mr. Remyngton and Mr. Revett, and of
square baner.

Item, a myter for a byshop* at Seint Nicholas tyde, garnyshed
with sylver and anelyed, and perle and counterfete stone.

Item, two cheyres of iron for Rectes copes.

Item, a pyxt clothe for the high aulter of sipers frenged with
golde, with knopprs of golde, and sylke of Spaneshe making, of
the gyfte of Mr. doctor Hatclyff, p’son.

Item, a pyx clothe of sipers frenged with grene sylke and red,
with knoppes silver and gylt with corners goyng, of Mres. Suck-
Iyng's gyfte. :

Item, three crosse starvs clothes gyldyd with ymages of golde.

Item, a canape for the pyx of whyte baudekyn lyke these.

Item, a leeske of laton with a flakon.

Item, two standards of laton.

Item, on the high aulter 2 gret candylstyks, and 3 small, and
on Sent Stephen’s alter 2 candylstyks.

Item, two crosse staves laten gyldyd.

Item, two gylt feet for crossys, and oon copper gyit.

The principal streets in this ward are, part of Thames-street,
Botolph-lane, St Mary’shill, Rood Lane, and Pudding-lane. The

® It appears by this, that the custom of electing boy-bishops, or Episcopi
prevailed in this church.
+ To bold the consecrated host.
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situation afthis ward, near the river, the Custom-house, and several
wharfs, gives itgreat advantagesintrade,and occasions it to be well
inhabitedandina continual hurry of business atthe several quaysand
whatfs, the south side of Thames-street. Ofthese, Billingsgate,from
which the ward derivep its name, is of most note; not so mach for
landing and loading of merchandize, as for being the only port for
fish in Londonyand the greatest market for that article in England,
and perhaps in the world. It js an extensive water gate, or port
for small . vessels, to' which those laden with oranges, lemons,
Spanish onions, and other commodities, resort, as well as the fishing
boats. Here, also, is the port for the Gravesend boats to take in
their fares; from whence they are obliged (under a penalty), to
depart at the ringing of a bell, erected at the stairs for that pur-
pose, which is rung for a quarter of an hour to give notice of the
time of high water at London-bridge.

Respecting the aneient customs of Billingsgate, ¢ I have not
read,’ says Stow, ¢in any record, more than that in the reign of
Edwatd III. every great ship landing there paid for standage two-
pence; every little ship with orelocks, a penny ; the less boat called
a battle, a halfpenny. Of two quarters of corn measured, the king
was to have one farthing; of a comb of corn, a penny; of
every weight going out of the city, a halfpenny; of two quarters
of sea-coals measured, a farthing ; and of every tun of ale going
out of England beyond the seas, by merchant strangers, four-
pence; of every thousand herrings, a farthing, except the fran-
chises.’

Although Stow says these payments were not made before the
reign of Edward Ill. yet it appears in Brompton's Chronicle,
tnter leges Ethelredi, which was anno 1016, that tolls were
then paid at Billingsgate.

About 1330, we have the following:—

< Concerning the Toll given at Bylyngesgate.

¢ If a small ship come up to Bilynggesgate, it shall give one
half-penny of toll; if a greater one which hath sails, one penny:
if a small ship, or the hulk of a ship come thereto, and shall lie
there, it shall give four pence for the toll. For ships which are
filled with wood, one log of wood shall be given as toll.” In a
week of bread,’ perhaps at festival time, ¢toll shall be paid for
three days the Lords’ day, Tuesday, and Thursday. Whoever
shall come to the bridge in a boat in which there are fish, he
hi mself being a dealer, shall pay one halfpenny for toll: and if it
2¢ a larger vessel, one penny.’*

101380, in the mayoralty of John Northampton, an act of parlia-
™ ent was passed laying open the trade to all foreigners at peace
with the king; the same mayor compelled the dealers to acknow..

® Chron. of London Bridge, p. 30, from Brompton’s Chronicon.
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ledge that their occupation was no craft, and therefore unworthy to
be reckoned among the other mysteries.

In 1485 the fishmongers company endeavouring to monopolize
tish, parliament enacted that no person should hinder any fisher-
man foreign or domestic from disposing of their fish, on penalty
of 10l. .

An act of parliament was made (10th and 11th of William IIL)
to make Billingsgate a free market for the sale of fish ; when it was
enacted, ¢ That after the tenth of May, 1699, Billingsgate market
should be every day in the week, except Sunday,a free and open
market for all sorts of fish; and that it should be lawful for any
person to buy or sell any sort of fish without disturbance.’ |

‘This act also settled the tolls to be paid by the fisher-boats; enact-
ing, ‘That after the said tenth of May, no person selling any sort
of fish in the said market, should pay any other toll or duty, to any
person or persons, for coming with his boat or vessel, or landing,
standing, or selling, in or at this market, than it was hereafter
expressed, viz. for every vessel of salt fish for groundage, eight
peuce per day, and twenty pence per voyage, and no more, in full
of all duties and demands, to be distributed and disposed of as the
lord mayor, &c. shall yearly order and direct, according to the
right of the respective persons thereunto. For a lobster-boat for
groundage per day, two pence; and per voyage, thirteen pence,
and no more, in full as aforesaid. For every vessel of fresh sea
fish, groundage per day, two pence, and per voyage thirtean
pence. For every dogger-boat or smack with sea fish, for groun-
dage, per day, two pence; and per voyage, thirteen pence. For
every oyster-vessel, or cock, per day, two pence; for metage one
balfpenny per bushel.

And that it should be lawful for any person that bought any fish
m the said market, to sell the same again in any other market,
place, or places in the city of London, or elsewhere, by retail,
being sound and wholesome fish, without any disturbance or molesta-
tion.

Apd that from and after the tenth of May, that person that
should take or demand any toll or sample, or any imposition, or set
price of sea fish, of English catching, should forfeit the sum of ten
pounds, the one half to his majesty, and the other half to him that
will sue for the same.’

And because the fishmongers caused the greater part of the fish
to be bought at Billingsgate, and thendivided thesame by lot among
themuelves, in order to buy and sell at what rate they pleased, it
was also enacted, ¢ That no person whatsoever should, after the said

° tenth of May, buy, or cause to be bought, at the said market of
Billing:gate, any quantity of fish, to be divided by lot among any
° fishmongers, or other persons, with an intent to be put afterwards
! to sale by retail, or otherwise ; norany fishmonger to engross or buy
in the sad market any quantity of fish, but what sha!l be for his
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own sale or use, and not on the behalf of any other fishmongers
exposed to sale, on pain of forfeiting twenty pounds for every
such offence; the one half to the use of the poor of the parish where
he lives, the other half to his own use that sues for it. Provided
nothing contained in this act should be construed to prohibit the
selling of mackarel before or after Divine service.’

Afterwards, upon the engrossing of great quantities of fish by
some persons, to the violation of this act, this order came forth,
anno 1707, sir Robert Bedingfield, lord mayor :—

Jovis vicesimo sexto die Junij, 1707, annogq ; Regni Reyine
Anne, Magna Brittannie, &c. sexlo.

*“ Whereas in and by an act of parliament made in the tenth and
eleventh years of the reign of king William 111., intituled An act to
make Billingsgate a free market for sale of fi:h, it is enacted, that
it shall and may be lawful for any person or persons to buy or sell
any sort of fish in the said market, without any disturbance or
molestation whatsoever, and to sell the same again in any other
market-place or places within the city of Londoun, or elsewhere, by
retail ; but, contrary 10 the (rue intent and meaning of the «id act,
divers persons do frequently buy and engross to themselves great
quantities of fish, in or at Billingsgate market, and tell the same
agein in the said market; which practice tends greatly to the
enhancing the prices of fish, and is punishable by the statute made
against regrators, in the fifth and sixth years of the reign of king
Edward V1., chap. 14.

For prevention whereof for the future, it is now ordered by this
court, that no fishmonger, fishwoman, or other person or persons
whatsoever, do or shall hereafter sell or exposc to sale any fish or
at Billingsgate market, which was then before bought in the same
market ; and that none but fishermen, their wives, apprentices, or
servants, be permitted to stand, stay, or remain there, to sell, by
retail, the fish by them taken and brought to the said market to be
sold, so that the citizens may have fish at the first hand for their own
use, according to the true meaning of the law. And it is further
ordered by this court, that the hours limited for beginning of the
said fish market at Billingsgate shall hereafter be strictly observed ;
that is to say, from Lady-day to Michaelmas, at four o’clock in the
morning, and, from Michaelmas to Lady-day at six o’clock in the
morning ; and that before those hours none do presume to buy or
sell any sort of fish in the said market, (except herrings, sprats,
mackarel, and shell fish,) on pain of being proceeded against as
forestallers of the market. And the yeomen of the water-side are
strictly enjoined and required to see this order duly and constsntly
observed ; and also constantly to ring the bell at Billingsgats, pre-
cisely at the times aforesaid, for the beginning of the market there :
and that without fail they cause all persons that shall buy or sell
there, before the said hours and ringing of the said bell, or shall
regrate fish, that is to say, buy fish, and sell the same again in the
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nid market, to be apprehended, and brought before the right
honourable the lord mayor of this city for the time being, or some
justice of the peace, tobe bound over to the sessions, there to
snswer the same. And it is further ordered, that no fish except
berrings, sprats, mackarel, and shell-fish, be sold aboard any vessel
or boat at Billingsgate ; which the said yeoman of the water-side,
and the under water-bailiff, are likewise carefully to see ob-
served, as they will answer the contrary at their perils.

“ Gtbson.”

This place 1s now more frequented than in ancient time, when
Queenhithe was made use uf for the same purpose; this being more
commodions.

Near Billingsgate is Botolph's wharf, called in the Conqueror’s
days Botolph’s gate. This wharf was in the possession of the crown
in Edward I.’s time, who granted it to Richard de Kingston in these
words :—Our common key of St. Botolph, next Billingsgate,
London, with free going in and out to the same, in the east head of
the same place : which place hath land contained from the tenement
from the seid Richard against the west, and to the head of the said
church, and the common way which leadeth to the Thames against
the west, eighteen elis and one quarter of an ell, of the iron ell of
our sovereign lord the king of England, without inches measured:
and it containeth in both heads, from the wall of the said church
unto our common key, 1n breadth six ells of the ell aforesaid, with-
out inches measured. To have and to hold to the said Richard and
his heirs, and to whom he will give, sell, bequeath, assign, or any
other mannerwise alien, and their heirs, of us, our successors, &c.
freely, quietly, well, and in peace, &c. yielding therefore a silver
penny at the feast of the nativity of St. John Baptist, for all ser-
vices, &c.’ :

The church of St. Botolph stood in Thames-street, opposite to
Botolph-lane, which was named from it. It was a rectory, the ad-
vowson of which was anciently in lay hands; but, in 1194, was
chimed by the dean and chapter of St. Paul’s, under a deed of gift
from one Odgarus, his sons, and thie mother of Dionisia Bocumeter,
who, with her husband John, also claimed it. The dean and chap-
ter, however, prevailed, and it continued in their gift till the church
was annexed to that of St. George ; since which time the crown
and the chapter present alternately.

Mr. Maitland was of opinion that this church was of Saxon found-
ation.

In Little Eastcheap, on the site of the Weigh-house, was the
church of St. Andrew Hubbard, formerly called St. Andrew juxta
Eastcheap. It was founded before 1389 : in which year the earl
of Pembroke presented Robert Clayton to the rectory in the room
of Walter Palmer, deceased. On the death of the earl of Pem-
broke, without issue, the patronage devolved to the earls of Shrews-
bury, m whose family it continued till 1460, when John, earl of
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Shrewsbury, was killed at the battle of Northampton, when it came
to Edward IV., who, a few yearsafier, restored it to the Shiewsbary
family, wherein it probably continued till it eame to the earls of
Northumberland.

After the fire, the ground on which the church stood, with the
church-yard in Little Eastcheap, between Botolph-lane and Love-
lane, and also the site of the parsonage-house, were sold to the city
of London for public uses: some of the purchase-money was paid
to the parish of St. Mary at Hill, towards the repairs of that church,
and the remainder was appropriated to mskiog a provision for the
rector and his successors, m lieu of the parsonage house. On one
part of the ground was erected the king’s weigh-house, which
before stood on Cornhill. The original intent of this weigh-house
was to prevent frauds in the weight of merchandize brought from
beyond sea. It was under the government of a master and four
master porters, with labouring porters ander them, who used to have
carts and horses to fetch the merchants’ goods to the beaw, and to
carry them back : but nothing has been done in this office for many
years; asa compulsive eJ)ovver is wanting to oblige merchants to
have their goods weighed. _

This building is at present, and has been for many years, a cele-
brated chapel belonging to Protestant Dissenters.

On St. Mary’s Hill is

Watermans® Hall.

This building formerly stood in Cold Harbour, and was removed
into this ward in 1786. It is a neat building, divided into two
stories; the basement is rusticated, and consists of an arched win-
dow, with two doors, above each of which arerelievos ; and over the
window the arms of the company. The upper story consists of
coupled pilasters of the Ionic order: between which is a large
window with an arched head, divided into three lights by two
attached columns; the whole is finished with a pediment. The hall
is on the first floor, and is a handsome room, the ceiling enriched
with scrolls, &c. There are some paintings in the room of historical
subjects, but only one portrait ; it is a half-length, and hasabove
the head ¢ Mr. J. Taylor, the water poet.” It represents him as
being of a fair complexion, with a short beard ; his dress is a falling
ruff and slashed doublet.*

The mantle-piece is of marble, with a figure of the god Thames,
above whichare the arms of the company. Over the door of entrance
arethe royal armns. The master’s chair, whichis handsomely carved,
was given by the rulers in 1800.

Adjoining to the last building is the ¢ Fellowship Porters’ Hall,’
a mean erection. In the court-room is a full-length portrait of
deputy Kettermaster.

Over the gate of Billingsgate ward schools, St. Mary at Hill, is an

® This portrait has been engraved at the expence of Mr. Tyrrel of Guildhall-yard.
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ullo relievo in two pieces, the upper half contains a representation
of our Saviour standing upon clouds, attended by an army of- sera-
phim ; bearing in bis right hand a banner ensigned with a cross ;
at his feet the fallen angel, on the lower piece of stone the resurrec-
tion is exemplified by various figuies rising from the graves. The
whole subject is much defaced ; some of the figures have lost their
beads, and it is highly probable that the sculpture was execunted
prior to the great fire, which partislly damaged this street, and
which m‘:dl'ohtbly occasioned the partial mutilation the figures-have

Podding-lane is so called ¢because the butchers of Eastchea
had their scalding-house for hogs there; and their puddings, wit
other filth of beasts, were voided down that way to their dung.boats
on the Thames.”* In this lane it was that the dreadful fire of 1666
began. On the house where this calamity broke out was the follow-
ing inscription :—

‘Here, by the permission of heaven, hell brake loose upon this
protestant city, from the malicious arts of barbarous papists, by the
hand of their agent Hubert, who coufessed, and on the ruins of the
place declared the fact, for which he was hanged, viz. that here
began the dreadful fire which is described and perpetuated on and
by the neighbouring pillar, erected anno 1680, in the mayoralty of
sir Patience Wand, knt.’

At the time Maitland made his survey (i. e. 1756), he says
¢ This inscription had been taken away some years.’

At the north end of this lane, on the east side, is

Butchers’ Hall.

The hall of the company of Butchers is a large edifice of brick,
and was evidently erected only a few years after the great fire.
The entrance is supported on each side by two columns of the lonic
order, with garlands suspended from the volutes. The hall is on
the ground-floor ; it has a handsome screen, and the ceiling is finished
io stucco, beautifully worked. The walls are wainscotted about
five feet in height all round, and over the master’s chair is a bust of
W. Beckford, esq. alderman of this ward. A noble staircase leads
to the court-room, which has a richly ornamented ceiling in plaister.
The chimney-piece is ornamented with foliage, fruit, &c.; above it
a pediment with the companies’ arms, and a painting of Peter’s
vision,

In this room are the following portraits: three-quarter lengths of
J. Harwood, esq. T. Dalby, esq. 1817, J. Pocklington, esq. 1800»
and P. Mellish, esq. 1798, sheriff of London.

A half length portrait of Henry V11, in his cap and jewel, and
a full length of George 1I. :

Above the door of entrance is a bust of W. Beckford, esq.
similar to the one in the hall.
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At the north end is the master’s chair, ornamented by the roya'
arms.

In the parlour is a curious and massy oak table, of considerable
solidity. The legs, of which there are four, represent vases of
elegant form and workmanship.

Inthe parish of St. Mary-hill there was a place called Septem
Camere, which was either one house, or else so many rooms o1
chambers, which formerly belonged to some chautry ; the rent
whereof went towards the maintaining of a priest to pray snper-
stitiously for the soul of the deceased, who left those Septem
Camere for that use. These, with other lands and tenements in
the aity, and elsewhere, were sold by king Edward VI. to Thomas
Heybarn and Thomas Brand, for the sum of nine hundred and
eighty-eight pounds eight shillings and a penny.

" CHAPTER VI~

History and Topography of Bishopsgate Wurd, Without and
Within.

THis ward was so named from the gate which anciently divided
it into two parts, and which division is yet continued in matters of
local jurisdiction, under the respective appellation of Bishopsgate
Within, and Bishopsgate Without; the former contains the
precincts of Allhallows, St. Peter, St. Martin Outwich, St. Hellen
and St. Ethelburga; the latter consists of four precincts. It is
bounded on the east by Aldgate ward, Portsoken ward, and part
of the Tower liberty ; on the south, by Langbourn ward, on the
west by Broad Street ; ward, and on the north by Shoreditch parish.
The whole ward is governed by an alderman, and sends fourteen
members to the court of common council.

In this ward are three churches, St. Botolph, St. Ethelburga
and St. Helen's,

8t. Botolph's Church without Bishopagate.

On the west side of Bishopsgate Street, beyond the place where
the gate stood, is the parish church of St. Botolph without Bishops-
gate. This church, which appears to beof very ancient foundation,
received its name from being dedicated to St. Botolph, a Saxon
saint, who died about 680. The first authentic account of this
church, is in 1323 ; when John de Northampton resigned the rector
ship, which then was, and still is in the gift of the bishop of London.
The old church, which Stow says was upon the very bank of the
town-ditch, escaped the fire of London; but at length became so
ruinous, that it was taken down in 1725, and re-built, being finished
in 1729,
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The east front of the present edifice, which abuts on the street,
is faced with Portland stone, and consists of three divisions; the
centre is flanked by coupled Donc pilasters sustaining an entabla-
ture and pediment, and contains a large arched window. Above
the pediment the tower commences, and consists of a square rus-
ticated basement, with a window in each face. The next story
is of the same form, and has circular windows. The third story
is of greater height ; in each face are two pair of lonic pilasters,
supporting their entablature, with an arched window between
them. At the angles of this story are arms, and it is surmounted
by a circular balustrade, surrounding an additional story of the same
form, having eight Corinthian columns, in pairs, attached to it,
with arched windows, between them, and urns upon the enta-
blature. The whole ends in a bell-shaped roof, finished with an
urn, and pierced with four circular apertures. The other divi-
sions have lintelled doorways, with two windows above each;
the lower being lintelled, the upper circular. The north and
south fronts are built of red brick, with stone dressings, in a heavy
tasteless style; they are made into two stories by a fascia - the
lower contains on each four windows and two entrances, and
the upper six. The former are nearly square with low arched
heads, the others are high with semicircular heads: the whole
bounded by architraves, the keystones carved into cherubim,
The west front is similarly divided : it has three windows in each
story. The centre is a large Venetian, the others as before des-
eribed.

The interior is made into a nave and aisles by four composite.
columns, and two three quarter columns on each side, resting on
plinths of equal height with the pewing ; the columns sustain
an architrave, which serves as an impost to the arched ceiling,
which is of a waggon-headed form, and divided by ribs
inlo numerous pannels, in each of which is a shield charged
alternately with a bible, crown and mitre; the centre of
the ceiling has recently been pierced to admit a circular
lantern light, which rises above the roof, and is united to
the ceiling by pendentives; the ceilings of the aisles are
also arched ; they rest in part on the first mentioned architrave,
and upon another attached to the side walls and broken by
the windows, and the vault is also arched transversely above the
heads of the windows. The altar occupies the basement story of
the tower, and is situated in a deep recess, fronted by an arch
resting on piers, the soffit pannelled, the ceiling is groined with
adove and glory in the centre, and the window is bounded by an
architrave. On each side of the altar is 3 vestibule, which con-
tains a staircase to the galleries.

Onthe wall of the stairs leading to the north gallery bhangs a
curious old picture of Charles I., emblematically describing his suf-
fetings. Mr. Malcom sayshecould not find anaccount of this painting
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inany of the parish books I have seen. [t is not therefore 1in my
power to say whether it was a present or a purchase. The view
of London, 1708, mentions it as then in the church,and gives an
imperfect description. It is a good picture, and the general eflect
is well managed. Though there are several strong lights, they are
all less thanthat on the king. The culouring is warm, snd time
has given it a pleasing softness. The countenance of his majesty
is composed, and like the portrait of him in the Middle Temple.
He is kneeling before an altar, enriched with gilded scrolls, and
covered with a crimson drapery. On it is an open book, inscribed,
sn verbo tuo, spes mea. His mantleis of blue velvet, and the dress
rich ; in his shoes rosettes of diamonds. The right hand is spread
on his breast, and in the left a crown of thorns. On a lahel en-
twined round it is written, asperam at lecvam. Between the
fingers, another with chresti {racto. Below the cushion on which
he kneels lays the crown of England, on its side, and a label from
behind it has these words, Splendidam at gravem. From his
right foot proceeds another, mundi eculeo.

The back ground of the picture, next the king, is the pedestals of
large columns; a beam of light streams towards him from the
space between them, and hoverng in it is a celestial crown; on the
rim is inscribed, beatam coronam.

On s ray darting in the same direction is, ceeli specto. On
another, clarior e tenebris.

There is a descent of three steps at the back of the king to the
sea, where two weights hang suspended to reeds, labeled crescit sub
pondere.

The darkness of the painting and its situation prevent me from
describing some indistinct figures on the sea; but I believe them to
be dead bodies.

The distance oh the left side represents a first-rate man of war,
with the king seated on the quarter deck, destitute of mariners, and
at the mercy of the winds, which blow on him from the four quar-
ters of the compass. A rough ses, dark stormy clouds, and rocks
before him, point out his fate. The ship, though inferior in
symmetry and grace to our modern vessels, sits easy on the waves.
She is in perfect condition. The fore-sail and fore-top-sail are full;
Ser main-sail furled, and main-top-sail backed. The mizen-top-
sail full, and her sprit-sail. The king’s arms are displayed on the
ensign, over his head. On the main-top-gallant-mast is the royal
standard, and under it a broad red pendant. A white flag on the
mizen-mast, and a jack on the bowsprit. On the clouds are two
labels, Immota triumphans, and nescit naufragium virtus. At
- the bottom on the left is, Carolus}. &v sx v akios 6 xbouoc, Heb.
_ xi. 38. On theright, ecce spectaculum dignum ad guod respiciat
Deus opers suo intentus, vir forlis cum mala fortuna compositus, .
Sen. de Provid. c. 2.

There are two glaring absurdities in the design; the represent-
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ing tke same person twice on the same canvas, and the ship sailing
w steadily in such a situation.

There are galleries erectzd in the north and south aisles,
and at the west end the latter rests on two Ionic columos and
contains the organ. The pulpit and desks are in the centre
aisle; the whole of the wood work is dark, which, joined
o the defective light, gives the building a gloomy and
sombre appearance; the font is a circular basin of veined
marble on a pedestal of the same form, and is situated
beneath the northern gallery. Tne present church gives but a mean
idea of the architecture of the period at which it was erected.

The only monuments worthy notice are the following :—

Near the communion table is a tablet, with a pediment and urn,
and the following inscription :—

SR Paur Piwpar, Kr.
His Majesties Embassador to the Turkish Emperor
Anno Dom. 1611 and 9 yeares Resident
Faithfal in Negociations, Foreign and Domestick
Eminent for Piety, Charity, Loyalty and Prudence
An Inhabitant 26 Years, bountiful Benefactor
To this Parish.
He Dyed the 22d of August 1650

Aged 84 Years,

Near this is a mural tablet to the memory of the Rev. W. Cony-
beare, D. D. 40 ycars rector of this parish, died April 5, 1815,

aged 76.

St. Ethelburga’s Church. ]
Near St. Helen’s Place, in Bishopsgate-street Within, is this
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church, so called from its dedication to the first Christian princess of
the Saxon race, the daughter of Ethelbert, king of Kent, who
embraced the Christian religion and became the patron ofAugnstine,
the English apostle.

The advowson of this church, which is a rectory, was in the
prioress and nuns of St. Helen, till the suppression of their convent,
in the year 1539, when coming to the crown it was sometime after
granted by queen Elizabeth to the bishop of London and his suc-
cessors, who have ever since collated and inducted to the same ; and
in ecclesiastical matters it is subject to the archdeacon. The earliest
account of this church,on record, is in 1366, when Robert Kilwardeby
Was rector.

This church is ancient, having escaped the fire of London in
1666. ’

The principal front of this unassuming building ranges with the
houses on the east side of Bishopsgate street within. The principal
entrance was formerly fronted by a wooden porch, a remnant of
the carving of which, shewing the workmanship of the sixteenth
century, still remains : partly concealed by the shops which are
built against this wall of the church; the arch of the doorway is
pointed : in the wall above it is a window having an obtusely

ointed arch made into three ligkts by mullions, with cinquefoil
geads, partially concealed by a room built against the wall, and
overhanging the doorway. The general style of the building
indicates the workmanship of the sixteenth century; a square
tower rises above this front, sustaining a mean built turret, which
finishes with a vane, on which is the date 1671, the turret itself
ismore modern, the vane having been removed for the spires, which
more appropriately finished the elevation before the present un-
sightly erection was substituted for it. The south and north sides
of the church are ancient, the east end has been rebuilt with brick,
semicircular headed windows; being inserted in lieu of the ori-
ginal pointed ones.

Theinterior is very neat, possessing more the character of a
country church, than that of a parish in the heart of the metropolis.
It consists of a nave and south aisle, separated by four pointed
arches, resting on clustered columns; the roofs of bothare sustained
by large beams, the timber work above being concealed by plaster.
Several dormer windows are constructed in theroof; the north and
south sides of the church had each four painted windows of lofty
proportions, the majority are now walled up, and the tracery of all
18 destroyed.

The eastern window in the nave is modern and arched ; as before
observed, it contains four coats of arms on stained glass, viz.
those of the city, and the Mercers, Sadlers and Vintners companies.
Between the tower and the church is a pointed arch, at present
fi led up with a partition, against which is placed the organ.—The
maids gallery, in thesouthaisleof the church erected in 1629, isorna-
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mented with perpendicular mouldings and cherubim, in the style of
that period. There is another gallery of more modern workman-
ship across the west end, and a considerable portion of the pewing
isold ; in the churchwardens’ pewis the following inscription, which
records the general repair at the date given, and fixes the age of
the wood work—M. OS. CHVRCH WARDEN, ANO. 1629. The
font, which stands in a pew in the middle aisle, con-
sists of a circular basin, sustained upon a terminal
column, ornamented with the peculiar pannelling,
charactenistic of the works of the early part of
the seventeenth century. The tower contains a
single bell, and the clock ; the latter strikes upon
another bell in the turret. Inthe lower story of the
tower is a mutilated statue of St. Michael ; at his feet
the enemy of mankind, and at his left side is a
well-known device of the Trinity ; what remains of
this ancient sculpture, which is broken into pieces,
is here represented. The dimensions of the building
are as follows: length 54 feet, breadth 25 feet, 8 .Michael.
height 31 feet.

There are no monuments worthy of notice in this church.

St. Helen’s Church.

In a square, on the east side of Bishopsgate-street, stands this
church, so denominated from its dedication to St. Helepa, the
mother of Constantine the Great. The patronage of it appears to
bhave been anciently in lay hands; for, in the reign of Henry II.,
about 1180, one Ranulph, with his son Robert, granted it to the
dean and canons of St. Paul’s, by whom it was sometime after
granted to William, son of William, a goldsmith, who, in 1212,
founded the priory of St. Helen, and conferred the advowson of the
church on the prioress and nuns, in whom it continued till the sup-
pression of their convent in 1539, when it came to the crown. Iu
the year 1551, Edward VI. granted the advowson to Nicholas
Ridley, bishop of London, and his successors, which grant was con-
Srmed by queen Mary in 1553; but it appears to have reverted to
the crown afterwards; for, in 1568, queen Elizabeth granted it by
lease to Csesar Aldermarie and Thomas Colcel, in trust for the
parishioners, for a term of twenty-one years; which lease being
expired, shesold it to Michael and Edward Stanhope, to be held by
them, their heirs, and assigns, in socage. It has, however, been
since re-granted to the dean and chapter of St. Paul's.

The plan of the building is irregular; the result of altera
tions at various times. The body is an oblong square; bat
contrary to the usual arrangement, it is divided longitudinally by
an areade into two aisles; one of which, prior to the dissolution,
served for the nuns, and the other for the parishioners. At the
south side of the church, near the east end, is a transept ; and to

voL. 111, X
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this is added, still more eastward, a small chapel and a vestry
room.

The west front of the church has been covered with rough-cast,
and otherwise disfigured by tasleless repairers. It presents, in
consequence, but inconsiderable features of the original architec-
tures. The angles were formerly strengthened by double but-
tresses, of which the northern ones are destroyed, and the whole
is divided by a single buttress in the centre into two portions, in
each of which is a window of five lights, under a low pointed
arch; the mullions have arched heads, but the sweeps have been
destroyed. Beneath each window was formerly a doorway. The
northernmost has been walled up ; the southern still remains, and is
the principal entrance to the church ; it is covered with a pentice,
and the original workmanship is hid by a frontispiece of carved
wood-work, in the taste of the early part of the seventeenth cen-
tury ; on a pannel above the arch is the following inscription—
¢ Worship the Lord in the beauty of holiness.’

The original finish of the elevation is destroyed, and battlements
in a bad style have been substituted. Above the centre rises a mean
turret, covered with rough-cast, and finished with a vane. The
south side of the church contains three windows of three lights each,
the mullions resemble those of the west front,and have equally suf-
fered from the hands of repairers. A single buttress remains be-
tween two of the windows, and below the third from the west is a
low doorway, with a semicircular arch, enclosed in a heavy Doric
frontispiece ; the date on the wood-work 1633 marks the period of
its erection. ‘This front, like the western, is covered with roughe
cast, and finished with a modern embattled parapet. The north
side of the church has four windows of the same character and de-
scription as those already described. The eastern front of the
church has three windows, which will be particularised in the descrip~
tion of the interior. Entering the church by the remaining western
doorway, a porch, internally covering the entrance, is the first object
of attention ; it is enriched with Corinthian pilasters and a pro-
fusion of carving, having in the pediment an inscription—* This is
none other than the house of God ; this is the gate of heaven.’

The southern doorway has internally a similar porch, but of
earlier workmanship ; the pilasters of the Ionic order ; the shells
and cherubim, which form the decorations, present very early spe~
cimens of Italian architecture in this country. At a small distance
northward of the western doorway may be seen the tower, which in
more moderntimes has received the finish of the mean bell turret, no-
ticed in the description of the exterior. The portion which is formed
within the church is constructed of wood, in imitation of rustic work,
and shows in height successively three orders of architecture in
pilasters, and each story has an oval window.

The arcade,which makes the church lengthwiseinto two portions,
displays at least two different styles of architecture ; it contains in
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allsix arches, the first four from the west end rest on clustered co-
lumns ; the archivolts show, in their curves,a medium between the
acutely-pointed arches which compose the remainder of the
arcade, and the flat-pointed ones of the windows ; they were pro-
bably erected in the fifteenth century. The two easternmost
arches are of different altitudes; they are very acutely pointed :
the archivolts are only adoined with the simplest mouldings, and
rest upon square pillars: to the internal jambs of the pillars of
the highest arch are attached two octangular columns, which
support an architrave of the same form, the arch occupying a
considerable poition of the elevation, but not’equal in height to
the others already described. The extreme eastern arch only
differs from the last in respect of altitude, being considerably
lower, and the architrave resting on a circular and an octangular
column. These arches are probably the only remains of the ear-
liest erection of the church (in 1210). The northern aisle is
lighted at the east end by a window of five lights, circumscribed
by a finely proportioned pointed arch; the tracery is entirely de-
stroyed ; but from the circumstance of the modern glazier having
retained in its original situation the ornamental stained glass,
which occupied the arched heads of the lights, the design of the
tracery might without difficulty be supplied. The form of the
arch and the tracery show that this window was the workmanship
of the fourteenth century, a period when the pointed style was in
the highest state of perfection. The east end of the other aisle
has a window of seven lights ; the arch is of the low pointed form,
like the generality of those before described, and, with the rest
of the windows in this church, has been despoiled of its tracery ;
this window is over the altar. The transept is separated from
the body of the church by a handsome low pointed arch of a very
considerable span. Oa the east side is also a pointed arch spring-
ing from clustered columns, and opening into the chapel;
the remainder of this side of the transept and the south
and western walls are plain, without windows or any orna-
ment. The south wall had originally a large window, with
tasteful mullions and tracery, which had been at a preceding
period walled up, and was in 1807 completely destroyed by some
tasteless repairers.*

The small chapel eastward of the transept is separated from it
by the arch just noticed, and from the church by a similar arch.
It is lighted by a window of three lights in its eastern wall, which
once resembled that which graced the end of the north aisle; in
common with the other windows its tracery has been destroyed.
Near the southernmost jamb is a small niche for a light, or statue.
From the style of architecture of this chapel and the adjoining
transept, it may be satisfactorily concluded that these portions

® For this information lamindebted cated other particulars relative to dee
to the ame gentleman who communi-  stroyed churches in London
K2
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were erected in the fourteenth century ; when perfect, they exhi-
bited beautiful specimens of the pointed style.

At the south side of the chapel is a doorway leading into the
vestry, which was probably used for the same purpose in old
times ; above the arch is a bracket supporting a small sitting bronze
statue, of a female ia the act of reading from a book which rests on
her knee, and is supported by her right hand ; it is said to repre-
sent the patron saint of the church, and it is reported a large sam
of money has been offered for it; the drapery is good, but the
statue more probably represents a sybil: how it came to its present
situation cannot be ascertained. The roof of the church is com-
posed of flat arched beams resting on corbels, to which are at-
tached shields. The spaces between the beams, which were
originally brown oak, is now plastered ; and, together with the
beams, most tastefully whitewashed, the two compartments over
the altar excepted, which are painted with clouds and an angelic
choir. A portion of the roof of the northern aisle differs from the
remainder; it mafks what was once a chapel. Whatever the
original roof may have been (and from the style of the window
it was no doubt more tastefully ornamented than the other por-
tions), it now consists of modern plastering, without any orna-
ment : the roof of the transept and its attached chapel are simi-
larly covered.

Although the church for not remarkable for either magnitude or
appearance it will be gathered from the preceding description that
it contains specimens of almost every variation of the pointed
style, from tge commencement of the thirteenth century to the
last declension of its arch, when it yielded to the newly-imported
architecture of Italy, one of the earliest specimens of which is
also to be seen in the wood-work of this building. The church is
divided by a screen, which crosses itat the second pillar from the
west end, making a small nave. This screen is now partially
surmounted by a gallery and organ; the remainder of the church
eastward of this screen is pewed, and appropriated to the use of the
parishioners. On the south side is the pulpit, a piece of carving
of ths early part of the seventeenth century, witha large sounding-

rd.

The wood-work of the church is of various degrees of antiquity.
Against the northern wall is a series of seats, which are now appro-
priated to the poor of the parish ; they were formerly the seats of
the nuns, and are very simple in their ornaments, being merely
separated by sweeping elbows, and are without canopies. On the
same side of the church, but nearer to the eastern end, are several
pews, which show the workmanship of the early part of the seven-
teenth century. The altar-screen is adorned with two Corinthian
columns and two ante, sustaining an entablature and cornice. In
the spaces are tablets containing the usual inscriptions. Upon the
centre of the cornice are two scrolls disposed pedimentally at the
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sides of the royal arms, probably of Charles ., and which are sup-
ported by amngels, recumbent upon the scrolls, their wings over-
shadowing the altar, acreteria at the sides are the lion and unicorn
seated, the portico has already been mentioned, and in addition
to them against one of the pillars in the nave is the poor box,
supported on a terminal pillar, representing a beggar soliciting
alms. Besides these particulars, in consequence of a laudable
altention to the monuments and other remnants of antiquity, in the
more recent repairs, various particulars remain which are wor-
thy of notice. On the north side of the church, the Nun’s Grate
is still remaining ; its general appearance is that of an altar tomb,
but more lofty; the dado ol the square pedestal is adorned
with upright open niches, and the canopy, which is a low pointed
arch, has its soffit richly pannelled ; the whole is surmounted
by an entablature, the freize richly sculptured, but so filled
op with whitewash as to render the design incapable of being
made out; at the ends of the cornice are two shields having
arms, and the upper member of the cornice has a row of
stsawberry leaves set upright upon it. The aperture which
contained the actual grate is now walled up; and the whole is
almost concealed by Gresham's monument, and the pews before
spoken of. In part of this interesting antiquarian relic, and resting
on the ledger of its pedestal is a handsome piece of architecture, set
up to sustain thelord mayor'ssword, it consists of two twisted Corin-
thian colamns,supporting an entablature highly enriched,and an at-
tic pannel, the shaftsof the columns are set off with a wreath of foli-
age running round them. On the friezeis the following arms, ar-
a cross, raguly, gules, and a dexter canton, ermine the arms
of sir John Lawrence, lord mayor in 1665. In the attic is the city
arms, and the whole structure is crowned with the arms of
Charles II. supported by two gilt angels, and surmounted with
the royal crown. In the windows of the church are many shiclds
of arms in stained glass. In that above the communion table are
eight coats placed in their present position in 1818, viz. the city
arms ; 2nd, the Grocers company; 3rd, sable, a chevron, ermine,
between three rams trippant argent, armed and hoofed or, sir
John Crosbie ; 4th, Barry nebulle, azure and argent,
achiefof the last * 5th,the Leathersellers Company ;
6th, a merchant’s mark; 7th, azure, a fesse
coloured argent; 8th, number three and seven im-
paled together. The whole of these coats of arms,
excepting those of the Leathersellers company,
which are more modern, are enclosed in orna- Merchant's mark.
mental quaterfoils. The east window of the north aisle ha,

® These are probably the arms of former colour has probably faded in
sr Ralph Astry,jotrd msyor in 1498,  this as well as in other instances, in the
Is such case the chief should be gules resent church. The arms of sir John
avd charged with three bezants, the rosbie are spoken of by Stowe, as re-
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four shields beld by angels; they are the workmanship of the
sixteenth century, and shew how low the art has fallen since
the dissolution of monasteries, in which it was fostered and brought
to perfection. The arms are those of the city, the Mercer's
company, sir Nicholas Rainton, lord mayor, 1622, viz. sable,
a chevron double cotised between three cinquefoils, argent, and
sir Thomas Gresham, argent,a chevron ermine, between three
mullets pierced sable.

The monuments are so very numerous, that our limits will
only allow us to notice the most remarkable.

The first in point of antiquity, is that of sir John Crosbie and
his lady,* in what was the chapel of the Holy Ghost, on the south
side of the choir ; it is an altar tomb of freestone, sustaining the
effigies of sir John and his first wife, Anneys or Agnes. He is

maining in his time in the church, in
stone, timber, and glass. The first and
Jast still remain, in his tomb, and in the
window bere described ; some of the
shields upon the corbels, sustaining the
beams of the roof, if cleansed (rom the
white wash, would no doabt shew them
in wood also.
® Sir John Crosbie, the builder of
Crosbie hall, was sheriff in 1470;
he was made a knight by Edward IV.
1471, on occasion of his meeting that
prince with the citizens, on his coming
to London, on May 21, in the latter
year. The next yvear he was appointed
one of the commissioners to settle
the diflerences with the duke of Bur-
guady, and to treat with the governors of
the Hanse Towns, and the year follow-
ing concerning difficulties in the inter.
course with the duke of Burgundy. He
was a member of the Grocers com-
pany, and a merchant in wool, and
raised a handsome fortone in trade, in
;l‘b,elreign of Heary VIth, and Edward
th.
By his will dated March 6, 1471,
February 68, 1475, alter be-
queathing considerable sums to the
nuns of St. Helens, Holiwell, Strat-
ford, and Sion, to the Austin and
Crulched friars, the friars, minors,
preachers, and Carmelites, the hospitals
of St. Mary without Bishopsgate, Bed-
lam, St. Thomas Southwark, Elsing,
and St. Bartholomew, the Minoresses,
apnd the Charterhouse, and to the
gaols in London and Southwark, for
their prayers, and relief, and after in-
stituting a solemn obit anniversary, or
twelve months mind, at which the
Grocers company were to assist, he

gave to the repairs of 8t. Helen™
church 500 marks, among poor house-
keepers in Bishopsgate-ward 80l., to
the repair of Hanworth church, Mid-
dlesex, 40/., of Bishopsgate and London
Wall, 100Z, towards making a pew
tower of stone, at the south east of Lon-
doo-bridge, if the same was began by
the mayor and alderman within ten
years r his decease, 100/, to the
repair of Rochester bridge, 10L. to
every parish in London, liberally. To
the Grocers’ company, two silver gilt
ts to be used in the common hall,
'o his daughter Joan 200 marks, to
his wife 2000l. as her dower, besides
all her clothes and furniture, and his
lease under the prioress of St. Helen
for life. The above sumswere to be
raised by sale of his manor of Haan-
worth, and other Jands in Fe!tham in
the same county, within two years after
his decease, and if there were a suffi-
ciency without such sale, the estate
to go to his wife, or the chill she
might chaoce to he great with at the
time of his death ; 1o default to his
daughter Joan in tail, in default of issue
to his cousin Peter Christmas in tail,
with remainder to the Grocers' com-
pany, to be sold and the amount di.
vided amongst themselves, and in cha-
ritable uscs, as in his will specified.
Stowe describing the monument, says,
the lady represented on it was Anne.—
In Sir Juhn Crosby’s will, it appears to
have been his first wife Agnes, but
who either of his wives were has not
been discovered. His daughter Joaun
was probably married to Tulbot.—
Gough's Sepul. Mon. ii. 248-8,
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inplaited armour, with a mantle gathered up on his right shoulder,
and over it a collar of rondeaux, his hair cropt and plaited
u_)d under his head a helmet, the crest gone ; he has a dagger on
his right side; at his feet a dog looking up to him ; his lady is
in a mantle, aud very close bodied gown, in which her feet are
folded up, with long sleeves down to her wrists; round her neck
a collar of roses; her cap is close fitted to her ears, and the haic
tucked up under it; under her head is a cushion sustained by two
angels, at her feet lie two little dogs. The inscription has been
long since destroyed. The quaterfoils round the sides of the
tomb contain the arms of Crosbie On this tomb was formerly
the following inscription :—

Orate pro animabus Pobannis Crosbic, Rty
aly. atque Tempore bite FMajovis guglz @ille
Caleis, & Agnetis, Fxoris sue ac Thome, Michardis
Fobannis, $Nargarete, a Fohanne Aiberorumefug-
Uem Pobannis Crosbic, FAflitls. e obiit 1475, &
illa 1466, quorum an{mabug propitictur Jeus.

The next isthe magnificent monument of sir William Pickering,®
who died at Pickering House, in London, in 1574, aged 58 itis si-
tnated under the north east archof the choir.  For splendor of de-
coration no mooument in London, out of Westminster Abbey, can
compare with it. It consistsof an altar tomb, pannelled into compart-
ments, sustaining on the ledger six Corinthian columns, which with
two at the head and foot of the tomb, support the canopy, this
is formed of two arches, resting on the entablatare; above the
columns by way of impost, the soffits of the arches are filled with
sunk pannels, containing roses and fleurs-de-lis alternately. The
whole is surmounted by an ornamented circle, sustained by
two chimerw, and containing the arms of the knight, viz. sable. a
chevron, between three fleur-de-lis, or. Within this canopy, upon the
altar tomb, lies extended the eftigy of the knight, the size of life,
bareheaded, in complete armour, with trunk breeches; his head
rests on a rolled mat; and a ruff surrounds his neck. The coun-
tenance is open, and full of animation; the nose Roman, aml the
whole bespeaks a very handsome man, worthy to be the favourite
of ?iscriminuting Elizabeth; at the feet of the statue is a fleu:-
de-lis.

Attached to a pillar near the monument is a tablet, with the
ensuing inscription :—

QVIBSCIT UIC GVLIBLNVS PICKERINGVS, PATER,

BQVESTRIS ORDINIS VIR, MILES MARISCHALLVS
QVI OBIIT XIX MAIl, ANNO SALVTIS A CHRISTO NDXLII

® 8ir William Pickering served four  aspired to the possession of the person
ices. Heury VIilth. in the field; of the latter. Strype says that he was
ward VI. asambassador 1o France; the finest gentleman of the age for his
Queen Mary in Germany, and finally  worth in learning, arts. and warfare—
Queen Elizabeth. He is said to have  Store’s Anna”,ii. 357. Pernant, 815.
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JACET HIC BTIAM GVLIELMVS PICKERINGYVS, PILIVS
MILES, CORPORIS ANIMIQ; BONIS INSIGNITER ORNATYVS;
LITERIS EXCVLTVS, ET RELIGIONE SINCERYS SEX
LINGVAS EXACTE PERCALLVIT. QVATVOR PRINCIPIBYR
SVMMA CVM LAVDE INSERVIVIT ;| HENRICO SCILICET
0CTAVO, NILITARI VIRTVTE ; EDWARDO 3EXTO,
LEGATIONE GALLICA : REGINR MARIR, NEGOTIATIONE
GBRMANICA : ELIZABETHZ, PRINCIPI OMNIVY
ILLVSTRISSINA, SYNMIS OFFICIIS DEVCTISSINVS
OBIIT LONDINI, IN EDISVS PICKERINGIIS, RTATR
LX111l. ANNO GRATIS, MDLXIIII JANVARI
QVARTO CVIVS MENORIE HENNEAGIVS, NILES, CANERS
REGIE THESAVRARIVS ; IOHANNES ASTELEY, ARMIGER,
10CALIVM MAGISTER ; DRVGO DRVREIVS MILES BT
THONAS WOTTON, ARMIGER TESTAMENTI 8V§
EXECYTORES, MONVNENTVM HOC POSVERE

Northward of this monument is that of sir Thomas Gresham, it
consists only of a large altar tomb of rich S8ienna marble, covered
with a ledger of black marble: on which is the following
inscription :
S® THOMAS GRESHAN, KNIGHT,
Buryd Decembr 15, 1579.

The dado is richly ornamented with various mouldings appertain-
ing to Italian architecture, in a more chaste style than the usual
works of the period,and the arms of the deceased ; but no statue
or bust marks the grave of this truly eminent and public spirited
merchant, The Royal Exchange is his proper monument, and
his executors, no doubt, thought so, when they set up this modern
but no doubt expensive monument. Against the east wall of the
transept is a splendid monument with the following inscriptions.
in two square black tablets.

HIC BITVS EST JOANNES SPENCER
EQVES AVRA1VS CiVis & SENATOR
LONDINENSIS BIVS DEMQ CIVITATIS
PRETOR ANNO DNI NDXCIIIL
QVI EX ALICIA BROMFELDIA
VXORE VNCAN RELIQVII FPILIAM
BLIZABETHGVLIBLMO BARON]
COMPTON ENVPTIAM OBIIT

DIB ANNO SALVTIS MDCIX

On the other pannel as follows : —

SOCERO BENE MERITO
GVILIBLMVS BARO COMPION
GFENER POSVIT.

It consists of an altar tomb, on which are the recumbent fgures
of sir John Spencer and his wife, in the habit of the times, the
size of life; at their feet is another lady of smaller size, in the
attitude of praying. This monument stands centrary to the
usual practice, the heads of the efligies being to the south, and
the feet to the north. The praying lady, who of course looks to-
wards the east, in consequence of the uncommon situation of the
monument, turns her back on the principal figures. The circum«
stance of this intercessory effigy on this monument, shows that
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the protestant religion had even then not entirely oblilerated
the memory of the rational, and, at all events, harmless tribute to
the dead, which the people had been accustomed to pay before the
reformation. This monumentis covered with a sumptuous arched
canopy, ornamented with pyramids, &c. which, with the efigies,
are now reduced to an uniform white. WNear this is a singular
altar tomb, to the memory of sir Julius Ceesar, who, feeling the
' ruling passion strong in death’ has moulded his epitaph in the
form of a deed, to which he has affixed his broad seal, and also
its enrolment in a court, however, superior to that in which he
had been accustomed to preside.

In addition to those already enumerated, are two altar tombs
in the nave, of considerable age ; but the inscription on one is gone,
which is now indecorously made use of to support a fire-place ;
a third is insulated, and composed of various marble ; it is situated
beneath the organ gallery. There is also another altar tomb of
white marble attached to the south wall, to the memory of dame
Abiguil, wife of sir John Lawrence, alderman, died June 6, 1682.

he front of this tomb is carved in imitation of drapery. There
are several brasses on the floor of the church, particularly
a man and his wife in the chapel of the Holy Ghost, near sir
John Crosbie’s monument.

Upon the several brass monuments Cromwell’s commissioners
have been active in erasing the @Yate ; the praying lady hap-
pily escaped their pious hands. On the floor of the north aisle is
a slab on which the effigy of the deceased, and the inscriptions
are cut on the stone in the manner of a brass : such memorials
are rather uncommon. The mural monuments are s0 numerous,
that it is impossible to enumerate all of them. On the north wall
of the choir is one which cannot be passed over ; it is to the me-
wory of Captain Bond, and represents an encampment. la the fore
ground is a large open tent, within which the subject of the monu-
ment is sitting in a thoughtful posture, at a table; at the side of
the tent, a page holds his horse ; and in the front are two sentinels,
with blanderbusses, in large boots and slouched hats. The whole
is inclosed in a frontispiece, consisting of two composite columns,
sustaining an entablature and pediment, the cornice broken to ad-
mit the arms. Below the sculpture is atablet, with the following
inscription :—

MEMORIR SACRVM
AEERE THIS PLACE RESTETU YE B0ODY OF YE WORTHY CITIZEN & SOLDER
NARTIN BOND ESQ 50N OF WILL BOND SHERIEF & ALDERMAN OF LONDON
B8 WAS CAPTAINE IN YE YEARE I568 AT YB CAMP AT TILBYRY & AFTER
RENAINED
CHIEP CAPTAINE OF YE TRAINED EANDES OF THIS CITIY VNTIL HIS DEATH.
BRWAS A MARCHANT ADVENTVRER & FPREBE OF YE COMPANY OF HABER-
DASHERS
NE LIVED TO TIE AGE oF 85 YEARES AND DYED IN NAY 1648
WIS PYETY PRVDENCE COVRAGE AND CHARITY HAVE LBIT
BDEHINDE HIN A NEVER DYEBING MONVMENT.




133 HISTORY OF LONDON.

Quam prudens his miles erat quam nobile pectus
Nouereint princeps patria costra duces
Cui quanta fuit pietas, quam larga manusq
Pouperis agnascunt viscera, templa togee
Miles hic et ciuis qualem vie millibus unam
Socia referre queant, nec meminisse parem
PATRYVO BENE MERITO GVLIELNIS BOND ARMIGER POSVIT

From the above we learn that all this military sculpture is for a
captain of the trained bands. The monument, however, is in-
valuable, as displaying to perfection the costume of the day,
which is that worn by the military at the time of the civil
wars.

There is also a monument in the nave, representing the deceased
with his wife, kneeling in the act of prayer at an altar, and nine
sons and seven daughters behind them, in the same pious attitude,
in the costume of the times. It is to the memory of John Robin-
son, alderman, who died Feb. 19, 1599.

The whole of the monuments are in excellent preservation,
and, as such, reflect great credit on the parish. They may
be said to form a complete gallery of sculpture, of the period
comprehending the reign of Elizabeth, and the two first monarchs
of the Stuart family, and would be highly interesting to any bhis-
torical painter who wished to copy from original subjects, instead
of taking his costume at second-hand, a practice which too many
are guilty of. Such monuments as these are truly valuable, and
their preservation isa subject of greater importance than the
erection of the modern, unmeaning, and uninstructive shapes of
marble which 11 up the cathedral.

The only modern -monument worthy of notice is that of Francis
Bancroft ;* it is however only remarkable for its dimensions ; it is
intended to represent a mausoleum in the form of a cruciform tem-
ple ; but the designer has only produced a heavy mass of rusti-
cated stone-work, without any feature to recommend it.

¢ He was one of the lord mayor’s
oficers, and having, in a course of
years,amassed a very considerable sum
of money, by the most mercenary and
illegal practices in his office, left the
principal part of it in trust to the Dra-
pers’ company, to found and maintain
an alms house, for (wenty-four alms.
men, a chapel, and a school, and to
keep this monument, which he erected
in his life-time, in good and substantial
repair ; within which he is embowe.ed,
embalmed, and in a chest, or box,
made with a lid, to fall down, with a
pair of hinges, without any fastening ;
and a piece of suare glass in the lid,
just over his face. It is a very plain

monument almost square, and has a
door for the sexton to go in and clear
it from dust and cobwebs; but the
keys of the iron rails about the monu-
ment, and of the vault door, are kept
by the clerk of the Drapers’ company.
The mivister has twenty shilliogs for
preaching a sermon, once a year, in
commemoration of Mr. Bancroft's
charities; on which occasion, the alms-
men and scholars atlend at church,
and are, by the will of the founder, en-
tertained with a good dinner, at some
neighbouring public-house. The sex-
ton has forty-shilliogs a year for keep-
ing the monument clear of dust.
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The length of this church is 111 feet ; the breadth 50, the height
38, and that of the tower 68 feet.

in the vestry, which is situated on the south side of the church
near the communion-table, is an old helmet and a survey of the
pearish made in 1818.

Priory of St. Helen.

The priory of St. Helen was founded about 1212, in the latter
part of the reign of John, for Alardus de Burnham, dean of St.
Paul’s, to whom application was made by ¢ William, the son of Wil-
liam the goldsmith,’ to found this priory, died the 14th of August,
1216. The nuns of this priory were of the Benedictine order, and
wore a black habit, with a cloak, cowl, and veil.

William de Basing, one of the sheriffs of London, in the 2nd
Edw. 11. is represented to have bcen a great benefactor to this
priory ; augmenting it both in buildings and revenue.

Reginald Kentwode, dean of St. Paul’s, with his chapter, made
she following constitutions for the nuns of this house in 1439.

Constitutiones per decanum et capitulum ecclesse cathedralis
8. Pauli Lond. facta, moniales ¢ it 8. Helene prope Bishop’s
gale, snfra civitatem London. tangentes.

Reginald Kentwode, dean and chapeter of the church of Paules,
to the religious women, prioresse and covent of the priory of Seynt
Eleyns of oure patrunage and jurisdictyon inmediat, and every
manne of the sayde priory gretyng in God, with desyre of religyous
observances and devocyon. Foras moche as in owre visitacyon
ordinarye in yowre priorye, boothe in the hedde, and in the mem-
bris late actually exersyd, we have founden many defautes and
excesses, the wiche nedy the notory correccyon and reforma-
cyon; we, wyllyng vertu to be cherisshed, and holy relygion for to
be kepte, asin the rules of yowre ordyerre ; we ordeyne and make
certeyne ordenauns and injunccyons, weche we sende you iwrete
and seelyd undir owre commone seele for to be kepte in forme as
thei ben articled and wretyn unto yow.

Firste, we ordeyne and injoyne yow, that devyne servyce be don
by yow duly nythe and day ; and silence duly kepte in due tyme
and place, aftir the observaunce of yowr religio ne.

Also we ordeyne and injoyne yow prioresse and covente, and eche
of you synglerly, that ye make due and hole confession to the con-
fessor assigned be us.

Also we injoyne yow prioresse and covent, that ye ordeyne con-
venyent place of firmarye, in the wiche yowre seeke sustres may be
honestly kepte and relevyd withe the costee and expences of yowre
house acustomed in the relygion dvryng the tyme of heere seke-
nesse.

Ao we injoyne yow prioresse, that ye kepe yowre dortour,
and by thereinne by nythe, aftyr observaunce of yowre religion,
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withowt that the case besuche, that the lawe and the observaunce
of yowre religione suffreth yow to do the contrarye.

Also we ordeyne and injoyne yow prioresse and covent, that moo
seculere be lokkyd withinne the boundes of the cloystere ; ne no
seculere personescome with-inne afiyr the belle of complyne, ex-
cept wymment servauntes and mayde childeryne lerners. Also ad-
mitte noone sojournauntes wymment with owte lycence of us,

Also we ordeyne and injoyne yow prioresse and covent, that ye,
ne noone of yowre sustres use nor haunte any place withione the pri-
ory, thoroughe the wiche evel suspeccyone orsclaunderemy the aryse ;
weche places for certeyne causes that move us, we wryte not here
inne in owre present iniunccyone, but woll notyfie to yow prior-
esse: nor have no lokyng nor spectacles owte warde, thought the
wich ye mythe falle in worldly dilectacyone.

Also we ordeyne and injoyne yow prioresse and covent. that
some sadde woman and discrete of the seyde religione, honest, wele
named, be assigned to the shittyng of the cloysters dorys, and
kepyug of the keyes, that non persone have entre ne issu into the
place afiyr complyne belle; nethir in noo other tyme be the wiche
the place may be disclaunderid in tyme comyng.

Also we ordeyne and injoyne yow prioresse and covent, that noo
seculere wymmen slepe benythe with inne the dortour, with owte
specialle graunte hadde in the chapetter house, among yow alle.

Also we ordoyne and injoyne yow, that noone of yow speke, ne
comme with no seculere persone; ne sende ne receyve letteres
myssy ves or geltes of any seculere persone, with oute lycence of the
prioresse: and that there be an other of yowre sustres present,
assigned be the prioresse to here and recorde the boneste of bothe
partyes, in suche commynication; and such letters or geftes sent
or receyvyd, may turne into honeste and wurchepe, and none into
velanye, ne disclaundered of yowre honeste and religione.

Also we ordeyne and injoyne yow prioresse and covent, that
none of yowre sustres be admitted to noon office, but they that
be of gode name and fame. ,

Also we ordeyne and injoyne yow, that ye ordeyne, and chese
on of yowre sustres, honest, abile, and cunnyng of discrecyone,
the whiche can, may, and schall have the charge of techyng and
informacyone of yowre sustres that ben uncunnyng for to teche
hem here service, and the rule of here religione.

Also, for as moche, that diverce fees perpetuelle corrodies and ly-
vers have be grauntyd befor this tyme to diverce officers of
yowre house and other persones, whech have hurt the house, and
because of delapadacyone of the godys of yowre seyde house, we
ordeyne and injoyne yow, that ye reseve noone officere to perpe
tuelle fee of office, ne graunte no annuete, corody, ne lyvery, with
owt specialle assent of us.

Also we enjoyne yow, that alle daunsyng and revelyng be ut-
terlely forborne among yow, except Christmasse and other honest
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tymys of recreacyone, among yowre selfe usyd in absence of secu-
lers in alle wyse. )

Also we injoyne yow prioress, that there may be a doore at the
Nonnes Quere, that noo straungers may loke on them, nor they
on the straungers, warme thei bene at divyne service.

Also we ordene and injoyne yow prioresse, that there be
made a hache of canabyll heythe, crestyd withe pykys of herne td
fore the entre of yowre kechyne, that noo straunge pepille may
entre with certeyne cleketts avysed be yow and be yowre stward
to suche personys as yow and hem thynk onest and conabell.

Also we injoyne yow prioresse, that non nonnes have noo keyed
of the posterne doore that gothe owte of the cloystere into the
churche yerd bat the prioresse, for there is moche comyng in and
owte unlefalle tymys. '

Also we ordeyne and injoyne, that no nonne have, ne receyve
noo schuldrin wyth hem into the house forseyde, but yif that the
profite of the comonys tunre to the vayle of the same howse.

Thes ordenauns and injunccyons and iche of them, as thei be re-
bersid above, we sende into yow prioresse and covent, chargyng and
commanding yow, and iche of yow alle, to kepe hem truly and
boly in vertu of obedience, and upon peyn of contempte: and that
ye doo them be redde and declared foure tymes of the yeere in
yowre chapell before yow, that thei may be hadde in mynde, and
kepte under peyhe of excommunicacyone and other lawfulle peynes
to be yove into the persone of yow prioresse, and into singuler
persones of the covent, wheche we purpose to use agens yow in
case that ye dissobeye us: reservyng to us and owre successours
powre thes forsayde ordinaunces and injunctiouns to chaunge, de-
clare, adde, and dimunue, and with hem despence, as ofte as the
ase requirethe, and it is nedfulle. In to whiche wittenesse we
setle owre common seele. Yovyn in owre chapitter house the xxi
day of the monyth of June, the yere of owre Lord MccccxxXiX. et
anno regni rcgis Henrici sexti, postconquestum, decimo seplimo.

At the dissolution of religious houses, this priory was surren-
dered, 25th November, 30 Hen. VIII; and was then valued at
814/, 2s. 6d. ; but according to the statement made in the new edition
of the ¢ Monasticon,’ the clear revenue appears to have amounted
to 3201, 15s. 83d.

After the suppression, Henry VIIL, in the 34th of his reign,
gave the site of the priory and its church, called the ¢ Nun’s Church,’
to Richard Williams, alias Cromwell: and Edward VI. in the 4th
of his reign, by his letters patent, bearing date the 1st of April,
conferred the jurisdiction of this place on the bishop of London
and his successors, which was afterwards confirmed by Mary in the
11th year of her reign; though since it has been granted back, as
alwo the advowson of the church, to the dean and chapter of St.
Paul’s, who are both patrons and ordinaries of the place, and collate
to this church as a vicarage.
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Three years after the dissolution of this monastery, the following
survey was made:—

The late priorye of saint Elenes, within the citye of London, and
the view and survey ther taken the xxist daye of June, in the
xxXxiii yeare of the raigne of our soveraigne lord kinge Henrye
the viiith," by Thomas Mildmay, one of the king’s auditors there-
unto assigned ; that is to saye,

The parishe of saint Elenes, within the citie of London, and the
scite of the late priory therin.

Fyrste, thecheafentreor comingeinto thesamelate priory,ysinand
by the street gate, lyying in the parishe of St. Elenes, in Byshops-
gate streat, which leadeth to a little cowrte next adioyning to the
same gate, havinge chambers, howses, and buyldinges, environinge
the same, out of wch cowrte there is an entre leadinge to an inner
cowrte, wch on the north side is also likewise environed with
edificyons and buyldings, called the stewardeslodging, witha coun-
tinge house apperteninge to the same. Item, next to the same cowrte
ther is a faire ketchinge, withe a pastery house, larder houses, and
other howses of office, apperteninge to the same; and at the est
ende of the same kechyn and entre leadinge to the same hall, wt
a litle parlor adioyning, having under the same hall and parlor
sundrie howses of office, next adioyning to the cloyster ther, and
one house called the covent parlor. Iiem, iii fair chambers adioyn-
inge to the hall, whearof the one over the entree leadinge to the
cloyster ; thother over the buttree, and the third over the larder.
Item, from the said entre by the hall to the cloyster, wheb cloyster
yet remaneth holly leaded, and at the north side of the same cloyster
a faire long howst called the Fratree. Item, at thest ende of the
same cloyster, a lodginge, called the Suppryor’s lodging, w a
litlo gardin lieing to thesame. And by the same lodginge a pare
of staires lcading to the dortor, at the south end whearof ther is
a litle howse, wherein the evidence of the said howse nowe dou
remayne, wth all howst and lodginges vnder the same dortor. Item,
at the west ende of the same cloyster, a dore leadinge in to the
nunnes late quire, extending from the dore out of the churche-yarde
unto the lampe or perticyon devidin the priorye from the parishe,
wel is holly leaded. Item, at the estend of the said cloyster, an
entre leading to a little garden, and out of the same littell garden
to a faire garden, called the covent-garden, conteninge by esti-
macon half an acre. And, at the north end of the said garden, a
dore leading to another garden, called the kechin-garden, and at
the west ende of the same ther is a dove-howse; and in the same
garden a dore to a faire wood-yerd, wtb howses, partic’ons, and
gardens, within the same wood-yerd. A tenement, wtt a garden,
a stable, and other thappurtenances to the same belonginge, called
Elizabeth Hawte's lodginge. All which premisses ben rated, ex-
tentyd, and valued, the king’s highnesse to be discharged of the
reparac’ons, of the yerely value of vil. xiiis. iiiid
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Item, one tenement therin, in the hold of Willm Baker, by the
yeare, Xx8.

Item, one other tenement, in the hold of Jane Julian, Ly the
yeare, xiiis. iitid.

Item, one other tenement ther, in the hold of Edmunde Drewer,
by the yeare, xiiis. iiiid.

litem, one other tenement ther, in the hold of Eye Sturdye, by
the yeare, xiiis. iiiid.

Item, one other tenement ther, in the hold of Lanclott Harryson,
by the yeare, xiiis. iiiid. ’

Summa, viiil. xiiis. iiiid.
Ex! p’ Thomam Mildmaie,
Auditor.

The nun’s hall, and other houses thereto appertaining, were,
after the dissolution, purchased by the company of Leathersellers,
who converted the nun’s hall into a common hall, for the purpose
of bolding their occasional meetings, and settlements of accounts ;
and it continued 1n such use, until it was demolished, with the other
remnants of the priory in 1799, to make way for the foundations
of the present St. Helen's-place.

The seal of this priory represents the discovery of the cross by
the empress Helena, who is represented holding in her right hand
the three nails ; her right arm round the shaft of the cross: on the
other side of the cross are several females, kneeling with extended
armsand uplifted countenances. The legend is SIGILL - MONALIUM :
SANCTE: ELENE: LONDONIARUM :* -

Hospital of St. Mary of Bethlehem.

At a small distance from the north side of St. Botolph’s church,
is a narrow place, called Alderman’s walk, nearly adjoining to
which are a street and several courts, known by the general name
of Oid Bethlehem. On this spot formerly stood a priory of canons,
with brethren and sisters. It was dedicated to St. Mary of Beth-
lebem, and was founded by Simon Fitzmary, one of the sheriffs of
London, in the year 12486. .

King Edward 11i. granted a protection for the brethren, militie
beate Marie de Bethlehem, within the city of London, the four-
teenth yesr of his reign.

The following is a copy of an ancient deed of gift given to Beth-
lehem, or Bedlem, by Simon, the son of Mary :—

¢ To all the children of our mother holy church, to whom this
present writing shall come, Simon the son of Mary sendeth greeting
in our Lord. 'Where, among other things, and before o:her lands,
the high altitude of the heavenly councils, marvelously wrought by

® A perfect im&:uion of this scal engraved by Dr. Rawlinson: it

ttoa , dated 1534, 26 is nlso engraved in Malcolm's Lon-

Viil., among the records of dinium Redivivam, vol. iii. p. 848.
-sellers company, waa
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some readier devotion, ought to be more worshipped, of which
things the mortal sickness (after the fall of our first father Adam)
hath taken the beginning of this new repairing: therefore, for-
sooth, it beseemeth worthy, that the place in which the sonne of
God is become man, and hath proceeded from the Virgin’s womb,
which is increaser and beginner of man’s redemption, namely, ought
to be with reverence worshipped, and with beneficial portions to be
increased. ‘Therefore it is that the said Simon, sonne of Mary,
baving special and singular devotion to the church of the glorious
virgin at Bethlem, where the same virgin of her brought forth our
Saviour incarnate, and lying in the cratch, and with her own milk
nourished, and where the same child to us there born, the chivalry
of the heavenly company sang the new hymn, gloria in excelsis
Deo. The same time, the increaser of our health (asa king, and
his mother a queene) willed to be worshipped of kings. A new
starre going before them at the honour and reverence of the
same child, and his meek mother: and to the exaltation of
my noble lord Henry, king of England, whose wife and child the
aforesaid mother of God, and her only Son, have in their keeping
and protection; and to the manifold increaseof this city of London,
in which I was born; and also for the health of my soul, and the
souls of my predecessors and successors, my father, mother, and
my friends; and especially for the souls of Guy of Marlowe, John
Durant, Ralph, Ashwye, Maud, Margaret, and Dennis, women;
have given, granted, and by this my present charter here have
confirmed to God, and to the church of St. Mary of Bethlem, all
my lauds which I have in the parish of St. Botolph without
Bishopsgate of London ; that is to say, whatsoever I there now
have or had, or in time to come may have, in houses, gardens,
pools, ponds, ditches, and pits, and all their appurtenances, as they
be closed in by their bound, which now extend in length from the
king’s high sireet east, to the great ditch in the west, which is
called deep ditch, and in breadth, to the lands of Ralph Downing
in the north, and to the land of the church of St. Botolph in the
south, to have and to hold the aforesaid church of Bethlem, in
free and perpetual alms; and also to make there a priory, and to
ordainapriorand canons, brothers,and alsosisters ; whenJesus Christ
shall enlarge his grace upon it: And in the same place, the rule
and order of the said church of Bethlem, solemnly professing which
shall bear the token of a star openly in ‘their copes and mantles
of profession, and for to say divine service; therefore the souls
aforesaid, and all christian souls, and especially to receive there
the bishop of Bethlem, canons, brothers, and messengers of the
c.l:n;ch of Bethlem, for evermore, as often as they shall come
thither.

Andthat a church or oratory there shall be built, as soon as our
Lord shall enlarge his grace, under such form, that the order; in-
stitution of priors, canons, brothers, sisters, of the visitation, sor-
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rection, and reformation of the said place, to the bishop of Bethlem,
and his successors, and to the charter of this church, and of his
messengers, as often as they shall come hither, as shall seem to
them expedient, no man’s contradiction, notwithstanding, shall
pertain evermore, saving always the services of the chief lords, as
much as pertaineth to the said lands. And to the more surety of
this thing, I bave put myself out of this land, and all mine; and
lord God(rey, then chosen of the nobles of the city of Rome, bishop
of Bethlem, and of the pope, confirmed then by his name in Eng-
Iand, in his name, and of his successors, and of the chapter of his
charch of Bethlem, into bodily possession. I have intended and

iven to his possession all the aforesaid lands, which possession

e hath received and entered in form abovesaid. And in token of.
subjection and reverence, the said place in London, without
Bishopsgate, shall pay yearly in the said city a mark sterling at
easter, to the bishop of Bethlem, his successors, or his messengers,
And if the faculties or goods of the said place (our Lord granting)
happen to grow more, the said place shall pay more in the name
of pension at the said term to the mother church of Bethlem.
This (forsooth) gift and confirmation of my deed, and the putting:
to of my seal for me and mine heirs, I have steadfastly made strong,
the year of our Lord God a thousand two hundred forty seven,
the Wednesday after the feast of St. Luke the Evangelist: These
being witnesses, Pyers, the son of Aleyne, then mayor of London;
Nicholas Bet, then sheriff of the said city, and alderman of the said:
ward; Ralph Sparling, alderman; Godfrey of Campes, Simon
Comicent, Simon Bonner, Robert of Woodford, Thomas of Wood-
ford, Walter Pointell, Walter of Woodford, &c.

Newecourt says, that in the year 1362, an agreement was entered’
into between the master and bretbren, and John de Bradeley,
recior of St. Botolph, that when the chapel of this hospital was
finished, the master and brethren should receive the oblations and
sbventions (or church fees,) of all that were buried in the chapel,

or consecrated ground, excepting the parishioners of St. Botolph,.

whose fees and gifts were to be equally divided between the
parties. By the same agreement the master and brethren were
to receive the tithes of gardens, fruit, and grass, but no other

dues of the rector. The composition reccived by the rector was-

134. 4d. per annum.

Stephen Gennings, merchant-taylor, gave forty-four pounds to-
wards the purchase of the patronage of this hospital, by his testa-
ment, anno 1523, .

And, in the year 1546, the mayor and commonalty purchased the
mron-ge thereof, with all the lands and tenements thereunto be-

gin

. The same year Henry VIIl. gave this hospital to the

city, and it has ever since been in their possession,
In the year 1551, a proteclion was granted, by letters patent
from king Edward V1. dated March 7, to John Whitehead, proctor
YoL. . L
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for this liétpital of Bethlen, to beg within the éounties of Lincoln
and Cambridge, the city of London, and the isle of Ely, for one
year.

At a court of asldermeén, held on Tuesday the 7th of April,
anno 8 Edward VI. it was ordered, That the inhabitants within
the precinct of Bethlem should be, from thenceforth, united to the
perish church of St. Botolph without Bishopsgate, and so by the
parson and parishioners of thé same parish accepted and taken,
and to be allotied and charged with them to all offices and charges
(tythes and clerks wages excepted); in consideration whereof, the
parson of the parish was to receive yearly out of the chamber
of London twenty shillings, and the parish clerk six shillings and
eight-pence.

In the year 1569, sir Thomas Roe, merchant-taylor, mayor,
caused to be inclosed with a wall of brick about one acre of
ground, being part of the said hospital of Bethlem, to wit, on the
west, on the bank of Deep Ditch,* so called from, parting the said
wall of Bethlem from the Moorfield. This he did for burial ease
to such parishes in London as wanted convenient grouud within
their parishes. The lady his wife was there buried (by whose per-
suasion he inclosed it), but himself, born in London, was buried in
the parish church of Hackney.

is was called New Church-yard, near Bethlem ; where, upon
‘Whit-Sunday, the lord mayor, and his brethren the aldermen, used
to resort to hear a sermon: and this was practised anno 1584,
¢ When (according to a letter from recorder twood to the lord
treasurer) a very sermon was preached at this new church-
yard before the lord-mayor, sic Edward Osborn, and his brethren;
and, by reason no plays were the same day [+. e. Whit-Suaday, as
there used to be] all the city was quiet.” is has been for u con-
siderable time discontinued.

The church or chapel of this hospital were taken down in the
reign of queen Elizabeth, and houses built there by the governors
of Christ’s-Hospital, in London.

On the south side of this church-yard, over a folding gate, was
the following inscription :—

¢ Thomas Koe, Miles, sum Pretor esset Londinensis, hunc
Locum Reipublica in usum Publice Segmllura communem
&uo Sumptu dedsicavit, Anno Dom. 1539.

Priory of St. Mary Spital, or New Hospital of our Lady with-
out Bishopsgate.

This priory and hospital were founded by Walter Brune and
Roesia his wife, for canons regular of the order of Augustine.
Walter, archdeacon of London, laid the first stone, in the year

¢ What was called Broker’s Row, and now Bloomfield-strect.
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1197. William ™ de Sancta Maria, ¢then bishop ef' London, des
dicated it to the honour of Jesus Christ, and his mother, the pere
petual Virgin Mary, by the name of Domus Dei st Beate Marse
extra Bishopsgate, in the perish of St, Botolph: the bounds
whereof, as appeareth by composition betwixt the parson and prior:
of the sid hospital concerning tythes, begin at Bomrd’c-fom.‘
towards the south, and extend in breadth to the parish of St.
Leonard, 8horeditch, towards the north, and in length from the
King’s-street on the west, to the bishop of London’s field, calied
Lollesworth, on the east. The of this St. Mary Spital, for
the emortising and propriation of the priory of Bikenacar in Essex
to this said house of St. Mary Spital, gave to Henry VI1I. four bun-
dred pound;, in the twenty-second of his reign.

This hospital was surrendered the 26th of Henry VIII., and its
revenues amounted to 478!. 6s. 8d. per ann. Besides ornaments of
the chureh, aud other goods pertaining to the hospital, there were
found standing an hundred and eighty beds, well furnished, for
receipt of the poor of charity ; for it was an hospital of great relief.
8ir Henry Plesington, knight, wes buried there A.D. 1452.

‘The site of the l}’rim-y now occupied by Stewart and Duke-streets,
was granted 34 Hen. V1IL to Stephen Vaughan.

On the site of this botp:&l was the residence of a famous Italian
merchant and ambassador, much employed by queen Elizabeth,
samely, sir Horatio Pallavicini. And in the same house, in the
first year of king James I. the ambassador from the archduke of
Austria was lodged, with his company. .

Queen Elizabeth, in the month of April, 1560, eame in grest
state from St. Mary Spital, attended with a thousand men in har-
newss, with shirts of mail, and corslets, and morris-pikes, and ten
great pieces carried through London unto the court, with drusas,
flutes, and trumpets sounding, and two morris-dancers; and in a
A par ‘;‘ll"::ebr:o hurch-yard hospital, and

A c -y rtaining to this ital, a
nv«s“ftom the rest witha brickp:all, was for a l«:l; time ree
maining, with & pulpit cross therein (somewhat like to one that was
in St. Paul’s church-yard) ; against which, on the south side, bas
fore the charnel and chapel of St. Edmund the bishop, and 8¢t
Mary Magdalen,* was a handsome house of two stories high, for
the mayor, aldermen, sheriffs, and other persons of distinction to
sit in, te hear the sermons preached in the Easter holidays. In the
part over them stood the bishop of London, and other prelates;
afterwards the aldermens’ ladies used to stand or sit at a window

¢ It was for a long time a custom,’ says Mr. Maitland,. ¢ on Good
Fridey in the afternoon, for some learned man, by appointment of
the prelates, to preach a sermon at Paul’s Cross, treating of Christ’s
pamsion; and upon the three next Easter holidays, Mondsy, Tues-

® Which wes Sounded by W. Evesham, citisen and pepperer, about 1991,

L2
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day, and Wednesday, other learned men, by the like appointment,
used to preach in the forenoon at the said Spital, to persuade the
articles of Christ’s resurrection: and then, on Low-Sunday, be-
fore moon, another learned man, at Paul’s-Cross, was to make
rehearsal of those four former sermons, either commending or re-
proving them, as to him (by judgment of the learned divines)
was thought convenient : and, that done, he was to meke a sermon
of himself; which in all were five sermons in one. At these ser-
mons, so severally preached, the mayor, with his brethren the alder-
men, were accustomed to be present in their violets at St, Paul’s on
Good-Friday, and in their scarlets, both they aud their wives, at the
Spital in holidays, except Wednesday in violet; and the
mayor, with his brethren, on Low-Sunday, in scarlet, at Paul’s-.
Cross. The pulpit was broken down in the grand rebellion. Siuce
the Restoration these sermons are continued by the name of the
Spital sermons at St. Bride's, with the like solemnity, on Easter
Monday, Tuesday, and Wednesday, every year.*

Respecting the antiquity of this custom, it appears in the year
1391, king Richard having procured from Rome confirmation of
such statutes and ordinances as were made in the parliament begun
at Westminster and ended at Shrewsbury, he caused the same con-
firmation to be read and pronounced at Paul’s Cross, and at St.
Mary Spital, in the sermons before all the people. Philip Malpas,
one of the sheriffs in the year 1439, the eighteenth of Henry VII,

ve twenty shillings by the year to the three preachers at the
g:)iul. Stephen Forster, mayor, in the year 1454, gave forty-
shillings to the preachers of Paul’s Cross and Spital. The afore-
said house, wherein the mayor and alderman sat at the Spital, was
built (for that purpose) out of the goods, and by the executors of
Richard Rawson, alderman, and Isabel his wife, in the year 1488.

In the year 1594, this pulpit, being old, was taken down, and a
new one set up, the preacher’s face turned towards the south, which
before was towards the west, Also a large house (on the east side
of the said pulpit) was then built for the governors and children
of Christ’s Hospital to sit in; and this was done out of the goods
of William Elkins, alderman : but, within the first year, the same
bouse decaying, and like to have fallen, was again, with great cost
repaired at the city’s charge.t

Brotherhood of St. Nicholas.

On the west side of Bishopsgate street without the gate, were
certain tenements of old time, pertaining toa brotherhood ot St.
Nicholas, granted to the parish clerks of London, for two chap-
lains to be keﬁt)in the chapel of St. Mary Magdalen, near unto the
Guildhall of London, in the twenty-seventh of Henry VI. The
first of the houses towards the north, and against the wall of the
city, was some time a large inn or court, called the Wrestlers, from
such a sign; and the last in the high-street, towards the south, was

® The Spital sermons are now preached at Christ-charch, Newgate stroet.
+ Maldeds Hist of London, 1. p. 800, !
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sometime also an inn, called the Angel, from such a sign. Amongst
these said tenements was, on the same street side, an entry or
court to the common hall of the said parish clerks, with alms-honses,
seven in number, adjoining, for parish-clerks, and their wives, their
widows, such as were advanced in years, and not able for labour.
One of these, by the said brotherhood of parish-clerks was allowed
sixteen pence the week ; the other six had each of them nine-pence
the week, according to the patent thereof granted. ‘This brother-
bood, being suppressed ; in the reign of Edward VI. the hall, with
the other buildings there, were given to Sir Robert Chester, &
knight of Cambridgeshire; against whom the parish clerks com-
menced & suit in the reign of queen Mary; and being likely to
have prevailed, the said sir Robert Chester pulled down the hall,
sold the timber, stone, and lead, and thereupon the suit was ended.
The alms-houses remained in queen Elizabeth’s hands,

Bishopsgate.

Tha exact date of the foundation of this gate is not known. Mr.
Strype conceives it was erected by Erkenwald, son of Offa king
of l;:min, and bishop of London, whom historians mention as
the founder of two religious houses, one at Chertsey, in Surrey,
and another at Barking, in Essex, where he died, anno 685, and
was afterwards canonized.

The most ancient notice of this gate, according to Stowe, was
that William Blund, one of the sheriffs, in 1210, sold to Serle
Mercer and William Almaine, procurators, or wardens of London
bridge, all his land, with the garden in the parish of St.Botolph
without, Bishopsgate.

Henry III. confirmed to the merchants of the Hanse, who bad
s house in the city called Guildhalla Teutonicorum, certain
liberties and privileges on condition that they repaired this gate H
Edward I. also confirmed the same; but it appears they did not
fulfill the sgreement, for in this reign they were presented by some
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of the warde to the judges itinerant, sitting in the Tower it these
.words, ¢ That the Dutch do net maintain Bishopsgate so well as
they ought to do, to the damage of the city; although they were
made free of it on tha. account.” Upon this Gerard Marbod, alder»
man of the Hanse, and others of their country, granted 210 marke
to the mayer and commonalty, and covenanted that they and their
successors should repair the gate from time to time. In the year
1470 the gate was beautifully rebuilt by those merchents.

On the south side over the gateway, was placed a stone image
of a bishop with a mitre on his head: he had a long beard, eyes
sunk, and an old mortified face, and was supposed to represent St.
Erkenwald.

On the north side was another figure of & bishop with & smooth
face, reaching out his right hand to bestow his benediction, and
holding a crosier in his left, who is thought to have bden bishop
William the Norman. This last was accompanied by two other
figures in stone, supposed to represent king Alfred, and his son
Eldred, earl of Mercia. In the year 1551, the above-mentioned
merchants pre stone for rebuilding the gate; but that com-
pany being dissolved ahout this period, a stop was put to the
work, and the old gate remained till the year 1731, when it was
quite taken down, and rebuilt at the expense of the city, When
it was almost finished, the arch of the gate fell down; but though
it was a great thoroughfare, and this accident happened in the mid-
dle of day, no person was hurt.

Over the gateway of the new ereetion, was a carving of thecity
" arms, supported by dragons, and on éach side of the gate was a
postern for the convenience of foot passengers.

The rooms in the ancient gate were appropriated to the use of
one of the lord mayor’s carvers; but, in the stead thereof, he was

id twenty pounds per annum by the city. The site of the gate
is marked by a tablet, with the following inscription surmounted
by a mitre: .-

On this place
stood Bisnorsaats.

In the latter part of 1826, a mutilated statue of white
marble, measuring about 3 feet 8 inches in height was discovered
near the site of this gate, in forming what is now called Liver-

l-street, which unites the ancient site of Moorfields with
ishopsgate-street. It evidently represents St. Peter attired in
a dalmatica and cope, with a chasuble on his left arm ; he holds
a key in his right hand and a book in his left; and bears the
pall. It is of coarse workmanship, headless; and heneath the
feet is an ornamented slab. It is not improbable that this was
one of the statues which adorned the ancient gate, and might
Jjustly be described as a bishop ; this saint always appearing with
& mitre and tiara on his head.* .
® It isengraved on wood, from a drawing by Mr. Fisher in the Gent Mog.
- vol. xevi, part 9, pege $0D,
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In 34 and 35 Hen. VIIL an act was passed for paving several
sreets. ¢ The strete or highwaye leadynge from Bishopsgate
to above Shordyche church,” was described, in common with others
named, to “‘ be very foule, and full of pyttes, and sloughes, very pe-
rillous and noyouse, as well for all the kings subjects throughe, and
by them repay ynge and passynge, as well on horsebacke as on foot,
as also with carriage, and very necessarye to be kept cleane, for
the avoydynge of corrupt savours, and occasion of pestilence. *

The principal part of Grace, or Grass-church street, so called
from a grass market formerly held there, is in this ward; it isa
good street, inhabited principally by respectable shopkeepers.

Leadenhsll herb .market, the principal entrance to which is from
Gracechureh-street, is also in this ward

Bishopsgate-street is a long and spacious street, and consists
principally of handsome buildings ; but, as it all escaped the fire
of 1686, except the south end, many of the houses still remain, spe-
cimens of the ancient architecture of London.

The south end of this street was again burned in the year 1765,
and an elegant row of buildings erected on the spot. Inclearing
the rubbish, to lay the foundations of the new buildings, the
remains of an ancient church or chapel* were discovered, which
had long served as cellaring to the four houses that covered
this relic of antiquity ; but when, or by whom, this old church was
founded, cannot be traced. The inside of it measured forty feet in
length, and twenty-six in breadth, The roof was only ten feet
nine inches from the floor, occasioned by the raising of the ground
in this part of-the city :

It was conjectured, that the premises here mentioned were the
remains of a church, which once stood at the top of, or above,
Cornhill, dedicated to St. Andrew the Apostle; from which the
other church, at the corner of 8t. Mary Axe, dedicated to the
same saint, was distinguished by the addition of Undershaft.

About twelve feet farther to the north, and under the house,
where the fire was supposed to have begun, there was another
stone bnildini, thirty feet long, fourteen feet broad, and eight
feet high, with a door on the north side, a window at the east
end, and the appearance of another at the west end. This build-
ing was covered with a semicirculsr arch, made of small pieces
of chalk, in the form of bricks, and rubhed with stone, resem-
bling the arches of a bridge : but this structure did not appear
to have any connection with the first ; nor does any ancient his

give us the least account thereof, nor of any religious or
other remarkable foundation in this neighbourhood, that could
be 00 ely buried.

On the site of the above building was erected

® Engraved in the Gent."s Mag. vol. xxxvi, p. 35



‘152 HISTORY OF LONDON.
The London Tavern.

The exterior is of brick, and very plain, the interior quite the
contrary being fitted up in an elegant style. The principal room,
-which 15 on the third floor, is 73 feet long, 33 feet wide, and 36
feet in height ; the ceiling isslightly coved, and round the room
are attached pillars of the Corinthian order, the capitals and
‘bases being gilt, and the shafts, which are of Llue and gold, fluted ;
these pillars support a rich architrave, above which are caryatidms
supporting the cove which is ornamented with medallions painted
in oil, and stucco ornaments. At the north and south ends of
this noble room are coved recesses with galleries for music.
From the ceiling depend five chandeliers of cut glass, the same
that lord Amherst took to China as presents to the emperor, and
-on the failure of the embassy were brought back to England. On
the first floor is another spacious room, near 40 feet in length,
with a semi-circular recess, on each side of which are coupled
columns of the Corinthian order ; the ceiling is coved, and the
whole decorated in the same splendid style as the apartment last
described. The cellars are very extensive. The present proprie+
tors are Messrs. Bleaden, Alexander & Co.

The pump on this side of Bishopsgate street, against St. Mar-
tin Outwich church, is thus noticed by Stow :—

¢ Then in the very west corner ouer against the east end of St.
Martin Outwitch churche, (from whence the streete windeth to-
wardes the south) you had of olde time a fayre well with two
buckets so fastened, that the drawing up of the one, let downe
the other, but now of late (1598) that well is turned into a
pumpe.’

Opposite St. Martin Outwich church is the

' ‘ New London Tavern.

This is an extensive building ; the front is covered with stucco,
and it has a small portico, above which are the arms of the City of
.London. The principal room, which is on the second floor, is con-
siderably wider than the one above described, though™not quite so
long ; it is fitted up in the handsomest manner, the ceiling being
ornamented with gilt lyres and wreaths, and on the east side, is a
music gallery with an elliptical front; at each end of the room, are
false windows filled with looking-glasses, which has an excellent
effect. From the ceiling depend thirteen small but neat chande-
liers. On the other floors are several handsome rooms, and the
cellars are the most capacious of any tavern in London: they
consist of two tiers, one above the other, and are the foundation of
anoble house, erected by Sir C. Wren. The present proprietors
are Messrs. Peacock and Co.

On the same side of Bishopsgate-street, more northerly, is Crosby«
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square, the approach to which is under a gateway. .Heve is one of
the finest specimens of early domestic architecture in London.

.‘O;-oiby Place. . )

This house was built by.sir John Crosby, grocer and woolman,
in place of certain tenements, with their appurtenances, lat to him
by Alice Ashfield, prioress of St. Helen’s, and the convent, on a
ninety-nine years lease, from the year 1466 to the year 1535, for
the annual rent of eleven pounds six shillings snd eight-pence.
It was built of stone-und- timber, was very large and beautiful,
and the highest at that time in London. He was one of the sheriffs,
and an alderman in the year 1470, knighted by Edward IV. in the
year 1471, and died 1475, enjoying this stately building but a
short time.

What the contepts and particulars of the demise granted to sir
John by the prioress were, may be understood by the grant of
Crpsby Place, and the appurtenances, made by king Henry VAIII,
to Anthoiiy Bonvixi, an Italian merchant, Rex omnibus, &c. Cum
dlicia Ashfield, &c. Wherein are mentioned, first, the great .
messuage or tenement commonly called Crosby Place,” witha cer~
tain venell, s. ¢. lane or passage, that extended in length from the
east part of the said tenement, to the corner of the south end of &
certain little lane north, bending unto the priory close : &lso nine -
messuages, situate and lying in the said patish of St. Helen ; where- -
of six weresituate and lying between the front of the said tenement
and the front of the bell-house, or steeple, and the six messuages men-
tioned before; together with a certain void piece of land, situate in
tne said parish. extending in length towards the'east by the eaid
messuage, which Catherine Catesby formerly held, from the outward
part of the plat or post of the bell-house; ‘abutting upon the north
part. of the said _six messuages, and the King’s-street, unto the
cherch-yard there, five feet and a half assize ; and thence-extend- °
iag im breadth towards the south, directly to a certain-iénement
there, formerly.in the tenure of Robert Smith: and two miessuages
more of the aaid nine messuages jointly, situate within the close of
the priory ; of which one was heretofore in the tenure of the said
Robert Smith. And these were the tenements and appurtenances
beld of the priory of St. Helen by sir John Crosby.

Richatd, duke of Gloucester, and lord protector, afterwards
king of England, by the name of Richard I1I., was lodged in this

While his nephew, Edward V. reigned, he' here oontrived his
plots; and here the citizens came to him with the professions of
their love, and desiring him to accept the crown.

The inimitable Shakespear, in his historical play of Richard the
Third, notices Crosby Place, in the scene between Gloucester and
lady Anne, widow of Princé Edward, whom the former was sup-
posed to have killed, in the presence of Edward ]V, and his brother
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:Clarence. After his artful and sugcessful mmhg: of the lady,
he ismade by .the poet to address her in these words :—

Glo. Aud if thy poor devoted servant may
Bat beg one favour @t thy gracious hand,
Thou dost confirm his happiuess for ever.
Ann. What s jt?
Glo. That it muy pleass you leave these sad designs
To him that hath more cause to be a mourner,
And presently repair to Crosby-place .
Where—alter 1 have solemly interr*d
At Chertsey monast'ry this noble king,
1 will with all expedient daty see vou :
Grant me this boon.
4wn. With all my heart ; and much it joys metoo,
To see you are become so penitent. ¢

Since which time, among other, Antonio Bonvixi, a rich mer-
chant of Italy, dwelled there; on whom king Henry VIII. be-
stowed it, anno 1542, with all belonging toit; as it appears by
the copy of the grant, running thus : Sciatis, &e. “ lg:w ye
that we, of our apecial grace, certain knowledge and mere motion,
give and grant unto the said Anthony Bonvixi, the reversion and
reversions of the said messuage and tenement, with the appurten-
ances, commonly called Crosby-place ; and of all the said houses,
solars, cellars, gardens, lanes, messuages, tenements, void places of
land, and all other and singular premises with the appurtenances,
lying and situate in St. Helen’s, and parcel of the said late priory,
&c. Teste Rege apud Westmonast. 9 die Sept. Ann. Regns Reg.
Henrici Octavs 34.”

After him German Cioll dwelt here.

Then William Bond, alderman, increased thisthouse in height,
by building a turret on the top thereof. Hedied in the year
1576, and was buried in St. Helen’s church. Divers ambassadors
-have been lodged in this edifice ; namely, in the year 1586, Henry
Ramelius, chancellor of Denmark, ambassador unto the queen’s
majesty of England from Frederick II. king of Denmark. An am-
bassador of France, &. Sir John Spencer, alderman, purchased
this house, made great reparations, kept his mayoralty here, and
‘afterwards built a very large warehouse near thereanto.+

In the first of king James I. when divers ambassadors came into
England, monsieur de Rosney, great treasurer of France, with his
retinue (which was very splendid) were here lodged ; the house then
belonging to sir John Spencer.

Within Bishopsgate also, and very likely in this house, were
lodged tho youngest son of William prince of Orange, monsieur
Fulke, and the learned monsieur Barnevelt, who came from the
states of Holland and Zealand.

Upon s survey of the ¢xisting remains of Crosby house and the ad_
jacent neighbourhood, it will be found that the description of the man
sion with its adjuncts in the reign of Henry VIIIth, singularly agree®

® Richard Hl. act 1, 0000 3.+ Maitland, i, p, BOL..
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with the state of the site at present; modern houses having supplied
the places of such parts of the old mansion as have beent destroyed:
Entering by the gateway from Bishopsgate-street, the hall arrests
the eye of the passenger ; the remains consist of a lofty wall pierced
by windows. The architecture is the last declension of the pointed
style; each window is divided by a single mullion into two
lights, with cinquefoil arched heads, bounded by weather cornices ;
one of the windows now forms the entrance to the hall, being
ascended by a lofty flight of stone steps, beyond which is seen
the oriel, a semi-octagonal bow, lighted by four windows of a simi«
lar character with the others in the hall ; the perpendicular of the
wall is finished by a coping. A passage cut through the walls of
the hall leads into a quadrangle, which was once the grest court of
the mansion, it is now occupied by modern houses, and called Cros-
by-square ; at the south eastern anglea passage under the housesleads
through a brick arch of some degree of antiquity, into a narrow lane,
which leads to St. Mary Axe, and unites with the coiner of another
passage, which forms the communication between St. Helen’s and St.
Mary Axe, being the two lanes described in the grant of king Henry.

Where the steeple of St. Helen’s church formerly stood cannot.
be ascertained at the present day, but it is highly probable that the
campanile, which the grant refers to, occupied the site of the pre~
sent gateway between Great St. Helens and Bishopsgate-street,
and in that situation served for the double purpose of a bell tower
and a gateway to the close.

The principal remains of this noble building consist of three
spartments, viz. the hall, the council-chamber, and an ante-room,
forming two sides of a quadrangle. The hall has, on the east side,
eight beautiful flat pointed windows, and on the west side six, with
another beautiful octangular oriel window, whose finely executed
roof is made of stone from Caen in Normandy. The ceiling of
the ball is a flat-pointed arch, with three longitudinal and nine
transverse beams, highbly ornamented,and whose intersections form

27 small flat-pointed arches, with\
the same number of conical pendants, \
of which the centre one is far supe-
rior to the rest, but all most exquisite-
ly wrought. The interinediate spaces
are simply filled in with stiles and
Gothic mouldings, on the edges. The
whole is of oak. The arches rest on

AComel.  corbels, attached to the walls; one of

which and a pendant is here engraved. A Peasant. .

An ornamented frieze forms a border of the roof of the great
hall. It is composed of various carved devices in wood, represent-
iag grotesque heads, white rosss (the regal badgé of Bdward 1V.),
antiqoe shields, and other emblamatical devices, totally dissimiler
©oe with snother, T
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Theroe is a chimney in good preservation, ten feet six inches wide,
and seven feet high. This noble room is of stone, fifty-four fect in
length, twenty-seven in width, and forty feet in height. The
floor was originally paved with stone, chequer-ways, but is now
almost defaced. The council-room hasa very rich flat-pointed
arched ceiling, entirely of oak timber, composed of six transverse
beams, or principal rafters, highly ornamented with enriched half
circles; in the compartments are square sunk pannels, filled in with
quatrefoils, making a pleasing contrast between this room and
the hall: it measures forty feet in length, and twenty-two in
width.

Until within the last twenty-five years many fragments of stained
glass adorned and beautified several of the windows ; but they have
been accidentally broken and given away to the antiquarian visitors
who have occasionally investigated the place. Both the bow win-
dows on the south side of the council-room were taken down about
forly years since to form a staircase to the adjoining dwelling-house,
then the residence of Mr. Hall,

Very small vestiges of its formersplendid character distinguish the
upper part, and once ornamented roof of the council-chamber: of
the oak carvings, not the smallest fragment is left ; and the ancient
windows have given place to large modern sashes, resembling those
of a carpenter’s workshop. The ancient fire-place, opposite the
lower bow window of the council-chamber, must have appeared
very grand in its pristine state : within the memory of some per-
sons employed on the premises, vestiges of its having been sump-
tuously gilt were quite apparent. - This part of the building con-
sisted of two chambers, the lower and upper, the divisions by the
floor being between the two bow windows.

At the north-east end of the upper part of the council chamber
is a gothic door, communicating formerly with other parts of the
building, with a carved stone door case, evidently coeval with the
first building of the room. At the extreme north-west end of the
hall is a small gothic door, that probably might lead to a music
gallery on the north-west side, the door being nearly elevated to
half the height of the roof.

The late duke of Norfolk occasionally visited Crosby-hall, and
was so much pleased with the roof, that he employed an artist to
make correct drawings of the whole, and built his celebrated
banquetting room, at Arundel castle, Sussex, precisely on the
model of mahogany. In the spring of 1816, this beautiful edifice
was plundered of the whole of the handsome stone-work pillars
and ornamental masonry of the council-chamber, by order of the
proprietor, Strickland Freeman, esq., who removed them to his
seat at Henley-upon-Thames ; and, with the most barbarous taste,
erected & dairy withthem! The masons were employed six weeks
on this occasion, and all the fragments injured in the dilapidation
wery carefully comented and packed safe, previous to removal into
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the country. The building is at present in the occupation of
Messrs. Holmes and Co., packers. _

Nearly opposite Croshy-square, on the weat side of Bishopsgate-
street, is an entrance to the Excise office ; the front and principal
peart of which is in Brosd-street ward.

Returning to the east side of the street, isan arched entrance to
Great St. Helen’s, on the north side of which are alms-houses for
six poor men of the Skinners’ company, founded by sir A. Judd,
knt., 1551, and rebuilt by the company in 1729.

On the south side of the same place is a large mansion, formerly
the residence of sir J. Lawrence, lord mayor in 1665. It is of red
brick, with pilasters of the same, the capitals, which are composed,
being of stone. In the middle of two of them are the inscriptions
Alf, 1646. In the lane to the east of this edifice is a similar
mansion, only smaller, of red brick ; both are fine specimens of the
domestic style of architecture of the early part of the seven-
teenth century.

St. Helen's place, which is the next street to the north of the
last, is the site of the priory of St. Helen’s, the last remains of
which were most wantonly destroyed in 1799. Atthe west end of
Little St. Helen’s (as the small passage formerly occupying this
site was called,) was an old meeting-house of antique exterior,
probably erected in the reign ot Charles 1I., and at the end
was

Leatherseller's Hall.

This struclure was of plain exterior; within an arched entrance
was a court with a curious pump* surmounted with a mermaid much
matilated by time ; formerly, on state occasions, this figure spouted
two jets of wine from her breasts. On the right of the court, wasa
flight of thirteen steps, with a portico, consisting of two pillars of
the Ionic order, supporting an entablature and statues of Charity
and Justice on either side of the company’s arms; round the re-
maining sides of the court wasarange of offices with a terrace above
them. The hall had three large windows to the court plain. Those
onthe south side were three in number, and ornamented with keys,
borders and small pilasters: above, a frieze and cornice with win-
dows and alternate circular and triangular pediments, ‘The north
side had two rows of windows, ornamented as the south side. The
interior had one of the most elegant carved screenst in London, it
consisted of attached pillars of the Jonic order, with wreaths, scrolls,
basso relievos, &c., above it was a music gallery enriched with ter-
mini, &c. The whole was of oak polished. The cieling was en-
riched with stucco ornaments, and pendants, H. P. the company’s
arms, crown and thistle, &c. At the upper end of the hall wasa
statue of Edward VL ‘

. ving of this pump is in + An excellent engraving of this
Sn:its: m on‘ondon, f&, fm,. screen is in Mnlcolm‘n‘Londt’num Red.
copy of which is in the anoexed Plate.  vol. iii. p. 561, - :
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" Rrom the hall, a passage led to the council chamber a spacious
apartment with a handsome ceillng of of stucco, with the date 1567,
E. R, red rose, fleur de lis, arms, &c. The east end of this room
was one vast window, and the chimney ornamented with Doric pil-
lars, and entablature with caryatidee. From this room, there was
a flight of steps to the garden, which was an oblong square with
two grass plats, and a few shrubs. At the end of the passage no-
ticed above was a small room, ¢in the corners of the ceilings, of
which were some grotesque, and rather indecent figures.'”® The
whole edifice was of brick except the porch, and a small portion of
the western side of the great hall, which was built of the same
materials as the adjacent church. The great hall was erected on the
remains of the cloisters of the adjacent priory, the architecture of
which was of the pointed order, probably of the thirteenth century,
the whole extent was divided by dwarf octagon columns into two
aisles, the roof being groined in a plain but strong style. The whole
of this which would have existed for ages was wantonly destroyed,
in the year 1799, and the present St. Helen's place built.+

On the right of the entrance to the hall from Little St. Helen's was

" The Kitchen :

An ancient-looking apartment, in whi¢ were two emormous
chimneys between which was the date of 1623 ; adjoining wasa
small room furnished with stoves.

" On the dastruction of their hall the company removed to an old
:uilding nearly adjoining, which on August 20, 1819, wasdestroyed
fire. )
y'l’he company erected a new hall upon a different site, being
to the north of St. Helens place. It is alarge and handsome
edifice of brick with a small portico of four doric columns support-
ing an entablature with trygliphs and mutules. It consists in height

® Gent.'s Mag. vol. lxviii. p. 924. Lxivof that interesting and valusble
4+ A ground plan of the crypt and  work, Carter’s Ancient Avchitecture
ections, elevations, &c. occupy Plate  of England, Part L. folio,
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of three stories and a sunk area; the centre window of the first
floor has & pediment ornamented with acroteria; and above it,
and filling the place of a window in the upper story, 1s the arms of
the company ; the whole has s plain yet respectable appearance.
This building was finished in 1822, the first court being held on
the 18th of January in that year. The interior is neat; the hall is
on the first fioor, and has a cieling divided into compartments with
roses, &c. In this apartment are two portraits of J. Bunce, esq.
who died Jan. 26, 1881, aged 85; and G. Humble, esq. who died
December 8, 1640, aged 68. Above the mantle-piece, which is
of veined marble, is a large tablet of the same surmounted with the
compsny’s arms; on the tablet is inscribed, in gilt letters, the date
of the erection of the present hall, and the names of the present
wardens. The architect was Mr. Pococke. There are several ante-
rooms, but there is nothing worthy notice in them.
Near 8t. Helen's place in Bishopsgate street is the house of

The Marine Society.

A plain brick building, first occupied by the society in 1774.
In the first floor is :gcommittee room, g:: which are several
fine paintings, viz. full length portraits of Robert, baron Romoey,
and Charles, earl of Romney, presidents of the institution in their
peers robes, by sir W.Beechey ; John Thornton, esq. treasurer,
from 1766 to 1783, by Gainsborough; and Jonas Hanway, esq.
the foander, by Edwards. Above the Mantle piece is also a bust
of this excellent man. There is also a portrait of the Rev. Dr:
Glasse, chaplain from 1756 to 1812, In the office are tablets of
the donations to the charity.

This excellent society, for fittiug out boys for sea-service, was
established in 1756, aud owed its origin to the following circum-
stance :—In the spring of that year, lord Harry Powlett, after-
wards duke of Bolton, then commanding the Barfleur, requested
Mr. Jobn Fielding, the magistrate, to collect a number of poor
boys for his ship, and to clothe them. These boys, on their
way to Portsmouth, were met by Fowler Walker, esq. of Lincoln’s
Inn, and, struck with their appearance, it occurred to him that a
society fot fitting out poor boysin a similar manner would not
only be a benevolent institution, but a national benefit. On
returning to town, he called on Mr. Fielding, who had some
doubts of the success of the plan, but readily acquiesced in it ;
and sabscriptions were raised in a short time sufficient to clothe
between three and four hundred boys. Mr. Jonas Hanway, ©the
friend of the poor,’ as he was emphatically but justly called, next
teok wp the plan; when the Marine Society was formed, and it
s continued to be one of the most flourishing and most useful
charities in the metropolis.

A ship is moored off Deptford for the reception of the boys, who
are , fed, instructed, and qualified for sea-service; and so
extensive have been the benefits of this charity, which was incor-
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porated in 1792, that, since its establishment in 1758, 33,171
boys have been fitted out; and the number of men and boys, who
have been clothed and relieved by the institution, is 72,531. The
last few years between seven and eight hundred boys have been
annually clothed and sent to sea by this valuable charity.

The ship crpropriatad to the use of the society, through the
favour of the lords of the admiralty, is the Solebay, an old frigate
unft for service at sea, but admirably calculated for the purposes
of this charity. The boys, as soon as received at the socicty’s
office, are stripped of their rags, thoroughly cleansed in a warm
bath from their filth, examined by the society’s surgeon or apothe-
cary in attendanee, entirely new cloathed, and sent immediately to
the ship at Deptford, where they are initiated into their protession,
reduced to habits of subordination and obedience, and inured to
gentle discipline. They are taught to row in boats, to go aloft, to.
Joase and take in sail, to knot and splice ; also the use of the com
pass and tourniquet. To these are added the exercise of the great
guns and small arms. The instruction required from the school-
master is in reading and spelling, with strict attention to their
morals and religion. On g:ndays, as many as can be accommo-
dated at Deptford church, regularly attend divine service there;
while to the others it is performed on board, both morning and
evening. Their health is carefully attended to in their diet, their
cleanliness, and their exercise: and they are under the continual
inspection and care of an able and experienced naval surgeon, who
resides close to the spot where the ship is moored.

The great number of boys sent into the king’s service (even
during the peace) and into that of the honourable East India Com-
peny, exclusive of those engaged in private merchants’ ships and
other vessels, affords the strongest proofs of the estimation in which
this establishment is held.

In St. Botolph’s church-yard is the late rectory house, a haand-
some and capacious brick building ; and close to the north side is an
open passage, called Alderman’s walk which leads to a very mag-
nificent hcuse, with a fine garden, and a court yard before it,
graced with trees, and a stone statue standing on a pedestal in
the middle. This house is situated on part of the glebe which
was let to sir Francis Dashwood, who built it. In 1688, the pre-
sent coachway on the north side of the church was granted to
him on paying 12l. 5¢. A corner of the vestry room was taken
down to facilitate the work.

Quaker's Meeting.

On the north side of Hounsditch, and within this ward is a
plain gateway within which, the visitor is surprised on entering
to see before and on each side of him large plain strong buildings
for the yearly meetings of the society of friends. A vast extent
of ground is occupied by the court and buildings ; the latter will -
contain near 3000 persons. Both the buildings are similar, have,
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ing seven archcd headed windows, and on three sides a gallery.
One meeting i¢ intended for the yearly assembly of the males,
the other for the females ; attached to each, are large rooms for
the deputies from distant parts to transact business relative to the
society at large. .

The whole is cleaned to the whiteness of the dairy-maid’s
milk pail, as no paint finds admittance ; it is -considered by the
8ociety of Friends as an ornament within doors, but as a preserva-
tive withoat, and there used without scruple. The site of these
baildings was formerly the Dolphin inn, and was purchased by
the society in 1791, for its present purpose. .

On the same side of Bishopsgate street is Devonshire street
leading to Devonshire-square. On this spot was formerly a mag-
nificent structure, erected by Jasper Fisher, one of the six clerks
in chancery, whose fortune not being answerable to his house, it
was called in derision, ¢ Fisher’s Folly.’

It had a quick succession of owners. It belonged to Mr.
Cornwallis ; to sir Roger Manners, and to Edward, earl of Ox-
ford, lord high chamberlain; the same, says Mr. Pennant, who
is recorded to have presented to queen Elizabeth, the first per~
fumed gloves ever brought into England. Her majesty lodged in
this house in one of her visits to the city : probably when this
gallant peer was owner. After him it fell to the Cavendishes;
but that they resided in this neighbourhood long before is to be
sopposed, as their ancestor, Thomas Cavendish, treasurer of the
exchequer to Henry V11I. interred his wife in the adjacent church
of St. Botolph’s; and by will, dated April 13, 1523, bequeathed
a legacy towards its repairs. About the time of the civil wars it
became a conventicle. The author of Hudibras alludes to it in
the following lines, when, speaking of the ¢ packed parliamen’
of those times, he says

That represent no part o’ th’ nation,
Bat Fisher's Folly congregation.®

Near this was another noble building, erected by lord John
Powlett, an ancestor of the duke of Bolton.

A MS. book, on vellum, preserved in the British Museum, gives
¢A Ryall Ffest, in y* fleste at y* weddynge of y* erle of De-
vynchur,” which was probably held at this mansion.

Conwmivium in nuptits comitis Devonse, sncerti bempgoris
Le i cours.

Fformenty wp venysoun. Vyand goderygge. Vele roste
Swan wt chawderoun. Pecoke. Crane. Un leche. Un
fryid mete. Un pasty aupert. A sotelte gernus.

Le ii cours.
Manunenye. Vyand motlegb. Rede coming heron. Chy-
¢ Canto ii, line 898,
vOL. Ul M
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konys endryd. Venyson rosted. I leche. Unfryid mete. Past
crustade. A cold bakemete. A soteite homo.

Le iii cours.

Gely. Datys in comfyte. Ffesaunt. Gullys. h)Fer maw-
lned de la ryver. Peconys. Pertryche. Curlew. Pomes en-
dryd. Leche. Payse puffe. A wsotelte arbor. Pro inferiori
parte auli le.

Le iv cours.
. Venyson en broye. Spandys de motoun. Ryde-doke. Chy-
konys. Roste pygge in sawge. Venyson in bake.

Le v cours.

Caudell flery. Pyconys. Gullys. Rabbetys. Venyson roste.
Doucetys un leche.’ e

Near Devonshire house was born, on September 1, 1566, Mr.
Alleyne, the founder of Dulwich college.
* In New-street are extensive warehouses of the East India com-
pany ; they extend from New-street, south east, almost to Hounds-
ditch, and were begun about 1776, when a stone was placed in the
corner house of the above and Bishopsgate streets, inscribed,

This_wall, 03 feet in length from Eas to West and from the fuce of this stove
18 inches in substance, is the property of the East India Compasy. Erccted
4t the dole charge of the Company, May 6, 1776, At the same time the
m?nd 18 feot South from this stone, thh bad been purchased by the East

is Company, wid given to the public, for widening the entrance into this

These warehouses have grana fronts of several hundred feet in
length. The western side next Bishopsgate-street consists of a
hody and two wings. The basement at each end is rustic; and
there are no windows in the building, except in this part. A neat
cornice and coping finish the top, and the wings are ornamented
with blank Doric windows and pediments. The arch of entrance is
in the south wing, whence they extend up the south side of Néw-
street. 'The body of this part retires from the street, and the wingh
are connected by a strong wall, with rustic gates.

A very few feet within the above-mentioned entrance the parish
of St. Botolph Bishopsgate ends.

Tht:fren height of the buildings, the number of stories, multi-
tudes of windows, and curious cranes for hoisting the goods, all cre-
ate surprise and wonder ; while the cleanliness of the pavement and
exfent of the whole excite our applause.

" Two bandsome houses terminate the warehouses near Hounds-

ditch, in which the officers that govern them reside. Between them

is a fine gateway. Several wretched streets, and some hundreds of
babitations were removed to carry on those works. The space of
mair thus obtaiend must be of essential service in such & neigh-
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On the opposite sitle of the street: was an ancient brick house,.the
door of which was several foet lower than the pavement; which,
with some others, appear to have been built in the time of Charles I1.

Nearty o ite: Dévonshire-stveet, on the weet side of Bishops-
gate street, is an old building, known as the White Hart inn; on
the fromt, which is of someantiquity, is 1480 in lerge figures.  There
i nothing worthy of wotice irvthe interior, and, from: examination, it
appears to have béen erected: shout the latter end of the sizteenth

In some ground,: on the exst side. of Moorflelds, now called Blom~
field-street,was buried Hadjo Shah Sware, a Persian, ¢ who, with his
sonrie, came over with the Persian ambassador, and was buried by
kis owne son, who resd certaine’ prayers, and osed other ceremo-~
mies, acconding to the custorke of their owne country, moming and
evening, for a whole moweth aftes the bunriali:. for whom is set up,
at the charge of his sonne, # tombe ot stone, with certain Persian '
characters thereon ; the exposition thus. This grave is made for
Hodges Shaughsware, the chisfest servemt to. the king of Persia,
for the space of 20 years, who came from the king’ of Persia, end
dyed irr his service. If any Persian cumugetls out of that country,
Jet him read this and a Emyw for hism 'Fhe Lerd receive his
soule ; for here lyeth Maghmote Shaughswars, who wes bornvin the
towne of Novoy in Persin.'* ) . .

In the year 1568; sir Thomas Rowe, merchust. taplor and lord
mayor of London, csused this ground to be iwclosed. with' a brick
wall, o be a common burial ground, ot a low rete, for such parishos
in London as wented convenient buriul places. He catfed it the
New church-yard near Betlilchem, and established a sermon to' bé
preached there o Whitsunday, annvally} which, for many yeers;
was honoured with the presence of the lord mayor and aldevmen
This, however, has been for a considersble time diseontinued, snd
the burial place shut up. : :

Near Half-Moon-alley, is a large brieck building, knows: by the
name of the London Workhouse. TPhiy: building Was establivired
by act of parliament in the year 1649, fér the reliefand employs
ment of the poor, and the pubisliing’ vagrents snd divord

ns within the city smd liberties of Londem: I 1
another act of parliament wae passed, By which the govermors)
consisting of the lord mayor, aldermen, and fifiywtwo citizetis;
chosen by the common® council, were. cohstituted s Dody corporstes
with & common seal. 'I:be lord mayor, for the time bélwg, wes
sppointed president of the corporution, which was dllowed to
purchase lands: or teriements'to the’ annual- vulue of thred thetsand
pounds; and the eomumbn councl were' empowered o raty the
several wards, precificts; and parises of! this'dity, for iWwsuppett.

® Sibwy Survey, folio, p-118. In Strypeecdition s an engrawing.of the
monsiment, whicl ira -qnz‘n altar tomb, |
M 2
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- The several parishes, besides their assessments, formerly paid one
shilling per week for each child they had in the workhouse; but, in
tho'dyen l;:uli, ;ho governors came toaru:l.;ﬁon, thl:el::nged more
children, paid for by the parishes. to whi B
should be taken into the house; and since that tm:”l’t has been
resolved, that only such children should be taken in as were com-
mitted by the governors or magistrates of the city, found begging
in the streets, pilfering, or lying about in uninhabited

The children were dressed in russet cloth, with a round badge
upon their breasts, representing a poor boy and a sheep, with
this motto, ¢ God’s providence is my inheritance.’” The boys
were taught to read and write, and the principal part of their
time was spent in weaving, &c. the girls were employed in sew-
ing, apinnil{%, and other labour, by which they were qualified for
service. hen they arrived at a proper age, the boys were
bound out apprentices to trades or the sea; and the girls placed
in table families.
. When assistance was wanted to defray the expense attending
the workhouse, the governors applied to the court of common
council, who, on each application, ordered the sum of two thou-
sand pounds to be paid by a proportionste assessment on the re-
spective parishes in the city.

The building for the reception of these poor, appears to have
been finished about the year 1680, during the mayoralty of sir
Robert Clayton, whese poitrait, as the first president and gover-
nor, formerly ornamented the court room. It was originally di-
vided inta two parts ; the first, next Bishopsgate-street, and called
¢ the steward’s side,” was chiefly for the accommodation of poor
children ; the west end, or side called ¢the keeper's side,” was for
vagabonds and dissolute poor. In this latter place the. females
taken up in the street, were employed beating hemp, washing
linen, &c. similarly to Bridewell, and the men to labour.
This part has long been abandoned by such characters, and is now
remaining in ruins. At the end of the building, immediately be-
hind the entrance from Bishopsgate-street, was a chapel, which
was pulled down about twenty years ago ; and, descending by a
fught of eleven steps was the remains of a temporary prison, called
Luadgate Prison, where, on the demolition of the gate, in 1760, the

nsoners from Ludgate were confined. That portion of the work-
ouse which remains, is at present used as a paper-hangiog ma-

nufactory. . ,

. At a small distance north-east from Devonshire square, was
a place called, anciently, Tassel Close, which was let to the
cross-bow makers, who used to practise a game on it of shooling
st the popinjay. On the decline of archery, and the inven-
tion of gunpowder, this close was surrounded by a brick wall, and
served as an artillery ground, where the gunners of the Tower
used weekly to practise the art of gunnery. The last prior of
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St. Mary : Spital granted this artillery ground for thrice ninety-
nive years, for the exercise of great and small artillery ;- and
hence this ground became subject to the Tower. The artillery
company received a charter from king Henry, which was after-
wuxzonnmed by queen Elizabeth : and, in 1622, an armoury
was erected init, containing five hundred sets of arms, The com-
pany, at length, grew s0 numerous, that this ground was too
small for them ; and when tbey removed to the present artillery
ground, this spot was distinguished by the name of the old artil-
lery ground. It is now converted into streets and lanes, but the
name is still retained in Artillery street.

Near the end of Catherine-wheel-alley the stocks originally stood ;
they were once stolen, but were restored and a whipping-post added.

Sir Paul Pindar’s House.

This curious building is situated near the London workhouse, on
the west side of Bishopsgate-street, and is well known by the bow
and vast extent of windows along the front. The interior was for-
merly verycurious and rich in carved work, the principal part of
which has been destroyed in the most wonton manner.

On the first floor was an elegant room filled with stucco and
carved work,and presenting a fine specimen of the decorative style
of the latter part of the reign of Elizabeth. Mr. J. T. Smith, who
made a drawing of it in 1810, and engraved it iu his ancient To
pography of London, thus discribes it: ¢ The ceiling was lath and
plaster, together with all its ornaments, and also those of the upper
cornice and frieze, including the upper "half of the chimney-
piece. On the latter was a bassorelievo, of two miserably modelled
fBgures of Hercules and Atlas supporting the globe, which the ar-
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tist, if the person who produced such a thing may be so called,
thought proper to make of the.shape of an egg. :

AH the carvings, and every other part of the room, under the
upper frieze, wers of oak, excepting' the lower half of the chimpey-
piece, which was of stope, -

Some parts of the sculptuve of the chimney-piece were by no
means 80 badly executed, as the before mentioned baseo relievo, par-
ticularly the figures.in fruit baskets, (caryatide) supporting the swo
tablets of stag hunting, the Jatter of which were precisely a repeti~
tion of each other. lhave reason to believe that the two adjoining
houses, to the south, toge:her with this, were originally one fabrie;
as fragmems of similar ceilings, and grotesque figures of she same
workmanship, are still visible in them : .:3 indeed, when we re
collect that this house, commonly called sir Paul Pindar’s, has only
one room on a floor, the back purt being occupied by a staircase,
we canuot suppose that so eminent a u, holding the rank of a
first-rate merchant, and indeed an am or, enjoying the coun-
tenance of king.James, and his son Charles the First, could possi-
bly make any figure in a house containing only four rooms.’*

In September and October, 1814, the whole of the ornaments of
this room were cut away, and the room rendered, what the posses-
sor was pleased to call ¢ a little comfortable.’

The style of architecture used, was that known by the name of
king James’s: Gothic, though it is clear it was in use in London in
the reign of Elizabeth,

The only remains are the ceiling and the carved oak window
frames; the first is in excellent preservation, the pendants and
shield of arms in the ceiling being quite perfect.

In Half-moon alley, behind this house, is a low plaister building,
known as sir Paul Pindar’s garden-house, formerly ornamented
with medallions, &c. in stucco-work, the whole of which were de-
stroyed in 1821, :

On the east side of Bishopagate-street, is a court called Monta-

gue-court, in which was formerly a mansion called Montague house,
the residence and property of sit John Harrison, kt. of Balls, in the
county of Hertford, in 1842. )
- Between Angel-alley and Skinner-street, a new church is to be
erected, the site is purchased, and preparations are now making t6
pull down six or eight houses on the south side of Skinner-street, and
several bebind, with a view of exzavating (or a foundation.

‘ CHAPTER VIL.

.History ang Topography of Brepd-street Ward, . .

‘This ward t:kzs its name frgﬁbe principal street therein, called
Bread-street, which was ¢ itselfe sg called of bread in old time there
sold;’ for it appeareth by records that in the yeare 1302, which
was the 30t of Edward the First, the bakers of London were
bounden to sell no bread in their shops or houses, but only in the
market. This ward is divided into thirteen precincts, and is under

® "Anc. Topog. of London, 4to, p. 51.
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the government of an alderman ; sending twelve inhabitants to the
common counsil. Before the great fire in 1666, there were four
churcbes in this ward, vis. : Allballows, St, Mildred, St. John the .
Evangelist, and 8t. Margaret Moses ; the first two wera the only .
ooes rebuilt,

AllAallows Church, Bread-street.

This chusch received its name from being dedicated to all the
minte, and its situation. It is & vectory of very ancient foundation ;
the patromage of which was originally in the prior and canons of
Christ-church in Canterbury, who remained patrons of it till the
yoar 1865, when it was conveyed to the archbishop of Canterbury
and his sucoasops, in whom it still continues, and is one of the’
peculiars belonging to that see in the city of London. ) .

The old church being destroyed by the fire of Londen in 1666,
the present edifce waserected in 1684, at the expenss of the.

This church is sifuated on the east side of Bread-street, the prin=
cipal froat sbutting on that sireet, and the north front upon Wat-.
lLing styeet : the plan is parallelogram, with a square tower at the
seath-west angle comprebended within it. The west front of the.
church. hes four srched windows in two series; the key stones of
the upper range are carved with cherubs, and the arches are sur-
mounted with cornices resting on consoles. In the lowerstory of the
tower is an entrance surmounted by an elliptical pediment, and:
sbove are two circular windows; the mext story has an arched
window, with festoons of flowers over the bead, and the third story
bas in each face a triple arcade; the arches are sustained u
pilasters, and the key-stopes are carved into fierce-looking :
the elevation is finished with a ballustrade. Over a cornice at.the
angles, are crocketted pinnacles, whimgically enqugh borrowed from
the pointed style; of which they are, however, poor copies, and
show the difficulty of engrafling the detail of one style upon
another. The north front of the church is in two heights; the
upper has & series of eight windows with arched heads, the key-
stones carved with cherubs heads, and in the basement story are
two entrances; one of which, as well as one of the windows, is
walled up. The east wall has no window or opening, except a
mmall door-way at the southern angle. The portions described are
all faced with stone. The south side of the church is concealed
from view by the houses built against it. The entrance at the west
end leads into & vestibulé : the breadth of the front part of which
s formed in the besement story of the tower; the latter portion
bes eight semicircular arches and is domed over; from this, by
means of two es, the body of the church is HE 3
is vary plain, having neither columns nor arches. ceiling is
horizontal, coved at the sides, the covings pierced with arches ;
- sbove the windows which rest upon imposts enriched with acanthus
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leaves. The centre of the ceiling forms one large pannel encircled
with mouldings. The altar is adorned with a.screen, bearing the
usual inscriptions, and painted in imitation of antique marbles: it
consists of a-centre and wings, the former enriched with an ellipti-
cal pediment sustained on two Corinthian columns, with gilt capi-
tals, and the entablature of the order above the whole; and incloses,
in the head of a false arch, formed in the wall, are the royal arms
In the north wall of the church is an arched recess, which contains
in its basement the vestry, covered with a gallery. In consequence
of this intrusion, two of the windows are converted inte circles:
the other windows, in number and form, resemble those in the op-
posite wall of the building.  There is also a gallery across the west
end of the church, containing the organ; it is singularly enough
supported on a single Corinthian pillar in the centre, in the adop-
tion of which, utility seems to have been studied rather then orna-
ment. The pulpit and desks are attached to the north wall. The
former is hexagonal and executed in carved oak. The christening
pew is situated under the western gallery. The font isa plain
octangular basin of white marble, on a pillar of the same form and
material. The pewing of this church is rather singularly, but with.
great attention to propriety, arranged on each side of a broad wadk .
in the centre of the church, leaving an uninterrupted view of the
altar. On the doors of the churchwardens’ pews are painted the
arms of the archbishop and the dean and chapter of Canterbury.
This building is 72 feet in length, 85 in breadth, 30 in height,
and the tower and pinnacles are 86 feet high. The body was erected
under the direction of sirChristopher;Wren, in 1684, and the steeple
in 1697, at the expence of 8,348/, 7s. 2d.

There are no monuments in this church worthy of notice. It is
generally believed that the remains of that eminentscholar, sirIssac
Newton, is buried in this church.

8t. Mildred’s Church, Bread-street

On the same side of Bread-street, south of Basing-lane, stands
the parish church of St. Mildred, so called from its dedication to
8t. Mildred, niece to Penda, king of Mercia, who, having devoted
herself to o religious life, retired to a convent in France, from
whence she returned, accompanied by seventy virgins, and founded
a monastery in the Isle of Thanet, of which she died abbess in the
year 676. It is a rectory, founded about the year 1300, by lord
Trenchant, of St. Albans; but it had mbither vestry-room nor
churchyard till 1428, when sir John Chadworth, or Shadworth, by
his will gave a vestry-room auod church-yard to the parishioners,
and a parsonage-house to the rector.

In 1559,* on Sept. 5, the stone spire of this church was struck by

¢ Malcolm, vol..ii. p 6.
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lightning, and, in consequence, the spire was taken down to suve
the expense of iring it. )

‘The old chmt:p;u destroyed in the conflagration of 1666, and
the present structure was erected in 1683.

In the reigu of Henry VIII. two profligate priests quarrelled in
this church, fought, and even shed their blood in the contest. In
comsequence, divine service was suspended for a month; and the
priests did penance in procession through- the neighbouring streets.

The advowson of this church was anciently in the prior and con-
vent of St. Mary Overy’s, in Southwark, by whom it was granted
in the year 1538, to John Oliver and others, for a term of years®
at the expiration of which it came to sir Nicholas Crispe, in whose
family or assigns it still continues.

The west front of this church would be the only portion exposed
to view, if the parsonage, which adjoined the church, was rebuilt.
The plan is rectangular, with a square tower attached to the
south wall. The whole of the walls, including the tower, are of
brick ; the west front alone being faced with Portland stone. The
building is entirely lighted by four lofty and capacious windows,
one in each of the principal walls; the arches of which are seg-
mental. The principal entrance is arched and surmounted with a
cornice ; it is situated immediately below the west window. The
elevation of this part of the church is finished by a cornice, resting
on the key-stone of the arch of the window, and two consoles at
the sides of it ; above this is a lofty attic, having a pedimental
cornice, and supported by false walls concaved in their exterior
lines. There is also an entrance in the south wall. The tower is in
four stories, having windowsin the western front in each story. The
first two are arched, the third circular, and the fourth also arched.
There is no stone-work in the tower ; the whole, even the arches of
the windows, being worked in brick. Above the parapet rises a tall
spire, covered with lead ; its basement is equal with the square of the
tower, and is of the same form; it is diminished by means of a
concavity in each side, and sustains asquare pedestal pierced with
four openings, and surmounted by an &li:k set upon balls ; still
retaining the same form, the whole being finished with a vane.
The deficiency of ornament apparent in the outside of this builde
ing is compensated for by the elegance of the internal decorations,
which are executed in a style far exceeding what the spectator
would be led toexpect. Ithas nocolumns, consequently the prin-

ipal part of the embellishments is confined to the roof; this is
redoced in length by a &mall division being cut off at each of the
extremities ; both the portions so made are bounded by two semi-
circular arches, partly attached to, and dying into the walls of the
church, and partly sustained on imposts composed of a group of
consoles, surmounted by a fascia. The soffits of the architraves
of the unengaged arches are ornamented with sunk pannels,
occupied by appropriate devices ; the ceilings of those divi-
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siong are also spmicircular, and pannelled into square and ob-
long Iz:u::nﬂmenu, and at the springings are the arms of the
four oms in relief, with nznf accompaniments. In conge-
quence of this arrangement, a square centre is formed, which is
covered !g a_dome supported on pendentives, resting on the four
arches before described, with the addition of others partly con-
cealed by, and dying into the side walls. The pendentives are
eoriched with luxuriant folisge, and the periphery of the dome
with & magnificent wreath of fruit and flowers. The entire surface
is painted to imitate ¢louds, upon which, at intervels, are placed
four groups of winged boys in alto relievo, two in each group.
Twe of the sustain the noyal crown, ahove two Roman C’s
conjoined, and the remaining two perform the more inglorious
office of sustaining the massive chandeliers which serve to light the
cburch. The whole design taken together is exceeding grend in
the aggregate, and tasteful in its detail; and the loftiness of the
ceiling adds a grace o the building, which its dimensions would
not lead the spectator to expcat. At the western end of the
chureh is a gallery sustained on Ionic pillars, in which is an
organ e inthe year 1717, The christening-pew is beneath
the organ,and in it is a small stone font of a circular form, stand-
ing on a pillar of a similar shape, and enriched with cherubs.
The altarscreen, of carved oak, is richly decorated ; it comsists
of a centre and wings, the former composed of two Corinthian
columns, and the same namber of pilasters; the shalts pawnted to
imitate lapis lazuli, and the capitals and bases gilt; the whole
surmonnted b{)“:n entablature and segmental pediment; the
lower corpice hroken, to let a circle into the tympanam, in whick
is painted a choir of cherubs and the Hebrew name of the Deity.
The commandments and paintings of Moses and Aaron occupy
pannels in the central division, and the wings have the decalogue.
and paterposter. ‘The screen is also enriched with doves and
other appropriate embellishments. The pulpit is hexagonal,
and, with a ponderous sounding-board, is richly carved., It is at~.
?e?:‘d to the northern wall of the church, and below it are the
In the northern window is a large pannel containing the arms of
Charles IL sculptured in alto relievo, and highly coloured. Not-
withstanding oge of the four windows is fronted by the orgen,
the church is remarkably light, and is one evidence, among
many, of the superior abilities of the eminent architect of the
building, sir Christopher Wren. The basement of the tower
forms a vest?'-room, and is approached by a doorway in the
south wall of the church. The present church was opened on
the 23rd of March, 1683 : the expense of the building being no
more than 8705(. 13¢. 6}d. .
There are few monuments in this elegant church, The
pringipal one is on the south side, to the memory of eir Thomas
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Crispe,* knt., deputy liewenant of Oxferdshire, who died, July 29,
1714

On the north side of the church is a tablet with the following inf

‘el‘he parishioners of St. Mildred, Bread-street, for the preserving
of the memory of their noble benefactors, have, in gratitude, caused
these inscriptions to be beye affixed, A. D. 1684."

¢ The Lord Trenchaunt of St. Alban’s, knight, who was supposed
10 be the new builder of this church, or best benefactor to the work,
about 1300.

¢ Sir John Chadworth, or Shadworth, sometime lord mayor of
London, who gave to this church a parsonage house, vestry, and
church-yard, in the year 1430, was buriedin a vault in thischancel.’

¢ Mr. Copinger, whose monument stopd in thjs place before the
late dreadful fire’

¢ Mr. Thomas Langham, 8 good benefsctor to this parish in the
year 1575.”

The parish church of St. John the Evgngelist stood at the north
east corner of Friday-street, in Watling-street ; but being burng in
the fire of London, it was not rebuilt. It is a rectory, founded
about the same time as Allhallows, and was also in the gift of the
priory of Christ church, Canterbury, 1ill it was conveyed with that
church to the archbishops of Canterbury, who still retain it
The site of the old church is ngw a burial place for the use of the

ioners.

The church of St. Marggret Moses stood at the south-west corner
of Little Friday-street, opposite to Distafl-lane, and was thus
named from being dedm&ef to St. Margaret, and from one Mosgs,
or Moyses, who had formerly rebuilt it ; but suffering by the fire in
1666, jt was not again rebuilt.

It 1s g cectory, and was numbered among the most ancient foun-
dations in the city ; forin the year 1103, it was given, by Bobert
Fitzwalter, to the priory of St. Faith, at i-lousham, or Horsham, in
the county of Norfolk : which gift being confirmed to them, by a
bull of Pope Alexander III. in the year 1163, it was possessed by
the prior and canops till the suppression of their convent by
Edward Ul as an alien priory, when this church fell to the crown,
in which the patronage has continued until this day. ‘

One part of the site.of this church was sold to the ¢ity, by virtue
of an act of parliament, for the pyrpose of widening the street, be~
tween Friday-street and Bread-street; and the money arising fro
the sale, was applied towards paving and beautifying the church of -
St. Mildred : the other part was reserved for a burieﬁypla‘ce for the

ish of 8t. Margaret. . ! , )

On the north side of Distaff-lane, is ' o

® Sen of sir Nichola Crispe, bast.  dit on all: the parishes of Loadon if

expended u i above excellent
::'nrvioe of le?‘ 100R00, in g:f;x’l mi?iﬁmn‘l:ccbnnh that has
¢ It would bave reflected great cre-  such a memento of its.benefactors.

.
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Cordwainer’s Hall.

It is & modem structure with s facing of stone; in the pediment
are the arms of the company, and below, a tablet representinga wo-
man spinning, in allusion to the name of the lane. The interior is
neatly fitted up, and consists of an upper and lower hall, each hav-
ing a music gallery and plain ltuocoeJ ceilings. In the upper hall
is a three-quarter length portrait of W. Williams, Esq., three times
master, whodied Nov. 5, 1809, aged 87 ; at the oppusite end of the
room in a recess is a vase, by Nollekins, of neat and elegant form,
to the memory of Mr. John Came, s great benefactor to this com-

ny. In the court roomare plans of the different estates belong-
ing to the company, and two views of the hall.* ‘

Basing-lane or Bakeing-lane, is so called from the king’s or some
great bake-house having formerly been here as early as the 20th
Richard II.

On _the south side of this lane, is Gerard’s Hall Inn, built upon
arched vaults, ¢ and’ says Mr. Maitland ¢ with arched gates of stone,
brought from Caen in Nurmandy.’

Stow says, in his time this was a common hostelry, corruptly
then, and now called Gerard’s Hall, from a giant said to have dwelt
there.

In the high-roofed hall of this house some time stood a large
fir-pole, which reached to the roof, snd was said to be one of the
staves that Gerard the giant used in the wars. There stood also &
ladder of the same length, which, as they said, served to ascend
to the top of the stafl. But Stow considers all this to be a fable;
nor does he believe that any of the name of Gerard lived there.
¢ I read,’ says he, that John Gisors, mayor of London in the year
1245, was owner thereof ; and that sir John Gisors, knight, mayor
of London, and constable of the Tower, 1811, and divers others of
that name and family, since that time owned it : for I read that Wil-
liam Gisors was one of the sheriffs in 1329 : more, that John Gi-
sors had issue Henry and John, which John bad issue Thomas ;
which Thomas deceasing in the year 1358, left unto his son Tho-
mas his messuage called Gisor’s hall, in the parish of St. Mildred
in Bread-street. Jobn Gisors made a feoffment thereof 1386, &c. So
that it appeareth, that this Gisor’s hall of late time, by corruption
hath been called Gerard’s hall for Gisor’s hall ; as Bosoms inn for
Blossoms inn, Bevis marks for Buries marks, Mark lane for Mart lane,
Beliter lane for Belzetters lane, Gutter lane for Guthuruns lane,
Cry or Cre church for Christ church, St. Michel in the Quern for
St. Michel at Corn, and such others. Out ofthis Gisor’s hall,atthe
first building thereof, were made divers arched doors, yet to be
seen, which seem not sufficient for any great monster, or other
than menof common stature, to pass through. The polein the hall
might be used in old time, as then the custom was in every pa-
rish, to be set up in the street in the summer as a may-pole, before

® This company formerly possessed portraits of king William and queen Mary.
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Ge principal hall or house in the parish or street: and to tand i

ou;ec:.p efore _igx; sll:;idne, decl:idfwith holly and ivy, at, the feset
ristmas. e ladder served for the decki ]

o Shristmas, Thel or the ing of the may-pole

)

Vaults, Gerard’s hall.

These vaults, which appear to have been erected early in the
thirteenth century, are in excellent preservation, and are used as
wine cellars. They consist of two series of circular columns sup-
porting an arched roof, the intersections being ornamented with
Toses, and grotesque carvings.

On the west side of Bread street, amongst divers fair and large
bouses for merchants, and inns for passengers, was a prison house,
appertaining to the sheriffs of London, called

The Compter
. In the year 1555, the prisoners were removed from thence to
another new Compter in Wood street, provided by the city’s pur-
chase, and built for that purpose. ¢ The cause of which remove
was this; Richard Husband, pasteler, keeper of this Compter in
Bezad street, being a wilful and head-strong man, dealt; for his
own sdvantage, hard with the prisoners under his charge; hav-
ing also servants, such as himself liked best for their bad usage, and
would not for any complaint be reformed. Whereupon, in the
year 1550, sir Row Hill being mayor, by the assent of a
court of aldermen, he was sent to the gaol of Newgate, for the cruel
bandling of his prisoners; and it was commanded to the k y
to set those irons on his legs which are called the widows alms.
These he wore from Thursday till Sunday in the afternoon ; and,
being by a court of aldermen released on the Tuesday, was bound
in an hundred marks, to observe from thenceforth an act made by
the common council, for the ordering of prisoners in the Compters.
* Maitand yol. iL. p. 835
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Al which notwithstanding, he continued as afore, and evutd not
be reformed, tifl this remove of the prisoners; for the house in
Bresd street was his own by lease, or otherwise, so that he could
not be put from it. Such gaolers, buying their offices, will deal
hardly with pitiful prisoners.’®

¢ An abstract of an dct of comnton council, held sKamba 19, in
the third and fourth yearsof Philipand Mary, for the removing of
the Compter prison eut of Bread street into Gredt Wood street.

¢« By reason of livers hindrances, injuries, extremities, and dis-
leasures, done unto the prisonets in Bread street Compter, by the

geepen of the same, who, hiring the house of the Goldemiths
company, would not many times suffer the sheriffs of London, who
stand charged with the prisoners, to use them so well as they had
proposed ; whereby the city had been slandered, law and good
orders broken, and prisoners too much abused ; therefore was
the prison removed to & house belonging to the city, situate in
Great Wood street, where the sheriff and his officers were to keep
their courts, &c. as they had before used in Bread street. At
which time it was also’ enaqted, that the smid Compter in Wood
street should never hereafier, for any cause whatsoever, be let out
to any other use or persont, &¢.>

In that part of Cheapside which s within this werd, stood a beau-
tiful set of houses and shiops, ¢alled Goldsmithy’ row ; they were
built by Thomas Wood, goldsmitl, and one of the shetif of
London, in the year 1491. It contained in nutiber ten d
houses and fourteen shops, 81l in one frame; uniformby built. four
storied high, besutifled towards the street with the goldsthiths’ arine,
and the likeness of woodmen, in memory of his nwme, Hding os
monstrous beasts ; all which were cast-in lead, richly painted over
and gilt. These he gave to the goldsmiths, with stocks of money
to be lent to young men having those shops, &¢. This said front
was again new painted and gilt over in the year 1594, «ir Richurd
Martin being then mayor, and keeping his mayorafty in ome of
them; and serving out the time of Cutbert Buckle, in that office,
from the second of July till the twenty-eighth of October. :

The goldsmiths kept their shops and trade in West cliesp fiom
ancient times, even before the days of king Edward IIf. unto the
times of king Charles L. And the exchange for thé king’s coin
was not far off the place yet called the Old Change, as appears by
this record, shewing not only the place of the goldsmiths habitation,
but their occupation and business about the coin amd plate.

Upon the goldsmith’s petition, exhibited to King Edward I11. and

is eouncil in parliament, holden at Westminster in the first of his
reiga, showing ¢ that no private merchant nor stranger heretofore
. were wont to bring into this land any money coined, Bat plate of
silver to exchange for our coin. And that it had been also ordwined,
® Maitland, vol. ii. p. 885.
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that all who were of the goldsmiths’ trade were to sit in their shops

inthe ligh street of Cheap; and that no silver in plate, nor vessel

of gold or silver, ought to be sold in the city of London, except at
orin the Exchange, or in Cheapside, among the goldsmiths, and
that publicly ; to the end that the people of the mid trade might
inform themselves, whether the seller came lawfully by such vessel
or not. But that now of late the said merchants, as well private as
strangers, brought from foreign countries into this nation coun-
terfeit sterling, whereof the pound was not worth above
sixteen sols of the right sterling; and of this money
none could kmow the  trne value by melling it down.
And alio that meny of the ssid trade of goldsmiths kept
shops in obscure turnings, and by-lanes and streets, and did buy
vessels of gold and silver secretly, without enqui whethrer sach
vemels were stolen ot lawfully ¢ome by ; and, im ly mefting
it down, did make it inte plate, and sell it to merchants trading be-
yond sea, that it might be exported. And so they made fhlsg
work of gold and silver, as bracelets, lockets, rings, and other
jewels ; in which they sot glass of divers colouts, counterfeiting
right stones,and put mote alloy in the silver than they caght ; whic
they sold to such as bad no skill-in such things:. . - -

And that the cutlers, in their- work-houses, covered tin with sil-
ver so subtilly, and with such alight, that the same could not be
discerned and severed from the tin ; and by that means they sold
the tin so covered for fine silver, to the great damage and deceit of
the king and his people. '

Whereupon the mid goldsmiths petitiomed the king , sbaé bt would
be pleased to apply convenient remedy therein. And he, baing
willing to prevent the said evil, (as the letters patent ran) did,
by and with the assent of the lords spiritual and temporal, and the
commons of the realm, for the common profit, will and grant for
him end his heirs, that henceforth no merchant, either private of

, should bring into this land any sort of money, but only
plate of fine silver ; nor that any gold or silver, wrought by gold-
smiths, or any plate of silver, should be sold to the merchant to sefl
again, and to be carried out of the kingdom, but should be sold at
the king’s said exchange, or openly among the said goldsmiths, for
private use only : and that none that pretended to bé of the same
trade should keep any shop but in Clieapside, that it might be seen
that their works were good and right. :

And that those of the same trade might by virtue of these

ts, elect honest, lawful, and sufficient men, best skilled
in the same trade, to enquire of the matters aforesaid : and that they
so chosen might, upon due consideration of the said craft, reform
what defects they should find therein, and thersupon inflict due
punishment upon the offenders ; and that, by the help and assistanse
of the mayor and sheriffs, if occasion be. And that in all trading
rittes and towns in England, where goldsmiths resided, the same
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ordinance be obeerved asin London. And that one or two of every
such city or town, for the rest of that trade, should come to London,
to be ascertained of their touch of gold, and there to have a stamp
of a puncheon, with a leopard’s head, marked their work, as
of antient time it hath been ordained.” These lotters patent bore
;lhntek_at Westminster, the thirtieth of March, in the first year of

e king.

Mr. Maitland has the following curious account of a remnant of
ancient London: he says at the north-east end of Bread-street in
1595, one Thomas Tomlinson, causing in the high street of Cheap a
vault to be digged and made, there was found at fifteen feet deep, a
fair pavement, like that above ground. - And at the further end, at the
channel, was founda tree, sawed into five steps, which was to stepover
some brook, runnn:g out of the west, towards Walbrook. And
upon the edge of the said brook, as it seemeth, there were found
lying along the bodies of two great trees, the ends whereof were
then ?t‘l’::d og ; and firm timber, uh at the. ﬁu':n;vhan they fell ;

o said trees remain yet in the ground igged. It was
momd ground, until theyywent past the trees aforesaid ; which
was about seventeen feet deep, or better. Thus much hath the
ground of this city (in tbat place) been raised from the main.*

CHAPTER VIII

- History and Topography of Bridge Ward Within

This ward is divided into fourteen precincts, namely three of
London Bridge, three of Thames-street, three of New Fish-street,
the upper and lower precincts of 8t. Leonard Eastcheap, and the

r and lower precincts of St. Benet, Gracechurch-street, and
All-hallows, Lombard-street. This ward is bounded on the west by
Candlewick and Dowgate-wards, and on the east by Langbourn
and Billingsgate-wards. It is governed by an alderman, and fifteen
common-councilmen. Before the great fire in 1666, there were four
churches in this ward, viz: St. Magnus the Martyr, St. Benet
Gracechurch, St. Leonard, Eastcheap, and St. Margaret, Fish-
street-hill ; which are now reduced to two churches, St. Magnus
and St. Benet.

8t. Magnue the Martyr.

‘This church, which is a rectory, situated at the north east corner of
Lonaon-bridge, derives its name from St. Magnus, who suffered
martyrdom under the emperor Aurelian, for his stedfast adhereace
to the Christian religion ; it is of considerable antiquity, as Hugh
Pourt founded a chantry here in 1302.

¢ Maitland vol. ii. 827.



——

HISTORY OF LONDON. 177

The patronage of this church was anciently in the abbots and
convents of Westminster and Bermondsey, who presented alter-
mtely, till the general suppression of monastic foundations, when
it came to the crown. Queen Mary, by her letters patent, 1553,
grented it to the bishop of London and his successors, in whom it
still remains. but subject to the archdeacon.

This church was destroyed in the great fire 1666, but was soon
after rebuilt in a handsome manner, after the designs of sir C. Wren.
This spacious and handsome building, consists of a body and
side aisles, with a tower attached to the west end, the basement
of which is pierced to admit a thoroughfare for foot passengers.

The side aisles of the church were formerly continued to include

the Tower. After the great fire which destroyed many of the

houses on London Bridge, in 1760, the footway was made, and
the aisles of the church were in consequence reduced to their pre-
sent length. The Tower is in six stories, the west front of the
basement is adorned with four Ionic pilasters, sustaining an enta-
blature and pediment ; in the centre is a lintelled doorway (which
was formerly the western entrance to the church), between two
niches having semicircular heads and square pannels above them ;
the second contains a circular window ; the third an arched one ;
the fourth story is lofty, and has in each side an arched
window, between coupled pilasters of the Corinthian order sus-
taining their entablature, and a parapet pierced with an arcade :
at the angles are pedestals supporting urns.  The fifth story takes
an o¢ lar form, and consists of a plinth sustaining a temple
com of eight composite pilasters, with the same number of
arched windows between them, and finished with an entablature ;
this story is domed over with a leaded roof, in which are four
circular perforations ; the vortex of this dome sustains the sixth
story, consisting of a small octangular temple, formed of eight
arches, and sustainiog a leaden spire of the same form; the
whole is finished with a vane and cross.* The south and north
sides of the basement of the tower are pierced with a lofty arch, hav-
ing a convex frontispiece. The pilasters at the angles of the west
front are returned at the sidesand coupled with others, and the enta-
blature is continued ; a porticois in consequence formed in front of
the present western doorway which is lintelled, and surrounded by
an architrave: in the western front of the aisles, are blank windows
formed of a lofty arch, bounded by an architrave, and surmounted
with a curnice resting on consoles at the sides, and also on the key
stone of the arch, which is sculptured into a cherubim ; the angles
are rus icated and the elevation finishes with a parapet and ~oping.
The north side of the church formerly presented one of the hand-
somest specimens of sir C. Wren’s architecture, it is now reduced
to an ornamented wall, and deprived of the beauty resuliing from
uniformity, by the alteration before spoken of: before that period

® It is said in the Gent’s Mag. Christopher's original design for Bow-
vol. xc. pt. ii. p. 925, on the uuthority  <hneh,
of Mr. Gwilt, that this steeple was sir

YOL. JII. N



178 HISTORY OF LONDON.

it had eight windows n the aisle similar to those already described,
s existing in blank in the west front, and a door-way arched and
surmounted with a pediment beneath a circular window in the
centre, above which is a festoon of flowers and fruits. The design
was then broken into three divisions, the central one projecting a
few inches beyond the sides, and in its turn made into three suhdivi-
sions, the centre projecting in like manner; seven of these windows
remain, but they are walled up to the greater proportion of their
height ; and by the addition of a reversed arch, the heads are con-
verted into circular windows. The elevation finishes with a cornice
and parapet. The clerestory contains five oval windows. The
east front is built against by a warehouse, and a portion of the
south side was, until the fire in 1827, concealed by other buildings;
this part of the church having been damaged by the previous fire in
1760, was rebuilt with brick covered with compo; it contains, in
the part which is clear of adjacent buildings, four arched windows,
and in the clerestory are five oval ones. The other portions of the
church are faced with Portland stone.

The interior is approached by a spacious vestibule, extending
the whole breadth of the western front, and occupying the
space beneath the organ gallery. In it, are the door-cases
belonging to two side entrances in the old front, which as well
as that before the principal entrance, are ornamented with Corin-
thian pilasters and pannelling; the body of the church is made
into a nave and side aisles, by two colonnades of the Ionic order;
each of which consists of four fluted columns, cabled to about
a third of their height, and two attached half columns at the
east end ; the beauty of the whole is destroyed by the irregulasity
of the inter-columniations. The second from the west is
double as broad as the one which precedes it, and the two suc-
ceeding ones : the extreme intercolumniations at the east are sti!l
narrower. The apparent irregularity is explained by the circum-
stance of. the alteration which took place when the church was
shortened, by which means the widest space which was intended by
the architect for a centre, was removed from its distinguishing &
wuation to one in which it appears to be out of all propriety. The
peculiar arrangement of these colonnades does away with the often-
repeated but vague idea, of the architect having pierced his tower in
anticipation of the change which would take place; if this was the
case, we must believe that sir C. Wren acted most absurdly in not
building the body of the church ina form which would have allow
ed the change tn be effected with less violence to the harmony of
the desizn. The columns sustain an entablature surmounted by an

ttic and sub-cornice, which serves as an impost to the waggon-head
ceiling ; arched ribs, springing from the pilasters of the attic,
cross the ceiling and divide it into compartments, each of which,
except the eastern, is pierced laterally with the clerestory win-
dow.  The division at the eastern extremity, is filled with
three rows of square pannels enclosing flowers. The east wall
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is decorated with two pilasters sustaining an entablature, con-
tinned from the lateral colonnades, but broken between the pilasters
to let in the window, which is divided by two uprights and a
transom, and filled with stained glass of a bright warm tint. ‘The
greater portion of the wall is occupied by a magnificent altar screen
in two stories ; the first is made by four columns and two pilasters
of the Corinthian order with their entablature, into five divisions,
the central being as wide as two of the others ; this division contains
the decalogue, and is covered with an elliptical pediment, in the
tympanum is a pelican with expanded wings, feeding her young with
her blood. The two side intercolumniations have full length paint-
ings of Moses and Aaron, and the remaining two the creed and
paternoster ; these divisions are surmounted with an attic, and sub-
cornice, on which are acroteria sustaining urns. The second story
is only equal in breadth to the central division, and consists of a
square pannel flanked by ante, In the centre is a circle enclosing
a choir of cherubs and the descending dove; below this is an open
book, and the whole is finished with a pedimental cornice surmount-
ed with acroteria supporting vases. On each side of this compo-
sition are two statues of angels seated, and holding palm branches
in their hands. All the spaces on the screen are filled with carvings
in relief, by Gibbons, of fruit, lowers, and entwined tendrils, the
beauty of which are seen to advantage by the splendid and elaborate
gilding and colouring, which have been bestowed upon them. The
substantial parts of the screen are coloured in imitation of verd an-
tique and other marbles, the mouldings and dressings white and gold,
the foliages white, touched and heightened with gold, forming, on
the whole, a resplendent design, in which the utmost profusion
of ornament is introduced without gaudiness ; the ceilings of the
aisles are horizontal and painted to imitate a bright sky with
lizht clouds, the pulpit is hexagonal, each face being richly carved,
the sounding board is of the same form and equally ornamented ;
and with the desks is fixed against a pillar on the south side
of the church. The western end is crossed with a spacious gallery
containing the organ, which is a large instrument in a splendid oak
case, carved as well as the front of the gallery in the same taste as
the remainder of the woud work. The font is a circular basin of mar-
ble, on a stone terminal pillar, the cover is u square temple with a
flower-pot and houquet tastefully carved, attached to each face.
The entrance at the north side is covered with a porch, decorated
with attached Corinthian columns, and an entablature and pan-
nelling. This church has been twice in danger of destruction
since the great fire, by casualties of a similar kind, the first injury
sustained was, as beforeobserved, in 1760, the damage then done has
been already noticed. On the night of the 31st of July, 1827, its
safety was threatened by the great fire which consumed the adja-
cent warehouses, and it is perhaps owing to the strenuous and praise-
worthy exertions of the firemen, that the structure exists at pres.n..
N 2
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The church had not long before, viz. in 1825,undergone a thorongh
repair, but in consequence of the damage it sustained, divine service
was suspended, and not resumed until the 20th January 1628. In
the interval the church received such tasteful and elegant decora-
tions, that it may now compete with any church in the metropolis.
This church was built in 1676, and the steeple added in 1706, the
expence was 9,579/. 19s. 10d.

There are many handsome marble monuments attached to the
walls recording the names of eminent citizens. That to the memory
of s'r James Sanderson, records the fact of his stopping a debate at
the King’s Arms Tavern, during the ferment which occurred after
the French revolution; the monument consists of a pyramid of
veined marble, with the civic regalia, and on the lower part is a
square tablet with an inscription. He died, June 21, 1798. aged 56.

In the ancient church was a monument to the memory of sir
John Salter, who died in 1605, who was a good benefactor to
the company of Salters, and ordered that the beadles and servants
of the company. should goto the said church, the first week 1o
October, three times each person, and say, ¢ How do you do, bro-
ther Salter? 1 hope you are well ¥*

The projecting dial and the clock of this church were erected by
sir Charles Duncombe, alderman and sheriff about 1700. The
same gentleman presented the church with an organ, by Jordan.

8t. Benet Gracechurch.

This church is situated on the east side of Gracechurch-street,
and at thesouth-western corner of Fenchurch street. It isa rectory,
and appears to have been all along in the dean and chapter of Nt.
Paul’s, subject to the arch-deacon. It is of considerble anti-
quity, as is evident from the notice thereof, when Ralph de Diceto
was dean of St. Paul’s, about 1190.

This church having snffered in the great fire of 1666, it was re-
built, and the parish of 8t. Leonard, Eastcheap, added to it.

The plan is an oblong square, with a tower at the north-west
an_le. The west front is in two divisions, one of which is occu-
pied by the tower, in which is a lintelled doorway, on the base-
ment floor, covered with a cornice, sustained upon two tryglyphs,
and the key stone of the arch, which is sculptured with a cherub’s
head ; above this is a long window, the head slightly arched, the
key stone formed into a cherub’s head, the whole surmounted by
a cornice resting upon the key stone; and above is a circular
aperlure containing the dial. The next story which rises above the
church, has a lintelled window in each face; and the succeeding
story also contains, windows, the heads of which occupy
the tympanum of pediments extending across each face, above
which the elevation finishes wi'h a parapet. A leaded spire is
constructed above this story, which consists of a dome having eight

* Annnal Reg. 1763, vol. 9.
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circular perforations on its surface, on the vortex of which is a
small temple with four faces, each of which is finished with a
pediment, and represents a small portico: upon the centre of this
temple is placed a square obelisk, which is finished with a ball
and vane. The other division of the front is similar to the basement
story of the tower, except that it has no entrance; the elevation is
finished with a balustraded parapet. In the north side of the
tower are two windows, one of which is long and the other cir-
cular; and in the same side of the church are five other windows,
with circles above to correspond. Beneath the fourth window
from the west is an entrance, now walled up. The elevation
finishes with a balustraded parapet. The east end has no
window. Part of the south front is concealed by houses ; in the
remainder are three windows with circles above, in the same
style as the opposite side, with an entrance beneath one of the
windows.

A portion of the plan of the interior, at the west end, is occu-
pied by a vestibule formed in the lower story of the tower, and
the vestry. The body of the church is without aisles or columns.
The ceiling isarched and groined into compartments,correspondiag
in number with the windows made by ribs crossing the church, and
resting on imposts, formed of escallops and shields alternately, ac-
companied by palm branches, and surmounted by a small cornice
enriched with acanthus leaves ; the soffits of the ribs are pannelled,
and the pannels filled with lowers; the groins are drawnto an edge,
and on the points of intersection are coupled cherubs’ heads.
Across the west end is a gallery ; the front consists of an entabla-
tureand attic in carved oak, the pilasters enriched with carvings of
fruit and foliage, and cherubs’ heads, in lime-tree ; the work-
manship most probably of Gibbons. In the wall above this
gullery are two arches, and a clock dial Lighly ornamented,
The altar is a very splendid composition, the screen is of oah with
gold enrichments, and made by four Corinthian columns into three
divisions, the central is covered with an elliptical pediment and
attic, and contains the decalogue on its pannels. In the side
compartments are paintings of Moses and Aaron On the cor-
nice are the royal crown and supporters. All the friezes and
esrichments are adorned with carved work in foliage and heads ;
the work, no doubt, of the eminent sculptor before-named. On
cach side of the screen is a square pannel, with a highly enriched
border of carved work, containing the Creed and Lord’s Prayer,
aod surmounted with shields, having the initials T H S., with a
cross and nails. The wall over the screen is painted with a
red curtain drawn up, and disclosing the sky with a glory in the
centre. The pulpit is octagonal of carved oak, and is situated
sgainst the south wall. The font, at the south-west corner of the
building, is a circular white marble basin, adorned with cherub’s
heads, and standing on a pedestal anriched with scrolls.
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This church was rebuilt by sir Christopher Wren after the
great fire, and finished in 1685, at the expense of 35831, 9s. 5}d.
It is in length about 60 feet, breadth 30, and height 32. The
tower and spire are 149 feet in height. This is one of the few re-
maining churches in the metropolis which is destitute of an organ .
this is attributable to the predominance of Quaker influence in
the parish.

There are no monuments worthy of notice.

Mr. Malcolm in his Londinium Redivivum, published 1810, bas
extracted much curious matter from the church Looks of this pa-
rish : respecting the ¢ parish feasts’ is the following :—

¢ 1549. For as much as yt hath been an old accustome in the
foresaid pishe that the eldest churchewardyn, at the audyt day
at his going oute, should make a banket to the pish™ of the s¢
pish, at his own proper costes and charges, having 6s. 8d. allow-
ed hym out of ye box of the churche towards the charges there-
of ; and for bycause y* was thought very necessary that the said
banket, shoulde be contynued alwayes hereafter, as well for ye
10nest assembly together of y® whole pish at the least ones in a
yere, as for y* renewing friendship and love bytweene the said
pish™, and for the pacifying of rancore and displeasur growing
bytwene any of them, at any tyme herafter, &c.’ ten shillings was
allowed in consequence of an advance in the prices of provisions.

1549. Paid for mending six organ pipes that were broken at
taking downe the high altar 8s. From thiscircumstance the organ
must have been very near it, contrary to modern custom.

Payd for pulling downe the altar 4d.

All the church plate was sold this year for 117/. 16s. 5d.

¢ Y° money to be made up 120l to be layd out in the purcha-
sing land for the advantage and maintenance of the church.”

The distracted state of religion will appear in most odious colours
from many of the following ¢xtracts :

1553. P9 to a plasterer for washing owte and defacing of such
scriptures as in the tyme of king Edward the VIth. were written
aboute the chirche and walls, we being commanded so to do by ye
right hon. ye 14 bishopp of Winchester, 14 chan of England, 3s.
and 4d. :

Pd for a cross, and Mary and John, being copper gilt, 1/ 11s.
2d.
The queen (Mary) made an ¢ entry towards the tower’ the
above year : upon which occasion the front of the church was hung
with arras towards Fenchurch-street. The expense of putting it
up was 4d. and the cost 20s.

Pd for an ell of holland for two corporas clothes, and three
yards of sear cloth for y¢ altar,and for two corporas cases, and for
a crosse cloth, 1/. 3s. 5d.

P! for a pax and holy water sprinkle, 84.
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P! for a pyx and a white canopy with four tassels, and for a
fair manuall in text band, being of vellum and new bound, 16s.

Pd for ye floote of ye sevulchre,® and for a desk for ye high
aulter, Ss. .

P? for palm for Palm Sunday, 2d. P? for wax used about the
sepulchre Easter Day 7s. P4 for a sacke of coales to watch the
aforesaid sepulchre 1s. 8d.

P4 for a Ib. of candles same time 23d.

P2 10 the paynters for making ye Roode, with Mary and
John, 6l.

Mary’s ideal pregnancy cost our parish something considerable ;
as they “ p? upon May last, to a prieste and six clerks, for sing-
ing of Te Deum and playing upon the organs, for the birth of our
Prince (which was thought then to be), 1. 88—Thus we find
ot only the birth presupposed, but even the very sex determined.

1555. Pi for the picture of St. Benedict, 1Z. 5s,

P4 for an ymage Crucifix, with Mary and John, 13s. 4d.

Pt for paynting a cloth to hang before ye Roode in Lent, 8s.

Pd for 16 fadom of cord todraw up the cloth 3d.

P4 for 12 garlands on Benedict’s day ls. P! for carrying stream-
ers on ditto 24. Pt for a potac’on for the clerk 1s. 4d. P for
strewing herbs on ditto 4d. P9 to ye suffragan for hallowing ye
altar 1. P4 to four ministers same day 4s. and two of his men 8d.
Pa for his sleeves and his apron 2d. P for oyle olyve 1d. for
mariole 2d. two bunches of hyssop 2d. Ringing same day 4d.

1556. P4 for making the sepulchre against Easter 5s. the lights
cost 15s.

1557. P1 for paynting two Passion banners 5s. P4 for six ells of
buckram, at 1s. per ell, to make the sexton a surplice ; for making
it 8d.

Alle suche goodes as doeth apertayn to Saynte Bennele,
Gracechurch, writen out the xvi daye of Februarie, 1560.

1 cope, of cloth of goulde.

A cope of redde silke with frang of gould.

A cope of blewe damask. A coppe of sattine with blewe birds.

Another onld grene cope.

A vestment with lions of goulde with all that appertayneth to it.

A vestment of redd velvet wtb the lily pote.

A vestment of blewe sattine of Brugges.

A vestment of white fustian with roses and flowers.

A vestment of red saye wth the lily potte and all things to it.

A carpet of cloth of golde, for the table frynged.

A_ herse cloth, of cloth of gold frynged.

A herse clothe for children, of blewe damaske, with V wounds.

A cannapye of redde velvet,

® A ceremony in the church of Rome of making & sepulchra for the Saviour
oo Eater day.
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Three corporas clothes, (with the lynnen clothes) of clothe of
golde in them.

. Two cannapyes, one of clothe of golde, the other of redde sat-
tine w' birds of goulde.

A cannapye w' white nedell worke, fringed.

Deacon and sub-deacon of blewe sattine.

A churchinge clothe fringed, white damaske.

An aulter clothe, fringed, of yelowe and redde saye.

ii aulter cloths of yelowe and redde buckram, fringed.

Two streamers and a flage. A crosse clothe furnished with the
Trynitie.

iiredd banner cloths of buckram, fringed. 1i passion banne:
. lothes paynted.

ii rode clothes paynted. A Sepulchre with ii carpets.

In consequence of the sale of the church plate 19 years before,
what they possessed at this period were utensils of brass and
pewter.

The time was now arrived when all the preceding ornaments
were to perish, and the church become once more the temple of
what was, and still is, rational devotion.

1st Eliz*, payd to a carpenter for pulling downe the Roode and
Mary 4s. 2d.

Pd three labourers one day for pulling down the altars and
John 2s. 4d.

P4 ye somner for to warn y® parson and church’ns to appear at
St. Martyn’s before y¢ Official, which enquired whether y* parson
kept resident or not upon his benefice 43

P4 the scrivener to write a bill to certify y* arch-deacon whe-
ther there was any anabaptist, or erroneous opinions, within ye
parishe ls.

_ P4 for warninge for the above purpose, anabaptists, and other
vicious persons 4d.

1567. P4 for two quarts of Malmsey 10d.

1584. P three labourers for burying the old bones in the
churchyard 6s. 2d. P4 for altering oure chimes to a newe tune 4/.

1593. Pd for 10 ells for the Commandments 5s. 10d.

1597. P4 for timber and workmanship to make y* poste of cor-
rection, and paynting ditto 1Z. 2s.

This and the following article were probably placed in the
neighbourhood of the old market, from whence the street derives
its name. There is barely room for the poste of correction and
stocks at this time in Gracechurch street.

P! for a pair of stockes set up by command of the King, 21. 2s. 6d.

1604. Pdto a paynter y* commission from y® bishopp of Lon-
dno to view the churche where y¢ Kinges Armes might be set up,
and sentences of Scripture.

1608. P4 for carrying snowe oute of ye streete ls. 4d.

1610. Paid an aid to ye Prince for two houses in Fenchurch-
tr2te, 58.
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1611. P4 for repairing the church 120!. 9s.

In the year 1625 the steeple was rebuilt ; and a committee viewed
one of the St. Margaret’s spires for a model, but which is not men-
tioned.

P4 masons worke for a new steeple 100/. other work 90!.

1630. P for paynting Queen Elizabeth’s tomb *, with y¢ frame
ol it, 8i.

1642. Commences with a still further change of religion and
opinions ; and thus we find them selling ¢y® popish altar cloth
for 11. 8s.; and superslitious brasses taken off the grave-stones
for 9s. 6d. The cross on the steeple gave offence, and the lead
was torn from it and sold for 13s. 2d.’

A merry peal wasrung and the ringers were paid 28. 6d.¢ when
the bishops were voted downe by parliament.’

They bad pieces of ¢ brass ordinance,’ as they are termed, ap-
pointed to stand near the church, and 1s. 6d. was paid to the
porters for removing them.

The garrison’s head-quarters were kept in this parish, though
where is not mentioned: ¢ 7s. was paid for a lanthorne and for
candles for maintaining a light in it, in darke nights, in the trou-
blesome times, to hang before it.’

The cross on the top of the steeple was next taken down, for
which they paid 18s. and a workman 1s. 8d.,  for defacing su-
perstitious things in the church.’

1643. The total amount of the poor’s rates was 24/. 11z 10d.

1655. Received a fine for swearing, 1{. 8s.

Received a fine for drawing ale, at 2d. per quart, 13s. 4d.

We have now arrived at the period when the church of St. Be-
nedict (80 often adorned, and so often stripped of its decorations,)
yielded to the purifying flames a helpless victim ; and thus termi-
nated, I hope for ever, the animosities which had reigned in it,
with respect to forms of worship.+

The old iron and lead cleared from' the ruins of 1666 (3 tons
of Ithe latter) sold for 28[. 7s. 6d.; and the old bell metal for
314, 18s.

The church plate and books were removed from place to place,
as each were rendered dangerous by the approach of the dreadful
element, and cost 10s. 84.

1671. The steeple was standing, but 43. was paid to prevent
people from passing under it. .

It was at this time that the parish was united to that of St.
Leonard, Eastcheap.

185

® This wasa picture of queen Eliza-
bet lying on her tomb, common in
many Lond>n churches. One was re-
maising in very indifferent preservation
on the north wall of the chaucel of St.
Martin Outwich, when that church was
rebailt 1797, in the account of which

by Mr. Wilkinson, this is calleda ¢ mo.
numental painting.’ More instances
may be found in Strype. This royal
virgin was thus perpetuated by her
subjects, as Charles L. was in the fol-
lowing century.

+ Malcolm,_ vol. i. p. 318,
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Mr. Malcolm says he found but very few particulars relating to
the rebuilding of St. Benet’s church ; or what sum it cost, or how
raised, from the church books. It was completed in the year
1687, when ¢ this parish’s part towards the altar-piece and rails
round the font’ was paid, being 60l. 12s.*

¢ The report of us of y® vestry of St. Bennett, Gracechurch, in
p’suance to a receipt from ye committee, dated Dec. 24, 1670.The
parish of St. Benedict, Gracechurch, is in y® gift of y® dean and
chapter of St. Paul’s. John Cliffe psent incumbent. Our constant
tithes, legally due before the fire, was about 58 or 58l. per ann.,
and a house todwell in. Perquisites and casualtys were estimated
at 10 per annum. Besides the love of ye parrish, which hath
been of considerabel valew to y* minister, if he be an able
man.

Our present incumbent being a bachelor, hath a curate’s place
in the country, wee know nott of wt vallew.

Our neighbour parrish of St. Leonard, Eastcheap, is now by act
of parlt joined to us of Gracechurch, soe y* together they make upp
a very considerable annual revenew, as will appcar by comparing
the report of theirs with ours.’

1693. They paid 102l. 18s. for the great bell; for the small
one 9]. 11s. for the clock 871. 10s. and for the dial 15Z. 3s. 7d.+

On the east side of Fish-street Hill, near the corner of Little
Eastcheap is the church-yard of St. Leonard, the church of which
was destroyed by the great fire in 1666.

This parish is a rectory, and one of the thirteen peculiars
in this city belonging to the archbishop of Canterbury, the patron
age of which formerly belonged to the prior and convent of Can-
terbury, but at present is in the dean and chapter of that see.* It
appears to have been of ancient foundation,and derived its name
from St. Leonard, a French saint, the additional epithet serving to
distinguish it from another church in thiscity dedicated to the same
saint. '

The oldest parish books extant are dated 1668. The vicinity
of the vestry-room to the spot where the dreadful calamity of 16¢6
had its origin, was probably the cause of the loss of the more an-
cient ones.

In 1693 an ¢ Account was taken what is upon the stone in the
roome yt was the vestry ffor the parishe of St. Leonard, Eastcheap,
before the flier of London} :—

Time out of minde this Vestry I stoode, till crooked with adge

my strength I lost,

And in Nov’. with full consent was built anew at y® parrish

cost.

When Queen Elizt raigned had to England’s peace 26 yeare:

John Heard person at that time, Richard Pountes and Hary

Baker church-wardens were,

¢ In the Gent.’s Mag. vol. xxvi. p. 608, the church is said to have cost 3588(.
*+ Malcolm, vol. i. p. 819, $ See Gent's.. Mag. vol. Ixxi. p. 1175.
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Anno Dom’i 1584. R.P.

The vestry-room was rebuilt, 1693, and in a very short time
slter converted into a shop. The rent was 40s. per year, which
has since been increased to 5!. Mr. Malcolm says the stone is
siill in being in the cellar. The toft, or plat of ground, on which
Sir Thomas. Player’s house stood (before the fire) on Fish street
hill, was let to him April 21, 1668, for a term of 90 years, on pay-
ing a fine of 50!. and 6l. per annum.

On the east side of Fish Street Hill, is

The Monument.

|

The Monument is a noble fluted column of the Doric order, and
was erected rather to perpetuate the charge against the Ruman
Catholics of setting fire to the city, than as a memento of its de-
struction and restoration. The Monument, like all public buildings
of the period, was designed by sir Christopher Wren. This column
is 202 feet high, that being also the distance of its base from the
spot where the fire commenced. The pedestal is forty feet high,
and the plinth twenty-eight feet square ; the shaft of the column
is 120 feet high, and fifteen in diameter : it is hollow, and incloses
a staircase of black marble, consisting of 345 steps, by which a
balcony, within thirty-two feet of the top, is reached. The co-
lumn is surmounted with an urn * forty-two feet high, with flamncs
issuing from it.

The cubic measurements of this column are as follows:

Feet
The solidity of the whole fabric, from the bottom of the
lowest plinth to the black marble under the urn, the
cylinder of the staircase only deducted, and the stone
for the carving not allowedfor............co00.... 37396
The black marble that covers the capital ........... . 287
Ditto the lanthorn . ... ... Ceeseesassencans et reenae 64
From this solidity deduct,
For eight great niches ....................c...0e.n 281
For three doors and passages ...............c.cc00n. 289
For three sides reveyled ................... veeeeese 486
Forroughblock ................. ... ..iial.l, 1499
For rubble work ............. Chtieceeianerenans 7185
Inall 9740

. The remainder is 27656
To this add, upon the account of the carvings in the front,

the four great dragons, and festoons ...... . veeeas 540

There remains of solid Portland stone.... ........ ... 28106

® Sir C. Wren originally intended a figure of a woman, crowned with
that this noble column should have turrets, holding a sword and cap of
surmounted with a colossal sta-  maintenance, with other easigns of the

toe of Charles 11. in brass gilt, or else  city’s grandeur and re-erection.
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On three sides of the pedestal are inscriptions (of which the fol-
lowing are fac-similes), written by Dr. Thomas Gale, afterwacds
dean of York. The fourth side is occupied with a piece of sculpture.

On the north side

ANNO CHRISTI CIODCLXVI. DIE [V. NONAS SEPTEMBR EsS
HINC IN ORIENTEM PEDVM CCIIL INTERYVALLO QUSRS EST

HVIVSCE COLVMNA ALTITYDO ERVPIT DE MEDIA NOCTE

INCENDIVM QYOD VENTO SPIRANTE HAVSIT ETIAM LONGINQVA

ET PARTES PER OMNES POPVLABVNDVM FERBEBATVR

EVK IMPBETV ET FRAGORE INCREDIBILI XXCIX TEMPLA
PORTAS PRETORIVM, ZEDES PVBLICAS, PTOCHOTROPHIA

SCHOLAS BIBLIOTHECAS, INSVLARVM MAGNVM NVMERVK

DUMVVM CCIDD000000CC VICOS CD. ABSVMPSIT.

DB XXVI. REGIONIBYS XV. PVNDITVS DELEVIT, ALIAS VI)I. LACBRAS
ET SEMIVSTAS RELIQVIA VRBIS CADAVER AD CDXXXVI. IVGERAT
HINC AB ARCE PER TAMISIS RIPAM AD TEMPLARIORVM PANVM
ILLINC AB EYRO AQVILONALI PORTA SECVNDVM MVROS
AD FOSSE FLETANAS CAPVT PORREXIT ADVERSVS OPES CIVIVN
BT PORTVNAS INFBESTVM ERGAVITAS INNOCVVM VTPER OMNIA
REFERRBT SVPREMAM ILLAM MVNDI EXVSTIONENM.

VBLOX CLADER FVIT BXIGVVM TEMPYS EANDEM VIDIT
CIVITATEN FLORENTISSIMAM ET NULLANM
ERTIO DIE CVM IAM PLANE EVICBRAT HVMANA CONSILIA
ET SVBSIDIA ONNIA, CELITVS VT PAR EST CREDERE
IV8SVS STETIT PATALIS IGNIS ET QVAQVA VERSVM

' ELANGVIT.
SED
FYROR PAPISTICVS QVI TAM DIRA PATRAVIT NONDVM
RESTINGVIT/R
Translation.

¢1n the year of Christ 1666, the 2nd day of September, eastward
{com hence, at the distance of 202 feet, the height of this column,
a terrible fire broke out about midnight; which, driven on by a
strong wind, not only wasted the adjacent parts, but also very
remote places, with incredible noise and fury. It consumed 89
churches, the city gates, Guildhall, many public structures, hospitals,
schools, libraries, a vast number of stately edifices, 13,200 d well-
inz-houses, and 430 streets ; of the twenty-six wards, it utterly de-
stroyed fifteen, and lelt eight others shattered and half burnt. The
ruins of the city were 436 acres, from the Tower by the Thames
side to the Temple church, and from the north-east along the
city-wall to Holborn-bridge. To the estates and fortunes of the
citizens it was merciless, but to their lives very favourable, that it
might in all things resemble the conflagration of the world. The
destruction was sudden; for, in a small space of time, the city
was seen most fiourishing, and reduced to nothing. Three days
afler, when this fatal fire had bafled all human counsels and
endeavours, in the opinion of all, it stopped, as it were, by g
command from heaven, and was on every side extinguished. Bu¢
papistical malice, which perpetrated such mischiefs, is not yet
restrained.’

On the south side,
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CAROLYS 11. MART. F. MAG. BRIT. FRAN. ET HIB. REX. PID. D.
PRINCEPS CLEMENTISSIMVS MISFRATVS LYCTVOSAM RERVM
PACIEY PLVRIMA FVMANTIBYS IAM TVM RVINIS INSOLATIVM
CIVIVM BT VRBIS SVY2 ORNAMENTVYN PROVIDIT TRIB TVM
REMISIT PRECES ORDINIS ET POPVLI LONDINENSIS RETVLIT
AD REGNI1 SENATVM QVI CONTINVO DECREVIT ' T PVBLICA
OPERA PECVNIA PVBLICA EX VECTIGALI CARBONIS FOSSILI
ORIVNDA IN MELIORENM FORMAM RESTITVERENTVR, VTIQVE BDES
SACRAR ET D. PAVLI TEMPLVM A FYNDMENTIS OMNI MAGNI-
FICENTIA EXTRVERBNTVR PONTES PORTZE CARCERES Nov]
PIERENT EMVNDAREMTVR ALVEI VICI AD REGVLAM RESPON-
DEREBNT CLIVI COMPLANARENTVR APERIERNTVR ANGIPOR-
TV FORA ET MACELLA IN AREAS SEPOSITAS ELIMINAREN-
TVR. CENSVIT ETIAM VTISINGVLAE DOMVS MVRIS INTER-
GERINIs CONCLVDERENTVR UNIVERSE IN FRONTEM PARI]
ALTITVDINE CONSVRGERENT OMNESQVE PARIETES fAXO
QVADRATO AVT COCTO LATERE SOLIDARENTVR; VTIQVE
NEMINI LICERET VLTRA SEPTENNIVM EDIFICANDO 1MMO-
RARI. AD H&C LITES DE TERMINIS ORITVRAS LEGE LATA
PRESCIDIT ANJECIT QVOQVE SVPPLICATIONES ANNVAS, ET !
AD BETERNAM POSTERORVM MEMORIAM H.C. P C.
PESTINATVR VNDIQVE, RESVRGIT LONDINVM, MAIORY CELERITA-
TE AN SPLENDORE INCERTVM: VNVM TRIENNIVM ABSOLVIT
QVYOD SECVLI OPVS8 CREDEBATVR

Translation.

¢Charles the Second, son of Charles the Martyr, king of Great
Britain, France, and Ireland, defender of the faith, a most gra-
cious prince, commiserating the deplorable state of things, whilst
the ruins were yet smoking, provided for the comfort of his eiti-
zens, and the ornament of his city ; remitted their taxes, and re-
ferred the petitions of the magistrates and inhabitants to the par-
liament ; who immediately passed an act, that public works
should be restored to greater beauty, with public money, to be
raised by an imposition on coals; that churches, and the cathe-
dral of St. Panl’s, should be rebuilt from their foundations, with
all magnificence ; that the bridges, gates, and prisons should be
new made, the sewers cleansed, the streets made straight and
regular, such as were steep levelled, and those too narrow made
wider, markets and shambles removed to separate places. They
also enacted, that every house should be built with party-walls,
and all in front raised of an equal height, and those walls all of
square stone or brick; and that no man should delay building
beyond the space of seven years.’

On the cast side is the following :—

INCEPTA
RICHARDO FORD, EQUITE
PRAETORE LOND : AD MDCLXXI
PERDVCTA ALTIVS
GEORGIO WATERMAN, EQ : PYR
ROBERTO HANSON, EQ : PVAR
GVLIELMO HOOKER, FQ: PV
ROBFRTO VINER, EQ: PV
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I08EPHO SHELDON, EQ : PV
PERFECTA
THOMA DAVIES, EQ : PRE: VRB
+«ANNO DM MDCLXXVII
Tranalation.
This pillar was began,
Sir Richard Ford, knt., being lord mayor of
London, in the year 1671
Carried on
In the mayoralties of
Sir George Waterman, kat.
Sir George Hanson, kat.
Sir William Hooker, knt,
Sir Robert Viner, knt.
Sir Joseph Sheldon, knt.
Aund finished in that of
Sir Thomas Davies, in the year 1677,

On the west side is a large piece of sculpture, allegorically
representing the destruction and rebuilding of the city. In
one compartment the city appears in flames ; the inhabitants,
with outstretched arms, calling for succour; the insignia of the
city laying thrown down and mutilated, while a female, wearing
a civic crown and holding a sword, shews that the municipal au-
thority was still maintained. The king, Charles II., occupies a
conspicuous situation ; he is represented in a Roman habit, and is
trampling under his feet Envy, which seeks to renew the calamity,
by blowing flames out of its mouth. Near the sovereign are three
females, representing Liberty, Imagination, and Architecture.
Time is offering consolation to the distressed, and Providence gives
assurance of peace and plenty. There are also several other
figures, including Mars and Fortitude. The whole was executed
by that eminent sculptor, Caius Gabriel Cibber.

Above this, and round the cornice of the pedestal, are large en-
ricbments of trophy work, and the king’s and cities’ arms, the
sword, mace, and cap of maintenance, with four immense dragons
at the angles, the whole executed in a bold manner.

Round the base there is the following inscription, attributing
the destruction of the city to the papists.

West.
THE PILLAR WAS SET VP IN PERPETVALL RELMEMRBRANCE OF THAT MOST
DREADFVLL BVRNING OF THIS PROTESTANT
South.
CITY, BEGVN AND CARRYED ON BY YE TREACHERY & MALICE OF YE POPISH
FACTIO IN YB BEGINNING OF SEPTEMB® IN YE YEAR OF
East.

OVR LORD 1€66, IN ORDER FOR CARRYING ON THEIR HORRID PLOTT FOR
EXTIRPATING

North.

THE PROTESTANT AND OLD BENGLISH LIBERTY, AND INTRODUCING POPERY
AND SLAVERY.



HISTORY OF LONDON. 191

This inscription was defaced during the reign of James I1., but
on his abdication, and the accession of William 1I1., it was very
deeply engraved. It is due to the memory of the great architect,
Sir Christopher Wren, to state the inscriptions were not suggest-
ed by him, but adopted contrary to his wishes, instead of the fol-
lowing elegant composition which he had prepared :—

Inscription for the great pillar, or monument of London, ac-
cording to the first conception of sir Christopher Wren.

Qui celsam spectas molem idem quoque infaustum & fatalem
toti quondam civitati vides locum. Hic quippé, anno Christi
M.DC.LXVI. 2 Sept. alterd post mediam noctem hord, ex ca:d
homili, prima se extulit flamma, que, Austro flante, aded brevi
invaluit, ut non taptum tota feré intra muros wmbs, sed et sedificia
quecunque arcem, et templariorum hospitium, quacunque denique
ripas fluminis, et remotissima civitatis interjacent meenia, ferali
absumpta fuerint incendio© Tridui spatio, C. Templa, Plates
CCCC. et plura quam XIV. Domorum millia flammis absorpta
foere. Innunieri cives omnibus suis fortunis exuti, et sub dio
agitare coacti, infinite, et toto orbe congeste opes in cinerem et
favillam redactee: ita ut de urbe omnium quotquot sol aspicit
amplissimA, et felicissimi, preeter nomen et famam, et immensos
ruinarum aggeres, vix quicquam superessit.

Carolus secundus, Dei gratifi, rex Magn® Britannie, Francise
et Hiberniee, anno regni XVIIL. et plerique Anglie proceres con-
sumptd incendio urbe pené universi, efdemque triennio spatio
0 ampliorem modum instaurat, et non ut ante ligneis aut luteis,
sed partim lateritiis, partim marmoreis ®dificiis, et operibus, itd
ornatd, ut e suis ruinis pulcrior maltd prodiisse videatur; auctis
preeterea ad immensam magnitudinem urbis pomceriis ; ad eeter-
nam utriusque facti memoriam, hic, ubi tante cladis prima emicuit
flamma,

Monumentum posuere.

Discat presens et futura setas, nequa similis ingruat clades,
tempestivis Numea placare volis: beneficium verd regis et proce-
rum, quorum liberalitate, preeter ornatum, major efiam urbi ac-
cessil securitas, grata mente recognoscat.

O quantum tibi debet Augusta,
Tot nascentia templa, tot renata,
Tot spectacula !

Martial.

On the site of the Monument stood the parish church of St.
Margaret ; the patronage of this rectory was in the abbot and
convent, and the bishop of Winchester, till Queen Mary, by her
letters patent, 1553, granted to the bishop of London and his suc-
cessors, in whom it still remains, but subject to the arch-deacon.

church being consumed in the great fire 1666 was not
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rebuilt, the parish being annexed to the adjacent one of St. Mag-
nus.

The date of the first erection of this church is not known, though
it was of considerable antiquity, from Roger de Bredefeld and Ed-
ward Hoseland, being rectors before the year 1328.

1n the cellar of the house, No. 45, on the eastern side of this
street, and nearly adjoining to the site of St. Leonard’s Church, are
the remains of an ancient crypt, which was formerly groined and
vaulted with stone, a low pointed doorway and the semi-pillars
which sustained the vault still remain, the whole apparently the
workmanship of the sixteenth century. In the passage belonging
to No. 80, on the same side of the street, a vestige of a similarcrypt
was recently destroyed.

At the east end of Crooked-lane and opposite the Monument,
was in former times a palace built of stone, in which Edward the
Black Prince, son of Edward IIl. resided, it was afterwards let out
for an inn and was known by the name of the Black-bull-inn.

Almost contiguous to the north west corner of London-bridge,
was a postern gate, denominated Oystergate, from oysters being
anciently sold there.

At the north west extremity of this ward, in a court leading from
Gracechurch-street, to Lombard-street is the

Quaker’s Meeting.

The exterior and interior is equally plain and totally devoid of
ornament, being contrived with no other view than to afford most
room and convenience to the congregation. On one side an ascent
of several steps leads to a narrow platform; and on this stands
the bench for the elders or speakers. From this spot did the me-
morable William Penn (whose mild and excellent proceedings in
founding his Pennsylvanian colony cannot be too highly praised)
often preach. The following transaction is transcribed from a
MS. of Gevrge Fox, in the British Museum.

¢ It was upon me to goe to Barkin meeting ; but hearing yt there
would be a busell against our meetings on y* first day; and feeling
a great disquietness in peoples spirits in the “husings of the sheriffs;
it was upon me to go to Gratius-streetupon the first day, to the meet.-
ing there ; and William Pen said he wou!d go along with me. And
while William Pen was delivering y* truth to y° people, y® consta-
ble came in with his great staff, and bid him give over, and come
down.

But William Pen held on, declaring the truth in the power
of God. After a while, the constst.le went away. After a while,
the constable went away. Aund when William Pen had done,
he sat downe.

And George Fox stood up, and declared to y¢ people y¢ ever-
lasting Gospel which was preached in y® apostles days, and to
Abram ; and which the church in y® apostles dayes did receive
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and come to be heiresof. And this Gospel was sent from Heaven
by y* Holy Gost in y* apostles dayes, and now : And this Gospel
was not of man, neither by man; but by the revelation by this
Holy Gost. Now this Gospel is preached again. John said it
should be to all nations, tongues, and people. And now all peo-
ple are to have Christ, y* prophet in this Gospel of the new cove-
mant ; for, as Moses said, like unto me will God raise up aprophet ;
bim shall you hear in all things. He, thisprophet Christ, is come.
Aod all y* Jews in spirit, and true believing Christians in y* light,
are to Christ in his Gospel, new Testament, and new covenant ;
who have y° lawe of God writen in theire hearts, and put in
theire minds. And not to heare Moses and his priests in their law,
in tables of stome, with their tithes, offerings, and swearing, and
othes, and outward circumsicion in y* law, and tables of stone as
before said ; but they are to heare Christ in his new covenant and
law of y* spirit of life, which is in Christ Jesus; y* makes free
from the law of sin and death. Yea, Christ I say, who bruises y,
nt’s head ; who of the head of enmity and yt Christ quickens
makes alive. He makes y®to sit together in y¢ heavenly
places in Christ Jesus, sothat those doe not wauder up and downe
¥* worlde and invented pathes of religion ; and soe those doe not
wander oute of Christ, E:t sit together in him, as y* saintsdid in
y* apostles dayes. - And so Christ was, and is, their treasure of
wisaom, life, knowledge, and salvation.

As George Fox was speaking, two constables came in with
their great staves, and bid George Fox come down, and give over
speaking. But George Fox spake onin y* power of y° Lorde,
both to y* people and y* constables ; andsaid y* we werea peace-
able people, to waite upon God, and worship him in spirit and in
trath. And why do you come amongst us with great staves, who
are a peaceable people? You need not come amongst us with
great staves, who are a peaceable people; whodesire y* good and
salvation of all people. And soe George Fox went on with many
other words. And then the constables drew out towards y* door;
and y* soldiers stood with their muskets in y* yard. And George
Fox koeeled downe, and prayed ; and desired the Lorde to open
y* eyes and hearts of people, both high and.low ; y* their minds
ﬁb& be turned to his holy spirit, yt he may be glorified in all

over all. George Fox was gotten up from prayer; y consta-
bles was come in again, with theire great staves, but not y* foldiers.
And y® friends past away out of meeting: for it was our full time
of breaking up our meeting. And y* soldiers.and constables were
very civil. George Fox and friends went into widow Scot’s cham=
ber, where we used to goe, and many friends with him. And John
Osgoth went downe to y* constables, and spake to them yt they
might leave their staves and come to us, if they would any thing
with us, Y* people were gone; and .one of y® constables came
within a quarter of an hour with his staff. We desired to see his

vOL. 11 o
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warrant ; and when we did, we saw y* one Holton was ye informy
er, a north countryman. They say he is a papish, and an alder-
man of y* warde signed the warrant. And it was asked the con

stable whether he could arrest by his warrant on y* first day. And
be said he thought he could not. And he tould us y* he charged
ye informer to come along with him to ye meeting ; but he ran
away from him. Soe we tould him he was a clear man of meddling
with us; y* we were free to goe in our freedom ta y¢ alderman.
And so John Osgoth said he would goe with the constable to speake
with y° alderman. Soe they presently came back againe; and y°
alderman who had signed the warrant was gone from home, and
y° constable at a straite; and being a tender man, we bid him to
set an hour to come to us again, or send for us. I should goe to
William Meade, and William Pen to his chamber, and he sat y,
wh hour; but he never sent to him. But Thomas Lower met him
about y* 7th hour ; and y® constable tould him he thought it would
come to nothing. Y Lord’s power was oyer all to his glory. G.F.”*

On the south side of Thames-street is

Fishmongers’ Hall.
. 1665.

Previous to the incorporation of the two companies of salt-fsh-
mongers, and stock-fishmongers, the fishmongers had six halls, but
upon their joint incorporation they agreed to have but ‘one, name-
ly, ¢ the house given unto them by the lord Fanhope, [sir John
Cornewell] in the parish of St. Michael, Crooked-lane.’

This fabric, which was destroyed by the fire of London, appears
to have been a plain narrow edifice, castellated and govered with
lead, having two principal stories, the lower one of which had
a kind of gallery or balcony. Onits destruction the late hall wes
erected from the stately designs of sir Christopher Wren, and
might he considered as a noble specimen of his intention to orna-
ment the banks of the river Thames, had his entire plan for re-
building the city been carried into effect. This hall occupied an
extendive plot of ground between Thames-street and the river, ata

{®, Malcolm’s London, i. p..60
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short distance from the north end of Londen Bridge, the ehief front
being towarda the river of which it commanded a five view. The
estrance from 1Thames-sireet being under a long passage, orna-
mented in fropnt with sculptured pilasiers sustaining an open pe-
diment, in which are the company’s arms, and on each side a dol-
phin. This portion of the edifice still remaina. The buildings
environed a square court paved with flat stones; the hall, which

- formed the somth side of the court was a very spacious and lofty

apertment, handsomely fitted up, with a capacious gallery going
round the whole interior. At the upper end behind the seat of the
prime~-warden, was an ornamental niche, wherein was a full sized
statve, corved im wood, and painted, of sir William Walworth,
knt., whe was & member of this company, and is represented in the
dress of his time, his right hand grasping a dagger, reputed to
be the identical weapon with which he struck Wat Tyler from his
howe.

Walwerth’s Dagger.

This dagger is evidently belonging to the period, viz. the latter
ed of the fourteenth centwry, it is of meat workmanship, without
inscription of any kind, the blade is formed of four sides concaved,
and is in length from the hilt 12} inches, the hilt is 5 inches, and
across the gnard, 6 inches. The above is a correct delineation of
the weapon, from the original, which is carefully preserved by the
company. Below the niche is inscribed the following lines : —

Brave WaLwoRrTH, knight, lord mayor, yt slew
Rebellious Tyler in his alarmes,

‘The king therefore did give in lien
The dagger to the cytyes armes.

In the 4th yeare of Richard II. Anno Domini, 1881.

If there be not much poetry in this artless verse, observes Mr.
Brayley, there is at least some fiction; for the dagger, as it is
called, in the first quarter of the city-arms, was certainly iptended
for the sword of St. Paul, the chosen patron of the corporation, and
was borne centuries previous to the age of Walworth and his
compatriots. Horace Walpole says that the above statue was
made by Edward Pierce, the statuary and architect, who died in
1698. 'ﬁmre is an expression of strong muscular energy in the coun-
tenance of this figure, which woa probably cnrvg from some
genuine likeness ; the eyes are large, and the beard dark and
bushy with whiskers. In the windows at the same end of the hall

o2
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was some pamnted glass, displaying the arms of England, the cicy,
the goldsmiths’ and fishmongers’ companies; and under the gallery
were numerous shields emblazoned, with the.arms of the successive
prime wardens. In front of the gallery was a very large and
clever picture of the gallant admiral earl St. Vincent, which
was put up at the expense of the company, in veneration of his
great talents and services.

In the court room were full lengths of the sovereigns William
the third, and Mary, his consort, Frederick prince of Wales, and his
consort, &c. and eight curious pictures, apparently from the Dutch
school, of various kinds of fish, which are grouped with much skill,
and excellently coloured. An apartment above, contains two
other pictures, full lengths, of the late margrave and margravine
of Anspach, executed in 1797, by Romney: these are in a loose,
sketchy style, but are regarded as good likenesses: the con-
nection of the margravine with the company, arose from an invi-
tation given by her to the company, in an excursivn up the river
Thames, to land at Brandenburg-house, then her residence. Here
also wasa portrait of W. Sturch, 931 prime warden, 1%27-8, it
is a halflength by T. Phillips, esq. R. A.

The chief partof the edifice was of brick, but the front next the
Thames was ornamented with stone window cases, quoins, &c.
the latter being wrought in rustic: and the summit of the building
terminated by a cornice, having a large central pediment, in the
tympanum of which were the royal arms of Charles IL : from the
wharf was an ascent to the portal of the hall by a high flight of
stone steps. The north buttress of the new London-bridge abut-
ting on the eastern part of the hall, the city were obliged to pur-
chase a considerable portion, for which they paid 20,0001 to the
company.

CHAPTER IX.

History and Topography of Broad-street’ Ward.

This ward derives its name from a street in it which obtained the
appellation of Broad-street for being, before the fire of London, one
of the widest streets within the walls of the city. It is bounded on
the north and east by Bishopsgate ward ; on the south by Cornhill
and Wallbrook wards, and on the west by Coleman-street ward. It
is divided into the ten precincts of St. Mildred, Woolchurch, St.
Christopher, St. Bartholomew Upper, St. Bartholomew Lower, St.
Margaret Lothbury, St. Benet Fink,St. Martin Outwich, St. Peter-
le-Poor, and Allhallows, London Wall. It is governed by an al-
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derman, and sends twelve inhabitants to the court of common-conn-
cl. There were formerly six churches in this ward, viz. —All-
hallows London Wall, St. Bartholomew by the Exchange, St. Be-
pet Fink,St. Martin Outwich, St. Peter-le-Poor, and St. Christo-
Je-Stock, all of which exist except the last. .

Althallows Church, London Wall.
1760.

This church 1s situated on the north aide of the street, taking its
name from the city wall in the interval between Moorfields and New
Broad-street, the north wall abutting on the actual wall of the city.
The patro of this church, which is a rectory, was snciently in
the prior monvem of the Holy Trinity, near Aldgate, who pre-
sented Thomas Richer de Sanston to it in 1335.

At the dissolution of religious houses, in the time of Henry VIII.
this church, with the priory to which it belonged, was surrendered
to the crown, in whom the advowson still remains. The old church
escaped the fire of London, but became so ruinous that, in 1765,
the parishioners obtained an act of parliament to empower them to
pull it down, together with the parsonagehouse,and to enable them
to raise money by annuities to rebuild it. The first stone of the pre
sent edifice was laid July 10, 1765, and it was consecrated Sept. 8,
1767. It was built from the designs of Mr. Dance, the builder of
the Mansion-house, and was the first edifice built from his designs
The old church appears from the above engraving, which is copied
from one by Toms, in 1760, to have been a building of the 14th
century ; it was equally humble with its successor, but possessed
nove of a church-like appearance. The present edifice affords a
striking contrast to the works of Wren, and it would almost appear
that the architect had studiously avoided giving to his building any
indication of what it wasdesigned for. The exterior, with the ex-
ception of the tower, is built with brick, and if it were large
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enough, 1t might be taken for a riding-school. The tower is attach-
ed to the west end of the building, three of its sides being clear of
the main structure, alf of which are uniform, except the western,
which is distinguished by the entrance. Itissquare in plan, and in
elevation is made into three principal stories. The first contains
the doorway flanked by two Doric columns sustaining their entabla-
ture and a pediment ; above this is a circular aperture for a dial.
The second story has an arched window filled in with weather board-
ing, and the elevation is furnished with a cornice and parapet hav-
ing vases at the angles: within the parapet is a circular stylobate
sustaining a small temple of the same form, to which is attached
eight Corinthian columns sustaining their entablatures. The inter-
columniations are pierced with arched openings, and the entablature
above is broken and recessed ; the whole is crowned with an hemis-
pherical cupola, the surface being ribbed and finished with a vane.
The residue of the western front is mere dead wall. The south
side is relieved by four arches formed in the brick work, the heads
being pierced for windows, and is finished by the cornice continued
from the tower. In the basement are windows lighting the cata-
combs. The east end is occupied with a semicircular bow, the
brick wall of which is without relief’; the elevation finishes as before.
The north side is concealed from observation, but is similar to the
south, with the exception of an abutment forming the vestry-room,
which extends northward beyond the bounds of London Wall, and
is in the adjoining parish of St. Stephen, Coleman-street, The
basement story of the tower forms a porch to a vestibule, in which
on the south 1s a flight of stairs descending to the catacombs, and
ascending to the gallery,and an entrance to the body of the church.
The interior is in five d}i'visions, the first contains a gallery, the next
three are appropriated to the auditory, and are marked by four en-
gaged Ionic columns, with fluted shafts attached to each of theside
walls ; these sustain a fascia ornamented with leaves and honey-
suekles in an incorrect taste, upon which rests a waggon-head ceiling
pieroed laterally with archesabove the intercolumniations ; the whole
surface of the ceiling is frittered into numerous pannels filled with
plasterer’s imitations of the flowers of the honeysuckle, the whole
composition being only remarkable as one of the worst specimens of
modern Greeian architecture ; the division to the west, is ceiled in
a plainer style, the ceiling resting on a fascia continued from that
before described. The chancel, which occupies the bow noticed on
the outside, is abruptly divided from the nave, by a small portion
of wall, which is attempted to be relieved by a painted curtain
The surface of the concavity is made into various pannels, snd the
upright is finished by the continued fascia; the ceiling is in form of
a half dome, the soffit of which is entirely occupied by lozenge
shaped pannels with small flowers in the centre, the whole design so
different from the rest of the church, that it might be taken for the
work of anether hand. The western gallery is sustained. upon Doric
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columns, and the front is compomed of an entdblatdre and aitic
puinted to imitate mahogany ; on the frieze is an inscription, stating
when the church was rebuilt. In the gallery is a small organ.
The pulpit and desks are affixed to the north wall; they are without
ornament ; the former is approached from the vestry-room by a
flight of stairs outside the church, the entrance is covered by a mean
frontispiece, finished with a pediment. On the same side of the
church is a doorway te the vestry, and so fond of uniformity was
the architect, that he has constructed on the opposite wall a falss
doorway, part of which shews itself above the pews’; beneath the
western gallery is a small forit of white marble, consisting of a cir-
calar basin on a pillar of the smme form. Abote the communion
table is a copy of Cortona’s painting of * Ananias restoring St.
Paul to sight,” made by Nathaniel Dance, (afterwardssir N.Holland,
bart.) the brother of the arcliitect, and by him presented to the
church. On the upper part of the frame is the verse (Acts ix. ver.
17.) recording the event. Setting aside the bad taste in which the
building is decorated, the want of ornaments appropriate to the
destination of the structure is most strikingly apparent : notwith-
standing the exuberance of decoration, thete is not one sacred em-
blem to denote the purposes for which the building was erected,
and whieh has much more the appearance of an assembly-room,
than a church. The works of Mr. Dance are scarcely legitimate
subjects for criticism ; it is only necessary to add, that the present
specimen is not behind the other deformities which that gentle~
mah has added to the city. The expense of the building was
2,9411.

There are several mural tablets, of no general interest, in the
present church, besides a marblé monument to the memory of Joseph
Patience, esq. architect : it is surmounted with a bust, distinguished
bya mrm expression of dstonishment, as if the sculptor had in-
tended to represent the surprise of the deceased, at witnessing the
feulty architecture about him. .

Attached to the western wall of the church is a small portion of
London-wall, in a good state of preservation.

The monuments in the old church were destroyed with the struc-
tore which contained them, with the exception of two, one of which
is aflixed to the westéin wall of the vestibule, and the other, 4 hand-
some and spacious mural monument, mentioned in Strype’s Stow,
(edit. 1720.) as then occupying a place on the western side of the
pulpit in the old church, to the memo? of Dominici de Heila,
of an aficient family in Flanders, who died 28th April, cis1acvii,
sged 82,and Guofielme de Heila his wife, who died 31 May, cioroov
aged 70, nmy be seen on the north wall of the church of
Castlé Hedinghdm, Essex; and asmall marble tablet aitached
thereto, bedring an inscription importing that it was removed by
a descendant of the family resident in that parish, from the charch
of Althallows, London-wall, on the demulition of the latter edifice
in 1766.
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The earliest churchwarden’s account is for 1455, but there is
‘nothing mentioned that should lead us to suppose the church was
then an ancient bui'ding. _

This church coutained a rood loft, and a representation of Judas

in it, which was painted for 13d. in 1455. ln 1457 this loft was
rebuilt for 6l., and the gilding on the cross cost 3s. 4d.
_ In addition to the high altar, were two others dedicated to our
Lady and St. Lawrence. This church was particularly rich in the
ornaments belonging to the Roman Catholic church ; among other
items is the following :—

A cross of silver parcel gilt, weighing 98} oz.

A pontyfycall of Saynt Thomas of Canterberry, clossed in syl-
ver.

A bone of Saynt Davy, clossed in sylver,

A cross weighing 10} oz. to bear at sacrament.*

St. Bartholomew the Little, or 8t. Bartholomew by the Exchange.

This church is situated on the east side of St. Bartholomew lane,
and separated from Threadneedle-street by houses built against its
south wall. It is of very ancient foundation; for, in the year
1331, John de Tyerne was presented to this living, on the death.
of John de Aldeburgh, the rector ; and it bad become so decayed,
that it was entirely rebuilt in the year 1438.

The living was anciently in Simon Godart, citizen, who pro-
bably gave it to the abbey of St. Mary of Grace; as it fell,
with the dissolution of that religious house, into the hands of the
crown, in whom it has continued to the present time, subject to
the archdeacon. The old church was burnt down by the fire
of London, after which the present building waserected. The exte-
rior view is far from handsome, owing to the stones of which the
walls are composed, being rough and irregular. The west front,
as seen in Bartholomew lane, shews a centre and side aisles with a
square tower, attached to the south wall. The central division is
faced with smoothed stone; it contains the principal entrance,
which isarched and surrounded with a concaved frontispiece, over
which is a mask hetween handsome festoons of foliage. Above
this is a large arched window, divided into compartments by two
stone uprights sustaining an arched head, and joined to the jambs
at the springing of the arch, by a transom stone ; this window is
walledup. In the aisles are arched windows, and the elevation is
finished with a cornice and attic. The tower is in four stories, the
first contains an arched window corresponding with the aisles in its
western front, above which is an oblong square window ; the third
story has an arched window,and the upper story another of an ob-
long square form, bounded by an architrave and surmounted by a
cornice. The southern face is built against to the third story ; the
eastern face is a copy of the western one. The finish to the tower

® Malcolm, ii. p. 66,
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in a singular attic, in the middle of each face is an arch sustained
ipon antss, the coping being made to rise and form a pediment above
be window ; this portion is also of smoothed stone. Thé north
e of the church has four arched windows in the aisle, of a similar
‘haracter to those in the west front; beneath the first window °
s 3 lintelled doorway ; and between the first and second is an |
actagon staircase turret, lighted by loopholes, the height of which
has been increased by an addition of brick work. Above the aisles |
is a clerestory containing five segment arched windows, this por-*
tion is built of brick, with stone dressings. The east front, which
1 concealed from public observation, corresponds in its general
festures with the western. A portion of the south wall of the
church appears above the premises of the Cock tavern. This isan
attached chapel, now used as a vestry, it contains two-segment
arched windows, and is built with the same materials as the church.
Above this is seen the clerestory. The walls and tower of this
charch, there is little doubt, are anterior to the fire, the architect
found them sufficiently strong to sustain a new roof, and he only
rebuilt the portions which had been destroyed by the fire. The fact
of the additions to the staircase, tower, and the clerestory, being
made with brick, is a corroboration, of this opinion, as it is very
improbable that the architect should have found his first materia
fail him when his walls bad rose to a certain height, and then be
forced to finish the elevation with a different description. The
church may, therefore, be looked upon us an ancient edifice com-
pletely modernized; it bas lately been very ably repaired, and the
parish, to their great credit, have made no alterations in the archi-
tecture. ‘Theinterior is entirely modern ; it is entered by a spacious
vestibule, in which are internal porches frontingthe doorway, adorn-
ed with Corinthian pilasters, and two poor boxes attached to the
central porch ; on each side of the church are four semicircular ar-
ches, sustained on three Tuscan pillars, the key-stones are enrich-
ed with cherubim, and sustain a cornice, above which rises the clere-
story, diffusing & body of light into the church, and giving to it
amore cheerful a nce than might be expected from its con-
“ped situation. m the east end 18 a chancel lighted by a large
vindow in the east wall, a copy of that described in the west front,
ud by two series of windows in the lateral walls, corresponding
with those in the aisles and clerestory of the church. The ceilings
are horizontal, that of the body of the church rests on a cornice, .
and is made into square pannels. The one immediately over the
altar is distinguished by concavities at the angles, containing che-
rubim, and the centre is painted with clouds surrounding the Hebrew |
mame of the Deity. The ceilings of the aisles correspond with
the central division, but are not pannelled ; in the wall of the south
aisle is a large ill-formed arch communicating with the vestry before
noticed, the keystone is carved with a cherub. A gallery crosses
the centre of the west end of the church, in which is a large organ
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in an oak case, richly carved. The altar is a slab of elegantly vein-
ed marble upon gilt supporters; upon the ledger is a pedestal of the
mme material, which although it appears to be iatended for an or-
nament, is, in fact, a depository for the communion plate. 'The
altar streen is carved oak, and is enriched with four Corinthian co-
sumns sustaining an attic and the arms of Chatles II. ; in the inter-
columniations are the customaty inscriptions and paintings of Moses
and Aaron, ahd, above the centre, a small painting of the descent
of the Holy Spirit. The walls of the chancel are painted in imita-
tion of veined marble, and on the sides ahd inner arch of the win-
dow, is insctibed @LORY TO GOD IN TH& HIGHEST, ON EARTH
PRACE, GOOD WILL TOWARDS MEN. The pulpit and reading
desk are attathed to a pillar on the north side of the church, the
former is poligbnal, and has a sounding board of the same form, all
richly carved in oak. The font is spherical, and sustained on a
termihal pillar of veined marble, and is, upon the whole, a hand-
some piece of wotkmarthip, it stands in a pew in the western ves-
tibule. The dimensions of this building are as follows :—length
78 feet, breadth 60, height 41, and height of tower 90 feet. It
was built by sir Christopher Wren, in 1679, at the expense of
50771, 14.

Int the ¥estry books of this parish anno 1578, it was agreed,
that every honseholdet in the parish, should in rotation, watch
their day, from eight in the morning till the samie heur in the even-
ing, for the purpuse of expelling rogues and beggars from the
streets of the parish.’*

8t. Benet Fink.

This church is sitnated on the south sidd of Threadficédiu-streets
nearly opposite the entrance to Old Broad-street. [ is sb called
from its dedication to St; Benedict, an Italian sairnt, énd founder
of the order of Benedi¢tile monks ; and it received {he additional
name of Fink, from one Robert Fink the elder who rebwilt it, but
at what period is not known. 1t is of ancient fohfidation, and,
though at present only a curacy, yet was otigidaMy a rectory ;
John de Branketre being rector thereof, before the year 1328.

_The patronage of this church, which was formerly in the family
of the Nevils, and was probably given by some member of that
noble family to the adjacent hospital of 8. Anthomy, fAl at
the suppression of it te the orown. Kivg Edward IV. mrbee-
quently gave it to the dean dnd chapter of Windsor, it whom it
still remains ; it is supplied by one of the canoms, who is licensed
by the bishop of London.

The old church being destroyed by fire, in 1668, the present
building was erected in 1673. The plun hsinﬁlar, the outet
walls forming a decagon : a great part of the building is cou-
cealed by adjacent houses, and even thws portion which is visible,

. ¢ Madcotin, iL p. 430.
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is defaced by the watch-house belonging to the ward being attached
toit. The three elevations of the structure, which are to be seen from
the street, till within the last 30 years contained windows of large
dimensions with arched heads, divided by two stone. uprights,
into three parts, and crossed by a transom stone at the springing
of the arch, o0 which point they are now closed with masonry.
The key-stones of the arches are carved with consoles, sustaining
a cornice, which is cuntinued round the whole building, and is sur-
mounted by an sitic, above which is seen a leaden roof, arising in
the form of a spherical dome.

Three other sides of the poligon abut on the burying ground
of the cborch, in these divisions the windows remain in theit
original state. The tower attached to the western portion is
square and massive, the northern front, which is the only visible
part, is ih two stories, the first contains a lintelled entrance
covered with a pediment, the whole enclosed within an arch-formed
concavity,above this is an oblong square window ; to this sncceeds
a square enriched tablet, intended for a dial ; the upper story
has an upright oval window in each face and the elevation
is finished with a cornice, which sweeps over the crown of
the windows ; the whole of the part already described is faced with
stone, the tower is heightened by a leaded dome, square in plan,
and pierced with port-hole apertures; thisis surmounted by a square
lantern, with scrolls at the angles and oval windows in the sides,
finished with a dwarf spire sustaining a gilt ball and cross; a ves-
tibule is formed in the ment of the tower, from which the body
of the church is approached, and on the south side is a door lead-
ing to the adjoining church-yard. Although much contracted in
dimensions, the interior asit cameout of the hands of the architect,
shewed a tasteful and to a certain degree elegant design; a peris-
tyle of six composite columns, supported on plinths the height of
the pewing, are disposed in an oval, they sustain on their capitals
architrave cornices, which enter the walls of the church opposite
to the pillars, and become imposts to six semicircular arches,
the spandrils of which are formed into pendentives, and support
with the intervention of a modillion cotnice a dome, elliptical in its
plan but semicircular in its vertical section ; on the centre was once
a lantern, which not only diffused light into the structure. but gave
a cheerful appearance to it, the removal of this and closing up the
northern windows has rendered the church rather gloomy, though
the latter was necessary, to exclude the noise of carriages in such
a public situation. The soffits of the lateral arches and the dome
areplain. The western portion of the building is occupied by a
gallery accommodating itself to the plan of the church, the front
is psnnelled and it contains a large organ, and seats for the chil-
dren of the ward school. The window inthe eastern divisionof the po-
ligon is of the design already described, it has the coat of
arms of the enlightened benefactor Holnmn in the central division,
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viz. vert, a chevron between three pheons, or ; beneath it the date
Mpcxcv ; below the window is the altar screen handsomely painted
and gilt : in the centre are pannels bearing the decalogue, on each
side of which is a pair of composite colomns painted in imitation of
marble,with gilt capitals supporting an elliptical pediment ; between
the columns are paintingsof Moses and Aaron. Tne pulpit, which
is hexagonal, is with the desks attached to the pillar nearest the
altar ; on the south side of the church in one of the windows
is a sun-dial in stained glass, with the motto Sine lumine snane.
The font is a circular basin of white marble, on a column of the
same form, itis more modern than the church; on the poor box is
the date 1688. The church was rebuilt in 1673, from the designs
of sir Christopher Wren, at the expence of 4,129/. 16s. 10d. The
superiority of its ornaments was occasioned by Mr. Holman's* do-
nation. The greatestdiameter of the church is 63 feet, the lesser 48,
and the height of the tower 110 feet.

There are no monuments in this church worthy of notice. In
the vestry is a plan of the parish made in 1789,

St. Martin Outwich Church.
1794.
This church is situated at the south east end of Thread-

® The superiority of the ornamentsin  Holman, esq. whose generosity is the
this church is 1o be attributed to the  more remarkable,as he was a member
liberal donation of 1,000L, by George of the Roman Catholic communion
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needle-street, in an angle made by its junction with Bish-
opsgate-street. It is dedicated to St. Martin, bishop of
Tours, in France, and is of great antiquity. It derives its ad-
ditional name of Outwich from the family of Oteswich, who
were either the fouaders or proprietors of this church. Stow
names four of them, who were buried here, viz. Martin, Nicholas,
William, and John. In the year 1325, John de Warren, earl of
Sorrey, presented John de Dalyngton to thisliving ; but the earl
dying without issue, and leaving his estates to the crown, the ad-
vowson was purchased in 1387, by the above family, who, in the
sixth year of the reign of Henry IV., gave it with four mess s
seventeen shops, and the appurtenances in the said parish, to the
master and wardens of the taylors and linen armourers and to
their successors, to be employed for the perpetual help and relief
of the poor brethren and sisters of the said company : by virtue
of which grant, the company of merchant-taylors have ever since
enjoyed the right of patronage to this church.

The old church, which was built in 1540, was one of the few
that escaped the fire of London ; but the ravages of time, assisted
by the injuries it received from a fire in Bishopsgate-street, in
1765, had affected it so much, that it was taken downin 1795, and
the nt structure erected, which is one of the smallest ecclesias-
tical edifices in the metropolis. The exterior has no architectural
character. The general features of the building are an oval in-
scribed within an oblong irregular figure atproaching to a square.
The north side of the churchis a plain brick wall, finished with a
stone coping, it originally had two doorways and in the upper
part a semicircular window, the latter with the westernmost door-
way were stopped up at the recent repair in 1827. The east
front is compoed and rusticated, the face of the wall broken by
a recessed arch, above which a semicircular window has been
constructed in lieu of the one walled up on the north side, the
elevation is finished by a square plinth fronted by a dial and sus-
taining a circalar turret and cupola, the prototype of which may
be found in nearly every mews. The south and western sides of
the edifice are built against ; attached to the latter, at the oxtre-
mityof the north side is an auxiliary entrance, whick has only lately
been brought into general use. Above the walls alieady des-
cribed is an oval clerestory, compoed and rusticated and pierced
with four semicircular windows. The interior has been so much
improved in the late reparation that it entirely owes its present

be seems, however,to have been en- accept; but subsequently énu) re-
tirely divested of the bigotry usually ceived one as the gift of Mrs. Sarah
ascribed to persons of that persuasion, Gregory, (a native of the parish), who
and (o have possessed a truly Catholic  also left a freehold house, to provide a

spirit. The coat of arms and sua dial
before describsd, were also provided
at his expense; be likewise offered an
crgan which the parish declined to

salary for the organist, as appears by
an inscription attached to the front of
the organ gallery,
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neat, and even elegant appearance, to the very tastaful decora-
tions and embellishments it then received. The outline is an oval
madeinto eight divisions by antse sustaining an entablature, the ca-
pitals are eomposed from the Ionic erder, with cherwhim having
expanded wings between the volutes, the shafts are finted and are
coloured in imitation of Sienna marble, the caps white with gold
enrichments. The ceiling is domed and partitioned by ribs, and
in the centre is an oval containing a flower. The three divisions
at the western end are recessed, and eontain galleries which oc~
cupy the spaces between the inner and external walls : the cen-
tral gallery contains the ongan erected in 1805. The east end is simi-
larly recessed, the centre contains the altar and the lateral divi-
sions galleries, the fronts of these as well as the western ones are
ballustraded. The altar has been completelyremodelied and much
_ improved in the late repair ; the wall before that period was orna-
mented with a large fresco painting of our Lord’s Ascension by
Rigaud, which evea in Mr. Malcolm’s time had grown into a de-
formity in consequence of damp, this has been destroyed and the
whole of the wall has been occupied by various panels composed
of imitatiens of lapis lazuli, Sienna, verd antique, and other mar-
bles, the tables of the law are inscribed on gils pannels covered with
o pediment, the creed and decalegue on pannels of porphyzy at the
ides of the former, the whole has a tasteful and elegant appearance,
and is a wery pleasing specimen of the skill displayed in the mo-
dern imitations of marbles, so tastefully introduced into many re-
cently decorated churches, in the metropolis, after the example of
St. Bride’s. The altar is composed of stucee, in imitation of por-
Pby2y ; it consists of a ledger sustained on ananchin the centre, and
cariatidal angels, highly gilt at the corners. The recess is cedled in
an arch, enriched with square pannels ; the head is occupied by a
window filled with stained glass preserved from the oM chureh,
and now removed to the present situation from the north window,
onits being walled up. There are, in all, twelve coats, besides the
arms of King Charles 11, and those of the merchant taylors, and
south sea companies. One of them hasbeneath @, Jnf. 1483, being
the armsof Naylorand Nevil .In the front of thealtarrails are the
pulpit and desks, the formes is square, and stands on a pedestal of
the same form, ornamented with ante, the whole painted and var-
nished in imitation of polished oak. The improvementa before de-
tailed are not the enly ones which took place at the recent repara-
tion. As originally constructed, the pulpit and its appendages were
situated at the west end of the church, and, in consequence, the
congregation most indecorously turned their backsto the altar du-
ring divine service. All the seats have been reversed, and a new
&l‘l,lpit and desks constructed in a situation more appropriate than
former, though the size of the church does not allow them to be
so placed as not to impede the view of the altar. The font is of
marble, and stands in a pew beneath the north-western gallery.



HISTORY OF LONDON 207

There gre several monuments in the present bailding, which were
preserved from the old charch. The most splendid is an altay tomb,
vilh recumbent effigies in alabaster, of John Oteswich and his
kdy, it was placed at the rebuilding of the church, in 1792, in an
obscure corner beneath the south-west gallery, where it still re-
maing ; the figures, however, are in fine preservation. The male
efigy is dressed in a long gown, and has a sword at his left side,
his countenance placid ang features handsome, his head rests on &
cushion supported by angels, the hands are conjoined in the attitude
of prayer, and at his feet is a lion. The lady’s hands are in the
same supplicatory attitude, at her feet a dog: this monument is
highly interesting, not only as a fine specimen of the workmanship,
butas a record of the costame of a merchant of the fourteenth cen-
tory. Against the north wall isanother ancient monument, to the
memory of Hugh Pemberton, merchant taylor and alderman, who
died 1500, and Katherine his wife. It consists of analtar tomb with
an elaborate canopy, sustained upon pillars springing from the ex-
terior angles of the ledger; the canopy is composed of five arches
with ogee canopies, three in front and two in flank, the spandrils
filled in with pannelling, and the whole finished with a cornice,
ornamented with strawberry leaves placed erect on the eaves; at
the back were formerly several engraved effigiesin brass, of which
onlyremain seven kneeling children, and nearthemthis inscription
oo s label: Patey Be celis Peus migevere nodbis, and
twoshields of arms, viz. the merchant taylors and Pemberton ;
this monument is well preserved, and displays a fine specimen of
the workmanship of the early part of the sixteenth century. A
space has been cut out of the back of the tomb, for a locker, in
which they formerly placed the valuables of the church. Within
the communion rails is a brass to the memory of Nicholas Wotton,
bachelor of law, rector of this church, who died 1482. Above
the inscription is his effigy engsaved, in good preservation. With-
out the raila is & brass of similar form, and with an engraving to the
memory of JohnBreux, rectus, ob. 1459. Against thesouth wall,
sod nearly. opposite to Pemberton's monument, is a mural one,
with the following inscription :—

Bere rastoth the bodie of the worshipfl Richard Staper, elected alderman of
this cittpe, ano 1694. Hee was the greatest merchant in his tyme, the chiefest
actor in digcovere of trades of Tvrkey and East India. A man homble in
z\'peri!;, payoeful and ever ready in the affayres publicqve, and disgreetly care-

of his private; a liberal howsekeeper, bowntifvl to the poore,an vpright
deales i the world, and a devout aspirer afer the world to come, mvch blest in
bis posterity, and happy in his and their allyavnces. Hee dyed the last jvne,
anp domjne, 1608, /Intravit v? exiret. S

The deceased and his lady are knegling opposite to each other,
8t altam, with a family of ive sons and four daughters in the rear,
the whole fanked by two Corinthian columns ; the canopy sustains
& model of a ship of war; the whole is in very good preservation,
except the original colours, the monument having been painted
white when the church was rebuilt; a warm stone colour has been




208 HISTORY OF LONDON.

given to itin the last repair, and the model of the ship and the
various enrichments gilt.* The same hue has also been given fo
the monument of Pemberton. Upon the whole, the recent repair

reflects the highest credit upon the parochial authorities ; this, and
other instances to be noticed in the course of the work, shew a lan-
dable spirit of improvement prevails in the metropolis, which will
one day, it is to be hoped, render nugatory the often repeated cen-
sure upon churchwarden’s repairs.

Threadneedle Street.

1. Altar.—2. Palpit.—3. Pemberton’s M t—4. Oteswich
6. Staper*s Monument.

Plan of St. Martin Outwioch Church.
1760.

The old church was an interesting and venerable edifice, as ap+
pears in the view above.

From the above plan, it will be seen that the church consisted
of a nave and south aisle, lighted by five pointed windows on the
north side, all of which differed in their size and ornaments, and
by two at the east end. At the west end was a small tower, having
one story above the main building. The nave and aisle, were se-
parated internally by arches resting on clustered. columns, snd
there was a small gallery across the western extremity. The pul-
pit was fixed between two of the windows, on the north side of the
church near the east end where the preacherin consequence of the
numerous windows, was constantly interrupted and his voice ren-
dered inaudible by the noise of the carriages, and the ribaldry of
stage coachmen. An allar tomb then stood on the north side
of the communion-table, which was subsequently destroyed, prior
to the Reformation, it was probably used as the sepulchre of our
Saviour, in the Paschal ceremonies of the church of Rome, some
of the particulars relative to the former church, are gleaned from the
information of a worthy and enlightened frieng of the writer,
who well remembers the ancient edifice.

® It is to be that the co- jured in a similar manner, and but for

s Monument.—5. Font.—~

lours of the dresses of the effigies upon
ancient monuments should so frequently
be effaced. Such representations of
the costume of past ages ought to be
preserved with scrupulous attention.
A valuable memorial of the age of
Elizabeth, at St. Helens, has been in-

the officious interference of the ¢ inde-

fatigable mountebank’ Malone, the
monument of Shakespear at Stratford
would have presented. at the present
time, the very hues of the dress which
the poet wore in his life-time.
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An.inventory of the ornaments belonging to this church was
communicated By the late J. Nichols, esq. to Mr. Malcolm, and is
printed in his Londinium Redivivum ; among the church ornaments
the following are the most curious: itm, a chales, w! the pat-
ten of sylver and geyltte, wt a Trynyte in the patten anameld,
pond, xxixth unc’ of Troye.

Itm, a crosse of sylver and gylt, wythe owr laddye and seint
John off Evangelyste, of the gyfte off my lady of Burgayne, some
tyme before y* wyffe of Richard Naylore, me’chant off London,
pond’ xxvj. unc’ and xiijth. of Troye.

Itm, a boxe, with diverse rellyks thereyn, to the nomber of a
xj. w* scrypturs on them. '

Itm, a cloth called a vayle of whyte lynneyn, to draw affor
the awter in lent time. " ’

In 1539. - ‘ o

To the masters of Pappe, for the porchase of the churcheyrde,
in the presence of Mr. Hamon, ijl. xiijs. iiijd. This is the ground-
mentioned before®, as being the site of the' hospital, talled the-
Papey, in Bevis Marks. :

8!, Peter le Poor.
1760.

On the weit side of Broad-street, nearly opposite to the Excise-
office, is situated ‘the church of St. Peter le Poor. It is of very
ancient foundation, as appears from a register of it, so far back as
1181, It was dedicated o St. Peter the Apostle, and is distin-
guished from other cburcl.ieé of that name, by the additional epithet
of le Poor, which Stow conjéctures was given to it, from the ancient
state of the parish, though, in his time, (as at present) there were
many fair houses " in' it, possessed by rich merchants, and others.

® Vide ante p. 84.
VOL. III. P
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Itis a rectory, and appears to have been always in the dean and
chapter of St. Paul’s. '

The church which preceded the present edifice was an irregulae
building, the east ens and south side being bent, to bumour the
form of the street. From the representation of a gentleman well ac-

uainted with it, and to whom the author is indebted for much in-

ormation relative to other relics of ancient Londomn, which no loager
exist, some idea may be given of the old structare. The irregular area
was divided, as usual in old churches, by two series of clustered
columns sustaining pointed arches, into a nave and side aisles. The
windows were made by mullions into three lights, with cinquefoil
arched heads, and the earth outside the church was raised so high
that curtains were drawn across the lower part of the windows
during divine service to prevent passengers from looking through
them ; the east window had four mullions deprived of their tracery
and it contained six coats of arms in stained glass. The roof was
timber, and pannelled into square compartments, with bossesat the
angles in the taste of the sixteenth century, and the gallery, which
was erected in 1629-30* at the west end remained ; the fromt
was enriched with the uncouth imitations of Italian architecture of
the period, being pannelled into compartments, divided by terminal
pillars resembling the Ionic order, and the compartments occupied
by arched recesses. At the north west angle of the building
was a small tower, and one singularity of the exterior was
a clock dial, suspended from the middle of a beam, extending
across the road at the south side of the church. The length
of this humble building was 54 feet, its breadth 561, and height
only 23. It contained various monuments of the time of Elizabeth
and James I. In 1788, an act of parliament was obtained for
taking down the old church, and the present was commenced soon
after, and completed in 1792, at an expense of more than 4000.. :
of this sum 400l. was subscribed by the city of London, and the re-
mainder was raised on annuities by the parish. The architect was
Mr. Jesse Gibson.t In order to give additional width to the street,
the plan of the church was laid out partly on the site of the old one,
and partly on an adjoining church-yard. ‘The chancel of the old
church was thrown into the road way, and the bones of the wealthy
inhabitants of the parish, and the various rectors, who had been bu-
ried in this portion of the building, were, in consequence, most in-
decently transferred into the highway. Several of the old monu-
ments were broken to pieces, and the materials used in mending
the road,} and the brass plates were sold to a plumber in the Mi-
nories. In the room of the ancient and venerable church rose a
flimsy structure of the modern Grecian style of architecture.

® Gent. M vol. lix. pt. i. p. $ In the vaults, which are very spa-
800.~-Britwon’siliustrations of the pu clous and well arranged, are several
lic buildiags of London, vol. ii. p. 72.  mural tablets from the old chorch.

+ Britton's illustrations of public
buildings, vol. ii. p. 78
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The whole plan and arrangement of this building are at variance
wilh the established rules of church architectere. The principal
entrance faces the south-east, and the altar is opposite. The
ground plan shows a circular body with attached tower and lob-
bies towards the street, and a semicircular tribune at an opposite
pointin the circle. The east frontis the only portion of the exterior
which is ornamented. The fagade is made in breadth into three divi-
sions, consisting of a centre and wings resting upon a plinth ; in
the former is a flight of steps and a lintelled entrance, having a
column and pilaster of the Ionic order at each side sustaining
an entablature, above which is an arch formed in blank, the
whole is accompanied by two pair of engaged Iomic columns,
sustaining an entablature pediment and attic; the entablature is
continued above the wings, which are flanked by Ionic pilasters,
and contain recessed arches in blank ; above the central division
rises the tower, which consists of a square stylobate sustaining
a lofty story of the same form surmounted by a dome: the dado
of the stylobate contains the dial surmounted by a festoon of drapery,
and the superior story is flanked by coupled Corinthian pi-
lasters sustaining an entablature, on the angles of the cornice are

four vases; im each face is an arched window filled
with weather boarding, the lower fronted by a ballus-
trade. The dome is ribbed, and would have made a tasteful finish
if the avchitect had stopped with it, but fancying it wanted some-
thing more, he raised on its crown @ small circular wall enriched
with festoons, and closed in with a spherical cupola, which, with its
vane, forms the finish to the design. The walls of the church are
brick, and the small portion, which is not hid by houses, is a plain
wall, finished by a cornice and blocking course, above which riges a
large lantern with a low conical roof. The interior is approached

a square vestibule, occupying the ground floor of the tower,
to the right of which is a vestry, and, to the left, a lobby and stair-
case to the gallery. The inside of the building will rather disap-
point the critical spectator. The circular wall is without the least
omament, from the base to the surounding entablature, except
&emﬂ ed pilasters of the Ionic order, applied to thesides of the se-

i tribune which contains the altar. A gallery sweeps round
the whole of the edifice, except the part occupied by the altar, and the
architect appears to have been so averse to pillars, that, with the ex-
ception of two small Ionic columns, below the organ, this gallery is
eatirely a:&orted by brackets silently inserted in the wdlls, and con-
cetled m the flooring. The front of the gallery is pannelled, and con-
tains the organ, which is situated above the principal entrance. The
ceiling of the church is coved and ornamented with lozenge shaped
pannels containing flowers. In the centre is a large lantern com-
posed of twelve elliptical arches sustained on antm; the whole of
the voids are gl ,and are fronted at their basements with a
ballwstrade, the ceiling is also coved and radiated from the centre.

re
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Through this lantern the whole of the light of the church is derived,
and this mode of lighting the building answers very well in the pre
sent situation. The ceiling is the best feature in the church, the
ornaments of the cove are elegant, and the lantern gives a decided
air of cheerfulness to the church. The tribune is ceiled to form a
halt dome, springing from a simple impost moulding. The soffit
is radiated, having the Hebrew name of the Deity in the centre.
The altar screen is a mean and paltry design ; it is composed of
four Ionic columns sustaining an entablature, and a pediment above
the centre ; in the intercolumniations are inscribed the decalogue,
&c.. The pulpit and desks are grouped together on the north side
of the tribune, near the altar. On the front of the gallery, above
the principal entrance, is a brass plate bearing the following inscrip-
tion :—

THISCHURCH HAVING BEREN REBUILT, WAS CONSECRATED BY
THE RIGHT REVEREND BEILBY, LORD BISHOP OF LONDON, ON
THE 19 NOV. 1792, THE REVEREND JAMES SIMPKINSON, M. A.
RECTOR, WILLIAM EVANS, EDWARD VAUX, CHURCHWARDENS.

The dimensions are as follows:—

: Ft. o,

Exterior length......... cetsnceasasen ooe ve...90 6
breadth of the principal front........ ..53 0

height of tower..............co.n. cee.90 0
Diameter of the body exterior.................. ..62 6
interior........ cereconanans 58 0

Radius of the tribune.....cccoiecvis cineiiiian. 10 ©
Height of the interior to the cornice..... teeseees.30 6
crown of lantern....... 63 6

tribune to crown of arch. .......... 25 0

There are no monuments of particular interest in this church, be-
ing all tablets to private individuals. There are several memorials
of the family of Graham of Kinross.

Priory of Auguatine Friars.
- On the spot of ground still retaining the name, formerly stood
a convent of Mendicant-friars, called properly Friars Eremites of
the order of St. Augustine. The house was a priory, founded A.D.
1253, hy Humphrey de Bohun, ninth earl of Hereford and Essex,
and lord high constable.

Reginald Cobbam gave his messuage in London to enlarge it, in
the year 1344, Humphrey de Bohun, earl of Hereford and Essex,
re-edified this church in the year 1354, and his body wes
buried in the choir. The small spired steeple was overthrown
by a tempest of wind in the year 1362, but was raised anew, and
was standing in the year 1608, in a very dangerous and tottering
condition ; but such was the venerable regard the city had for.it,
that a petition being preferred to the lord-mayor and aldermen,
by the inhabitants of St. Peter le Poor, they readily concurred to
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promote the repair thereof all they could, by using their interest
with the marquis of Winchester, to whom the property of that mo-
nastery and the lands adjoining belonged, and for that purpose
drew up aletter to him, in the most pathetic words, and moving
argumehts, exciting him to proceed with that work ; which was
as follows:

* Right honourable, my very good lord,

* There hath been offered of late unto this court a most just and
earnest petition, by divers of the chiefest of the parish of St. Peter le
Poor in London, to move us to be humble suitors unto your lordship,
in a cause which is sufficient to speak for itself, without the media-
tion of any ether, viz. for the repairing of the ruinous steeple of the
church, some time called the Augustine fryars, now belonging to
the Dutch nation, situated in the same parish of St. Peter le Poor,
the fail whereof (which, without speedy prevention, is near at hand)
wust needs bring with it not only a great deformity to the whole

- city, it being for architecture one of the beautifulest and rarest
spectacles thereof, but a fearful imminent danger to all the inhabi-
tants next adjoining. Your lordship, being moved herein (as we
understand) a year since, was pleased to give honorable promises,
with hope of present help ; but the effects not following, according
to your honourable intention, we are hold to renew the said suit
again, eftsoons cravingat your lordship’s hands a due consideration
of so worthy a work, as to help to build up the house of God, one
of the chiefest fountains, from wheunce hath sprung so great glory
to your lordship’s most noble descendency of the Paulets, whose
steps your lordship must needs follow, to continue to all posterity
the fame of so bountiful benefactors both to the church and com
monwealth.

“So that I trust we shall have the less need to impor-
tuse your lordship in so reasonable a suit: first, because
it doth principally concern your_ lordship, being the: owner
of the greatest part of the said spire or steeple : but especially
that by disbursing of a small sum of money, to the value of 50
or 60l. your lordship will do an.excellent work, very helpful to
many, and most grateful to all, as well English ‘as strangers ; who
by this means shall have cause to magnify to the world this so ho-
nourable and charitable an action. And I and my brethren shall
much rejoice to be relieved herein by your lordship’s most noble
disposition, rather than to fly to the last remedy of the law of the
alll;:, which in this case hath provided a writ De reparatione faci-

. " Thus hoping as assuredly on your lordshi‘)'s favour, as we pray
incessautly for your continual felicity, we humbly take leave of your
lordship. * From London the 4th of August 1600,
Your lordship’s humbly to be commanded,
Thomas Lowe, Nicholas Mosly, mayor.
Leanard Holiday, Richard Markin,
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Robert Hampson, John Hart,

Ry. Godard, Henry Billingsly
John Wattes, Stephen Soame,
Thomas Smythe, William Ryder,
William Craven, Jobn Gerrard,
Humphrey Weld. Thomas Benpett.®

But this took no effect, and thi~ fine ornament of the city was
* emolished.

This housewasvalued at 572, 0s. 8. and was surrendered by Tho.
mas Hammond the prior, with twelve brethren, to the king, on the
12th of November, in the 30th of Henry VIII. A great part of
this friary was granted to William Paulet, baron St. Joha of
Basing, in Hampshire, created earl of Wiltshire, Jan. 19,1850, and
marquis of Winchester Oct. 12, 1551.

There were buried in this church, among many others of
less note, Edmond, first son of Joan, mother to king Richard II
1375.

Lady Margery de Ilderton, in Com. Northumberl. buried in Au
gustine Friars, don. Her will bore date, 1338.

Guy de Mericke, earl of St. Paul.

In the middle aisle Hnmpbreé de Bohaun, earl of Hereford and
Essex, lord high constable, K. G., who died 1361.

Richard Fitz-Alan, earl of Aruudel, Surrey, and Warren, K. G.,
beheaded 1393.

John de Vere, earl ot Oxford, beheaded on Tower-hill, 1461.

William Bourchier, lord Fitz-Warine, obit circa 1470.

Dame Jane Norris, lady Bedford.

Anne, daughter to John viscount Welles.

In St. John's chapel, John, son of sir John Wingfield.

E The lord Angleure, of France. By him the lord Tremayle of
rance.

In the Chapter-hcuse, many of the barons slain at Barnet field,
1471.

In the body of the church, sir Thomas Courtney, son to the eard
of Devanshire, and by him his sister.

Between St. James's altar, and St. Mary’s, the lord William,
marquis of Berkeley, and earl of Nottingham, and dame Joan, his
wife. This William, marquis of Berkeley, by his 